
 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Regular Meeting 

Wednesday, January 19, 2022 
3:00 p.m. - 5:00 p.m. 

MS Teams Online 

1 / 1 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order  ...................................................................................................................................... Amy Jeon 3:00 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Approval of Minutes, November 24, 2021 

4. Chair's Report .......................................................................................................................................................  3:05 

5. New Business  .......................................................................................................................................................   

5.1. Anthropology External Review Report ........................................................................  Amy Jeon  3:10 

5.2. History Quality Assurance Plan ...................... Jack Hayes, Billeh Nickerson, Greg Millard 3:20 

5.3. Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan ..... Jessica Bayntun, Andhra Goundrey 3:35 

5.4. Health Science 2nd Annual Follow-Up Report ...  Cayley Velazquez, Elizabeth Worobec 3:50 

5.5. BPN 1st Annual Follow-Up Report .............................................. Tess Kroeker, Sharmen Lee 4:00 

5.6. Political Science Self-Study Report .................... Ross Pink, Wade Deisman, Greg Millard 4:10 

6. Items for Discussion ...........................................................................................................................................   

6.1. AC9 Essential Skills Policy ............................................................................................ David Burns 4:40 

6.2. Mandate and Membership Review ................................................................................. Amy Jeon 4:45 

7. Manager’s Report for OPA................................................................................................................................  4:55 

8. Adjournment .........................................................................................................................................................  5:00 

 

 

 

 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 

Wednesday, November 24, 2021 
3:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. 

MS Teams Online 

1 / 4 

 

Voting Member Quorum 8 members  

Xavier Ardez 
Shelley Boyd 
Aimee Begalka 
David Burns 
Lori McElroy 
Dr. Leeann Waddington 
Julia Denker 
Heather Cyr 
 

Melissa Swanink 
Marti Alger 
Lindsay Norris 
Allison Richardson 
Fergal Callaghan  
Tomasz Gradowski 
Nishan Perera 

 

Non-voting 

Amy Jeon – Chair 
Steve Cardwell 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli  
 
 

Regrets  Senate Office Guests  

Stephen Yezerinac  
Diane Purvey  
Courtney Verhage  
 

Meredith Laird Amanda Bickell 
Andhra Goundrey 
Billeh Nickerson 
Robert Dearle 
Marla McMullen 
Lesley McCannell 
Lindsay Norris 

1. Territorial Acknowledgement and Call to Order 

The Chair opened the meeting with a Territorial Acknowledgement and called the meeting to 
order at 3:01 p.m. 

2. Approval of Agenda 

Julia Denker moved the agenda be confirmed as presented. 

The motion carried. 

3. Approval of Minutes October 20, 2021 

Melissa Swanink moved the minutes be accepted as circulated. 

The motion carried. 

David Burns moved THAT the minutes record the attendance of Dr. Leeann Waddington, in 
recognition of her successful thesis defense today. 

Dr. Waddington accepted the congratulations of the committee. 

The motion carried. 



 

2 / 4 

 

4. Chair’s Report 

Amy Jeon, Chair, Senate Standing Committee on Program Review informed the members this 
would be Heather Cyr’s last meeting as a member of the committee and thanked her for her 
contributions. 

5. New Business 

5.1 Fashion and Technology External Review Report 

The Chair shared that the external review report was for information of the committee. 

Julia Denker moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the Fashion 
and Technology External Review Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 

 
5.2 Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

The Chair described the changes completed in this report and invited comments from the 
committee.  

Nishan Perera moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 

 

5.3 Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

The Chair described the comments of the reviewers.  Marla McMullen and Lesley McCannell 
accepted the congratulations of the committee.  

Nishan Perera moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 

Lori McElroy moved THAT another Annual Follow-Up Report be provided to the committee. 

The motion carried. 

5.4 Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

The Chair noted that all reviewers accepted the report “as is”.  Carley Hodgkinson described the 
program’s relationship with K-12 teachers and shared that elementary teachers will be able to 
launch workshops in summer, 2022.  The committee commented on what the program was able 
to accomplish despite the pandemic and asked about plans for rolling out other items with 
secondary schools in the upcoming year.  Carley Hodgkinson described the work being 
undertaken to broaden articulation agreements and to further define student work 
relationships with external partners, as well as how the Program is exploring opportunities 
with the Foundations in Design (FIND) program. 



 

3 / 4 

Lindsay Norris moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 

5.5 Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

The Chair summarized the comments of the reviewers and highlighted the local and global 
recognition received by the program through a number of significant awards. The committee 
discussed whether plans to address long-term goals, such as the development of a Co-op 
program and special topics courses should be included in the Quality Assurance Report and 
how to stage and record actions taken to advance multi-year plans between program reviews.  
The committee discussed how the program might identify industry liaisons as well as how to 
create a repository of exemplars so they might be accessible. 

Action: the committee requested additional Co-op and combined marketing information be 
added to the report, and to change some of the timelines to record the stepping stones the 
program will take to advance the longer-term items so that progress on the intervening steps 
may be reported. 

 

Julia Denker moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the Product 
Design Program Quality Assurance Plan with the suggested revisions. 

The motion carried. 

5.6 English Self-Study Report 

The Chair summarized the reviewers’ comments and reviewed the comments and the 
proponents’ response in each of the chapters of the report.   Robert Dearle, Billeh Nickerson, 
and Heather Cyr answered questions from the committee about the revised learning outcomes, 
digital literacy and the move to including visual text and film within courses in the program.  
Lori McElroy offered that a template for the creation of a curriculum map is now available 
should the proponents wish to use it, although their review began before this was available. 

Action: The committee requested that the proponents update the headings for 
recommendations in the final chapter. 

Melissa Swanink moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
English Self-Study Report with the suggested revisions. 

The motion carried. 

 

 

6. New Business 

 Election of Senate Standing Committee Vice-Chair 

Amy Jeon, Chair, explained the process for the election of the Committee Vice-Chair and called 
for nominations from the floor. 

First call: David Burns and Leeann Waddington nominated Nishan Perera. Nishan Perera 
accepted the nomination. 



 

4 / 4 

Second call:  Lori McElroy nominated Fergal Callaghan.  Fergal Callaghan accepted the 
nomination. 

Third call:  no nominations. 

Amy Jeon announced that there would be an election by ballot and asked members to submit 
their vote to the Senate Office email address. 

Election Teller’s report: 

Number of votes cast: 16 

Fergal Callaghan:  9 

Nishan Perera: 7 

The Chair announced Fergal Callaghan winner of the election for Vice-Chair, Senate Standing 
Committee on Program Review, with a term from December 1, 2021 to August 31, 2024.  Fergal 
Callaghan thanked Nishan Perera for his candidacy and accepted the congratulations of the 
committee. 

 
7. Manager’s Report 

The committee received the written report. 

 

8. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 4:18 p.m. 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.1 

Meeting Date: January 19, 2021 
Presenter: Amy Jeon 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Anthropology External Review Report 

  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Anthropology External Review Report as attached.  

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

  

Attachments Anthropology External Review Report 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted December 22, 2021 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
             Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

1 
 

  

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  History 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 

o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-
Year Follow-Up Report. 

 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: The History department members have carefully taken into consideration all of the input and 
review provided from all areas and developed a sound plan to move forward. The strategies to address each 
goal area are well thought through and reflect, in particular, a strong sense of future purpose that embraces 
Indigenization, global and digital histories. Congratulations to all involved! 
 
Reviewer #2: The History Program Review Team have written a very good QA plan responding to 
recommendations from the SS and ER reports. The plans to intensify efforts to decolonize and Indigenize 
curricula, reorient the program, update outcomes, and engage in outreach with the community and within 
KPU will help strengthen the program. The goals and steps are logical, but a number of them need completion 
dates. Consider what is realistic for the team to report on in its One-Year Follow-Up Report or beyond. 
 

The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 

☒          Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 

☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 
 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year 

Follow-Up Report. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 

Comments: 
p.3 “…we need to ensure that the labour of 
decolonization and Indigenization does not fall 
entirely on one or two faculty” 
 

 
Point well-taken – nor can the work of decolonization 
and Indigenization rely on Indigenous faculty. 
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
             Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

2 
 

p.3 “…our introductory thematic courses – 
pandemics, environmental history, animal history, 
and food history – have considerable appeal in our 
wider communities.” 
 
p.4 “…competition from both private post-secondary 
institutions around the Lower Mainland offering first-
year Canadian and Global History courses, and the 
larger research universities, to whom we regularly 
lose outstanding students midstream from our 
program.” 
 
 
 
 
p.12 “…Indigenous History of Canada (1110) and 
follow up with further 2xxx-4xxx courses to develop 
further Indigenous themes, decolonization themes, 
including a global Indigenous history course.” 
 
p.12 “…discuss possibility of a field-school 
opportunity.” 
 
p.14 “…Discuss/consider micro-credentialing and 
strategies…”  
 
p.14 “… planning for/addition of 1xxx time-slots for 
dual-credit courses (HS/secondary student learners).” 
 

Agree - and would think that such courses placed in 
the issues of current contexts will be of interest and a 
draw for new students.  
 

Wondering if there are more ideas around student 
retention. Your thoughts around inter-
disciplinary/cross-listing courses, more transnational 
and thematic approaches, and an additional 
1xxx/2xxx courses will help as well as more Special 
Topics (HIST4499) or Explorations (1190) courses on 
diverse and/or underrepresented topics. Also, 
imagine the formation of the EAC will be a source for 
more ideas. 

Exciting positive direction. 
 
 
 
 
This could be an excellent post-pandemic 
opportunity. 
 
This could be an excellent opportunity. 
 
 
Suggest you initiate a conversation with FSO/dual 
credit for a theme-based cohort. 

p. 12 Step 1 “Support faculty…”  This is vague and has no completion date. I think you 
are specific about it in later steps. Perhaps delete?  

p. 12 Step 2 “Encourage faculty…MOOC” Shows completion date of 02/2022. What does that 
indicate? Does encouragement stop, or have 
instructors completed course, or has course ended?  

p. 12 Step 3 “Develop… and follow up with…” Create two steps (HIST 1110 and new 2xxx and 4xxx 
courses). And find completion date for 2nd part. 

p. 12-18 –A number of other steps have  no 
completion dates. See instances of “on-going.”  

Maybe consider what to report on in first annual 
follow-up or at end of PR cycle. Perhaps some steps 
need to be more specific.  

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
           Reviewers’ Comments: External Review Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

REPORT: Anthropology External Review Report 

 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the External Review Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: Many thanks to the reviewers for thoroughly reviewing the Self-Study and available evidence. 
The comments given provide additional insight and look to be useful feedback.  The advocacy for lab space 
may fall somewhat outside of the regular scope of program review but seems to be highlighting a substantial 
issue for the program.  It’s also great to hear the students’ enthusiasm for the Anthropology faculty reflected 
in the comments.  
 
Reviewer #2: The External Review Report acknowledges the commendable work of the Anthropology 
department in identifying areas of strength and weakness as evidenced by the data, while also highlighting 
key aspects of the program that can be strengthened and/or formalized.  The Report especially praises the 
section on instructional design, noting how dedicated the faculty are to supporting student success. The 
Reviewers also note how faculty have gone above and beyond to create extraordinary learning opportunities.  
The Reviewers have made a number of key recommendations that will help the Anthropology Department to 
build on its strengths, formalize aspects of its program, and highlight its distinctive identity for prospective 
undergraduates looking for experiential and applied learning opportunities that will afford them a distinct 
advantage upon graduation when moving onto further study or employment.  
 

The Report:  

☒     Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 

☒     Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 

☐     Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 
 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
While External Review Reports are not returned to the External Review Team for revisions, Reports may contain 
major issues which the SSCPR should address. These issues could include (but are not limited to): a) 
recommendations that go beyond the scope of program review; b) names or other identity information.  
 
Complete the table below ONLY if you have identified major issues in the Report. Identify actions the SSCPR 
should take to address these issues. Suggested actions could include (but are not limited to): a) redacting names 
or other identity information; b) providing an SSCPR Response that provides the External Review Team’s 
recommendations in context. Add or remove rows in the table below as needed. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
           Reviewers’ Comments: External Review Report 
 

2 
 

 

Issue Suggested Action for the SSCPR 

Pg. 3 – Reviewer #3 suggests cross-listing courses to 
improve enrollment.   

The Registrar’s office usually advises that cross-listing 
courses at KPU is primarily used for curriculum 
reasons only (and not to improve enrollment).  If this 
institutional practice could change at KPU (and many 
universities do cross-list to help draw students to 
courses), then this recommendation is a viable one.  
Perhaps this recommendation needs to be queried 
with the Registrar’s office to make sure Anthropology 
can move in this direction? 

Pg. 3 – Reviewers #1 & #3 are not certain the data 
supports concerns about enrollment or the suggested 
actions needed to address it. 

Perhaps the enrollment issue and the conclusions 
drawn from the data need to be nuanced or reviewed 
to make sure the department is using its time and 
energy where most warranted when it comes to their 
future plans for action? 

Pg. 6 – Reviewer #2 and Pg. 7 – Reviewer #3: Both 
reviewers comment on the need for improved and 
increased lab space for experiential and applied 
learning for archaeology, forensic work, and 
ethnographic work; this comment is made again on 
page 8 by Reviewers #2 & #3; and on page 9 by 
Reviewers #1, #2, and #3 

Although issues related to space do not typically fall 
within the scope of program review, lab space in this 
instance is directly tied to learning needs and 
outcomes (applied learning, experiential learning, 
etc.) for all three sub-disciplines of Anthropology.  
While this item should likely remain on the radar of 
Program Review for annual updates, this item should 
also be referred to the University Space Committee 
as a priority seeing as how this need for space is tied 
to curriculum and learning needs and in light of the 
repeated comments by the reviewers. 
 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 5.2 

Meeting Date: January 19, 2021 
Presenter: Jack Hayes, Billeh Nickerson, Greg Millard 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item History Quality Assurance Plan 

  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
History Program Quality Assurance Plan as attached.  

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

  

Attachments History Quality Assurance Plan 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted December 21, 2021 

 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 1  

Date submitted to SSCPR: November 29, 2021 

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR:  February 24, 2021 

Date of External Review: June 17 & 18, 2021 (Report received by HIST Sept 28, 2021) 

SUMMARY 
Summarize what the program has determined - through evidence - about program quality (e.g. strengths, challenges, opportunities for improvement, potential threats, etc.)  

Overview 

In keeping with local protocols, we wish to express our gratitude to the q̫̓ ɑ:nƛ̓ə̓n ̓(Kwantlen), xʷməθkwəyə̓m (Musqueam), qi̓cə̓y ̓(Katzie), SEMYOME (Semiahmoo), scə̓waθən 
(Tsawwassen), qiqéyt (Qayqayt), and kʷikʷəƛə̓m (Kwikwetlem) Peoples. We recognize that our work at Kwantlen Polytechnic University takes place on the territories of these First 
Nations, who have cared for these lands since time immemorial. As part of this acknowledgement, we hold ourselves accountable to participating in the work of decolonization, 
reconciliation, and Indigenization at KPU and in our communities. 

History at KPU aims to provide a broad-based understanding of how the peoples and societies of our world today have changed over time and geographic space. In our history courses, 
we critically engage, study, discuss, and analyze how peoples, cultures, economic, and political systems have together shaped the world in which we live and the debates which 
continue to dominate contemporary discourse. For us, the study of the past is an essential part of an undergraduate education, and to this end, we pay particular attention to improving 
our students’ skills in recognizing and evaluating sources, thinking creatively and critically, communicating effectively in both oral and written forms, and applying their knowledge to 
produce informed and articulate analyses of contemporary global issues.  As a department within the Faculty of Arts, and the broader KPU community, we see our department as 
providing three, interrelated, contributions to the institution and our students:  

• highlighting ‘moments that matter’ and relating these to our contemporary world in such a way as to enable students to understand the critical connections between past and 
present; 

• helping to guide students who choose to make history a significant part of their undergraduate education, and offering them a diversity of pathways that best suit their future
goals; 

• continuing to emphasize the essential competencies that students gain throughout their history education.



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 2  

We currently have seven regular faculty (six 100% Regular positions and one 50% Regular) in the History program, one NR2 (100%), as well as a several visiting instructors. We offer a 
combination of regional and thematic history courses, and the thematic courses (including global, digital, environmental history, and material culture), as well as increased emphasis on 
experiential, digital, and applied learning course offerings have been an increasingly popular addition to our traditional regional histories. Most recently (2019-20), the Department 
refined the history streams in the wake of faculty changes and the success of the thematic courses, and offers three specialized streams – Asian, North American, and Global History – 
as well as the general BA Major, Minor, and Associate of Arts degrees.   

Our program review has highlighted a very successful program that is meeting or exceeding the needs and expectations of our stakeholders. However, the program review process 
highlighted areas that could be strengthened and opportunities that are available.   

Key Program Strengths 

KPU History is the fifth largest History program in BC (after UBC, SFU, UVic, and UFV) by student seats, and is comparable in student headcount with UFV (although the latter program has 
several more full-time regular faculty than KPU History).   

Strengths of the program, based on the current student, alumni, and faculty surveys, History Self-Study, and External Program Review Committee report include: 

• a modest but growing program (based on student enrollment, intended, and FTE headcount, and seat fill rates and utilization, especially in upper division courses); 
• committed, engaged, and interested students, excellent and passionate faculty, and a long-held commitment to student-centred learning, with a high overall student and alumni

satisfaction with the program; 
• a popular, flexible, and timely mix of course offerings, ranging from traditional regional histories to thematic offerings (from environmental history to textiles, global history to

digital history, and newly-launched Indigenous history courses), as well as dedicated history streams for our students (Asian, Global & North American History; 
• a well-established commitment to Open Education and Open Pedagogy; 
• a curriculum that emphasizes digital literacies, adaptability, social awareness, and preparation for life-long learning; 
• interdisciplinary and cross-listed courses that build our enrollment (as well as the enrollments of other programs) across the three largest KPU campuses (Surrey, Richmond, and

Langley) 
• a comprehensive focus on decolonization and Indigenization, not just as an ‘add-on’, but as a meaningful lens through which our students and faculty approach the past.



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 3  

Key Program Challenges 

Key challenges identified by the current History Self-Study Report, student, alumni, and faculty surveys, and by the External Program Review Committee Report include: 

• a need to grow the program, fill rates, and student retention – while enrollment trends are positive for History, we need to continue to improve upon them by addressing course 
and topical/thematic availability, and offering more thematic, global (or transnational) and digital history courses consistent with trends in the wider discipline of history and with 
student needs and interests; 

• a need to expand our decolonization and Indigenization efforts in our curriculum and program, including our global history courses, and new course offerings, by reviewing and
revising existing course outlines, and embedding an Indigenous lens in all of our course and program outcomes; related to this, we need to ensure that the labour of decolonization
and Indigenization does not fall entirely on one or two faculty; 

• a need for more skills development in our lower-level courses to better prepare students for subsequent program coursework; 
• relatively low institutional and community awareness of our program; 
• a need to increase collaborative and experiential learning opportunities for our students.

Key Program Opportunities 

Having established a successful mid-sized program, which is, at present, meeting and exceeding the needs and expectations of a significant proportion of our stakeholders, the concern 
is to continue to sustain the program and find ways to do what we do well more effectively. A number of opportunities present themselves at this time, based on the Self-Study Report, 
External Review Report, and student, alumni, and faculty surveys. These are: 

• the development of recent experiential learning initiatives, including the KPU Arts practicum course, has increased opportunities to engage a greater number of students in these 
types of activities; 

• our introductory thematic courses – pandemics, environmental history, animal history, and food history – have considerable appeal in our wider communities; by advertising these 
courses under the ‘general interest category’ we have an opportunity to increase our lower level enrollment substantially; 

• while the program has initiated a meaningful decolonization and Indigenization of its program, there remains more work to be done – and as post-secondary institutions are called 
to decolonize and Indigenize their curricula, we recognize that the History program could be doing much more in this area. We have an opportunity to build upon our recent hirings 
of specialists in global Indigenous history and local Indigenous history, such that the hard work of meaningful decolonization and Indigenization is spread more equitably in the 
department; a recent opportunity to share our office space with the INDG faculty will greatly facilitate collaborative work in this area; 

• by working collaboratively with Marketing, educational advising, and by developing an external advisory board we have an opportunity to boost the institutional and community 
presence of our program. 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 4  

Key Program Threats 

Threats can be construed as external developments that could negatively impact the History program, and may include: 

• competition from both private post-secondary institutions around the Lower Mainland offering first-year Canadian and Global History courses, and the larger research universities,
to whom we regularly lose outstanding students midstream from our program; 

• the national focus on STEM at the expense of the Humanities and Social Sciences;
• the perception that an Arts degree has less value in the 21st Century economy; 
• decreasing domestic enrollments; 
• future retirements and the impacts on our ability to deliver the program effectively; 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 5  

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 
List the program’s Quality Assurance Goals (broad statements about what the program intends to accomplish to ensure program quality). Identify the Recommendation(s) – drawn from 
the Self-Study Report and External Review Report - each Goal addresses. Provide a brief Rationale for each Goal (see the Quality Assurance Plan Guidelines for instructions). Add or 
remove rows as necessary. 

GOAL 1:  Build upon the work done to reorient our program to more transnational and thematic approaches (one of the main goals of our last QAP) by developing new courses, new 
pedagogy, and by embedding new methods and digital technologies into our existing curriculum.  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:  The History self-study report and external program review report highlight the innovative program that the History Department has developed. However, 
student, faculty, alumni, and external survey data and the review also note that more work is needed in regard to the range of courses offered, the thematic focus of those courses, and 
their availability.  

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Explore new ways to address student and faculty concerns about course availability and geographical/topical diversity by continuing to offer 
more Special Topics courses on wide range of geographical and thematic topics. 

Self Study p. 49 

Per recommendation number one, continue moving away from geographic approach that features a centre/periphery structure and more 
towards trans-national and thematic approaches in program structure.  

External Review p. 6 

Some students and faculty, however, express concerns around course consistency, assessments, and note that the availability and range of 
History courses is not ideal. 

Self Study p. 48 

Dialogue with Science and Horticulture, begun pre-pandemic, is certainly worth pursuing when the situation permits. Indeed, we encourage 
discussions with other programs and faculties regarding further development of elective and cross-listed courses. In particular, we invite 
History to continue building connections to other Arts programs whose students may be particularly interested in a History degree (e.g., 
double Major, or Minor) as a complement to their existing field of HIST Program Review study. 

Dean’s Response pp. 60-61 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 6  

GOAL 2: Expand and further integrate decolonization and Indigenization into the History Program, its core competencies, and all of its course and program outcomes. 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:   We foregrounded decolonization and Indigenization as an essential area of focus for this program review. While we received encouraging feedback, we 
know that much more work remains to be done if we are to address this vital program and institutional priority meaningfully. New curriculum will need to be developed, existing course 
and program outcomes need to be revised, and the lens of decolonization needs to expand from our North American history offerings to our entire program. This must include a 
discussion with the Dean’s Office of a new regular faculty hire (ideally a shared hire with INDG). 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

We need to foreground the Indigenous content in our existing courses. As institutions are called to meaningfully decolonize and Indigenize their 
curricula and pedagogy, we see clear opportunities for the Department of History to contribute substantially to this vital effort. 

Self Study p. 8 

…develop a new program competency that specifically addresses the importance of Indigenization (and/or decolonization). Self Study p. 34 

… Hire another faculty member who is an Indigenous expert… [we acknowledge that this recommendation is outside the purview of the program 
itself; however, we believe this is a vital recommendation for the Dean’s Office in order that the labour of decolonization and Indigenization does 
not fall disproportionately on one or two faculty members]. 

External Review p. 2 

…Continue with de-colonization effort of curriculum and program structure, including global content, not just Canadian.  External Review p. 6 

Further resources and support relating to Indigenization and decolonization would be of benefit to the entire institution, and especially to programs 
which show the keen interest in these themes demonstrated by History in its Self-Study. 

Dean’s Response p. 63 

Stronger links with local Indigenous First Nations and urban Indigenous communities should form an important dimension of the department’s 
stated intentions around Indigenization. 

Dean’s Response p. 64 

Student survey data, as well as the review team’s meetings with current and former students, clearly indicate that the students want more (a) 
Indigenous history and (b) courses studying the history of areas and content not currently covered by the program. 

External Review p. 2 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 7  

GOAL 3:  Create a Program Advisory Committee (PAC)/External Advisory Committee (EAC) for the program. 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:  This is necessary to build and strengthen ties to our broader communities, to build upon and enhance experiential opportunities for our students, to 
increase and foreground links to industry and potential careers, and to build our ‘brand’ in the Lower Mainland.  

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

…awareness of the program within KPU and in our wider communities remains limited. This points to the continuing and pressing need for more 
comprehensive outreach to help to grow our program and retain students. More focused advertising, educational advising, internal & external 
marketing, and engagement with an external board will all be vital in this effort. 

Self Study p 8 

…create an external advisory board to build stronger ties to our communities. Self Study p 15 

Maintain [build] an External Advisory Committee for this program.  External Review p 10 

We strongly support the development of an external advisory committee for HIST. Dean’s Response p 63 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 8  

GOAL 4: Update and align course outcomes, expectations, and program requirements to ensure successful student progression through the degree.  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Program scaffolding and the requirements for our major & minor degrees must be reviewed and updated to improve program quality, student experience, 
and enrollment and retention. A lower-level methods course, revised course outcomes, and an increased emphasis on digital skills, collaborative, and experiential opportunities should 
all be part of this process of curricular revision. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Explore options around adding a lower-lever methods course in addition to the 4400 Capstone.  External Review p 6 

While the enrolment trends are generally positive, there may be ways to improve on these trends and better prepare students for upper division 
courses by requiring another 1xxx course; such a course may help our outcomes and retention. Seat fill rates could be improved, and student 
feedback further shows that course availability is a concern. 

Self Study p 7 

The flexibility of the History BA major and minor programs has been a hallmark of the degree’s success. However, the tremendous flexibility of the 
degree, requiring only two courses at the 1xxx level, and two at the 2xxx level before students move on to upper division courses, may be 
contributing to DFW rates in upper division courses, as students are less prepared for the rigours of work at this level. 

Self Study p 7 

Given the importance of digital skills and global awareness in our graduates, as echoed in the discipline/sector survey, History needs to create 
additional opportunities for students in these areas as we continue to refine our digital, world, and thematic course offerings. 

Self Study p 7 

…review and revise existing course outlines to foreground key program competencies, and to incorporate outcomes that have been insufficiently 
developed to date, such as digital literacy and Indigenization. 

Self Study p 34 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 9  

GOAL 5:  More effectively promote the History program within KPU and across the communities that we serve in order to grow our enrollments and provide meaningful service to our 
local communities.  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: In order to address the perceived lack of awareness of our program and to build greater experiential opportunities for our students we will need to work 
collaboratively with Marketing, Educational Advising, and other areas of the University, to promote our program. We must continue our community outreach and engagement as well 
as working with other Arts departments and disciplines to encourage students to take our courses, build synergy with other programs, and continue to promote our major and minor 
programs as complementary degrees. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

…explore ways to build more public participation and community outreach by working with community stakeholders, providing more experiential 
opportunities for students, and continuing to build upon the successful relationships created through the Arts 4800 Practicum course; 

Self Study p 15 

…continue to work with marketing, advising, and FSO (the Future Students Office) to expand our marketing and interaction with prospective and 
continuing students and enhance relationships and initiate dialogue across faculties to build greater multidisciplinary collaboration; 

Self Study p 15 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 10  

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations cannot be addressed. Add or 
remove rows as necessary. 

Recommendations Report (page number) Rationale 

Provide course release for all faculty to give them the time to conduct 
their non-teaching activities.  

External Review 2 Not within the program’s control. 

[Hire] at least two more full-time faculty with expertise outside the 
regions currently covered by the faculty. These hires should be in 
addition to the replacement of retiring faculty. Non-regular faculty 
should also be regularized.  

External Review 2 & 8 Not within the program’s control – however, the department will continue to work 
closely with the dean’s office and explore avenues for improvement/development of 
new areas in the program as they arise and around any replacement or possible new 
hires. We would like to emphasize that this recommendation was made in order to 
support the equitable distribution of workload around Indigenization and service.   

In addition to the existing streams of historical study, consider adding an 
education stream. Many students and alumni identified themselves as 
headed for PDP or other education programs after their History degree. 
Creating a specified stream for them would be a useful program 
expansion.  

External Review 6 Given the diversity of how individual students approach their education in social 
studies and history in preparation for PDP and related education studies, we do not 
feel this is possible at this time. The three existing history streams (reflecting 
changes in faculty and education studies focus in recent years) offer recognition of 
specialization more generally. 

Retain or even reduce the current caps of 35 on history courses in 
general, and 25 on seminar courses. 

External Review 8 Not within the program’s control 

Investigate the disconnect between users and the bookstore.  External Review 10 Department and faculty will continue to work collaboratively with the bookstore 
around book orders, realistic expectations, and in the evolving nature of new 
ordering software; however, challenges around the bookstore and delivery of 
services to students are outside of the program’s control. 

Maintain the functionality of the “History Pod,” and consider adding 
similar spaces at KPU’s other campuses.  

External Review 10 Not within the program’s control 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 11  

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to attain its Goal over the next five year. Detail the steps the program will take to achieve each Strategy. 
Add or remove Strategies and tables as necessary. 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: January 2022 to January 2027 

STRATEGY 1: Create a Program Advisory Committee (PAC)/External Advisory Committee (EAC) – build relationships with external partners, alumni, and others 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 3 and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Establish a departmental committee to spearhead efforts to establish an EAC (External Advisory 
Committee) HIST Chair 10/21 01/22 

A department committee chair has 
volunteered (effective Oct. 2021); will 
constitute formal committee at next 
department meeting (Dec 2021) 

Establish terms of reference/parameters for the HIST EAC, identify list of individuals, alumni, and 
community stakeholders from our local communities, coordinate with Dean’s office to send out 
invitations and to secure funding to support the EAC 

HIST EAC 
committee 01/22 05/22 

Organize an initial meeting of HIST EAC, develop or initiate relationships with new community partners 
HIST EAC 

committee 05-06/22 09/22 

This could include invitations to Kwantlen 
or Tsawwassen First Nation member(s), 
KPU alums, local museum & archives 
representatives, and others. 

Implement annual or bi-annual HIST EAC meeting HIST EAC 
committee Fall 2022 On-going 

Build our external network and promote 
the program, discuss with partners 
opportunities for HIST students, etc. 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Dedicated departmental or other resources to support EAC meetings (parking, food, honoraria for speakers) 
When are these resources required?  Starting Spring 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  This strategy depends on collegial work with the Dean or Arts office/admin support, HIST faculty departmental service/attendance (largely 
already set-up) 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 12  

STRATEGY 2:  Continue our work to decolonize our curriculum and expand efforts to Indigenize our program. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goals 1, 2, 4, and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Support faculty in decolonization, Indigenization, and reconciliation efforts Dean; HIST 
Chair In process On-going 

We will continue to engage with the 
resources available at KPU to build 
faculty supports 

Encourage HIST faculty to complete the online Indigenous Awareness modules and other PD 
opportunities such as the UBC Reconciliation MOOC 

HIST Chair 12/21 02/22 

Develop and implement a new course in Indigenous History of Canada (1110) and follow up with further 
2xxx-4xxx courses to develop further Indigenous themes, decolonization themes, including a global 
Indigenous history course (TBA), discuss possibility of a field-school opportunity 

HIST Chair & 
individual dept 
members; 
HIST 
representative 
on ASCC 

01/20 
Completed 

09/21 and on-
going 

Our first Indigenous history course: 
HIST1110 Kanata was developed and will 
be taught in Spring 2022 (based on the 
draft self-study report); in consultation, 
we will continue development of courses, 
ASCC approval facilitated by the HIST 
representative  

Establish a department lead and committee to help gather materials, facilitate discussion, and facilitate 
wider engagement with Indigenous stakeholders, department, and institution; add a standing item to 
department meetings and/or curriculum assessment meetings to discuss instructional methods and 
integration related to decolonization (History Decolonization Committee) 

HIST Chair & 
Committee 
chair In process 01/22 and 

then on-going 

A department committee chair has 
volunteered  (Oct 2021); will constitute 
formal committee at next department 
meeting (Dec 2021) 

Collect relevant materials for department/faculty discussion on meaning and intent of decolonization, 
Indigenization, settler-colonial regional & global history 

HIST 
Decolonization 
committee 

01/22 On-going 

Bring Elder-in-Residence, chair of INDG, and/or other elders or stakeholders to speak to department HIST 
Decolonization 
committee 

05/22 05-06/22 
Possible additional budget required for 
an appropriate honorarium 

Review, revise existing pedagogy HIST 
Decolonization 
committee, 
dept members 

In process On-going 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 13  

Discuss and draft new curriculum outcomes, revise course outlines to reflect decolonization (preliminary 
stage) – develop a new program competency that specifically addresses the importance of 
decolonization & Indigenization 

HIST faculty & 
Decolonization 
committee, 
HIST Chair 

09/22 12/22 

Done as part of on-going full course 
outline revisions (see also Strategy 1 & 4) 

Review, revise course outlines to reflect decolonization (later stages) HIST 
Decolonization 
committee, 
HIST Chair 

09/24 On-going 

Make additional changes, incorporate 
revisions as needed and departmental 
awareness deepens 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Institutional support for decolonization (PD, discussion materials, suggestions, etc.); budget for at least one (or more) department retreats 
re decolonization; budget to bring in Elder-in-Residence AND other elders to meet with department; discussion with Dean of Arts/Assoc DoA around possibilities and implications of 50/50 hire, no 
immediate resources required in consultation phase for possible hire 
When are these resources required?  Beginning Spring 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  This strategy depends on HIST faculty, Elder-in-Residence time for department meeting/retreat, classroom visits; decolonization work by wider 
institution 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 14  

STRATEGY 3:  Promote KPU History more broadly and effectively through a variety of activities on campus(es) and in our local communities: for example, in connections through our PAC/EAC, 
decolonization efforts with local Indigenous communities, building more synergy with other programs, disciplines, & departments through interdisciplinary or cross-listed course development; 
increased collaboration with KPU Marketing. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goals 1, 2, 3, and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Initiate discussions with other departments/disciplines around interdisciplinary course development 
& cross-listing 

HIST Chair & 
department 
faculty 01/20 On-going 

Discuss interdisciplinary course development 
possibilities across KPU programs and 
disciplines (See also Strategy 4) – this would 
not only offer new course offerings and 
possibilities, but it would also strengthen 
intra-institutional connections. 

Initiate wider alumni outreach to raise awareness of program and maintain connections with our 
wider community 

HIST Chair 
11/21 On-going 

For example, initiate a department alumni 
newsletter (annual or bi-annual), link to Dept 
website (Spring 2022) 

Discuss/consider micro-credentialing and strategies for attracting advanced learners, planning 
for/addition of 1xxx time-slots for dual-credit courses (HS/secondary student learners) 

HIST Chair & 
department 01/22 12/22 and 

On-going 
Utilize the expertise of KPU Marketing through the Faculty of Arts to create new advertising (print, 
digital) both internal and external to KPU 

HIST Chair 01/22 On-going This should be ongoing throughout the next 
five years 

Utilize the expertise of KPU Arts Degree Advisors and FSO to expand our marketing and interaction 
with prospective and continuing students 

HIST Chair 
01/22 06/22 and 

on-going 

Meet with Advising and FSO to discuss further 
steps forward – and then this should be 
ongoing throughout the next five years. 

Organize a department media committee to discuss and update HIST digital and marketing footprint HIST Chair & 
dept committee 01/22 On-going 

Currently, one individual manages most of 
this, increased department engagement 
would better spread efforts in this regard 
while distributing workload more equitably  

Analyze and revise department website, social media, and digital outreach based on self-study, 
student, alumni feedback 

HIST Chair, HIST 
faculty, later on 
HIST Alumni 06/22 On-going 

In short term: adding/hyperlink department 
facilitated student research journal, update 
dept website; link new page, tab or hyperlink 
faculty and student research achievements 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 15  

and update regularly). This should be ongoing 
throughout the next five years.  

Discuss with EAC/PAC stakeholders possibilities external to KPU to highlight KPU History and students 
to potential stakeholders 

HIST Chair & 
EAC Committee 09/22 On-going This should be ongoing throughout the next 

five years 
Discuss with Decolonization Committee, Elder-in-Residence, and other stakeholders possibilities 
external to KPU to highlight KPU History to potential students 

HIST Chair, 
Decolonization 
committee 

09/23 On-going 
This should be ongoing throughout the next 
five years 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   None  
When are these resources required?  n/a 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  This strategy depends on HIST faculty, support from Faculty of Arts Marketing liaison 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 16  

STRATEGY 4: Continue to streamline, revise and update our curriculum, and develop and implement new courses in accordance with the guidance received through this program review process. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goals 1, 2, and 4 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Initiate and then implement the addition of one more HIST1xxx-level course requirement to the History 
BA Major and Minor requirement structure to bring HIST more in line with other Arts programs and 
their baseline requirements 

HIST Chair & T 
Kinney 

01/2021 09/2021 

This has been completed and the department 
website updated to reflect and highlight the 
change going forward; this came out of the 
preliminary findings of the draft self-study 
and duly approved self-study (Jan-Feb 2021) 
and department discussions in Jan 2021. 

Discuss, develop, and begin implementation process (depending on nature of discussion) of a HIST2xxx 
Methods & Skills course 

HIST Chair & 
department 

12/21 09/22 

Implementation possibly September 2023 
(depends on discussion and current curricular 
implementation dates). All curriculum 
development will be undertaken by existing 
faculty and will utilize base sections allocated 
to the History program 

Initiate discussions with other departments/disciplines around interdisciplinary course development & 
cross-listing 

HIST Chair & 
department 
faculty 

01/22 On-going 
This would not only create new course 
offerings and possibilities, it would 
strengthen intra-institutional connections. 

Discuss, develop, and incorporate more signature assessments, digital media projects, and group work 
as per self-study student, faculty, and alumni survey feedback – discuss at regular department meetings 
and annually with the department curriculum/programming meeting  

HIST Chair & 
department 06/2022 12/22 and 

on-going 

We meet each December for a session 
specifically devoted to pedagogy  

Discuss and explore opportunities among HIST faculty and with the Dean’s office to address student, 
alumni and faculty concerns about course availability and geographical/topical diversity by continuing 
to offer more Special Topics (HIST4499) or Explorations (1190) courses on diverse and/or 
underrepresented topics 

HIST Chair, 
department 

9/22 9/23 and 
on-going 

In crafting future Ed-Plans (2023-24, etc.), 
dialogue with faculty, and the Dean’s office 
regarding possible extra sections, utilizing 
existing faculty (and potentially QFL) to 
diversify and test geographically and 
thematically diverse special topics courses. 

Create a department working group to advise on department and course assessment.  HIST Chair & 
committee 9/22 01/23 and 

on-going 

This will need to balance obvious concerns 
around academic freedom with the broader 
concerns identified by our students and 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan  Page 17  

alumni around assessment and group work. 
For example, the department could develop a 
HIST Department general criteria for research 
paper assessment (like our current HIST 
Department CMS Citations/Bibliography 
Guidelines for use across all HIST courses). 

Review and revise existing HIST course outlines to foreground key program competencies, and to 
incorporate outcomes that have been insufficiently developed to date, such as digital literacy, 
decolonization, experiential learning, etc. 

HIST Chair & 
decolonization 
committee 

12/22 12/23 and 
on-going 

This depends, to a degree, on work and 
scheduling with ASCC 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Continued HIST faculty use of faculty and .6PD professional development funds 
When are these resources required?  Ongoing… 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  This strategy depends on HIST faculty, with input from ARTS advisors, collegial work with ASCC, and potential collaboration with other 
departments and disciplines 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan Page 18 

STRATEGY 5:  In consultation with the Dean’s Office, IAP, and other stakeholders, pursue a shared regular faculty hire, most likely with INDG 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goals 2, 4, and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 
by 

To Start 
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Initiate discussion with INDG and the Dean’s Office around a shared position (50/50 or other) with 
specialization in Indigenous history, to help facilitate decolonization and reconciliation  

HIST Chair 

01/22 On-going 

Since this objective requires collaboration 
across programs (and possibly faculties), we 
anticipate this will be a medium to long-term 
goal for the QAP 

Initiate IAP research and discussion with other possible stakeholders around a shared position (50/50 or 
other) with specialization in Indigenous history, to help facilitate decolonization and reconciliation  

HIST Chair 

01/22 On-going 

Since this objective requires collaboration 
across programs (and possibly faculties), we 
anticipate this will be a medium to long-term 
goal for the QAP 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Dean’s Office support for this initiative 
When are these resources required?  late 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Funding for this regular position 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY: 

________________________________________  _________________________________________________  _________________________________ 
Provost’s Name  Provost’s Signature Date 

________________________________________  _________________________________________________  _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name Dean’s Signature Date 

(�.JMMBSE ��������

DianePurvey DAY

David Burns
Nov 29, 2021



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
             Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

1 
 

  

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  History 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 

o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-
Year Follow-Up Report. 

 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: The History department members have carefully taken into consideration all of the input and 
review provided from all areas and developed a sound plan to move forward. The strategies to address each 
goal area are well thought through and reflect, in particular, a strong sense of future purpose that embraces 
Indigenization, global and digital histories. Congratulations to all involved! 
 
Reviewer #2: The History Program Review Team have written a very good QA plan responding to 
recommendations from the SS and ER reports. The plans to intensify efforts to decolonize and Indigenize 
curricula, reorient the program, update outcomes, and engage in outreach with the community and within 
KPU will help strengthen the program. The goals and steps are logical, but a number of them need completion 
dates. Consider what is realistic for the team to report on in its One-Year Follow-Up Report or beyond. 
 

The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 

☒          Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 

☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 
 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year 

Follow-Up Report. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 

Comments: 
p.3 “…we need to ensure that the labour of 
decolonization and Indigenization does not fall 
entirely on one or two faculty” 
 

 
Point well-taken – nor can the work of decolonization 
and Indigenization rely on Indigenous faculty. 
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
             Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

2 
 

p.3 “…our introductory thematic courses – 
pandemics, environmental history, animal history, 
and food history – have considerable appeal in our 
wider communities.” 
 
p.4 “…competition from both private post-secondary 
institutions around the Lower Mainland offering first-
year Canadian and Global History courses, and the 
larger research universities, to whom we regularly 
lose outstanding students midstream from our 
program.” 
 
 
 
 
p.12 “…Indigenous History of Canada (1110) and 
follow up with further 2xxx-4xxx courses to develop 
further Indigenous themes, decolonization themes, 
including a global Indigenous history course.” 
 
p.12 “…discuss possibility of a field-school 
opportunity.” 
 
p.14 “…Discuss/consider micro-credentialing and 
strategies…”  
 
p.14 “… planning for/addition of 1xxx time-slots for 
dual-credit courses (HS/secondary student learners).” 
 

Agree - and would think that such courses placed in 
the issues of current contexts will be of interest and a 
draw for new students.  
 

Wondering if there are more ideas around student 
retention. Your thoughts around inter-
disciplinary/cross-listing courses, more transnational 
and thematic approaches, and an additional 
1xxx/2xxx courses will help as well as more Special 
Topics (HIST4499) or Explorations (1190) courses on 
diverse and/or underrepresented topics. Also, 
imagine the formation of the EAC will be a source for 
more ideas. 

Exciting positive direction. 
 
 
 
 
This could be an excellent post-pandemic 
opportunity. 
 
This could be an excellent opportunity. 
 
 
Suggest you initiate a conversation with FSO/dual 
credit for a theme-based cohort. 

p. 12 Step 1 “Support faculty…”  This is vague and has no completion date. I think you 
are specific about it in later steps. Perhaps delete?  

p. 12 Step 2 “Encourage faculty…MOOC” Shows completion date of 02/2022. What does that 
indicate? Does encouragement stop, or have 
instructors completed course, or has course ended?  

p. 12 Step 3 “Develop… and follow up with…” Create two steps (HIST 1110 and new 2xxx and 4xxx 
courses). And find completion date for 2nd part. 

p. 12-18 –A number of other steps have  no 
completion dates. See instances of “on-going.”  

Maybe consider what to report on in first annual 
follow-up or at end of PR cycle. Perhaps some steps 
need to be more specific.  

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

 

 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 1  

 
Date submitted to SSCPR: November    , 2021 
 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR:  February 24, 2021  
 
Date of External Review: June 17 & 18, 2021 (received by HIST Sept 28, 2021) 

 

SUMMARY 

Summarize what the program has determined - through evidence - about program quality (e.g. strengths, challenges, opportunities for improvement, potential threats, etc.)  

Overview 

In keeping with local protocols, we wish to express our gratitude to the q̓ʷɑ:n̓ƛə̓n̓ (Kwantlen), xʷməθkwəyə̓m (Musqueam), q̓icə̓y ̓(Katzie), SEMYOME (Semiahmoo), scə̓waθən 

(Tsawwassen), qiqéyt (Qayqayt), and kʷikʷəƛə̓m (Kwikwetlem) Peoples. We recognize that our work at Kwantlen Polytechnic University takes place on the territories of these First 

Nations, who have cared for these lands since time immemorial. As part of this acknowledgement, we hold ourselves accountable to participating in the work of decolonization, 

reconciliation, and Indigenization at KPU and in our communities. 

History at KPU aims to provide a broad-based understanding of how the peoples and societies of our world today have changed over time and geographic space. In our history courses, 
we critically engage, study, discuss, and analyze how peoples, cultures, economic, and political systems have together shaped the world in which we live and the debates which 
continue to dominate contemporary discourse. For us, the study of the past is an essential part of an undergraduate education, and to this end, we pay particular attention to improving 
our students’ skills in recognizing and evaluating sources, thinking creatively and critically, communicating effectively in both oral and written forms, and applying their knowledge to 
produce informed and articulate analyses of contemporary global issues.  As a department within the Faculty of Arts, and the broader KPU community, we see our department as 
providing three, interrelated, contributions to the institution and our students:  
 

 highlighting ‘moments that matter’ and relating these to our contemporary world in such a way as to enable students to understand the critical connections between past and 
present; 

 helping to guide students who choose to make history a significant part of their undergraduate education, and offering them a diversity of pathways that best suit their future 
goals; 

 continuing to emphasize the essential competencies that students gain throughout their history education. 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 2  

 
We currently have seven regular faculty (six 100% Regular positions and one 50% Regular) in the History program, one NR2 (100%), as well as a several visiting instructors. We offer a 

combination of regional and thematic history courses, and the thematic courses (including global, digital, environmental history, and material culture), as well as increased emphasis on 

experiential, digital, and applied learning course offerings have been an increasingly popular addition to our traditional regional histories. Most recently (2019-20), the Department 

refined the history streams in the wake of faculty changes and the success of the thematic courses, and offers three specialized streams – Asian, North American, and Global History – 

as well as the general BA Major, Minor, and Associate of Arts degrees.   

Our program review has highlighted a very successful program that is meeting or exceeding the needs and expectations of our stakeholders. However, the program review process 

highlighted areas that could be strengthened and opportunities that are available.   

 

Key Program Strengths 

KPU History is the fifth largest History program in BC (after UBC, SFU, UVic, and UFV) by student seats, and is comparable in student headcount with UFV (although the latter program has 
several more full-time regular faculty than KPU History).   
 
Strengths of the program, based on the current student, alumni, and faculty surveys, History Self-Study, and External Program Review Committee report include: 
 

 a modest but growing program (based on student enrollment, intended, and FTE headcount, and seat fill rates and utilization, especially in upper division courses); 

 committed, engaged, and interested students, excellent and passionate faculty, and a long-held commitment to student-centred learning, with a high overall student and alumni 
satisfaction with the program; 

 a popular, flexible, and timely mix of course offerings, ranging from traditional regional histories to thematic offerings (from environmental history to textiles, global history to 
digital history, and newly-launched Indigenous history courses), as well as dedicated history streams for our students (Asian, Global & North American History; 

 a well-established commitment to Open Education and Open Pedagogy; 

 a curriculum that emphasizes digital literacies, adaptability, social awareness, and preparation for life-long learning; 

 interdisciplinary and cross-listed courses that build our enrollment (as well as the enrollments of other programs) across the three largest KPU campuses (Surrey, Richmond, and 
Langley) 

 a comprehensive focus on decolonization and Indigenization, not just as an ‘add-on’, but as a meaningful lens through which our students and faculty approach the past. 
 
 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 3  

Key Program Challenges 
 
Key challenges identified by the current History Self-Study Report, student, alumni, and faculty surveys, and by the External Program Review Committee Report include: 
 

 a need to grow the program, fill rates, and student retention – while enrollment trends are positive for History, we need to continue to improve upon them by addressing course 
and topical/thematic availability, and offering more thematic, global (or transnational) and digital history courses consistent with trends in the wider discipline of history and with 
student needs and interests; 

 a need to expand our decolonization and Indigenization efforts in our curriculum and program, including our global history courses, and new course offerings, by reviewing and 
revising existing course outlines, and embedding an Indigenous lens in all of our course and program outcomes; related to this, we need to ensure that the labour of decolonization 
and Indigenization does not fall entirely on one or two faculty;  

 a need for more skills development in our lower-level courses to better prepare students for subsequent program coursework; 

 relatively low institutional and community awareness of our program; 

 a need to increase collaborative and experiential learning opportunities for our students. 
 
 
Key Program Opportunities 
 
Having established a successful mid-sized program, which is, at present, meeting and exceeding the needs and expectations of a significant proportion of our stakeholders, the concern 
is to continue to sustain the program and find ways to do what we do well more effectively. A number of opportunities present themselves at this time, based on the Self-Study Report, 
External Review Report, and student, alumni, and faculty surveys. These are: 
 

 the development of recent experiential learning initiatives, including the KPU Arts practicum course, has increased opportunities to engage a greater number of students in these 
types of activities; 

 our introductory thematic courses – pandemics, environmental history, animal history, and food history – have considerable appeal in our wider communities; by advertising these 
courses under the ‘general interest category’ we have an opportunity to increase our lower level enrollment substantially;   

 while the program has initiated a meaningful decolonization and Indigenization of its program, there remains more work to be done – and as post-secondary institutions are called 
to decolonize and Indigenize their curricula, we recognize that the History program could be doing much more in this area. We have an opportunity to build upon our recent hirings 
of specialists in global Indigenous history and local Indigenous history, such that the hard work of meaningful decolonization and Indigenization is spread more equitably in the 
department; a recent opportunity to share our office space with the INDG faculty will greatly facilitate collaborative work in this area;  

 by working collaboratively with Marketing, educational advising, and by developing an external advisory board we have an opportunity to boost the institutional and community 
presence of our program. 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 4  

Key Program Threats 
 
Threats can be construed as external developments that could negatively impact the History program, and may include: 
 

 competition from both private post-secondary institutions around the Lower Mainland offering first-year Canadian and Global History courses, and the larger research universities, 
to whom we regularly lose outstanding students midstream from our program; 

 the national focus on STEM at the expense of the Humanities and Social Sciences; 

 the perception that an Arts degree has less value in the 21st Century economy; 

 decreasing domestic enrollments;  

 future retirements and the impacts on our ability to deliver the program effectively;  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 5  

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 

List the program’s Quality Assurance Goals (broad statements about what the program intends to accomplish to ensure program quality). Identify the Recommendation(s) – drawn from 

the Self-Study Report and External Review Report - each Goal addresses. Provide a brief Rationale for each Goal (see the Quality Assurance Plan Guidelines for instructions). Add or 

remove rows as necessary. 

GOAL 1:  Build upon the work done to reorient our program to more transnational and thematic approaches (one of the main goals of our last QAP) by developing new courses, new 

pedagogy, and by embedding new methods and digital technologies into our existing curriculum.  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:  The History self-study report and external program review report highlight the innovative program that the History Department has developed. However, 

student, faculty, alumni, and external survey data and the review also note that more work is needed in regard to the range of courses offered, the thematic focus of those courses, and 

their availability.  

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Explore new ways to address student and faculty concerns about course availability and geographical/topical diversity by continuing to offer 
more Special Topics courses on wide range of geographical and thematic topics. 

Self Study p. 49 

Per recommendation number one, continue moving away from geographic approach that features a centre/periphery structure and more 
towards trans-national and thematic approaches in program structure.  

External Review p. 6 

Some students and faculty, however, express concerns around course consistency, assessments, and note that the availability and range of 
History courses is not ideal. 

Self Study p. 48 

Dialogue with Science and Horticulture, begun pre-pandemic, is certainly worth pursuing when the situation permits. Indeed, we encourage 
discussions with other programs and faculties regarding further development of elective and cross-listed courses. In particular, we invite 
History to continue building connections to other Arts programs whose students may be particularly interested in a History degree (e.g., 
double Major, or Minor) as a complement to their existing field of HIST Program Review study. 

Dean’s Response pp. 60-61 

 

 

 

 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 6  

GOAL 2: Expand and further integrate decolonization and Indigenization into the History Program, its core competencies, and all of its course and program outcomes. 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:   We foregrounded decolonization and Indigenization as an essential area of focus for this program review. While we received encouraging feedback, we 

know that much more work remains to be done if we are to address this vital program and institutional priority meaningfully. New curriculum will need to be developed, existing course 

and program outcomes need to be revised, and the lens of decolonization needs to expand from our North American history offerings to our entire program. This must include a 

discussion with the Dean’s Office of a new regular faculty hire (ideally a shared hire with INDG). 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

We need to foreground the Indigenous content in our existing courses. As institutions are called to meaningfully decolonize and Indigenize their 
curricula and pedagogy, we see clear opportunities for the Department of History to contribute substantially to this vital effort. 

Self Study p. 8 

…develop a new program competency that specifically addresses the importance of Indigenization (and/or decolonization). Self Study p. 34 

… Hire another faculty member who is an Indigenous expert… [we acknowledge that this recommendation is outside the purview of the program 
itself; however, we believe this is a vital recommendation for the Dean’s Office in order that the labour of decolonization and Indigenization does 
not fall disproportionately on one or two faculty members]. 

External Review p. 2 

…Continue with de-colonization effort of curriculum and program structure, including global content, not just Canadian.  External Review p. 6 

Further resources and support relating to Indigenization and decolonization would be of benefit to the entire institution, and especially to programs 
which show the keen interest in these themes demonstrated by History in its Self-Study. 

Dean’s Response p. 63 

Stronger links with local Indigenous First Nations and urban Indigenous communities should form an important dimension of the department’s 
stated intentions around Indigenization. 

Dean’s Response p. 64 

Student survey data, as well as the review team’s meetings with current and former students, clearly indicate that the students want more (a) 
Indigenous history and (b) courses studying the history of areas and content not currently covered by the program. 

External Review p. 2 

 

  



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 7  

GOAL 3:  Create a Program Advisory Committee (PAC)/External Advisory Committee (EAC) for the program. 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:  This is necessary to build and strengthen ties to our broader communities, to build upon and enhance experiential opportunities for our students, to 

increase and foreground links to industry and potential careers, and to build our ‘brand’ in the Lower Mainland.  

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

…awareness of the program within KPU and in our wider communities remains limited. This points to the continuing and pressing need for more 
comprehensive outreach to help to grow our program and retain students. More focused advertising, educational advising, internal & external 
marketing, and engagement with an external board will all be vital in this effort. 

Self Study p 8 

…create an external advisory board to build stronger ties to our communities. Self Study p 15 

Maintain [build] an External Advisory Committee for this program.  External Review p 10 

We strongly support the development of an external advisory committee for HIST. Dean’s Response p 63 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 8  

GOAL 4: Update and align course outcomes, expectations, and program requirements to ensure successful student progression through the degree.  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Program scaffolding and the requirements for our major & minor degrees must be reviewed and updated to improve program quality, student experience, 

and enrollment and retention. A lower-level methods course, revised course outcomes, and an increased emphasis on digital skills, collaborative, and experiential opportunities should 

all be part of this process of curricular revision. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Explore options around adding a lower-lever methods course in addition to the 4400 Capstone.  External Review p 6 

While the enrolment trends are generally positive, there may be ways to improve on these trends and better prepare students for upper division 
courses by requiring another 1xxx course; such a course may help our outcomes and retention. Seat fill rates could be improved, and student 
feedback further shows that course availability is a concern. 

Self Study p 7 

The flexibility of the History BA major and minor programs has been a hallmark of the degree’s success. However, the tremendous flexibility of the 
degree, requiring only two courses at the 1xxx level, and two at the 2xxx level before students move on to upper division courses, may be 
contributing to DFW rates in upper division courses, as students are less prepared for the rigours of work at this level. 

Self Study p 7 

Given the importance of digital skills and global awareness in our graduates, as echoed in the discipline/sector survey, History needs to create 
additional opportunities for students in these areas as we continue to refine our digital, world, and thematic course offerings. 

Self Study p 7 

…review and revise existing course outlines to foreground key program competencies, and to incorporate outcomes that have been insufficiently 
developed to date, such as digital literacy and Indigenization. 

Self Study p 34 

 

 

 

 

 

 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 9  

GOAL 5:  More effectively promote the History program within KPU and across the communities that we serve in order to grow our enrollments and provide meaningful service to our 

local communities.  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: In order to address the perceived lack of awareness of our program and to build greater experiential opportunities for our students we will need to work 
collaboratively with Marketing, Educational Advising, and other areas of the University, to promote our program. We must continue our community outreach and engagement as well 
as working with other Arts departments and disciplines to encourage students to take our courses, build synergy with other programs, and continue to promote our major and minor 
programs as complementary degrees. 
 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

…explore ways to build more public participation and community outreach by working with community stakeholders, providing more experiential 
opportunities for students, and continuing to build upon the successful relationships created through the Arts 4800 Practicum course; 

Self Study p 15 

…continue to work with marketing, advising, and FSO (the Future Students Office) to expand our marketing and interaction with prospective and 
continuing students and enhance relationships and initiate dialogue across faculties to build greater multidisciplinary collaboration; 

Self Study p 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 10  

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 

List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations cannot be addressed. Add or 
remove rows as necessary. 

Recommendations  Report (page number) Rationale 

Provide course release for all faculty to give them the time to conduct 
their non-teaching activities.  

External Review 2 Not within the program’s control. 

[Hire] at least two more full-time faculty with expertise outside the 
regions currently covered by the faculty. These hires should be in 
addition to the replacement of retiring faculty. Non-regular faculty 
should also be regularized.  

External Review 2 & 8 Not within the program’s control – however, the department will continue to work 
closely with the dean’s office and explore avenues for improvement/development of 
new areas in the program as they arise and around any replacement or possible new 
hires. We would like to emphasize that this recommendation was made in order to 
support the equitable distribution of workload around Indigenization and service.   

In addition to the existing streams of historical study, consider adding an 
education stream. Many students and alumni identified themselves as 
headed for PDP or other education programs after their History degree. 
Creating a specified stream for them would be a useful program 
expansion.  

External Review 6 Given the diversity of how individual students approach their education in social 
studies and history in preparation for PDP and related education studies, we do not 
feel this is possible at this time. The three existing history streams (reflecting 
changes in faculty and education studies focus in recent years) offer recognition of 
specialization more generally. 

Retain or even reduce the current caps of 35 on history courses in 
general, and 25 on seminar courses. 

External Review 8 Not within the program’s control 

Investigate the disconnect between users and the bookstore.  External Review 10 Department and faculty will continue to work collaboratively with the bookstore 
around book orders, realistic expectations, and in the evolving nature of new 
ordering software; however, challenges around the bookstore and delivery of 
services to students are outside of the program’s control. 

Maintain the functionality of the “History Pod,” and consider adding 
similar spaces at KPU’s other campuses.  

External Review 10 Not within the program’s control 

 

  



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 11  

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to attain its Goal over the next five year. Detail the steps the program will take to achieve each Strategy. 

Add or remove Strategies and tables as necessary. 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: January 2022 to January 2027 

STRATEGY 1: Create a Program Advisory Committee (PAC)/External Advisory Committee (EAC) – build relationships with external partners, alumni, and others 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 3 and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Establish a departmental committee to spearhead efforts to establish an EAC (External Advisory 
Committee) 

HIST Chair 10/21 01/22 

A department committee chair has 
volunteered (effective Oct. 2021); will 
constitute formal committee at next 
department meeting (Dec 2021) 

Establish terms of reference/parameters for the HIST EAC, identify list of individuals, alumni, and 
community stakeholders from our local communities, coordinate with Dean’s office to send out 
invitations and to secure funding to support the EAC 

HIST EAC 
committee 

01/22 05/22 
 

Organize an initial meeting of HIST EAC, develop or initiate relationships with new community partners 
HIST EAC 

committee 
05-06/22 09/22 

This could include invitations to Kwantlen 
or Tsawwassen First Nation member(s), 
KPU alums, local museum & archives 
representatives, and others. 

Implement annual or bi-annual HIST EAC meeting 
HIST EAC 

committee 
Fall 2022 On-going 

Build our external network and promote 
the program, discuss with partners 
opportunities for HIST students, etc. 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Dedicated departmental or other resources to support EAC meetings (parking, food, honoraria for speakers) 

When are these resources required?  Starting Spring 2022 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  This strategy depends on collegial work with the Dean or Arts office/admin support, HIST faculty departmental service/attendance (largely 
already set-up) 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 12  

 

STRATEGY 2:  Continue our work to decolonize our curriculum and expand efforts to Indigenize our program. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goals 1, 2, 4, and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Support faculty in decolonization, Indigenization, and reconciliation efforts Dean; HIST 
Chair In process On-going 

We will continue to engage with the 
resources available at KPU to build 
faculty supports 

Encourage HIST faculty to complete the online Indigenous Awareness modules and other PD 
opportunities such as the UBC Reconciliation MOOC 

HIST Chair 
12/21 

052/22 and 
on-going 

Ask faculty to complete one or more of 
the opportunities listed, and ongoing 

Develop and implement a new course in Indigenous History of Canada (1110) and follow up with further 
2xxx-4xxx courses to develop further Indigenous themes, decolonization themes, including a global 
Indigenous history course (TBA), discuss possibility of a field-school opportunity 

HIST Chair & 
individual dept 
members; 
HIST 
representative 
on ASCC 

01/20 
Completed 

09/21 and on-
going 

Our first Indigenous history course: 
HIST1110 Kanata was developed and will 
be taught in Spring 2022 (based on the 
draft self-study report); in consultation, 
we will continue development of courses, 
ASCC approval facilitated by the HIST 
representative  

Discuss, develop, and implement further 2xxx-4xxx courses to develop further Indigenous and 
decolonization themes, including possible Canada-themed courses (TBA) and global Indigenous history 
courses (TBA), and discuss possibility of a field-school opportunity 

HIST Chair & 
individual dept 
members; 
HIST 
representative 
on ASCC 

9/22 

At least one 
course by 

9/23; and on-
going 

These further courses will depend on 
funding and PD time, department 
discussion, and in consultation with wider 
communities; we will continue 
development of courses, ASCC approval 
facilitated by the HIST representative 

Establish a department lead and committee to help gather materials, facilitate discussion, and facilitate 
wider engagement with Indigenous stakeholders, department, and institution; add a standing item to 
department meetings and/or curriculum assessment meetings to discuss instructional methods and 
integration related to decolonization (History Decolonization Committee) 

HIST Chair & 
Committee 
chair 

In process 
01/22 and 

then on-going 

A department committee chair has 
volunteered  (Oct 2021); will constitute 
formal committee at next department 
meeting (Dec 2021) 

Collect relevant materials for department/faculty discussion on meaning and intent of decolonization, 
Indigenization, settler-colonial regional & global history 

HIST 
Decolonization 
committee 

01/22 On-going 
 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 13  

Bring Elder-in-Residence, chair of INDG, and/or other elders or stakeholders to speak to department HIST 
Decolonization 
committee 

05/22 05-06/22 
Possible additional budget required for 
an appropriate honorarium 

Review, revise existing pedagogy HIST 
Decolonization 
committee, 
dept members 

In process On-going 

 

Discuss and draft new curriculum outcomes, revise course outlines to reflect decolonization (preliminary 
stage) – develop a new program competency that specifically addresses the importance of 
decolonization & Indigenization 

HIST faculty & 
Decolonization 
committee, 
HIST Chair 

09/22 12/22 

Done as part of on-going full course 
outline revisions (see also Strategy 1 & 4) 

Review, revise course outlines to reflect decolonization (later stages) HIST 
Decolonization 
committee, 
HIST Chair 

09/24 On-going 

Make additional changes, incorporate 
revisions as needed and departmental 
awareness deepens; report revisions as 
part of on-going PR cycle reports 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Institutional support for decolonization (PD, discussion materials, suggestions, etc.); budget for at least one (or more) department retreats 
re decolonization; budget to bring in Elder-in-Residence AND other elders to meet with department; discussion with Dean of Arts/Assoc DoA around possibilities and implications of 50/50 hire, no 
immediate resources required in consultation phase for possible hire 

When are these resources required?  Beginning Spring 2022 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  This strategy depends on HIST faculty, Elder-in-Residence time for department meeting/retreat, classroom visits; decolonization work by wider 
institution 

 

  



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 14  

STRATEGY 3:  Promote KPU History more broadly and effectively through a variety of activities on campus(es) and in our local communities: for example, in connections through our PAC/EAC, 

decolonization efforts with local Indigenous communities, building more synergy with other programs, disciplines, & departments through interdisciplinary or cross-listed course development; 

increased collaboration with KPU Marketing. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goals 1, 2, 3, and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Initiate discussions with other departments/disciplines around interdisciplinary course development 
& cross-listing 

HIST Chair & 
department 
faculty 

01/20 
5/23 and 
On-going 

Discuss interdisciplinary course development 
possibilities across KPU programs and 
disciplines (See also Strategy 4) – this would 
not only offer new course offerings and 
possibilities, but it would also strengthen 
intra-institutional connections; report on 
discussions and cross-listing in 2023 PR report 
cycle. 

Initiate wider alumni outreach to raise awareness of program and maintain connections with our 
wider community 

HIST Chair 

11/21 
1/23 and 
On-going 

For example, initiate a department alumni 
newsletter (annual or bi-annual), link to Dept 
website (Spring 2022); report on alumni 
newsletter in 2023 PR report cycle 

Discuss/consider micro-credentialing and strategies for attracting advanced learners, planning 
for/addition of 1xxx time-slots for dual-credit courses (HS/secondary student learners) 

HIST Chair & 
department 

01/22 
12/22 and 
On-going 

Initiate discussion with FSO about expanded  
dual-credit and theme-based cohort 

Utilize the expertise of KPU Marketing through the Faculty of Arts to create new advertising (print, 
digital) both internal and external to KPU 

HIST Chair 
01/22 On-going 

This should be ongoing throughout the next 
five years 

Utilize the expertise of KPU Arts Degree Advisors and FSO to expand our marketing and interaction 
with prospective and continuing students 

HIST Chair 
01/22 

06/22 and 
on-going 

Meet with Advising and FSO to discuss further 
steps forward – and then this should be 
ongoing throughout the next five years. 

Organize a department media committee to discuss and update HIST digital and marketing footprint HIST Chair & 
dept committee 

01/22 
9/2023 and 

On-going 

Currently, one individual manages most of 
this, increased department engagement 
would better spread efforts in this regard 
while distributing workload more equitably; 
report in 2023 PR report cycle  



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 15  

Analyze and revise department website, social media, and digital outreach based on self-study, 
student, alumni feedback 

HIST Chair, HIST 
faculty, later on 
HIST Alumni 

06/22 On-going 

In short term: adding/hyperlink department 
facilitated student research journal, update 
dept website; link new page, tab or hyperlink 
faculty and student research achievements 
and update regularly). This should be ongoing 
throughout the next five years.  

Discuss with EAC/PAC stakeholders possibilities external to KPU to highlight KPU History and students 
to potential stakeholders 

HIST Chair & 
EAC Committee 

09/22 On-going 
This should be ongoing throughout the next 
five years 

Discuss with Decolonization Committee, Elder-in-Residence, and other stakeholders possibilities 
external to KPU to highlight KPU History to potential students 

HIST Chair, 
Decolonization 
committee 

09/23 On-going 
This should be ongoing throughout the next 
five years 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   None  

When are these resources required?  n/a 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  This strategy depends on HIST faculty, support from Faculty of Arts Marketing liaison 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 16  

 

 

 

STRATEGY 4: Continue to streamline, revise and update our curriculum, and develop and implement new courses in accordance with the guidance received through this program review process. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goals 1, 2, and 4 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Initiate and then implement the addition of one more HIST1xxx-level course requirement to the History 
BA Major and Minor requirement structure to bring HIST more in line with other Arts programs and 
their baseline requirements 

HIST Chair & T 
Kinney 

01/2021 09/2021 

This has been completed and the department 
website updated to reflect and highlight the 
change going forward; this came out of the 
preliminary findings of the draft self-study 
and duly approved self-study (Jan-Feb 2021) 
and department discussions in Jan 2021. 

Discuss, develop, and begin implementation process (depending on nature of discussion) of a HIST2xxx 
Methods & Skills course 

HIST Chair & 
department 

12/21 09/22 

Implementation possibly September 2023 
(depends on discussion and current curricular 
implementation dates). All curriculum 
development will be undertaken by existing 
faculty and will utilize base sections allocated 
to the History program 
 

Initiate discussions with other departments/disciplines around interdisciplinary course development & 
cross-listing 

HIST Chair & 
department 
faculty 01/22 On-going 

This would not only create new course 
offerings and possibilities, it would 
strengthen intra-institutional connections; 
report on discussions in 2023 & 2025 PR 
report cycles. 

Discuss, develop, and incorporate more signature assessments, digital media projects, and group work 
as per self-study student, faculty, and alumni survey feedback – discuss at regular department meetings 
and annually with the department curriculum/programming meeting  

HIST Chair & 
department 06/2022 

12/22 and 
on-going 

We meet each December for a session 
specifically devoted to pedagogy  



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 17  

Discuss and explore opportunities among HIST faculty and with the Dean’s office to address student, 
alumni and faculty concerns about course availability and geographical/topical diversity by continuing 
to offer more Special Topics (HIST4499) or Explorations (1190) courses on diverse and/or 
underrepresented topics 

HIST Chair, 
department 

9/22 
9/23 and 
on-going 

In crafting future Ed-Plans (2023-24, etc.), 
dialogue with faculty, and the Dean’s office 
regarding possible extra sections, utilizing 
existing faculty (and potentially QFL) to 
diversify and test geographically and 
thematically diverse special topics courses. 

Create a department working group to advise on department and course assessment.  
 

HIST Chair & 
committee 

9/22 
01/23 and 
on-going 

This will need to balance obvious concerns 
around academic freedom with the broader 
concerns identified by our students and 
alumni around assessment and group work. 
For example, the department could develop a 
HIST Department general criteria for research 
paper assessment (like our current HIST 
Department CMS Citations/Bibliography 
Guidelines for use across all HIST courses). 

Review and revise existing HIST course outlines to foreground key program competencies, and to 
incorporate outcomes that have been insufficiently developed to date, such as digital literacy, 
decolonization, experiential learning, etc. 

HIST Chair & 
decolonization 
committee 

12/22 
12/23 and 
on-going 

This depends, to a degree, on work and 
scheduling with ASCC 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Continued HIST faculty use of faculty and .6PD professional development funds 

When are these resources required?  Ongoing… 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  This strategy depends on HIST faculty, with input from ARTS advisors, collegial work with ASCC, and potential collaboration with other 
departments and disciplines 

 

  



History Program Quality Assurance Plan 
 

History Program Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 18  

STRATEGY 5:  In consultation with the Dean’s Office, IAP, and other stakeholders, pursue a shared regular faculty hire, most likely with INDG  

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goals 2, 4, and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Initiate discussion with INDG and the Dean’s Office around a shared position (50/50 or other) with 
specialization in Indigenous history, to help facilitate decolonization and reconciliation  

HIST Chair 

01/22 On-going 

Since this objective requires collaboration 
across programs (and possibly faculties), we 
anticipate this will be a medium to long-term 
goal for the QAP 

Initiate IAP research and discussion with other possible stakeholders around a shared position (50/50 or 
other) with specialization in Indigenous history, to help facilitate decolonization and reconciliation  

HIST Chair 

01/22 On-going 

Since this objective requires collaboration 
across programs (and possibly faculties), we 
anticipate this will be a medium to long-term 
goal for the QAP 

     

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Dean’s Office support for this initiative 

When are these resources required?  late 2022 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Funding for this regular position 

 

 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY:    

________________________________________                                         _________________________________________________                                     _________________________________ 
Provost’s Name        Provost’s Signature        Date  
 
________________________________________                                         _________________________________________________                                     _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name        Dean’s Signature        Date  
 
   



Quality 
Assurance Plan 
(QAP)

Department of History

January 2022



In keeping with local protocols, we wish to express our gratitude to 
the q̓ʷɑ:n̓ƛ̓ən̓(Kwantlen), xʷməθkwəy̓əm (Musqueam), q̓ic̓əy̓ (Katzie), SEMYOME 

(Semiahmoo), sc̓əwaθən (Tsawwassen), qiqéyt (Qayqayt), and kʷikʷəƛ̓əm
(Kwikwetlem) Peoples. We recognize that our work at Kwantlen Polytechnic 

University takes place on the territories of these First Nations, who have cared for 
these lands since time immemorial. As part of this acknowledgement, we hold 

ourselves accountable to participating in the work of decolonization, reconciliation, 
and Indigenization at KPU and in our communities.



Our Contributions:

• highlighting ‘moments that matter’ and relating these to our contemporary world in such a way 
as to enable students to understand the critical connections between past and present;

• helping to guide students who choose to make history a significant part of their undergraduate 
education, and offering them a diversity of pathways that best suit their future goals;

• continuing to emphasize the essential competencies that students gain throughout their 
history education.



Our Department
• seven regular faculty (six 100% Regular positions and one 50% Regular), one NR2 (100%) 

[hire in process], as well as a several visiting instructors [transnational 50% hire in process];

• we offer a combination of regional and thematic history courses (including global, digital, 
environmental history, and material culture), with an emphasis on experiential, digital, and 
applied learning; 

• we also offer three specialized streams – Asian, North American, and Global History – as well 
as the general BA Major, Minor, and Associate of Arts degrees.



SWOT*
• (S) committed, engaged, and interested students, excellent and passionate faculty, and a 

long-held commitment to student-centred learning and open education, with a high overall 
student and alumni satisfaction with the program;

• (W) a need to grow the program, boost enrollment, and expand our ongoing Indigenization 
and Decolonization efforts;

• (O) build upon experiential initiatives and engage a wider population in our lower-level courses 
using the general interest enrollment category

• (T) competition from both private post-secondary institutions around the Lower Mainland 
offering first-year Canadian and Global History courses, and the larger research universities, 
to whom we regularly lose outstanding students midstream from our program

* The complete SWOT is provided in the QAP document



Build upon the work done to reorient our program to more 
transnational and thematic approaches by developing new 
courses, new pedagogy, and by embedding new methods 
and digital technologies into our existing curriculum.

Quality Assurance Goal #1



QAP Goal #1 - Rationale

• The History self-study report and external program review report highlight the innovative 
program that the History Department has developed. However, student, faculty, alumni, and 
external survey data and the review also note that more work is needed in regard to the range 
of courses offered, the thematic focus of those courses, and their availability.



Expand and further integrate decolonization and 
Indigenization into the History Program, its core 
competencies, and all of its course and program 
outcomes.

Quality Assurance Goal #2



QAP Goal #2 - Rationale

• We foregrounded decolonization and Indigenization as an essential area of focus for this 
program review. While we received encouraging feedback, we know that much more work 
remains to be done if we are to address this vital program and institutional priority 
meaningfully. 

• New curriculum will need to be developed, existing course and program outcomes need to be 
revised, and the lens of decolonization needs to expand from our North American history 
offerings to our entire program. This must include a discussion with the Dean’s Office of a new 
regular faculty hire (ideally a shared hire with INDG).



Create an External Advisory Committee (EAC)/Program 
Advisory Committee (PAC) for the program.

Quality Assurance Goal #3



QAP Goal #3 - Rationale

• This is necessary to build and strengthen ties to our broader communities, to build upon and 
enhance experiential opportunities for our students, to increase and foreground links to 
industry and potential careers, and to build our ‘brand’ in the Lower Mainland.



Update and align course outcomes, expectations, and 
program requirements to ensure successful student 
progression through the degree.

Quality Assurance Goal #4



QAP Goal #4 - Rationale

• Program scaffolding and the requirements for our major & minor degrees must be reviewed 
and updated to improve program quality, student experience, and enrollment and retention. A 
lower-level methods course, revised course outcomes, and an increased emphasis on digital 
skills, collaborative, and experiential opportunities should all be part of this process of 
curricular revision.



More effectively promote the History program within KPU 
and across the communities that we serve in order to 
grow our enrollments and provide meaningful service to 
our local communities.

Quality Assurance Goal #5



QAP Goal #5 - Rationale

• Promotion of our program is essential. In order to address the perceived lack of awareness of 
our program and to build greater experiential opportunities for our students we will need to 
work collaboratively with Marketing, Educational Advising, and other areas of the University, to 
promote our program. We must continue our community outreach and engagement as well as 
working with other Arts departments and disciplines to encourage students to take our 
courses, build synergy with other programs, and continue to promote our major and minor 
programs as complementary degrees.



Five-Year Action 
Plan



Strategy #1: Create a Program EAC/PAC (Goals 3 & 5)



Strategy #2: Indigenization & Decolonization (Goals 1, 2, 4, & 5)



Strategy #2: Indigenization & Decolonization (Cont’d)



Strategy #3: Promotion & Synergies (Goals 1,2, 3, & 5)



Strategy #3: Promotion & Synergies (Cont’d)



Strategy #4: Curricular Revisions & Updates (Goals 1,2 & 4)



Strategy #4: Curricular Revisions & Updates (Cont’d)



Strategy #5: After Key Consultations Pursue a Shared Hire with 
INDG (Goals 



Budgetary Implications of 5-Year Plan

• Dedicated funding to support EAC/PAC meetings; Dean’s Office support for administration

• Institutional support for decolonization initiatives, including Arts funding for honoraria, retreat 
to facilitate focused work on curricular revisions, support for development of new courses & 
innovative curricula  

• General curricular updates: faculty professional development funds, 0.6 Funding

• Shared hire: no funds required for consultation; if approved by Dean of Arts, funding for 
regular position would be required





SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 5.3 

Meeting Date: January 19, 2021 
Presenter: Jessica Bayntun, Andhra Goundrey 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 

  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Foundations in Design Program Quality Assurance Plan as attached.  

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

  

Attachments Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted December 21, 2021 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 1  

 
 
 
 
Date submitted to SSCPR: Dec 22, 2021 
 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR:  April 21, 2021  
 

Date of External Review: June 29 & 30, 2021 

 
 

 
SUMMARY 
Summarize what the program has determined - through evidence - about program quality (e.g. strengths, challenges, opportunities for improvement, potential threats, etc.)  

This is the first program review that Foundations in Design (FIND) has completed since its inception in 2010.  The program updates highlighted in the Self-Study report are supported by 

the external review committee report, administration data collected between 2015-2020, student surveys (response rate of 58%), alumni surveys (response rate of 21%), faculty surveys 

(response rate of 80%), and non-FIND design faculty surveys (response rate of 59%). There is a significant opportunity to evaluate the limited intake or cohort model in order to expand 

opportunities of teaching design thinking principles to KPU Pathways, part-time students, students outside of the Wilson School of Design (WSD) (elective options for non-Design 

students), and international student populations.  

Since mid- 2016, The BC Ministry of Education K-12 curriculum has shifted pedagogy that uses applied design skills, technology, and First Peoples practice, which leaves the FIND 

program in a unique opportunity to continue applied hands-on learning in post-secondary design education.  The current FIND program’s typical 18 to 24-year-old demographic often 

excludes much of the diverse KPU student populations. Overall, the students and alumni of the program have expressed high levels of satisfaction in the WSD, but due to the reduction 

of the second cohort in 2019, the current program model requires addressing accessibility and how to continue to support KPU and sustainable enrolment in the WSD.  As the program 

moves forward in addressing digital skills, First People’s principles, anti-racism, and design thinking similar to the principles highlighted in the BC Ministry of education’s education of 

citizens for the future (Appendix 10, pg. 81), many courses are not aligned with the current industry practice and would benefit from drawing on its faculty members' diverse 

backgrounds to re-assess and re-align program competencies and graduate outcomes.  

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 2  

Strengths Challenges  Opportunities Threats 

• Focused, engaged, and empathetic 
faculty and Program Chair 

• Good cross section of various types of 
design projects 

• Introduction to a range of design 
disciplines 

• Good understanding of the design 
process 

• Enable student confidence in showcasing 
their work 

• Constructive feedback including in-person 
critiques 

• Explore student’s individual interests of 
design 

• Good cross section of various types of 
design projects 

• Provides a bridge towards other design 
programs 

• Small group (class size) who have close 
relationships with instructors 

• Flexible learning which includes emerging 
design issues and technology (eg. laser- 
cutting) 

• Single cohort offering limits elective 
options in the current program model 

• Single cohort offering does not allow 
space for pathway students or part time 
study 

• Design is taught at an introductory level 
whereas the entrance portfolio 
requirement limits students' ability to 
entering the program  

• Course offerings are only available once 
per year in the Fall and Spring semester 

• The current program model has a 
limited target audience, mostly catering 
to recent high school graduates or 
younger student populations 

• The reduction of the program 2nd 
cohort has limited the ability to provide 
a more diverse range of course 
offerings 

 

• Update the current course offerings to 
reflect relevancy and currency 

• Add additional elective or streams that 
develop skills needed for other degree 
requirements 

• Strengthen course connections to 
portfolio skills aligned with WSD degree 
program application dates 

• Address decolonization and anti-racism 
withing curriculum 

• Increase the breadth of design 
disciplines in the program 

• Offer more Pathway course options  

• Offer part-time study (less than 5 
courses or 15 credits per semester) 

• Develop a minor to support further 
KPU student populations with an 
opportunity to apply design thinking 
into all areas of study 

• Build on mentorship between WSD 
degree programs and FIND students 

• Single cohort program model challenges 
the opportunity for WSD to retain 
applicants who have unsuccessfully 
applied to the other WSD programs 

• Prevents exploration of design courses 
outside of the cohort model 

• Minimal transfer credits to other WSD 
programs 

• One-intake per year limits the number 
of students that can take FIND courses 
throughout the year (Fall, Spring, and 
Summer) 

• Portfolio requirements limits a wider 
range of student populations  

• Limited number of international student 
applications  

 

 

 

  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 3  

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 
 

GOAL 1: Update all current courses for relevancy and currency.  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: In this review, we have come to see inconsistency across the program as to how core competencies and relevancies are designed within curriculum.  

Competencies like elements and principles of design, digital literacy, First People’s principles or Indigenization, and developing a design portfolio have been expressed in faculty and 

alumni surveys as areas that need more alignment.  While very few of the current faculty were part of the original development of the program known as FIND, each part-time faculty 

member is essential in achieving revisions to the program model and learning outcomes. As expressed in the FIND Faculty survey (Appendix 8, pg. 59), the program curriculum needs a 

diverse representation of design disciplines in the faculty for the long overdue changes needed in the program to bridge students into a wider variety of design disciplines.  In Appendix 

7: FIND Alumni Survey results, 87% of graduates have pursued further education since completing the KPU’s FIND program (pg. 46) where 77% of these graduates move into bachelor’s 

degrees or other diploma programs (Appendix 7, pg. 47). Due to the large percentage of students entering further education upon receiving their FIND education, further alignment 

with the other WSD programs will strengthen design skills for a variety of bachelor’s degrees.   

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Update program competencies:  

• “Lack of depth in foundational theories of design such as principles and elements of design and design thinking. “(Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

• “There could be a more effective method of communication between faculty to either link projects or avoid duplication or repetition of 
information or skill development” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

•  “Portfolio development, critical thinking, reading, writing awareness of design issues (the negative impacts of design, critical design).” 
(Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

• “Continued connection/communication with all team members and other programs to ensure alignment with learning outcomes/course 
deliverables.” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

• Fundamental design skill gaps identified in Alumni: “Primarily the elements and principals of design in relation to graphic design” (Appendix 
9, pg. 74) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

Appendix 9: FIND Non-Design 
Faculty survey 

Update course relevancy in Portfolio Skills:   

• “I found that term 2 was more useful for developing my portfolio, so having some of these courses would’ve been nice to have in term 1 to 
help my portfolio submission.” (Appendix 6, pg. 34) 

• Alignment of “Portfolio deadlines of programs” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

Appendix 6: FIND Student Survey 

Appendix 7: FIND Alumni Survey  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 4  

• “When looking at their (Alumni) portfolios, many students don’t seem to be able to apply basic principles of design. The types of projects in 
their portfolios don’t always work to demonstrate a desirable skill set when trying to get into another program.” (Appendix 8, pg.60) 

• “Portfolios are often weak- and if we’re giving students the message that they should take FIND as a preparatory program to get into a 
degree program, then we should be able to stand behind this and campion FIND students.” (Appendix 8, pg. 71) 

• “Allow student to specialize within FIND so that they can streamline their portfolios for 2D or 3D.” (Appendix 8: pg. 71) 

• “Although there is a strong focus on process, there could be more polish and finish on portfolio pieces” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 

Update course relevancy in Digital Skills:  

• “I think it’ll be better if we can develop more in software programs” (Appendix 7, pg. 51) 

• “For students interested in moving on to 3dimensional disciplines of designer such as Product, fashion and interior there are quite a few 
projects geared towards making us work with our hands. However, there is a lack of software education. Basic knowledge of a couple key 
programs link InDesign is useful to students studying graphics, product and interior.” (Appendix 7, pg. 51) 

• “Understanding how to use various design software programs, and a basic introduction to them (ec. Photoshop, inDesign, illustrator, adobe 
suites etc.) integrated within FIND courses” (Appendix 7, pg. 52) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

Appendix 7: FIND Alumni Survey  

 

Align program competencies + course relevancy with other WSD programs:  

• “For students interested in moving on to 3dimensional disciplines of designer such as Product, fashion and interior there are quite a few 
projects geared towards making us work with our hands. However, there is a lack of software education. Basic knowledge of a couple key 
programs link InDesign is useful to students studying graphics, product and interior.” (Appendix 7, pg. 52) 

• “Need to update projects; better prepare students for entry into degree programs; improved skill level across the board (and especially 
with concept development, drawing, and sketching skills and portfolio presentation).” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

• “Moving forward, more consultation and coordination with degree programs in terms of entry level skill set & knowledge base required to 
inform the curriculum.  Consider making the program a ‘general’ entry in Design and non-lock step.” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

• “The programs pedagogical approach may benefit from more direct engagement by diverse faculty incorporating different program 
thoughts” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

• “Compare the program learning outcomes with similar program in other institutions- consider current industry demands” (Appendix 9, pg. 
79) 

• “More proficiency in hands-on skills- cutting, pasting, laser cutting etc. Many of our other programs focus very heavily on design process, so 
having better manual skills would assist them in creating amazing designs from the beginning of their journeys towards their bachelor’s 
degrees.”  (Appendix 9, pg. 80) 
 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

Appendix 7: FIND Alumni Survey  

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

Appendix 9: FIND Non-Design 
Faculty survey 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 5  

Update the program competencies + course relevancy to address Decolonization and Anti-Racism: 

• “The review committee would like to emphasize that decolonization of design history and pedagogy should not be limited to indigenous-
facing curriculum and that all design and education, as part of reconciliation, anti-racist, anti-colonial, and anti-oppression movements, will 
benefit from challenging the colonial histories and practices that design education has been traditionally centered upon in western 
education institutions. In addition, it is noted by both the report and the committee review, that decolonization and anti-racism needs to be 
a central priority for all of education and design in particular. The review committee and the report acknowledge that this work is in its 
infancy, ongoing, and challenging. “(External Review, pg. 4-5) 

• Presenting decolonized and other resources, such as queer, indigenous, and global south sources, alongside our ingratiate design history 
and practice resource lists will help students and faculty integrating such resources into their curriculum and studies. “(External Review 
Report, pg. 8) 

• “The programs pedagogical approach may benefit from more direct engagement by diverse faculty incorporating different program 
thoughts” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

• “Changes for the future could include other courses, further indigenization, etc” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

FIND External Review Report 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 

 

GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: In 2019/2020, the FIND program offering in partnership with the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation, provided the faculty with first-hand understanding 

of how design can support a wider community than the target market it has commonly served. The program reports higher DFW rates compared to the entire WSD (Appendix 5, pg. 15) 

due to the mandatory full-time cohort enrolment and level of preparedness for post-secondary education, which challenges the access for a broader range of applicants, including 

students unable to attend full-time study. The current FIND program model requires full-time cohort enrolment, which challenges the access for a broader range of applicants, including 

students unable to attend full-time study.   Shifting the cohort model to an open intake model will allow a wider population of students to access FIND courses through a combination of 

part time students, Pathway to Undergraduate students, visiting international students, and KPU general interest students.   

The current FIND program has 4 courses listed in the Pathway 3 level elective options for students in English Upgrading which has been limited to the selective entry program.  Pathway 

students are often challenged with the cohort model due to limited seat availability, limited course offerings, and permission to register waivers.  While the program has identified four 

courses as KPU pathway options, the single cohort offering means that the only way the FIND program can accommodate pathway students is if there is attrition within the cohort 

before the fall or Spring semesters.  There is interest in exploring the course outlines, learning objectives, and English requirements to further support our pathway courses offerings.  

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 6  

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Explore Open Intake, mixed delivery, or Part/Time options:  

• “evaluating the flexibility of the program to allow personalized pathways within a cohort model. It was also identified by faculty and admin 
that there are significant structural challenges to balance open access and course cap sizes and faculty availability within the current cohort 
model. “(External Review Report, pg. 3) 

• “Increased connection with other programs in the WSD- consider possibilities to adapt to more open intake model to allow for more 
flexibility and access to students from other areas of KPU, this will allow students the option to remain as a Design student while still 
exploring their options to apply to one of the cohort base Design programs, this also include the possibility to consider a minor in design for 
other KPU students.” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

• “Would be useful to have some courses available online allowing for mixed delivery and additional cohorts.” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

• “Moving forward, more consultation and coordination with degree programs in terms of entry level skill set & knowledge base required to 
inform the curriculum.  Consider making the program a ‘general’ entry in Design and non-lock step.” (Appendix 8, pg. 68) 

• “It felt more successful when it had a second cohort on campus. Allowing for program -specific faculty, and more competition between 
students/ It seems like there were more students successfully feeding into degree programs” (Appendix 8, pg. 71) 

• “I can see the potential to have two cohorts again, and within this structure, allowing for levels or progressions or streams within those two 
cohorts so that students could find the right place within their education (as there are such vast differences in ability across students). This 
would allow both faculty and student more freedom and challenge and would provide a more reliable feeder track into all degree 
programs, keeping students within KPU and also solving part of the larger yearly issue of recruitment conversion.” (Appendix 8, pg. 71) 

• Some noted areas of improvements include more flexible offerings through a possible open intake model that can further appeal to a wider 
range of students who may still be considering their options.  Since the current program model is cohort based, all students must attend 
full-time and take the same 10 courses as per the prescribed model.  With an open intake model, a wider range of courses and more 
flexible delivery formats, the program may appeal to a wider range of applicants who may wish to take courses in a less structured 
arrangement. (Self Study Report, Dean’s Response pg. 31) 

• “The International student distribution in the Foundations in design program per academic Year.  
o 2019/20- 0%, 2018/19 – 11%, 2017/18- 5%, 2016/17- 14%, 2015/16- 9% “(Appendix 5: Administrative Data Pg. 12) 

“Admissions and portfolio assessment as a possible exclusionary barrier to entry into FIND  

• The review committee agrees with the initiatives to move away from portfolio review as a central part of FIND admissions. Important to 
this discussion are questions about:  

- what does a folio at this level actually capture as indication of interest and potential of candidates entering a school that will be 
teaching them design and making skills?  

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

FIND External Review Report 

Administrative Data 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 7  

- what communities and people get left out when a portfolio is required?  
- what interests and values do we want to see emphasized in potential candidates?  
- how do we evaluate potential as good citizens of the world and critical thinking vs incoming skills?  
- how do we challenge assumptions about who or what makes a good designer?”  (External Review Report, pg. 4) 

• “Portfolios are often weak- and if we’re giving students the message that they should take FIND as a preparatory program to get into a 
degree program, then we should be able to stand behind this and campion FIND students.” (Appendix 8, pg. 71) 

Create additional Elective Options: 

• “Current electives offered minimal choices which were not always seen as relevant to design studies.”(External Review Report pg 3) 

• “Evaluating the flexibility of the program to allow personalized pathways within a cohort model. It was also identified by faculty and admin 
that there are significant structural challenges to balance open access a course cap sizes and faculty availability within the current cohort 
model”. (External Review Report pg. 3) 

• “Offer one elective course where students can choose” (Appendix 6, pg. 34) 

• “It would have been nice to learn some basics of 3D modeling and spend more time in the wood shop” (Appendix 7, pg. 51) 

• “I would have been good to make sure everyone learnt the laser cutter, and even 3D printer.” (Appendix 7, pg. 51) 

• “Changes in the future could include other courses, further indigenization, etc.” (Appendix 8, pg. 64) 

• “Allow student to specialize within FIND so that they can streamline their portfolios for 2D or 3D.” (Appendix 8: pg 71) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

External Review Report, pg.3 

Appendix 6: FIND Student Survey 

Appendix 7: FIND Alumni Survey  

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 

Expand the KPU Pathway course selection: 

• “The content taught in this program would benefit a variety of fields outside of design, opening, selection to their design/KPU students” 
(Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

• The current Program model’s pathway courses are the following (Self Study Report, pg. 8) 
o Find 1100 Design Processes, Methods & Materials (Offered Fall Semester only) 
o FIND 1110 Drawing for Design (Offered Fall Semester only) 
o FIND 1140 Colour Theories (Offered Fall Semester only) 
o FIND 1230 Drafting for Design (not available due to single cohort, historically offered in the Spring semester) 

Self-Study Report pg.30 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 

Explore how FIND credits can transfer to more WSD programs: 

• “Areas of improvement identified (External Review committee) include: 
o Having access to more design-based or discipline-based elective options for FIND students that might be transferable upon 

completion of their foundation year could potentially allow more personalized and flexible path into their chosen disciplines  

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

External Review Report pg. 2-3 

Appendix 9: FIND Non-Design 
Faculty survey 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 8  

o More access to transferable credits might make the FIND path more desirable path for undecided students and might avoid possible 
stigmatisation of the program as an ‘extra year’ for those that did not get accepted on their first attempt.”  (External Review, pg. 2-
3) 

• “It would be helpful if some of the credits could count toward their degrees.” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

• “It is an “expensive” extra year for students who want to peruse particular programs in the future” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

 

GOAL 3: Strengthen institutional connections to support students and faculty  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:  Students in the WSD work and study in a custom-built facility that supports multidisciplinary student populations with open-access studio spaces, 

equipment, and resources.  As FIND students learn to use, respect, and handle equipment, there commonly is a growing appetite to continue their education at the WSD or KPU.  For 

studio-based curriculum, there is a need to continually work with departments like counseling, accommodations, library services, and the anti-racism task force to further support 

design pedagogy for experiential learning.  Due to the hands-on learning and full-time workload, faculty commonly see students struggle with anxiety and mental disability and would 

benefit from further guidance on how to understand accommodation letters for learning disabilities. Faculty would highly benefit from additional training and understanding of how 

they can better support our students in areas like anti-racism, decolonization, and Indigenization to adapt to the fast-changing design environment.  There is a desire to work with the 

existing instructional support channels to strengthen the resources which students can access when seeking support.   

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Support Student Mentorship with other WSD students: 

• “Encourage them to ‘shadow’ a lecture/session in their program(s) of interest?” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

• “FIND students could shadow students in the programs that they would like to apply to, or is there a way for them to do a job shadow of 
someone in the industry? Some of the FIND students that apply to other WSD programs are a bit naïve in understanding of the other 
industries/programs.” (Appendix 8, pg. 61) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

Appendix 9: FIND Non-Design 
Faculty survey 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 9  

Increased visibly of counselling services and support services:  

• “Feedback from faculty, alumni, and support services suggest that additional support and staffing would benefit these structures to make 
them more effective and accessible. As well, to foster awareness and care for students, and avoid stigmatization and further harm to 
students in need of assistance, regular yearly faculty orientation workshops were discussed in the review. As faculty are often the front line 
for care of students, such short orientation workshops from support services on how faculty can access support, and an understanding of 
the ongoing demand for and needs of students requiring these services, could help faculty more easily connect students with the supports 
they need. “ (External Review Report, pg.7) 

• “As art and design institutions attract a higher proportion of people who feel marginalized or outside of normative societal structures, in 
addition to increased staffing and training for faculty on accessing services, the review committee recommends that extra care is needed to 
support these populations and attention to institutional language and micro-aggressions needs to be addressed and updated on a regular 
and ongoing basis with more inclusive terminology to lessen stigmatization and othering for mental health issues, learning differences, 
language differences, as well as non-binary and differently-abled persons. “(External Review Report, pg.7) 

• “Continued support for more access to counselling services for students.” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

External Review Report Pg. 7 

Anti-Racism and Decolonization resources alignment: 

• “Library guides - Making anti-colonial and anti-racist resources and literature more present. The review committee would like to encourage 
furthering the ongoing decolonial and anti-racist work to decenter resources and online course guides, which will benefit all programs 
including FIND. Rethinking our assumptions about what is cannon in design studies and what kinds of histories we preface in the resources 
we provide is the first step, but care should also be taken to the way such resources are presented to, and accessed by, faculty and 
students.  When the Modernist Eurocentric canon is presented as a stand-alone guide, it can reinforce hierarchies of power, information, 
and preferred histories and understandings. Presenting decolonized and other resources, such as queer, indigenous, and global south 
sources, alongside our ingratiate design history and practice resource lists will help students and faculty integrating such resources into 
their curriculum and studies.  “(External Review Report, pg. 7-8)  

• “KPU admirably has formed an anti-racism task force, has an elder in residence, and the hiring of indigenous staff and liaisons in key 
positions for the school is positive and important, but care must also be taken as the institution looks to address anti-racism, reconciliation, 
and decolonization that this work does not disproportionately fall upon IPOC staff and students. All faculty have to take the lead and do the 
work to learn and challenge their own bias and understandings within their curriculum and support their students differently. Significant 
support must also be provided by the administration with the necessary resources, training workshops, and tools for faculty. Without these 
changes, BIPOC students who take up full time studies at KPU, might not find the same level of representation and support as found in the 
Squamish school initiative.” (External Review Report, pg. 5) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

External Review Report pg. 5 & 8 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 10  

• “The review committee also recommends having dedicated and visible links to anti-racist teaching and learning resources for ant-racist 
classrooms, which will also help faculty as they make changes and space to support BIPOC faculty and students.” (External Review Report, 
pg. 8) 

• “The programs pedagogical approach may benefit from more direct engagement by diverse faculty incorporating different program 
thoughts” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

 

GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student enrolment 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: FIND is a certificate program that has the potential to increase student enrolment through high school dual-credit programs, pathways programs, Indigenous 

groups like the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation and the development of a minor in the WSD.  The FIND program is in a unique situation in which it can provide a space for 

students outside of the WSD degree programs to access experiential learning, design methodology, and visual literacy.   The value that the faculty gained from their experience working 

with groups like the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation has sparked a desire to continue to work with Indigenous or marginalized groups.  Applied design and design thinking can 

make a great impact on diverse student populations and further strengthens pedagogy and reconciliation.  The program has identified three areas for partnership which can increase 

student enrolment including a minor in Design, dual-credit course offerings, and partnership with Indigenous communities.   

Since the elimination of the 2nd cohort, the FIND program has seen a significant reduction in course offerings which impacts the diversity of student populations.   The FIND program has 

consistently graduated strong applicants to the degree programs in the WSD, but with the reduction of the number of FIND students, the program seeks opportunities to grow and 

support the WSD’s sustainable enrolment.    Currently the FIND program receives a large number of referral applications from unsuccessful WSD degree program applicants.   The FIND 

program can help support those who have minimal design and art skills to meet the WSD degree portfolio entrance requirements.  Due to the limited seats in the current FIND cohort 

model, many of these students are put on a waitlist which increases their chances of looking at other competitor public institutions. As the FIND program shifts access to an open-intake 

model, students outside of the traditional design disciplines could also benefit from design education offered in the FIND program.  A minor in design could further support students' 

opportunity to study design formed from the FIND program model in addition to other higher level WSD degree program courses, thus supporting a larger population of students.  

The FIND faculty are comprised of an interdisciplinary team of designers and educators providing lived experience in teaching applied design skills to students.  The faculty have 

expressed interest in working with dual-credit students as an additional channel of outreach in providing design education to a wider population of students.  When working with 

external partners, limited intake programs   require more flexibility to access.  The FIND program’ applied design, hands-on skills, and technology curriculum is aligned with the 

principles seen in BC Ministry of Education schools K-12 curriculum and thus provides an excellent bridge for undergraduate students into KPU and broadening the student population.   



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 11  

 The value brought to both faculty and students working with the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation allowed our faculty to work collaboratively with historically marginalized 

students. The success of the FIND program while working with the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation has provided a model in working with other communities and government 

funding.  This alternative channel of outreach had many challenges while working in the institutional structures of KPU. More support is needed for the program chair and students 

when working with an alternative school or partnership outreach to ensure quality education is provided. While faculty were adaptable and dedicated to the students learning, there 

needs to be administrative support to work with students and groups outside of KPU to maintain a healthy relationship for   all parties involved.   The 2019/2020 cohort’s input of the 

program has not been expressed in the survey data but is included in the administrative data. This limited information has impacted the results of the feedback on services that KPU 

provides and does require a more holistic investigation on how to continue to work with partnerships. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Alternative Outreach with partnerships: 

• “Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation Field School For promoting inclusion and access, the review committee commends the conception 
and approach of the KPU collaboration with the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation in 2019/2020. This care driven approach to revamp 
curriculum that was facing indigenous students was seen as a significant and important learning experience for the faculty that were 
involved, which challenged many of their core understandings of design practice and pedagogy and its impact in marginalized and 
underrepresented communities.”  (External Review report pg. 3) 

• “This involved course delivery and student integration in both locations (Squamish Trade Center and the WSD) with both cohorts and 
incorporated collaborative industry site visits, on-campus presentations and training in studios and prototyping labs/workshops. This was 
an example of effective collaboration and communication within our KPU departments (Academic Career Preparation for English upgrading 
and Admissions) and our WSD faculty with positive outcomes of growths and development for the participating students.” (Self Study 
Report, Chapter 7: Dean’s response, pg. 31) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

External Review Report 

Minor in design: 

• “As an increase of number of high school graduates seek more flexible options for post-secondary. The program can continue to develop 
plans to work towards a more open access model with a wider range of delivery formats and scheduling.” (Self Study Report, Dean 
Response pg. 32) 

• “Other areas of expansion may also include the development of a minor in Design that could also include specific courses within other WSD 
programs with designation seat availability for other KPU students.” (Self Study Report, Chapter 7: Dean Response pg. 33) 

• “It is an “expensive” extra year for students who want to peruse particular programs in the future” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

• “It would be helpful if some of the credits could count toward their degrees” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

Self-Study Report pg. 30 

Self-Study Report pg. 32 

Self-Study Report pg. 33 

 

 

 

Dual Credit External Review Report  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 12  

• “Highlighted in the report and faculty discussion is how dual-access programs could be strengthened and employed to help fill class sizes 
and elective options to provide more flexibility for FIND beyond its cohort model. Promotion and strengthening of this program present an 
opportunity for outreach to students that have not had access or exposure to design in their secondary education, with possible program 
benefits for FIND student to be able to take more electives.” (External Review Report, pg. 3) 

•  There could also be other opportunities for dual credit offerings for high school students and to revisit another offering with Squamish First 
Nation or other partners within the indigenous community. (Self Study Report, Chapter 7: Dean Response pg. 33) 

Self-Study Report pg. 33 

 

 

  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 13  

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations cannot be addressed. Add or remove rows as 
necessary. 

Recommendations  Report (page number) Rationale 

Increase in-class divisional lab technician support for all WSD equipment  

• “Barriers identified:  
o  No dedicated studio space for FIND students  
o Difficulty with software licensing and access to computer 

labs  

External Review 
Report pg. 6 

The custom built WSD building has a wide variety of open studios and common 
spaces where students can work on individual or team projects. FIND students have 
access to machinery, specialty equipment, and resources labs which require 
technician training for students to access. Currently there is no support on evenings 
and weekends due to budget restraints. This is not included in the recommendations 
as divisional lab technician support is a WSD of the whole initiative that impacts all 
areas that share these resources.  

Minor in design 

 

Self-Study Report  

pg .30-33 

 

Currently the FIND program only offers 1000 level courses and would require the 
collaboration of the other WSD programs in building a Minor in design. This is a 
WSD of the whole initiative that has been identified as an area of growth and would 
allow students outside of the WSD degree programs an opportunity to bridge design 
thinking into their education.  The FIND program is an integral part of this initiative 
in offering a program that allows flexibility of open intake on fundamental design 
skills which is essential in the success of higher-level course offerings (2000 and 
3000). There are currently select courses in Interior Design, Product Design, and 
Graphic design for Marketing in the 2000 and 3000 level but requires further 
exploration in developing this opportunity. 

 
  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 14  

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS:  June 2021 

STRATEGY 1: Revise the program model  

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:  

• GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students  

• GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student enrolment 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Removal of portfolio requirement and re-assessment of other entrance requirements 

Chair June 2021 Sept 2021 

First phase of the removal of portfolio requirements 
includes reduced entrance requirements for the Fall 
2022 to include students answering 3 guiding 
questions ‘on why design?’ in a video format rather 
than assessing their design skills entering the program 

Explore open intake and the full elimination of entrance requirements  Faculty Lead 
Sept 2021 June 2022 

Consultation with the Senate Office, Registrar, 
Sustainable Enrolment Committee, Admissions  

Develop course outlines to align with “Elective” requirements for KPU degree programs Faculty Lead + 
Faculty 

Jan 2022 May 2022 
 

Address transfer credits with WSD degree programs 
Faculty Lead  Jan 2022 May 2022 

Consultation with Program Chairs of the WSD degree 
programs 

Review current FIND Pathway courses to assess for suitability for possible additions/changes  Faculty Lead+ 
Faculty 

Jan 2022 May 2022 
Consultation with Academic Career Preparation for 
English Upgrading and Admissions 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   n/a 

When are these resources required?  n/a 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 15  

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Academic Career Preparation for English Upgrading, Admissions, Registrar, Senate Office, WSD 
program Chairs from other Degree programs.  

STRATEGY 2: Curriculum alignment to support revised program model 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:   

• GOAL 1: Update all current courses for relevancy and currency 

• GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students  

• GOAL 3: Strengthen Institutional connections to support students and Faculty  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Revision of program competencies: Elements and principles of design, Portfolio skills, Digital Skills, 
decolonization, and relevancy with other WSD programs 

Faculty Lead + 
Faculty 

Jan 2022 June 2022 
 

Curriculum Mapping (Supported by Teaching and Learning) Faculty Lead+ 
Faculty 

Feb 2022 Mar 2022 
 

Identify elective options Faculty Lead+ 
faculty 

Feb 2022 Mar 2022 
 

Update course outlines Faculty Lead 
Mar 2022 May 2022 

 

The WSD Curriculum Committee approves all course updates and new course outlines Faculty Lead + 
Chair 

May 2022 June 2022 
Submit by May 4, 2022 
Meeting date: May 18, 2022 – June 15, 2022 

SSCC approves all updates and new courses.  Chair Sept 2022 Oct 2022 Meeting date: Sept 2022 (Date TBD) 

Senate approves all updates and new courses  Chair Sept 2022 Oct 2022 Meeting date: Sept 2022 (Date TBD) 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Teaching and Learning curriculum mapping resources 

When are these resources required?  Feb 2022 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Foundations in Design Faculty and program assistant, WSD Dean’s office administrative 
support, Teaching and Learning, Approval by WSD Curriculum Committee, Approval by SSCC, Approval by Senate 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 16  

STRATEGY 3: Promotion of the updated curriculum  

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:   

• GOAL 3: Strengthen Institutional connections to support Students and Faculty 

• GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student enrolment 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Collaboration with FSO on program updates Chair/Faculty Oct 2022 Jan 2023 Updates anticipated For FALL 2023 intake 

Collaboration with Academic Advisors on course availability Chair Oct 2022 Jan 2023 Updates anticipated For FALL 2023 intake 

Promote program updates with international student office- international study, ‘visiting’ and exchange 
students. 

Chair 
Oct 2022 Nov 2022 

Updates anticipated For FALL 2023 intake 

Promote program updates with school districts to develop Dual-Credit partnerships Chair/ Dean Oct 2022 Dec 2022  

Update the FIND KPU Website Chair/ Prog. 
Assistant 

Oct 2022 Nov 2022 
 

Marketing campaign to launch the new program updates:  

• Event (including a design activity for participants to engage in) 

• Video 

• Create a digital/printed promotional package to share with potential partnerships, academic 
advisors, and FSO 

Chair/ 
Faculty 

Oct 2022 Jan 2023 

Promotional package will be updated when 
course outlines are approved 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Marketing materials: video, digital/printed promotional package, event promotion, event 
support on campus to include: dean’s office, faculty, and alumni support, design activity supplies. 

When are these resources required?  Oct 2022-Jan 2023  

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Future Students Office, Academic Advisors (All of KPU), International Students Office, 
Marketing  

 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 17  

STRATEGY 4: Develop stronger support channels  

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:  

• GOAL 3: Strengthen Institutional connections to support Students and Faculty 

• GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student enrolment 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Strengthen relationships with the Counseling services 
All Faculty Mar 2022 

June 2022 Workshop or team meeting 

Develop a student mentorship program with WSD students 
Chair Jan 2022 

Sept 2022 Collaboration with other WSD program chairs 

Work with the Accommodation Office and Early Alert to understand students’ needs and channels of 
support 

All Faculty May 2022 
July 2022 Workshop or team meeting 

Library services- further develop lib guides and recourses for Anti-Racism, Indigenization, 2sQTBIPOC 
All Faculty April 2022 

July 2022  

Faculty team building/ cross-disciplinary professional development 

• collaboration with Indigenous advisory 

• Attend workshops or conferences 
• Professional Development team building event(s) 

All Faculty Feb 2022 Ongoing 

KPU Indigenous services 
External conferences eg. HASTAC (Humanities, 
Arts, Science, and Technology Alliance and 
Collaboratory) 
Team Building event: shoe making, bag 
making, etc. 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Workshop and Conference fees for Decolonization or Anti-Racism, 0.6% PD Funding for 
team building plans: material kits for PD team building activities, industry professional instructor 

When are these resources required?  Feb 2022 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Counseling services, Accommodation’s office, Library services, KPU Indigenous Services, WSD 
Program Chairs, Task Force on Anti-Racism, Pride Advocacy Group 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 18 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY:  

________________________________________   _________________________________________________    _________________________________ 
Provost’s Name  Provost’s Signature Date 

________________________________________   _________________________________________________    _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name Dean’s Signature Date 

Andhra Goundrey December 16, 2021

Dr. Diane Purvey, Provost & VP, Academic pro tem
December 20, 2021



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

1 
 

  
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 

o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-
Year Follow-Up Report. 

 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: The QA Plan appears to be very comprehensive and addresses most recommendations in a 
clear, practically feasible way.   
 
Reviewer #2: The FIND Program Review Team has provided excellent, detailed rationale for each of its 4 
goals, that carefully incorporates and addresses data and feedback obtained from pertinent stakeholder 
groups, including: students, alumni, FIND and non-FIND faculty. Recommendations from previous review 
reports are clearly addressed in each goal; additionally, strengths, challenges, opportunities and potential 
threats are succinctly laid out on page 2.   
 
Congratulations to the team for preparing a comprehensive report that carefully outlines goals, strategies and 
steps! 
 

The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 

☒          Reviewer #1 & #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 

☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 
 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year 

Follow-Up Report. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

2 
 

 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 

a) Please, see the summary of findings below.  Please, add information to QA Plan 

b) Page 2 “Challenges” bullet point 4 Please, clarify the statement: “Course offerings are 
only available once per year in the Fall and Spring 
semester.” If courses are available in fall and spring it 
seems that they are offered TWICE a year.  

P. 14 – Step 1: “to be completed by Sept 2021” Provide clarity re: completion (that is, was this 
completed in September?) 

p. 14 – Steps 2, 4, 5: “consultation with…” Is it possible to provide more clarity on how progress 
on these consultations will be demonstrated in the 
One Year Follow-up Report?  

 
Summary of recommendations found in the Foundations in Design Self-Study Report: 

1. Redesign the program model to include elective options; these options may include the following: 

a. Open in-take 

b. Other KPU courses (eg. English 1100)  

c. Pathway accessibility; low barrier entry 

d. Other WSD program 1st year level courses. 

 Points 1 a-d - addressed in “GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students” pages 5-8.  
e. Part-time workload 

I assume that this recommendation (point 1e) may have been considered (in general) within the strategy to 

address barriers to broaden access for incoming students (Goal 2). However, besides one mention (in the 

“Opportunities” section on page 2), I have not found any statement in the Quality Assurance Plan that would 

directly address this recommendation. 

2. Identify additional FIND courses that can be classified as a Pathway courses 

 Addressed in “Expand the KPU Pathway course selection” page 7. 
 

3. Advertise the courses that are not designated FIND cohort classes (eg. Pathway, Open intake) 

Addressed in “GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student 
enrolment” pages 10-12. 
 

4. Improve the program’s outreach and marketing by partnering with the Future Student Office (FSO) 

a. High school dual credit offerings to allow secondary students learn from designers prior to their 

high school graduation 

b. Pathway accessibility 

c. High school workshops 

d. Alumni testimonials 

 Points 4 a-d - addressed in “STRATEGY 3: Promotion of the updated curriculum” page 16. 
 
Summary of recommendations found in the External Review:  
1) Program Currency and Connection - Areas for improvement identified include: 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

3 
 

a) increase access to more design-based or discipline-based elective options for FIND students that might 

be transferable upon completion of their foundation year  

b) allow personalized pathways within a cohort model.  

c) balance open access and course cap sizes and faculty availability within the current cohort model.  

d) increase access to transferrable credits  

Points 1 a-d - addressed in “GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students” pages 5-8 and 
Strategy 1 “Revise the program model” on page 14.  
 
2) Quality of Curriculum Design 

a) provide multiple ways of participating and allowing students time to discuss and prepare answers (listed 

in: “Further Discussions Recommendations” on page 4) 

I assume that this recommendation (point 2a) may have been considered (in general) within the strategy to 
strengthen institutional connections to support students and faculty (Goal 3). However, I have not found any 
statement in the Quality Assurance Plan that would directly address this recommendation.  
 

b) move away from portfolio review as a central part of FIND admissions 

Point b - addressed in “GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students” pages 6-7 and  
Strategy 1 “Removal of portfolio requirement and re-assessment of other entrance requirements” on page 14.  
 

c) challenge the colonial histories and practices that design education has been traditionally centered upon 

in western education institutions 

d) all faculty have to take the lead and do the work to learn and challenge their own racism and 

colonization bias and understandings within their curriculum 

Points 2c and 2d - addressed in “GOAL 3: Strengthen institutional connections to support students and faculty” 
pages 8-9 and Strategy 4 “Develop stronger support channels” on page 17.  
 
3) Quality of Instructional Design 

a) provide dedicated shop access, skills and safety orientation for FIND students  

I have not found any statement in the Quality Assurance Plan that would directly address this recommendation.  
 
4) Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

a) regular yearly faculty orientation workshops on wellness and support for students  

b) address and update on a regular and ongoing basis provision of extra care and more inclusive 

terminology to lessen stigmatization and othering for mental health issues, learning differences, 

language differences, as well as non-binary and differently-abled persons  

c) making anti-colonial and anti-racist library resources and literature more present 

Points 4a-c - addressed in “GOAL 3: Strengthen institutional connections to support students and faculty” pages 
8-9 and Strategy 4 “Develop stronger support channels” on page 17. 
 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

4 
 

Minor Edits (page #) 

P. 16: consider actual department names: Academic Advising, KPU International, Marketing Services 

P. 17: consider actual department names - change ‘Accommodations office’ to ‘Accessibility Services’; change 
‘KPU Indigenous Services’ to ‘Indigenous Services for Students’ 

 



 

 Summary of recommendations found in the Foundations in 

Design Self-Study Report:  

Comments 

1 Redesign the program model to include elective options; 

these options may include the following: 

a. Open in-take 

b. Other KPU courses (eg. English 1100)  

c. Pathway accessibility; low barrier entry 

d. Other WSD program 1st year level courses. 

 Points 1 a-d - addressed in “GOAL 2: Address barriers to 
broaden access for incoming students” pages 5-8.  

e. Part-time workload 

I assume that this recommendation (point 1e) may have 
been considered (in general) within the strategy to address 
barriers to broaden access for incoming students (Goal 2). 
However, besides one mention (in the “Opportunities” 
section on page 2), I have not found any statement in the 
Quality Assurance Plan that would directly address this 
recommendation.- 

Information found on 

page 12 of SSR- 

This summarization 

found on page 12 of the 

report is indicating that 

the structure of the 

program model is too 

narrow. Student’s access 

to the program will 

require considering how 

the program can be 

accessed and support 

more student. 

 

 

 
2 Identify additional FIND courses that can be classified as a 

Pathway courses- added a sentence on pg 7 Addressed in 

“Expand the KPU Pathway course selection” page 7. 

 

Expanding the pathway 
course offerings will 
require a deeper look at 
learning outcomes in 
consultation with English 
Upgrading to establish 
where the program can 
offer Pathway courses. 

3 Advertise the courses that are not designated FIND cohort 

classes (eg. Pathway, Open intake)  Pg. 12 

Addressed in “GOAL 4: Explore additional means or 
partnerships of course delivery to increase student 
enrolment” pages 10-12. 
 

Added to page 10  
 
Collaboration and strong 
communication between 
partnership programs like 
English Upgrading and 
academic advisors will 
strength the outreach of 
the program model. 

4 Improve the program’s outreach and marketing by 

partnering with the Future Student Office (FSO) 

a. High school dual credit offerings to allow 

secondary students learn from designers prior to 

their high school graduation 

b. Pathway accessibility 

Pg 34 (dean) 

 

Added to Goal 3:  (pg 8) 

As the FIND program 
explores an open-intake 
program model, 



 
 

1 Summary of recommendations found in the External 
Review:  
1) Program Currency and Connection - Areas for improvement 

identified include: 

a) increase access to more design-based or discipline-based 

elective options for FIND students that might be 

transferable upon completion of their foundation year  

b) allow personalized pathways within a cohort model.  

c) balance open access and course cap sizes and faculty 

availability within the current cohort model.  

d) increase access to transferrable credits  

Points 1 a-d - addressed in “GOAL 2: Address barriers to 
broaden access for incoming students” pages 5-8 and 
Strategy 1 “Revise the program model” on page 14.  
 

More clarity needed. 
These details are 
included in page 6-8? 

2 2) Quality of Curriculum Design 

a) provide multiple ways of participating and allowing 

students time to discuss and prepare answers (listed in: 

“Further Discussions Recommendations” on page 4) 

I assume that this recommendation (point 2a) may have 
been considered (in general) within the strategy to 
strengthen institutional connections to support students and 
faculty (Goal 3). However, I have not found any statement in 
the Quality Assurance Plan that would directly address this 
recommendation.  
 

b) move away from portfolio review as a central part of FIND 

admissions 

Point b - addressed in “GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden 
access for incoming students” pages 6-7 and  Strategy 1 
“Removal of portfolio requirement and re-assessment of 
other entrance requirements” on page 14.  
 

This is something that 
will be addressed when 
faculty have the ability to 
review the entire 
curriculum and learning 
activities.  This was not 
something that was 
evident in the survey 
data. 
 
 
-more clarity needed 

c. High school workshops 

d. Alumni testimonials 

 Points 4 a-d - addressed in “STRATEGY 3: Promotion of the 
updated curriculum” page 16.  

partnering with the 
Future Students office 
(FSO), Marketing 
Services, English 
Upgrading will be 
essential on marketing 
the programs outreach. 

 

Should I added these points from the 

Self study? 

 



c) challenge the colonial histories and practices that design 

education has been traditionally centered upon in western 

education institutions 

d) all faculty have to take the lead and do the work to learn 

and challenge their own racism and colonization bias and 

understandings within their curriculum 

Points 2c and 2d - addressed in “GOAL 3: Strengthen 
institutional connections to support students and faculty” 
pages 8-9 and Strategy 4 “Develop stronger support 
channels” on page 17.  
 

3 Quality of Instructional Design 

e) provide dedicated shop access, skills and safety 

orientation for FIND students  

I have not found any statement in the Quality Assurance Plan 
that would directly address this recommendation.  
 
 

Included on page 13 of 
the recommendations 
that are not addressed.  
Can you suggest where 
this would be applicable?  
There have been a lot of 
changes to this since the 
review. 

4 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

f) regular yearly faculty orientation workshops on wellness 

and support for students  

g) address and update on a regular and ongoing basis 

provision of extra care and more inclusive terminology to 

lessen stigmatization and othering for mental health 

issues, learning differences, language differences, as well 

as non-binary and differently-abled persons  

h) making anti-colonial and anti-racist library resources and 

literature more present 

Points 4a-c - addressed in “GOAL 3: Strengthen institutional 
connections to support students and faculty” pages 8-9 and 
Strategy 4 “Develop stronger support channels” on page 17. 
 

More clarity needed.  

 



Issue (page #) Suggested Action 

a) Please, see the summary of findings below.  Please, add information to QA Plan 

b) Page 2 “Challenges” bullet point 4 Please, clarify the statement: “Course offerings 
are only available once per year in the Fall and 
Spring semester.” If courses are available in fall 
and spring it seems that they are offered TWICE a 
year.  

P. 14 – Step 1: “to be completed by Sept 2021” Provide clarity re: completion (that is, was 
this completed in September?) – correct- 
updated 
 

p. 14 – Steps 2, 4, 5: “consultation with…” Is it possible to provide more clarity on how 
progress on these consultations will be 
demonstrated in the One Year Follow-up Report? 
-can you elaborate? I’m not sure what this is 
implying.  

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 1  

 
Date submitted to SSCPR: Dec 22, 2021 
 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR:  April 21, 2021  
 

Date of External Review: June 29 & 30, 2021 

 

 

 

 

SUMMARY 
Summarize what the program has determined - through evidence - about program quality (e.g. strengths, challenges, opportunities for improvement, potential threats, etc.)  

This is the first program review that Foundations in Design (FIND) has completed since its inception in 2010.  The program updates highlighted in the Self Study report are supported by 

the external review committee report, administration data collected between 2015-2020, student surveys (response rate of 58%), alumni surveys (response rate of 21%), faculty surveys 

(response rate of 80%), and non-FIND design faculty surveys (response rate of 59%). There is a significant opportunity to evaluate the limited intake or cohort model in order to expand 

opportunities of teaching design thinking principles to KPU Pathways, part-time students, students outside of the Wilson School of Design (WSD) (elective options for non-Design 

students), and international student populations. Since mid- 2016, The BC Ministry of Education K-12 curriculum has shifted pedagogy that uses applied design skills, technology, and 

First Peoples practice, which leaves the FIND program in a unique opportunity to continue applied hands-on learning in post-secondary design education.  The current FIND program’s 

typical 18 to 24-year-old demographic often excludes much of the diverse KPU student populations. Overall, the students and alumni of the program have expressed high levels of 

satisfaction in the WSD, but due to the reduction of the second cohort in 2019, the current program model requires addressing accessibility and how to continue to support KPU and 

sustainable enrolment in the WSD.  As the program moves forward in addressing digital skills, First People’s principles, anti-racism, and design thinking similar to the principles 

highlighted in the BC Ministry of education’s education of citizens for the future (Appendix 10, pg. 81), many courses are not aligned with the current industry practice and would 

benefit from drawing on its faculty members' diverse backgrounds to re-assess andre-align program competencies and graduate outcomes.  

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 2  

Strengths Challenges  Opportunities Threats 

 Focused, engaged, and empathetic 
faculty and Program Chair 

 Good cross section of various types of 
design projects 

 Introduction to a range of design 
disciplines 

 Good understanding of the design 
process 

 Enable student confidence in showcasing 
their work 

 Constructive feedback including in-person 
critiques 

 Explore student’s individual interests of 
design 

 Good cross section of various types of 
design projects 

 Provides a bridge towards other design 
programs 

 Small group (class size) who have close 
relationships with instructors 

 Flexible learning which includes emerging 
design issues and technology (eg.laser 
cutting) 

 Single cohort offering limits elective 
options in the current program model 

 Single cohort offering does not allow 
space for pathway students or part time 
study 

 Design is taught at an introductory level 
whereas the entrance portfolio 
requirement limits students' ability to 
entering the program  

 Course offerings are only available once 
per year in the Fall and Spring semester 

 The current program model has a 
limited target audience, mostly catering 
to recent high school graduates or 
younger student populations 

 The reduction of the program 2nd 
cohort has limited the ability to provide 
a more diverse range of course 
offerings 

 

 Update the current course offerings to 
reflect relevancy and currency 

 Add additional elective or streams that 
develop skills needed for other degree 
requirements 

 Strengthen course connections to 
portfolio skills aligned with WSD degree 
program application dates 

 Address decolonization and anti-racism 
withing curriculum 

 Increase the breadth of design 
disciplines in the program 

 Offer more Pathway course options  

 Offer part-time study (less than 5 
courses or 15 credits per semester) 

 Develop a minor to support further 
KPU student populations with an 
opportunity to apply design thinking 
into all areas of study 

 Build on mentorship between WSD 
degree programs and FIND students 

 Single cohort program model challenges 
the opportunity for WSD to retain 
applicants who have unsuccessfully 
applied to the other WSD programs 

 Prevents exploration of design courses 
outside of the cohort model 

 Minimal transfer credits to other WSD 
programs 

 One-intake per year limits the number 
of students that can take FIND courses 
throughout the year (Fall, Spring, and 
Summer) 

 Portfolio requirements limits a wider 
range of student populations  

 Limited number of international student 
applications  

 

 

 

  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 3  

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 
 

GOAL 1: Update all current courses for relevancy and currency.  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: In this review, we have come to see inconsistency across the program as to how core competencies and relevancies are designed within curriculum.  

Competencies like elements and principles of design, digital literacy, First People’s principles or Indigenization, and developing a design portfolio have been expressed in faculty and 

alumni surveys as areas that need more alignment.  While very few of the current faculty were part of the original development of the program known as FIND, each part-time faculty 

member is essential in achieving revisions to the program model and learning outcomes. As expressed in the FIND Faculty survey (Appendix 8, pg. 59), the program curriculum needs a 

diverse representation of design disciplines in the faculty for the long overdue changes needed in the program to bridge students into a wider variety of design disciplines.  In Appendix 

7: FIND Alumni Survey results, 87% of graduates have pursued further education since completing the KPU’s FIND program (pg. 46) where 77% of these graduates move into bachelor’s 

degrees or other diploma programs (Appendix 7, pg. 47). Due to the large percentage of students entering further education upon receiving their FIND education, further alignment 

with the other WSD programs will strengthen design skills for a variety of bachelor’s degrees.   

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Update program competencies:  

 “Lack of depth in foundational theories of design such as principles and elements of design and design thinking. “(Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

 “There could be a more effective method of communication between faculty to either link projects or avoid duplication or repetition of 
information or skill development” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

  “Portfolio development, critical thinking, reading, writing awareness of design issues (the negative impacts of design, critical design).” 
(Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

 “Continued connection/communication with all team members and other programs to ensure alignment with learning outcomes/course 
deliverables.” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

 Fundamental design skill gaps identified in Alumni: “Primarily the elements and principals of design in relation to graphic design” (Appendix 
9, pg. 74) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

Appendix 9: FIND Non-Design 
Faculty survey 

Update course relevancy in Portfolio Skills:   

 “I found that term 2 was more useful for developing my portfolio, so having some of these courses would’ve been nice to have in term 1 to 
help my portfolio submission.” (Appendix 6, pg. 34) 

 Alignment of “Portfolio deadlines of programs” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

Appendix 6: FIND Student Survey 

Appendix 7: FIND Alumni Survey  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 4  

 “When looking at their (Alumni) portfolios, many students don’t seem to be able to apply basic principles of design. The types of projects in 
their portfolios don’t always work to demonstrate a desirable skill set when trying to get into another program.” (Appendix 8, pg.60) 

 “Portfolios are often weak- and if we’re giving students the message that they should take FIND as a preparatory program to get into a 
degree program, then we should be able to stand behind this and campion FIND students.” (Appendix 8, pg. 71) 

 “Allow student to specialize within FIND so that they can streamline their portfolios for 2D or 3D.” (Appendix 8: pg. 71) 

 “Although there is a strong focus on process, there could be more polish and finish on portfolio pieces” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 

Update course relevancy in Digital Skills:  

 “I think it’ll be better if we can develop more in software programs” (Appendix 7, pg. 51) 

 “For students interested in moving on to 3dimensional disciplines of designer such as Product, fashion and interior there are quite a few 
projects geared towards making us work with our hands. However, there is a lack of software education. Basic knowledge of a couple key 
programs link InDesign is useful to students studying graphics, product and interior.” (Appendix 7, pg. 51) 

 “Understanding how to use various design software programs, and a basic introduction to them (ec. Photoshop, inDesign, illustrator, adoe 
suites etc.) integrated within FIND courses” (Appendix 7, pg. 52) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

Appendix 7: FIND Alumni Survey  

 

Align program competencies + course relevancy with other WSD programs:  

 “For students interested in moving on to 3dimensional disciplines of designer such as Product, fashion and interior there are quite a few 
projects geared towards making us work with our hands. However, there is a lack of software education. Basic knowledge of a couple key 
programs link InDesign is useful to students studying graphics, product and interior.” (Appendix 7, pg. 52) 

 “Need to update projects; better prepare students for entry into degree programs; improved skill level across the board (and especially 
with concept development, drawing, and sketching skills and portfolio presentation).” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

 “Moving forward, more consultation and coordination with degree programs in terms of entry level skill set & knowledge base required to 
inform the curriculum.  Consider making the program a ‘general’ entry in Design and non lock step.” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

 “The programs pedagogical approach may benefit from more direct engagement by diverse faculty incorporating different program 
thoughts” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

 “Compare the program learning outcomes with similar program in other institutions- consider current industry demands” (Appendix 9, pg. 
79) 

 “More proficiency in hands-on skills- cutting, pasting, laser cutting etc. Many of our other programs focus very heavily on design process, so 
having better manual skills would assist them in creating amazing designs from the beginning of their journeys towards their bachelor’s 
degrees.”  (Appendix 9, pg. 80) 
 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

Appendix 7: FIND Alumni Survey  

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

Appendix 9: FIND Non-Design 
Faculty survey 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 5  

Update the program competencies + course relevancy to address Decolonization and Anti-Racism: 

 “The review committee would like to emphasize that decolonization of design history and pedagogy should not be limited to indigenous-
facing curriculum and that all design and education, as part of reconciliation, anti-racist, anti-colonial, and anti-oppression movements, will 
benefit from challenging the colonial histories and practices that design education has been traditionally centered upon in western 
education institutions. In addition, it is noted by both the report and the committee review, that decolonization and anti-racism needs to be 
a central priority for all of education and design in particular. The review committee and the report acknowledge that this work is in its 
infancy, ongoing, and challenging. “ (External Review, pg. 4&5) 

 Presenting decolonized and other resources, such as queer, indigenous, and global south sources, alongside our ingratiate design history 
and practice resource lists will help students and faculty integrating such resources into their curriculum and studies. “ External Review 
Report, pg. 8) 

 “The programs pedagogical approach may benefit from more direct engagement by diverse faculty incorporating different program 
thoughts” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

 “Changes for the future could include other courses, further indigenization, etc” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

FIND External Review Report 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 

 

GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: In 2019/2020, the FIND program offering in partnership with the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation, provided the faculty with first-hand understanding 

of how design can support a wider community than the target market it has commonly served. The program reports higher DFW rates compared to the entire WSD (Appendix 5, pg. 

15)due to the mandatory full-time cohort enrolment and level of preparedness for post-secondary education, which challenges the access for a broader range of  applicants, including 

students unable to attend full-time study. The current FIND program model requires full-time cohort enrolment, which challenges the access for a broader range of applicants, including 

students unable to attend full-time study.   Shifting the cohort model to an open intake model will allow a wider population of students to access FIND courses through a combination of 

part time students, Pathway to Undergraduate students, visiting international students, and KPU general interest students.   

The current FIND program has 4 courses listed in the Pathway 3 level elective options for students in English Upgrading which has been limited to the selective entry program.  Pathway 

and part-time students are often challenged with the cohort model due to limited seat availability, limited course offerings, and permission to register waivers.  While the program has 

identified four courses as KPU pathway options, the single cohort offering means that the only way the FIND program can accommodate pathway students is if there is attrition within 

the cohort before the fall or Spring semesters.  Expanding the pathway course offerings will require a deeper look at learning outcomes in consultation with English Upgrading to 

establish where the program can offer Pathway courses. There is interest in exploring the course outlines, learning objectives, and English requirements to further support our pathway 

courses offerings.  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 6  

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Explore Open Intake, mixed delivery, or Part/Time options:  

 “evaluating the flexibility of the program to allow personalized pathways within a cohort model. It was also identified by faculty and admin 
that there are significant structural challenges to balance open access and course cap sizes and faculty availability within the current cohort 
model. “(External Review Report, Pg .3) 

 “Increased connection with other programs in the WSD- consider possibilities to adapt to more open intake model to allow for more 
flexibility and access to students from other areas of KPU, this will allow students the option to remain as a Design student while still 
exploring their options to apply to one of the cohort base Design programs, this also include the possibility to consider a minor in design for 
other KPU students.” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

 “Would be useful to have some courses available online allowing for mixed delivery and additional cohorts.” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

 “Moving forward, more consultation and coordination with degree programs in terms of entry level skill set & knowledge base required to 
inform the curriculum.  Consider making the program a ‘general’ entry in Design and non lock step.” (Appendix 8, pg. 68) 

 “It felt more successful when it had a second cohort on campus. Allowing for program -specific faculty, and more competition between 
students/ It seems like there were more students successfully feeding into degree programs” (Appendix 8, pg. 71) 

 “I can see the potential to have two cohorts again, and within this structure, allowing for levels or progressions or streams within those two 
cohorts so that students could find the right place within their education (as there are such vast differences in ability across students). This 
would allow both faculty and student more freedom and challenge and would provide a more reliable feeder track into all degree 
programs, keeping students within KPU and also solving part of the larger yearly issue of recruitment conversion.” (Appendix 8, pg. 71) 

 Some noted areas of improvements include more flexible offerings through a possible open intake model that can further appeal to a wider 
range of students who may still be considering their options.  Since the current program model is cohort based, all students must attend 
full-time and take the same 10 courses as per the prescribed model.  With an open intake model, a wider range of courses and more 
flexible delivery formats, the program may appeal to a wider range of applicants who may wish to take courses in a less structured 
arrangement. (Self Study Report, Dean’s Response pg 31) 

 “The International student distribution in the Foundations in design program per academic Year.  
o 2019/20- 0%, 2018/19 – 11%, 2017/18- 5%, 2016/17- 14%, 2015/16- 9% “(Appendix 5: Administrative Data Pg. 12) 

“Admissions and portfolio assessment as a possible exclusionary barrier to entry into FIND  

 The review committee agrees with the initiatives to move away from portfolio review as a central part of FIND admissions. Important to 
this discussion are questions about:  

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

FIND External Review Report 

Administrative Data 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 7  

- what does a folio at this level actually capture as indication of interest and potential of candidates entering a school that will be 
teaching them design and making skills?  
- what communities and people get left out when a portfolio is required?  
- what interests and values do we want to see emphasized in potential candidates?  
- how do we evaluate potential as good citizens of the world and critical thinking vs incoming skills?  
- how do we challenge assumptions about who or what makes a good designer?”  (External Review Report, pg. 4) 

 “Portfolios are often weak- and if we’re giving students the message that they should take FIND as a preparatory program to get into a 
degree program, then we should be able to stand behind this and campion FIND students.” (Appendix 8, pg. 71) 

Create additional Elective Options: 

 “Current electives offered minimal choices which were not always seen as relevant to design studies.”(External Review Report pg 3) 

 “Evaluating the flexibility of the program to allow personalized pathways within a cohort model. It was also identified by faculty and admin 
that there are significant structural challenges to balance open access a course cap sizes and faculty availability within the current cohort 
model”. (External Review Report pg 3) 

 “Offer one elective course where students can choose” (Appendix 6, pg. 34) 

 “It would have been nice to learn some basics of 3D modeling and spend more time in the wood shop”(Appendix 7, pg. 51) 

 “I would have been good to make sure everyone learnt the laser cutter, and even 3D printer.” (Appendix 7, pg. 51) 

 “Changes in the future could include other courses, further indigenization, etc.” (Appendix 8, pg. 64) 

 “Allow student to specialize within FIND so that they can streamline their portfolios for 2D or 3D.” (Appendix 8: pg 71) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

External Review Report, pg 3 

Appendix 6: FIND Student Survey 

Appendix 7: FIND Alumni Survey  

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 

Expand the KPU Pathway course selection: 

 “The content taught in this program would benefit a variety of fields outside of design, opening, selection to their design/KPU students” 
(Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

 The current Program model’s pathway courses are the following (Self Study Report, Pg 8) 
o Find 1100 Design Processes, Methods & Materials (Offered Fall Semester only) 
o FIND 1110 Drawing for Design (Offered Fall Semester only) 
o FIND 1140 Colour Theories (Offered Fall Semester only) 
o FIND 1230 Drafting for Design (not available due to single cohort, historically offered in the Spring semester) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 

Explore how FIND credits can transfer to more WSD programs: 

 “Areas of improvement identified (External Review committee) include: 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

External Review Report pg 2-3 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 8  

o Having access to more design-based or discipline-based elective options for FIND students that might be transferable upon 
completion of their foundation year could potentially allow more personalized and flexible path into their chosen disciplines  

o More access to transferable credits might make the FIND path more desirable path for undecided students and might avoid possible 
stigmatisation of the program as an ‘extra year’ for those that did not get accepted on their first attempt.”  (External Review, pg. 2-
3) 

 “It would be helpful if some of the credits could count toward their degrees.” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

 “It is an “expensive” extra year for students who want to peruse particular programs in the future” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

Appendix 9: FIND Non-Design 
Faculty survey 

 

GOAL 3: Strengthen institutional connections to support students and faculty  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL:  Students in the WSD work and study in a custom-built facility that supports multidisciplinary student populations with open-access studio spaces, 

equipment, and resources.  As FIND students learn to use, respect, and handle equipment, there commonly is a growing appetite to continue their education at the WSD or KPU.  For 

studio-based curriculum, there is a need to continually work with departments like counseling, accommodations, library services, and the anti-racism task force to further support 

design pedagogy for experiential learning.  Due to the hands-on learning and full-time workload, faculty commonly see students struggle with anxiety and mental disability and would 

benefit from further guidance on how to understand accommodation letters for learning disabilities. Faculty would highly benefit from additional training and understanding of how 

they can better support our students in areas like anti-racism, decolonization, and Indigenization to adapt to the fast-changing design environment.  There is a desire to work with the 

existing instructional support channels to strengthen the resources which students can access when seeking support.  As the FIND program explores an open-intake program model, 

partnering with the Future Students office (FSO), Marketing Services, English Upgrading will be essential on marketing the programs outreach. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Support Student Mentorship with other WSD students: 

 “Encourage them to ‘shadow’ a lecture/session in their program(s) of interest?” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

 “FIND students could shadow students in the programs that they would like to apply to, or is there a way for them to do a job shadow of 
someone in the industry? Some of the FIND students that apply to other WSD programs are a bit naïve in understanding of the other 
industries/programs.” (Appendix 8, pg. 61) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

Appendix 9: FIND Non-Design 
Faculty survey 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 9  

Increased visibly of counselling services and support services:  

 “Feedback from faculty, alumni, and support services suggest that additional support and staffing would benefit these structures to make 
them more effective and accessible. As well, to foster awareness and care for students, and avoid stigmatization and further harm to 
students in need of assistance, regular yearly faculty orientation workshops were discussed in the review. As faculty are often the front line 
for care of students, such short orientation workshops from support services on how faculty can access support, and an understanding of 
the ongoing demand for and needs of students requiring these services, could help faculty more easily connect students with the supports 
they need. “ (External Review Report, pg.7) 

 “As art and design institutions attract a higher proportion of people who feel marginalized or outside of normative societal structures, in 
addition to increased staffing and training for faculty on accessing services, the review committee recommends that extra care is needed to 
support these populations and attention to institutional language and micro-aggressions needs to be addressed and updated on a regular 
and ongoing basis with more inclusive terminology to lessen stigmatization and othering for mental health issues, learning differences, 
language differences, as well as non-binary and differently-abled persons. “(External Review Report, pg.7) 

 “Continued support for more access to counselling services for students.” (Appendix 8, pg. 65) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

External Review Report Pg. 7 

Anti-Racism and Decolonization resources alignment: 

 “Library guides - Making anti-colonial and anti-racist resources and literature more present. The review committee would like to encourage 
furthering the ongoing decolonial and anti-racist work to decenter resources and online course guides, which will benefit all programs 
including FIND. Rethinking our assumptions about what is cannon in design studies and what kinds of histories we preface in the resources 
we provide is the first step, but care should also be taken to the way such resources are presented to, and accessed by, faculty and 
students.  When the Modernist Eurocentric canon is presented as a stand-alone guide, it can reinforce hierarchies of power, information, 
and preferred histories and understandings. Presenting decolonized and other resources, such as queer, indigenous, and global south 
sources, alongside our ingratiate design history and practice resource lists will help students and faculty integrating such resources into 
their curriculum and studies.  “(External Review Report, pg. 7-8)  

 “KPU admirably has formed an anti-racism task force, has an elder in residence, and the hiring of indigenous staff and liaisons in key 
positions for the school is positive and important, but care must also be taken as the institution looks to address anti-racism, reconciliation, 
and decolonization that this work does not disproportionately fall upon IPOC staff and students. All faculty have to take the lead and do the 
work to learn and challenge their own bias and understandings within their curriculum and support their students differently. Significant 
support must also be provided by the administration with the necessary resources, training workshops, and tools for faculty. Without these 
changes, BIPOC students who take up full time studies at KPU, might not find the same level of representation and support as found in the 
Squamish school initiative.” (External Review Report, pg. 5) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

External Review Report pg 5 & 8 

Appendix 8: FIND Faculty Survey 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 10  

 “The review committee also recommends having dedicated and visible links to anti-racist teaching and learning resources for ant-racist 
classrooms, which will also help faculty as they make changes and space to support BIPOC faculty and students.” (External Review Report, 
pg. 8) 

 “The programs pedagogical approach may benefit from more direct engagement by diverse faculty incorporating different program 
thoughts” (Appendix 8, pg. 60) 

 

GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student enrolment 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: FIND is a certificate program that has the potential to increase student enrolment through high school dual-credit programs, pathways programs, Indigenous 

groups like the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation and the development of a minor in the WSD.  The FIND program is in a unique situation in which it can provide a space for 

students outside of the WSD degree programs to access experiential learning, design methodology, and visual literacy.   The value that the faculty gained from their experience working 

with groups like the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation has sparked a desire to continue to work with Indigenous or marginalized groups.  Applied design and design thinking can 

make a great impact on diverse student populations and further strengthens pedagogy and reconciliation.  The program has identified three areas for partnership which can increase 

student enrolment including a minor in Design, dual-credit course offerings, and partnership with Indigenous communities.  Collaboration and strong communication between 

partnership programs like English Upgrading and academic advisors will strength the outreach of the program model. 

Since the elimination of the 2nd cohort, the FIND program has seen a significant reduction in course offerings which impacts the diversity of student populations.   The FIND program has 

consistently graduated strong applicants to the degree programs in the WSD, but with the reduction of the number of FIND students, the program seeks opportunities to grow and 

support the WSD’s sustainable enrolment.    Currently the FIND program receives a large number of referral applications from unsuccessful WSD degree program applicants.   The FIND 

program can help support those who have minimal design and art skills to meet the WSD degree portfolio entrance requirements.  Due to the limited seats in the current FIND cohort 

model, many of these students are put on a waitlist which increases their chances of looking at other competitor public institutions. As the FIND program shifts access to an open-intake 

model, students outside of the traditional design disciplines could also benefit from design education offered in the FIND program.  A minor in design could further support students' 

opportunity to study design formed from the FIND program model in addition to other higher level WSD degree program courses, thus supporting a larger population of students.  

The FIND faculty are comprised of an interdisciplinary team of designers and educators providing lived experience in teaching applied design skills to students.  The faculty have 

expressed interest in working with dual-credit students as an additional channel of outreach in providing design education to a wider population of students.  When working with 

external partners, limited intake programs   require more flexibility to access.  The FIND program’ applied design, hands-on skills, and technology curriculum is aligned with the 

principles seen in BC Ministry of Education schools K-12 curriculum and thus provides an excellent bridge for undergraduate students into KPU and broadening the student population.   



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 11  

 The value brought to both faculty and students working with the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation allowed our faculty to work collaboratively with historically marginalized 

students. The success of the FIND program while working with the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation has provided a model in working with other communities and government 

funding.  This alternative channel of outreach had many challenges while working in the institutional structures of KPU. More support is needed for the program chair and students 

when working with an alternative school or partnership outreach to ensure quality education is provided. While faculty were adaptable and dedicated to the students learning, there 

needs to be administrative support to work with students and groups outside of KPU to maintain a healthy relationship for   all parties involved.   The 2019/2020 cohort’s input of the 

program has not been expressed in the survey data but is included in the administrative data. This limited information has impacted the results of the feedback on services that KPU 

provides and does require a more holistic investigation on how to continue to work with partnerships. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Alternative Outreach with partnerships: 

 “Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation Field School For promoting inclusion and access, the review committee commends the conception 
and approach of the KPU collaboration with the Skwxwú7mesh (Squamish) First Nation in 2019/2020. This care driven approach to revamp 
curriculum that was facing indigenous students was seen as a significant and important learning experience for the faculty that were 
involved, which challenged many of their core understandings of design practice and pedagogy and its impact in marginalized and 
underrepresented communities.”  (External Review report pg. 3) 

 “This involved course delivery and student integration in both locations (Squamish Trade Center and the WSD) with both cohorts and 
incorporated collaborative industry site visits, on-campus presentations and training in studios and prototyping labs/workshops. This was 
an example of effective collaboration and communication within our KPU departments (Academic Career Preparation for English upgrading 
and Admissions) and our WSD faculty with positive outcomes of growths and development for the participating students.” (Self Study 
Report, Chapter 7: Dean’s response, pg 31) 

Self-Study Report Pg 30 

External Review Report 

Minor in design: 

 “As an increase of number of high school graduates seek more flexible options for post-secondary. The program can continue to develop 
plans to work towards a more open access model with a wider range of delivery formats and scheduling.” (Self Study Report, Dean 
Response pg 32) 

 “Other areas of expansion may also include the development of a minor in Design that could also include specific courses within other WSD 
programs with designation seat availability for other KPU students.” (Self Study Report, Chapter 7: Dean Response pg 33) 

 “It is an “expensive” extra year for students who want to peruse particular programs in the future” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

 “It would be helpful if some of the credits could count toward their degrees” (Appendix 9, pg. 79) 

Self-Study Report Pg .30 

Self-Study Report Pg .32 

Self-Study Report Pg .33 

 

 

 

Dual Credit External Review Report  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 12  

 “Highlighted in the report and faculty discussion is how dual-access programs could be strengthened and employed to help fill class sizes 
and elective options to provide more flexibility for FIND beyond its cohort model. Promotion and strengthening of this program present an 
opportunity for outreach to students that have not had access or exposure to design in their secondary education, with possible program 
benefits for FIND student to be able to take more electives.” (External Review Report, pg. 3) 

  There could also be other opportunities for dual credit offerings for high school students and to revisit another offering with Squamish First 
Nation or other partners within the indigenous community. (Self Study Report, Chapter 7: Dean Response pg. 33) 

Self-Study Report Pg. 33 

 

 

  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 13  

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations cannot be addressed. Add or remove rows as 
necessary. 

Recommendations  Report (page number) Rationale 

Increase in-class divisional lab technician support for all WSD equipment  

 “Barriers identified:  
o  No dedicated studio space for FIND students  
o Difficulty with software licensing and access to computer 

labs  

External Review 
Report pg. 6 

The custom built WSD building has a wide variety of open studios and common 
spaces where students can work on individual or team projects. FIND students have 
access to machinery, specialty equipment, and resources labs which require 
technician training for students to access. Currently there is no support on evenings 
and weekends due to budget restraints. This is not included in the recommendations 
as divisional lab technician support is a WSD of the whole initiative that impacts all 
areas that share these resources.  

Minor in design 

 

Self-Study Report  

Pg .30-33 

 

Currently the FIND program only offers 1000 level courses and would require the 
collaboration of the other WSD programs in building a Minor in design. This is a 
WSD of the whole initiative that has been identified as an area of growth and would 
allow students outside of the WSD degree programs an opportunity to bridge design 
thinking into their education.  The FIND program is an integral part of this initiative 
in offering a program that allows flexibility of open intake on fundamental design 
skills which is essential in the success of higher-level course offerings (2000 and 
3000). There are currently select courses in Interior Design, Product Design, and 
Graphic design for Marketing in the 2000 and 3000 level but requires further 
exploration in developing this opportunity. 

 
  



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 14  

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS:  June 2021 

STRATEGY 1: Revise the program model  

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:  

 GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students  

 GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student enrolment 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Removal of portfolio requirement and re-assessment of other entrance requirements 

Chair June 2021 Sept 2021 

First phase of the removal of portfolio requirements 
includes reduced entrance requirements for the Fall 
2022 to include students answering 3 guiding 
questions ‘on why design?’ in a video format rather 
than assessing their design skills entering the program 

Explore open intake and the full elimination of entrance requirements  Faculty Lead 
Sept 2021 June 2022 

Consultation with the Senate Office, Registrar, 
Sustainable Enrolment Committee, Admissions  

Develop course outlines to align with “Elective” requirements for KPU degree programs Faculty Lead + 
Faculty 

Jan 2022 May 2022 
 

Address transfer credits with WSD degree programs 
Faculty Lead  Jan 2022 May 2022 

Consultation with Program Chairs of the WSD degree 
programs 

Review current FIND Pathway courses to assess for suitability for possible additions/changes  Faculty Lead+ 
Faculty 

Jan 2022 May 2022 
Consultation with Academic Career Preparation for 
English Upgrading and Admissions 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   n/a 

When are these resources required?  n/a 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 15  

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Academic Career Preparation for English Upgrading, Admissions, Registrar, Senate Office, WSD 
program Chairs from other Degree programs.  

STRATEGY 2: Curriculum alignment to support revised program model 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:   

 GOAL 1: Update all current courses for relevancy and currency 

 GOAL 2: Address barriers to broaden access for incoming students  

 GOAL 3: Strengthen Institutional connections to support students and Faculty  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Revision of program competencies: Elements and principles of design, Portfolio skills, Digital Skills, 
decolonization, and relevancy with other WSD programs 

Faculty Lead + 
Faculty 

Jan 2022 June 2022 
 

Curriculum Mapping (Supported by Teaching and Learning) Faculty Lead+ 
Faculty 

Feb 2022 Mar 2022 
 

Identify elective options Faculty Lead+ 
faculty 

Feb 2022 Mar 2022 
 

Update course outlines Faculty Lead 
Mar 2022 May 2022 

 

The WSD Curriculum Committee approves all course updates and new course outlines Faculty Lead + 
Chair 

May 2022 June 2022 
Submit by May 4, 2022 
Meeting date: May 18, 2022 – June 15, 2022 

SSCC approves all updates and new courses.  Chair Sept 2022 Oct 2022 Meeting date: Sept 2022 (Date TBD) 

Senate approves all updates and new courses  Chair Sept 2022 Oct 2022 Meeting date: Sept 2022 (Date TBD) 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Teaching and Learning curriculum mapping resources 

When are these resources required?  Feb 2022 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Foundations in Design Faculty and program assistant, WSD Dean’s office administrative 
support, Teaching and Learning, Approval by WSD Curriculum Committee, Approval by SSCC, Approval by Senate 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 16  

STRATEGY 3: Promotion of the updated curriculum  

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:   

 GOAL 3: Strengthen Institutional connections to support Students and Faculty 

 GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student enrolment 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Collaboration with FSO on program updates Chair/Faculty Oct 2022 Jan 2023 Updates anticipated For FALL 2023 intake 

Collaboration with Academic Advisors on course availability Chair Oct 2022 Jan 2023 Updates anticipated For FALL 2023 intake 

Promote program updates with international student office- international study, ‘visiting’ and exchange 
students. 

Chair 
Oct 2022 Nov 2022 

Updates anticipated For FALL 2023 intake 

Promote program updates with school districts to develop Dual-Credit partnerships Chair/ Dean Oct 2022 Dec 2022  

Update the FIND KPU Website Chair/ Prog. 
Assistant 

Oct 2022 Nov 2022 
 

Marketing campaign to launch the new program updates:  

 Event (including a design activity for participants to engage in) 

 Video 

 Create a digital/printed promotional package to share with potential partnerships, academic 
advisors, and FSO 

Chair/ 
Faculty 

Oct 2022 Jan 2023 

Promotional package will be updated when 
course outlines are approved 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Marketing materials: video, digital/printed promotional package, event promotion, event 
support on campus to include: dean’s office, faculty, and alumni support, design activity supplies. 

When are these resources required?  Oct 2022-Jan 2023  

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Future Students Office, Academic Advisors (All of KPU), International Students Office, 
Marketing  

 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 17  

STRATEGY 4: Develop stronger support channels  

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS:  

 GOAL 3: Strengthen Institutional connections to support Students and Faculty 

 GOAL 4: Explore additional means or partnerships of course delivery to increase student enrolment 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
To be Led  

by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Strengthen relationships with the Counseling services 
All Faculty Mar 2022 

June 2022 Workshop or team meeting 

Develop a student mentorship program with WSD students 
Chair Jan 2022 

Sept 2022 Collaboration with other WSD program chairs 

Work with the Accommodation Office and Early Alert to understand students’ needs and channels of 
support 

All Faculty May 2022 
July 2022 Workshop or team meeting 

Library services- further develop lib guides and recourses for Anti-Racism, Indigenization, 2sQTBIPOC 
All Faculty April 2022 

July 2022  

Faculty team building/ cross-disciplinary professional development 

 collaboration with Indigenous advisory 

 Attend workshops or conferences 
 Professional Development team building event(s) 

All Faculty Feb 2022 Ongoing 

KPU Indigenous services 
External conferences eg. HASTAC (Humanities, 
Arts, Science, and Technology Alliance and 
Collaboratory) 
Team Building event: shoe making, bag 
making, etc. 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Workshop and Conference fees for Decolonization or Anti-Racism, 0.6% PD Funding for 
team building plans: material kits for PD team building activities, industry professional instructor 

When are these resources required?  Feb 2022 

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Counseling services, Accommodation’s office, Library services, KPU Indigenous Services, WSD 
Program Chairs, Task Force on Anti-Racism, Pride Advocacy Group 

 



Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan 
 

Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 18  

 

 

 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY:    

________________________________________                                         _________________________________________________                                     _________________________________ 
Provost’s Name        Provost’s Signature        Date  
 
________________________________________                                         _________________________________________________                                     _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name        Dean’s Signature        Date  
 
   



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.4 

Meeting Date: January 19, 2021 
Presenter: Cayley Velazquez, Elizabeth Worobec 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

  

Attachments Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted December 21, 2021 

 



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 1  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: March 20, 2019  

Date of External Review Site Visit: May 22, 2019  

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: January 22, 2020 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: January 27, 2021 

 Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: December 20, 2021 

Second Progress Report  
 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: September 2019 

STRATEGY 1: Increase student recruitment and retention with the aim of having at least 35 students that complete the program annually 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: Increase student recruitment and promote student retention and satisfaction 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Develop progression plans in conjunction with academic 
advisor to ensure students can complete their degrees 
according to plan and on time. In each semester, offer at least 
one third-year and one fourth-year HSCI course elective. 

Program Chair, 
Degree 

Advisors 

 
01/2020 

 
09/2024 

Completed and on-going. Academic advisors and the program chair have 
worked closely to develop progression plans that allow timely completion. This 
was made more challenging by the necessary adjustments dictated by COVID, 
but should progress more smoothly once the pandemic is controlled. The 
2022-2023 Ed Plan has at least one third year and one fourth year HSCI course 
elective slated for both the Fall and Spring semesters.  

Increase the number of reserved seats in key courses that HSCI 
students are having difficulties registering for to facilitate 
smooth progression in the program. 

 
Program Chair 

 
01/2020 

 
09/2024 

Completed and on-going. Reserve seats for HSCI students in key courses were 
increased in the Spring 2021 semester. Further increases were made in 2021-
2022 and will continue to be made as needed. 

As enrolments increase, offer more HSCI electives and 
institute HSCl-specific sections for core courses to ensure 
there is sufficient space for HSCI student enrolment. 

FSH Dean & 
Program Chair 

 
01/2020 

 
09/2024 

Completed and on-going. To date, HSCI enrollments have not necessitated 
more sections, but when they do, additional electives will be offered. A new 
HSCI elective was developed and will be taught for the first time in Spring 
2022.  



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Develop and implement a marketing strategy aimed at 
increasing student recruitment and retention. Make use of FSO 
outreach resources for high school settings. 

Program Chair 
& FSH Comm. 

Event 
Specialist 

 
01/2020 

 
09/2024 

Completed and on-going. FSO outreach resources are being utilized in high 
school settings. Program chair is in regular communication with the FSH 
Communications Event Specialist to ensure Health Science is represented at 
events where appropriate. 

Implement student advisor visits during class time (e.g., key 
courses offered early in the program, such as HSCI 1115 and 
2220). 

Program Chair 
& Degree 
Advisors 

 
01/2020 

 
09/2024 

Completed and on-going. Regular advisor visits were instituted in Spring 2021 
to HSCI 1115 and will continue each semester. 

STRATEGY 2: Integrate more experiential opportunities within the HSCI Program's curriculum and research programming  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: Increase student recruitment and promote student retention and satisfaction; and GOAL 2: Expand applied and experiential 

opportunities within the HSCI Program's curriculum and research programming; and GOAL 3: Enhance the individual HSCI Program profile and identity 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by  
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Introduce a practicum-based/job shadowing elective (HSCI 
3110 Applications in Health Science). 

Program Chair 01/2020 01/2022 Completed. This course was developed in Fall 2021 and is scheduled to be 
offered in the Spring 2022 semester. 

Develop experiential components for key courses, especially in 
HSCl-specific courses. 

Program Chair 01/2020 01/2021 Completed and on-going. Experiential components are in place for several 
upper level HSCI courses. For instance, HSCI 3110 allows students to observe 
health professionals and situations in the workplace and HSCI 3225 has 
incorporated lab-related exercises into the course. Other experiential 
opportunities will be incorporated as appropriate in future.  

As feasible, develop research projects and programming that 
meet HSCI students' needs. 

Program Chair 01/2020 Assessed 
annually 

Completed and on-going. There are 6 HSCI students working on research 
projects, all of whom are in the Honours degree program (an increase from 
four students last year). Available projects will change depending on research 
funding, faculty time, and student interest. There are no current plans for 
additional programming but this will be revisited as the program grows. 

Based on outcomes of current HSCI co-op pilot project, develop 
it into a regularly offered co-op option as part of the HSCI 
program. 

Program Chair 
& FSH Co-op 

Instructor 

 
01/2020 

 
09/2024 

On-going. The pilot project was successful. Plans to progress with the 
establishment of this program were put on hold with the initial COVID 
shutdown. A meeting with co-op was held in Fall 2021 and plans to pursue co-
op were supported by faculty at the December 2021 meeting. The program 
chair has time release in Spring 2022 to start work on establishing co-op. 



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 3  

STRATEGY 3: Revise the HSCI B.Sc. degree and develop Health Education/Public Health curriculum; conduct progress evaluation of each initiative 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: Increase student recruitment and promote student retention and satisfaction; GOAL 2: Expand applied and experiential opportunities 

within the HSCI Program's curriculum and research programming; and GOAL 3: Enhance the individual HSCI Program profile and identity. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Implement degree program changes. Conduct annual progress 
evaluations and report at Biology Faculty meeting. 

Program Chair 01/2020 09/2024 Completed and on-going. Major course changes associated with the degree 
have been implemented and the progress was reported and discussed at the 
December 2020 Biology Faculty meeting. Future progress evaluations will be 
discussed at faculty meetings. 

Based on stakeholder consultations and departmental 
discussion, develop and implement curriculum for a new 
degree that aligns with the Certified Health Education 
Professional competencies. 

 
Program Chair 

 
01/2020 

 
09/2024 

On-going. After extensive discussion within the biology department and with 
the FSH Deans Office, a new degree has been postponed indefinitely to focus 
on increasing enrolments in the revised (current) degree program. Recent 
discussions with the Deans office show support to explore whether degree 
streams may be an appropriate alternative to a new degree. The program 
chair will pursue next steps with the Deans Office and gauge feasibility of 
incorporating streams in the HSCI degree program. 

STRATEGY 4: To build the HSCI Program's individual profile and identity. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: Increase student recruitment and promote student retention and satisfaction; GOAL 2: Expand applied and experiential opportunities 

within the HSCI Program's curriculum and research programming; and GOAL 3: Enhance the individual HSCI Program profile and identity. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Establish a Health Science Program sub-committee within the 
Biology department that ensures the HSCI Program is meeting 
intended program/ learning outcomes. 

Program Chair 01/2020 01/2021 Completed and ongoing. The HSCI subcommittee was established in January 
2021. Meetings occur 1x per semester (Fall and Spring), with regular 
communication in between to review documents, etc. 

Develop a program-specific website that highlights features 
such as faculty expertise, research opportunities, alumni 
careers, program events, as well as HSCI program-specific 
branding for outreach events and advertisement. 

Program Chair 
& Marketing 

 
01/2020 

 
12/2021 

Completed and on-going. Program chair worked with the FSH Communications 
Event Specialist, Deans Office, and Marketing to make changes to the HSCI 
website. Health Science has a dedicated website that highlights key program-
related information that will be updated on an on-going basis. 



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 4  

Code core HSCI courses with HSCI acronym and cross-list where 
appropriate. 

Program Chair 01/2020 01/2021 Completed. Discussion within the biology department resulted in some core 
courses remaining as BIOL courses as decided by majority vote. 

Develop a health science minor. Program Chair 01/2020  09/2024 On-going. An HSCI Minor framework was developed in Fall 2021 and approved 
at the December 2021 Biology faculty meeting. The framework will now move 
through the remaining committees with an implementation goal of Fall 2022.  

 



          SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
              Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  B.Sc. in Health Science 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
Reviewer #1: The rationale provided related to the progress on action items and changes are reasonable. I 
have made a few recommendations to be considered mainly in terms of providing a bit more context to some 
of the action item rationale in the following sections.  
 
Reviewer #2: This follow up is focused, nearly entirely precise, and reflective of a well-considered approach to 
program planning. 
 

The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 

☒          Reviewer #1 & #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 

☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 
 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 

Page 02 
Develop and implement a marketing strategy aimed 
at increasing student recruitment and retention. 
Make use of FSO outreach resources for high school 
settings. 
Completed and on-going. FSO outreach resources 
are being utilized in high school settings. Program 
chair is in regular communication with the FSH 
Communications Event Specialist to ensure Health 

Science is represented at events where 
appropriate. 

May I recommend that you identify a few specific 
annual events (by name/school/dates if available) 
hosted by high schools to be included here. This way 
it would be easy for the Health Science department 
plan for these events.  

  



          SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
              Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

2 
 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 

Page 02 
Develop experiential components for key courses, 
especially in HSCl-specific courses.  
Completed and on-going.  

Experiential components are in place for 

several upper level HSCI courses. For instance, HSCI 
3110 allows students to observe health 
professionals and situations in the workplace and 
HSCI 3225 has incorporated lab-related exercises 

into the course. Other experiential 
opportunities will be incorporated as 
appropriate in future. 

Can you kindly expand what type of experiential 
components that are in place for upper level HSCI 
courses and what you mean by “Other experiential 
opportunities” will be incorporated as appropriate in 
future. 

p.3 The question of streams is left fairly open and 
should be narrowed give that we are in the second 
AFU. 

The original step listed here (under Strategy 3 and 
Goal 1) was to investigate a new degree. That was 
done and was judged not to be something with which 
to proceed at this time. This follow up reopens the 
issue with the question of streams. This is fine, but 
we then need to provide some precise targets for 
future reporting or action. I recommend that we 
consider either dropping the stream investigation as 
a new step or, and this seems more genuine a 
reflection of the state of affairs, we set a date by 
which the department will discuss this with the 
incoming Dean. 

Page 04 
Develop a health science minor. 
On-going. An HSCI Minor framework was developed 
in Fall 2021 and approved at the December 2021 
Biology faculty meeting. The framework will now 
move through the remaining committees with an 
implementation goal of Fall 2022. 

Can you provide a bit more context to what stage the 
program is at when you refer to remaining 
committees 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

 

 



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 1  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: March 20, 2019  

Date of External Review Site Visit: May 22, 2019  

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: January 22, 2020 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: January 27, 2021 

 Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: January 14, 2022 

Second Progress Report  
 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: September 2019 

STRATEGY 1: Increase student recruitment and retention with the aim of having at least 35 students that complete the program annually 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: Increase student recruitment and promote student retention and satisfaction 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Develop progression plans in conjunction with academic 
advisor to ensure students can complete their degrees 
according to plan and on time. In each semester, offer at least 
one third-year and one fourth-year HSCI course elective. 

Program Chair, 
Degree 

Advisors 

 
01/2020 

 
09/20242021 

Completed and on-going. Academic advisors and the program chair have 
worked closely to develop progression plans that allow timely completion. This 
was made more challenging by the necessary adjustments dictated by COVID, 
but should progress more smoothly once the pandemic is controlled. The 
2022-2023 Ed Plan has at least one third year and one fourth year HSCI course 
elective slated for both the Fall and Spring semesters.  

Increase the number of reserved seats in key courses that HSCI 
students are having difficulties registering for to facilitate 
smooth progression in the program. 

 
Program Chair 

 
01/2020 

 
09/202401/2

21 

Completed and on-going. Reserve seats for HSCI students in key courses were 
increased in the Spring 2021 semester. Further increases were made in 2021-
2022 and will continue to be made as needed. 

As enrolments increase, offer more HSCI electives and 
institute HSCl-specific sections for core courses to ensure 
there is sufficient space for HSCI student enrolment. 

FSH Dean & 
Program Chair 

 
01/2020 

 
09/202401/2

022 

Completed and on-going. To date, HSCI enrollments have not necessitated 
more sections, but when they do, additional electives will be offered. A new 
HSCI elective was developed and will be taughtis being taught for the first time 
in Spring 2022.  



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Develop and implement a marketing strategy aimed at 
increasing student recruitment and retention. Make use of FSO 
outreach resources for high school settings. 

Program Chair 
& FSH Comm. 

Event 
Specialist 

 
01/2020 

 
09/202412/2

021 

Completed and on-going. FSO outreach resources are being utilized in 
community and high school settings (e.g., Education and Career Fair, Annual 
BC High School Counsellors’ Conference, etc.). Program chair is in regular 
communication with the FSH Communications Event Specialist to ensure 
Health Science is represented at KPU-wide events where appropriate (e.g., 
Science Rendezvous, KPU Open Houses, etc.). 

Implement student advisor visits during class time (e.g., key 
courses offered early in the program, such as HSCI 1115 and 
2220). 

Program Chair 
& Degree 
Advisors 

 
01/2020 

 
09/202401/2

021 

Completed and on-going. Regular advisor visits were instituted in Spring 2021 
to HSCI 1115 and will continue each semester. 

STRATEGY 2: Integrate more experiential opportunities within the HSCI Program's curriculum and research programming  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: Increase student recruitment and promote student retention and satisfaction; and GOAL 2: Expand applied and experiential 
opportunities within the HSCI Program's curriculum and research programming; and GOAL 3: Enhance the individual HSCI Program profile and identity 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by  
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Introduce a practicum-based/job shadowing elective (HSCI 
3110 Applications in Health Science). 

Program Chair 01/2020 01/2022 Completed. This course was developed in Fall 2021 and is scheduled to 
bebeing offered in the Spring 2022 semester. 

Develop experiential components for key courses, especially in 
HSCl-specific courses. 

Program Chair 01/2020 01/2021 Completed and on-going. Experiential components are in place for several 
upper level HSCI courses. For instance, students in HSCI 3110 allows students 
to observe health professionals and situations in the workplace and take part 
in appropriate hands-on tasks (e.g., modify educational materials, research 
best practices, develop presentations, etc.) before reflecting on their learning; 
students in HSCI 3225 conduct a personal health assessment (e.g., nutrient 
analysis); students in HSCI 4110 interview a program planner about a specific 
health program, critically assess the interviewees approach, and reflect on 
their learnings; and students in HSCI 4245 attend a public event related to 
health policy and reflect on their participation experience. Other experiential 
opportunities will be incorporated as appropriate in future.  

As feasible, develop research projects and programming that 
meet HSCI students' needs. 

Program Chair 01/2020 Assessed 
annually 

Completed and on-going. There are 6 HSCI students working on research 
projects, all of whom are in the Honours degree program (an increase from 



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 3  

four students last year). Available projects will change depending on research 
funding, faculty time, and student interest. There are no current plans for 
additional programming but this will be revisited as the program grows. 

Based on outcomes of current HSCI co-op pilot project, develop 
it into a regularly offered co-op option as part of the HSCI 
program. 

Program Chair 
& FSH Co-op 

Instructor 

 
01/2020 

 
09/2024 

On-going. The pilot project was successful. Plans to progress with the 
establishment of this program were put on hold with the initial COVID 
shutdown. A meeting with co-op was held in Fall 2021 and plans to pursue co-
op were supported by faculty at the December 2021 meeting. The HSCI 
program chair has time release in Spring 2022 to work on establishing co-op. 



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 4  

STRATEGY 3: Revise the HSCI B.Sc. degree and develop Health Education/Public Health curriculum; conduct progress evaluation of each initiative 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: Increase student recruitment and promote student retention and satisfaction; GOAL 2: Expand applied and experiential opportunities 
within the HSCI Program's curriculum and research programming; and GOAL 3: Enhance the individual HSCI Program profile and identity. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Implement degree program changes. Conduct annual progress 
evaluations and report at Biology Faculty meeting. 

Program Chair 01/2020 09/20242020 Completed and on-going. Major course changes associated with the degree 
have been implemented and the progress was reported and discussed at the 
December 2020 Biology Faculty meeting. Future progress evaluations will be 
discussed at faculty meetings. 

Based on stakeholder consultations and departmental 
discussion, develop and implement curriculum for a new 
degree that aligns with the Certified Health Education 
Professional competencies. 

 
Program Chair 

 
01/2020 

 
N/A09/2024 

On-going. After extensive discussion within the biology department and with 
the FSH Deans Office, a new degree has been postponed indefinitely to focus 
on increasing enrolments in the revised (current) degree program. Recent 
discussions with the Deans office show support to explore whether degree 
streams may be an appropriate alternative to a new degree. The program 
chair will pursue next steps with the Deans Office and gauge feasibility of 
incorporating streams in the HSCI degree program. 

STRATEGY 4: To build the HSCI Program's individual profile and identity. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: Increase student recruitment and promote student retention and satisfaction; GOAL 2: Expand applied and experiential opportunities 
within the HSCI Program's curriculum and research programming; and GOAL 3: Enhance the individual HSCI Program profile and identity. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Establish a Health Science Program sub-committee within the 
Biology department that ensures the HSCI Program is meeting 
intended program/ learning outcomes. 

Program Chair 01/2020 01/2021 Completed and ongoing. The HSCI subcommittee was established in January 
2021. Meetings occur 1x per semester (Fall and Spring), with regular 
communication in between to review documents, etc. 

Develop a program-specific website that highlights features 
such as faculty expertise, research opportunities, alumni 
careers, program events, as well as HSCI program-specific 
branding for outreach events and advertisement. 

Program Chair 
& Marketing 

 
01/2020 

 
12/2021 

Completed and on-going. Program chair worked with the FSH Communications 
Event Specialist, Deans Office, and Marketing to make changes to the HSCI 
website. Health Science has a dedicated website that highlights key program-
related information that will be updated on an on-going basis. 



B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU B.Sc. in Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 5  

Code core HSCI courses with HSCI acronym and cross-list where 
appropriate. 

Program Chair 01/2020 01/2021 Completed. Discussion within the biology department resulted in some core 
courses remaining as BIOL courses as decided by majority vote. 

Develop a health science minor. Program Chair 01/2020  
09/20242022 

On-going. An HSCI Minor framework was developed in Fall 2021 and approved 
at the January 2021 Biology faculty meeting. The framework will now move 
through the remaining committees, FSH Curriculum, FSH Faculty Council, FSH 
APP, SSCC, and Senate, in Spring 2022 with an implementation goal of Fall 
2022.  

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.5 

Meeting Date: January 19, 2021 
Presenter: Tess Kroeker, Sharmen Lee 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Second Annual Follow-Up Report as 
attached.  

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

  

Attachments Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted December 23, 2021 

 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 1  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: October 30, 2019 

Date of External Review Site Visit: February 3, 2020 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: November 25, 2020 

Date Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: December 22, 2021 

First Progress Report  

  

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: September 2020 

STRATEGY 1: Further establish or formulate a revised philosophy for the BPN program which will include revision of language and structural foundations to health, assessment, planning and interventions 

which anchor the entire program and integration of Psychiatric Nursing Practice Competencies. The philosophy will be rooted in Nursing Theory. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: The program requires further development of its program philosophy and the language embedded in the program materials (stating 

psychiatric nurses’ vs mental health practitioners). Embedded in the philosophy statement, a framework, clearly established must be articulated and threaded throughout the program (curriculum framework). 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By 

(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review current philosophy and with faculty collaboration establish 
theoretical constructs which support health interventions for the client in 
meeting the BCCNM competencies. 

BPN 
Chair/Curr 
Chair All 
Faculty 

Nov 2020 Feb 2021 

Strategy to review has been met.  Implementation of new 
philosophy will be completed by January 2022.  Review of 
current philosophy began in the early part of 2021 and 
continues presently.  This strategy process is in the final stages 
of articulation.  The original timeline was not met due to 
challenges faced within the program in a response to the Covid 
19 pandemic.  The bulk of the course review and revision 
efforts will activate in the period of December 2021-February 
2022 and the finalized philosophy of the program will guide the 
theoretical constructs health interventions for the clients served 
in meeting BCCNM competencies.   
 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 2  

Ensure all language within course materials and program description state 
Psychiatric Nurse or Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing 

 
Curr. Chair 

Nov 2020 Apr 2021 

Met.  Faculty have been aware to and are updating each course 
to ensure description and reference to the profession uses the 
specific language of Psychiatric Nurse or Bachelor of 
Psychiatric Nursing. This includes course or program materials 
for the current BPN program version and the revised BPN 
program version.   As the new program version will be offered 
as early as September, 2022, and work currently underway, this 
strategy will be completed in all course review and revision.  
The BPN, through the process of program revision has an 
established checklist which serves both as a guide and audit tool 
to ensure QA strategies are achieved.  (See Appendix A) 

Embed revised philosophy statement and program foundation with 
theory, structure to health care approaches with clients into all course 
materials and program resources. Example will be Betty Neuman’s 
Holistic Health assessment recognizing a person composed of 5 
variables of health (psychological, developmental, physiological, socio-
cultural and spiritual) in dynamic interaction with their environment. 

 
 

Curr. Chair 

Dec 2020 Dec 2021 

Partially met.  Courses for the revised program remain under 
revision with this quality assurance strategy to be administered 
in each new course presentation and embedded into the 
theoretical and applied competencies of the program.  The 
philosophical foundational elements for the BPN program have 
been a subject of great consideration and discussion among the 
BPN faculty.  Considerations with the revision of the program 
philosophy relate to the historical foundations of the program 
which have rooted the program for many years and have 
contributed to the success of BPN students and will also 
include a contemporary philosophy which represents 
advancements in theoretical and philosophical structures for 
psychiatric nursing programs.  Each course presentation 
produced will have the revised philosophy statement embedded 
into the course with links to health care approaches and 
interventions with clients.  The next annual review presentation 
will include examples of this QA indicator.  As the focused 
work for all program revision, competency mapping in theory, 
clinical and lab skills will activate fully in January of 2022, the 
Philosophical principles rooting the program foundation will be 
finalized in late December 2021 or early January 2022 before 
the bulk of the course revision initiates.   



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 3  

 

 

 

STRATEGY: 2, 3, 4: Ensuring students are well prepared for clinical in all semesters with clear course expectations, skills they can practice in clinical and ensure this is articulated to the clinical 

agency through clinical practice manuals for the relevant semester. This includes the assurance that faculty have been adequately prepared to enter clinical, have oriented to the unit(s) and visit 

the students according to the teaching mode outlined in the collective agreement. The orientation manual for the semester will include contact information and communication strategies 

between faculty and the agency. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: 2: Ensure the students are well and best prepared for entry to practice by focusing on key psychiatric nursing skillsets such 

as mental health assessments. 3: Ensure all faculty provide adequate and the intended support and supervision to students during clinical placement. This includes screening students and 

recommending appropriate clinical placements, orientation to the clinical practice areas and engagement with agency team members. 4: Prepare and provide updated manuals to the clinical 

practice units especially preceptor placements which outline the student’s knowledge/skill level for that placement, explore opportunities to engage with the clinical agencies on a more frequent 

basis and ensure evaluations and surveys are completed to enhance engagement and program development 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 

(M/YY) 

Complete by  
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Increase communication between the BPN and clinical agency. This will be 
achieved initially by establishing a practice orientation for each clinical 
experience. Traditionally the BPN would only provide this for preceptorship. 

All 
faculty 

Dec 
2021 

Jan 2021 

Met.  The BPN chair has engaged with all faculty attending the 
site for orientation prior to initiating clinical.  Faculty arrange a 
day of orientation at the site through the applicable manager or 
clinical nurse educator (dependent upon the site). Our NR1 
contracts accommodate compensation for this to occur.  This 
will be an ongoing requirement for clinical placements within 
the BPN, in semesters particularly for 3,4,5 practicum.  Since 
the time of program review, BPN faculty have been orienting to 
the clinical practice units for each clinical rotation.  Although 
this was a practice carried out often previously, it was not being 
done with 100% consistency.  Since program review, it is the 
expectation that faculty will orient to the unit before completing 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 4  

any shifts with the students.  This will occur even in the case 
where faculty have consistently attended clinical practice 
placements year to year on the same unit.  This expectation 
allows faculty and the unit to become re-acquainted with the 
faculty member, expectations, schedules, review of policy or 
practices within the clinical agency.   
Further, as we progress through a program revision process, the 
BPN will establish a semester specific course guide which will 
be shared with the clinical agency.  In this course guide, a 
summary of the nature of the clinical practice goals and 
objectives will be shared, including all contact information for 
the assigned instructor.  This guide is particularly important for 
the later semesters when faculty are not on-site and includes 
semesters 6,7,8.   

A list of “critical skills” such as MSE, Trauma Informed Care, Suicide Risk 
Assessment and Prevention (not exhaustive), professionalism (from 
competencies) will be highlighted and purposely built into courses with a 
dedicated plan for theory, and practice by faculty along with carrying these 
elements over into additional courses for review. The BPN program will also 
be seeking resources for faculty specifically related to Online Teaching Skill 
Development to ensure all aspects of the program are delivered in an 
effective manner. Courses previously offered online which have been 
determined to require classroom instruction will be moved to the 
classroom once the global pandemic subsides. 

Chair, 
Curr.       
Chair 

Dec 
2020 

Dec 2021 

Partially met.  Critical skills checklists have been embedded into 
competency checklist that are used in every clinical and 
psychiatric theory course where the essential skills are 
highlighted.  This information is contained in the course 
presentation.  The critical skills lists have been created with the 
intention of highlighting the skills focus for the course and 
offers a mechanism to visualize where competencies are 
addressed in learning and the process of scaffolding complex 
skills spanning multiple courses.  The checklist is not intended 
to be used as an evaluation tool as the elements are contained 
within the scope of the competency document, but to highlight 
the linkage of the skills focus with the specific theoretical, lab, 
or clinical practice rotation courses.   
In relation to resources specific to teaching online, BPN has 
worked with the Learning Commons to access resources and 
support at the request of faculty. 
(https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning/teaching-
resources). Additionally, BPN is integrating a standing item 
within the BPN faculty meetings to identify needs for support 

https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning/teaching-resources
https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning/teaching-resources


 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 5  

and resources. The BPN will refer individual faculty to 
resources or provide guest speakers or in-services to faculty 
when these areas of resources and support are identified.  The 
quality improvement plan remains ongoing as we are still 
developing courses for the revised program.    

Faculty will work with the agencies to participate in appropriate orientation. Staff 
who visit students in later semesters will document the day and time they visit 
students in clinical. In addition to the orientation manual, the expectation for all 
faculty will be to discuss the student’s status and agency needs on at least one 
occasion with the leadership team of the clinical practice unit. 

All 
faculty 

program 
chair 

Jan 2020 

Beginning 
with each 
semester 
starting 

January 2021 

Met and is an ongoing expectation.  As highlighted above the 
BPN has made it a requirement for faculty to attend agency 
orientation, including the completion of all online training 
modules prior to attending clinical.  This includes reviewing all 
agency training requirements on HSPNet prior to clinical and 
reporting completion of training as required including agency 
audits.   The training is of particular importance in semester’s 
3,4,5 when faculty are working along with students on the 
clinical units.  It is not possible for faculty to orient to each 
agency in the later semesters as they are supervising up to 20 
students.  At a minimum, with faculty both on site, remote, or 
in an assignment with multiple placements, one formal meeting 
will be arranged with the agency clinical leadership to discuss 
expectations for faculty and student, learning needs, evaluation 
and communication among parties.  This meeting will be 
documented and submitted by faculty.   

STRATEGY 5: Increasing the scope of stakeholder contributions directly to the BPN from the health care and mental health care sectors. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: This strategy supports goals 5: Increase the membership and scope of membership of the Integrated Program Advisory 

Committee for the BPN. This should include as many “sectors” as possible where the students access clinical practice placements and potential areas of employment. 6: Expand and maintain 

formal “stakeholder” connections and mechanisms which document the interactions for the purpose of relationship development to improve the quality and integrity of the program and to 

foster a reliable source of information for practice trends and ability to respond to those trends. This includes clinical practice agencies, health authority, nursing associations and government 

ministries. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete 
by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 6  

Engage faculty and the dean’s office in discussion of whom and which 
agencies should be involved. This may include clinical agencies, members of 
associations, interest groups and government. 

BPN Chair/ 
Curr Chair 
and Faculty 

Jan 2021 Dec 2021 

Partially met.  The BPN has, since program review, 
engaged in efforts and actions to improve its stakeholder 
contact and range of integration with health care and 
mental health care sectors. Some of the activities include 
appointment of KPU Student to the Board of Directors 
NNPBC, Membership of Chair and KPU BPN Alumni in 
the Canadian Federation of Mental Health Nurses, 
appointment of KPU Chair to board of directors for Aces, 
engagement with Fraser Health on Primary Care 
Placement Initiative including a tour of a Surrey Primary 
Care clinic and regular video conference with leaders 
responsible for activating the primary care clinic initiatives.  
In December of 2021, the Dean FoH and BPN Chair will 
engage the Ministry of Health in discussion under the 
Pathway to Hope: A roadmap for making mental health 
and addictions care better for people in British Columbia – 
Report and Initiatives.  
Recruitment for membership to the IPAC committee has 
been ongoing, however, even though multiple discussions 
were had, agencies often are hesitant to join the IPAC 
committee due to ongoing pressures with managing Covid 
19 protocols.   

Reach out to those whom are decidedly critical in being a member of IPAC 

 Jan 2020 Nov 2020 

Efforts to build capacity and scope for IPAC continue.  
There has been a renewal of commitment with some of 
the IPAC members, however, citing challenging times in 
managing he Covid epidemic, some agencies with whom 
the IPAC committee has benefited with representation are 
wavering with commitment in the short term.  The BPN 
continues to nurture these long-standing relationships and 
will happily receive their return to the IPAC committee 
when they feel they are able.  Additionally, the chair has 
reached out to multiple agencies and sectors to request 
participation in the IPAC committee.  Recently the 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 7  

invitation, including preliminary discussions, have gone to 
individuals working in the brain science, health and 
research sector and the secondary public school system.  
In the new year, the Dean, FoH and BPN Chair have 
secured a meeting with the Ministry of Mental Health and 
Addictions.  During this meeting which will focus on the 
Ministry goals for services within Mental Health and 
Additions, we will request and invite representatives of the 
Ministry to join our IPAC committee to better understand 
their priorities and mandate to align our programming 
offerings as appropriate.   

Create sub committee’s or working groups as necessary to ensure the program is 
responsive to community heath trends and needs. 

 Jan 2020 
Dec 2020 & 

Jan 2021 

This strategy has not yet been met.  The BPN program has 
undergone substantive changes and is now in a process of 
completing a significant program revision.  The program 
revision has been approved at Senate Standing Committee 
on Curriculum with a planned intake for May 2023 for the 
new version of the program.  In a parallel consideration, 
the health foundations pool of students has now been 
depleted and we are hopeful for a May 2022 intake with 
this being the last cohort to complete the current version 
of the program.  Should there not be enough students to 
run an intake, this intake will be deferred to an exceptional 
intake for September 2022.  Further to this, through 
recommendations both within the KPU program review 
process, and the external program review, BPN has 
amended policy AC13 in order that only registered 
psychiatric nurses are teaching within the program (See 
program approval standards, BCCNM) See Appendix B) 
As such, we have been operating with 4.5 full time faculty, 
one NR2 and committed contract faculty to root our 
program.  Once through this period of flux, we intend to 
fully staff the BPN program which will allow consistent 
representation at key committee tables, including a 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 8  

subcommittee to ensure responsivity to community health 
trends.  Short of this, the BPN has and remains involved 
in key committees provincially and nationally allowing 
regular and relevant exposure to the health trends 
emerging within the health care system presently.  In the 
new year, the BPN will be engaging with the Ministry of 
Mental Health and Substance use for the purpose of 
discussing the needs of the population requiring support 
of our current program, potential for course content to be 
addressed in addition to potentially looking at new 
programming (Mental Health and Substance Use Worker) 
with the support of our Mental Health and Substance use 
professional faculty.    

Review and implement a strategy (calendar schedule) for formal and informal 
information/data collection within the context of engaging with stakeholders. 
This will include regular scheduled meetings (IPAC), special consultation 
meetings, survey schedule for employers, alumni. Potential to establish new 
survey tools to elicit information useful for program design and integrity. 

BPN 
Chair/Curr 

Chair 
Office of 

Planning & 
Accountability 

Feb 2020 Dec 2021 

Partially met.  Review and establishment of a strategy is 
underway; however, a formalized schedule has not been 
established.  The BPN program has been working with OPA 
since program review to identify survey options for 
stakeholders to allow exposure to critical information relating 
to health care trends and the needs of the service providers in 
the community.   Additionally, BPN has positioned itself to 
engage with key stakeholders.  Currently, BPN is engaged in 
conversations with community public schools about clinical 
placement opportunities, working in collaboration with Fraser 
Health as the first nursing group in the province to engage in 
clinical practice opportunities in primary care clinics, meeting 
directly with the Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions in 
the context of the Pathway to Hope report on Mental Health 
and Substance use.  FoH with the BPN faculty being key 
contributors are working to respond to vulnerabilities in the 
service of British Columbians within mental health and 
substance use needs, along with best preparing mental health 
practitioners to best serve the needs of a population with 
comorbid health issues.  This activity will take the form of 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 9  

expert consultation and the possibility of exploring revision to 
current programming or the establishment of new programs.   

 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 10  

STRATEGY 6: The BPN will develop an ongoing plan for curriculum review. Of note, the program will review and respond to the SSR and Quality Assurance Plan for the KPU review and 

BCCNM review with the current program whilst a parallel process will occur to prepare a formal program revision. Both processes will work toward addressing the recommendations outlined in 

the External Review Process and work toward creating an up-to date, highest quality Psychiatric Nursing program. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: This strategy addresses Goals 7: The BPN will develop and implement an ongoing and clear plan for curriculum review and 

revision to keep curriculum current, consider resources necessary to effectively meet the plan and make recommendations as appropriate. The plan may also consider separate or unique 

admission criteria for the BPN specifically. Goal 8: Conduct a thorough curriculum review with competency mapping with each course presentation and pedagogy in BPN adjusted and 

supported for the purpose of best preparing students in all domains of learning within the program. (This QA Report recognizes this is the most significant portion of ERT and will formulate a 

majority of work and future activity). 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete 
by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Establish, document and enforce a clear plan for curriculum/ program 
review. 

Curr. Chair Dec 2020 May 2021 

This work is partially met and remains ongoing with a 
particular focus of time and resources dedicated to the 
revised BPN program, its courses and integration of 
knowledge and skills in theory, lab and clinical practice 
contexts. (See appendix A) 

With the plan for curriculum/program review, detail the nature of the work 
and the time commitment necessary for this work. The BPN team will 
develop a tracking document for regular curriculum review whereby the 
annual (minimum) and revisions out of industry need are detailed. The work 
will be distributed among faculty on accountable time and the program may 
petition for other resource support both within the department and by 
engaging other departments or resources. 

BPN Chair/ 
Curr. Chair 

Dec 2020 Dec 2021 

Met. As above, this work is partially met and remains 
ongoing. (See Appendix A). This work will remain a 
priority for the BPN to prepare for a possible exceptional 
intake running the revised version of the program as early 
as September 2022.  The document includes course 
revision and other critical program date commitments. 
(Appendix C outlines the scope of the program revision)  
 

The BPN team will engage with Teaching and Learning for the purpose of 
supporting curriculum review and revision and faculty assignment of activities 
within accountable time provisions as the first actions to resource dedication 
of the work required. Following that, the BPN team may also consider 
approaching the dean’s office for more formalized support in the form of 
time release for curriculum revision. The rationale for these actions account 

Chair/ Curr. 
Chair Dean’s 

Office 
Jan 2021 Jan 2022 

This QA activity is met and has an ongoing commitment 
to remain engaged with Teaching and Learning associated 
with curriculum review and course revision.  This is the 
BPN program’s top priority at the present time. Preceding 
this, a tremendous amount of work and time was 
expended on the program revision proposal itself.  



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 11  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete 
by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

for a majority of the program review deficits surround issues related to 
curriculum which is a resource intensive component. The integrity of the 
program requires such a level of support and without dedicated resources to 
improve the quality of the program, the reputation of the university and 
health of British Columbians may be compromised. The program may be 
expanding to create a Mental Health Care Worker Certificate which could 
provide the basis of one-time funding to achieve multiple program revision 
purposes. 

Through the remaining days of December 2021, the BPN 
is finalizing the assignment of faculty to the courses which 
require revision with the oversite of both the BPN Chair 
and BPN Curriculum Chair.  The BPN has been successful 
in securing dedicated time release for both the Mental 
Health and Substance Use Support worker concept paper) 
January to April 2022) and release for a Curriculum Chair 
from January to April 2022.   
 
During the concentrated time of course revision, the BPN 
Curriculum Chair will engage with Teaching and Learning 
to support the work of course revision in addition to the 
faculty contributions on the work.  With faculty numbers 
below our regular assignment allocation (maternity leave 
and recent resignation) the BPN will engage with the 
dean’s office to ensure there is adequate support on the 
priority work in preparing a quality revised version of the 
BPN program.  Reference Appendix A   

Consider a process of BPN admissions that addresses the unique qualities of 
candidates for the profession. Even 
beyond that which CASPer can offer. 

Chair/Curr. 
Chair 

Mar 2021 Jun 2022 

Partially met.  The recommendation is under consideration 
for screening candidates beyond the current GPA and 
Casper processes.  Selecting the best candidates for the 
program is an important consideration for the BPN 
program due to the responsibility and privilege in 
supporting the clients we serve in our community.  BPN 
faculty agree a screening interview process would be the 
best addition to the process.  Attributes which would be 
examined would include self-awareness, genuine interest in 
patient care, empathy, understanding of personal and 
professional boundaries.  This will require further 
development and understanding of options which also 



 Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                         Page 12  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete 
by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

allow such a process to be done efficiently and that 
minimizes the human resource implications of such a 
process.   

 

STRATEGY 7: Address the curriculum recommendations from both SSR and ERT to improve the quality and experience of the BPN program in addition to creating a revised program 

proposal to meet the needs of contemporary mental health in the province of British Columbia. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete 
by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

The BPN is prepared to examine any and all resources available to achieve the 
work required to enhance the existing program and propose a revised program. 
That said, examining the use or realignment of resources, does not necessarily 
mean the dedicated resources currently assigned to curriculum work are 
sufficient. In good faith, the program will examine and be open 
to all possibilities. 

Chair/Curr 
Chair/ BPN 

Faculty 
Deans Office 

Feb 2021 Feb 2022 

The BPN has undertaken a comprehensive program review 
and has established and received approval for a revised 
program.  Such a review has encompassed a great deal of 
accountable time with the efforts of faculty committing to 
the process in addition to continuing to offer quality 
programming with operation of or current program.  The 
program review has been actioned and is available for view 
in Appendix C of this submission.  Process has required 
consultation with our colleagues in the BSN program, 
deans’ office, BPN curriculum and faculty, Faculty Council, 
Ministry of Advanced Education, BCCNM and Senate 
Standing Committee on Curriculum.  The result of this 
work has resulted in an approved program revision to 
which a great deal of the strategic activities referred to in 
this document are addressed.     

 

 

 



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 

 

 

Course Outline Review and Course Tracking Sheet  

 

 

 

 

 

 



BPN Course Outlines: Review Sept 2022

Previsous Version New Version 

Program Number Implementation 

Date
Review Date Prerequisites Corequisites Program Number Course Name(CrR) Semester

Implementatio

n Date

Review 

Date
Prerequisites Corequisites Assigned To QA and Content Stragegies to be embedded Specific Content to be embedded Notes: Progress/Updates

PSYN

2110 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 HEAL 2150                                              

PSYN 2125, 2130, 2145, 2160

BPN PSYN 2110 Fundamentals of Health Nursing (3) 3 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 2150                                              

PSYN 2125, 2130, 2145, 2160

Barb and Nicole

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma

2125 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 HEAL 2150                                                 

PSYN 2110, 2130, 2145, 2160

HEAL 1180 Introduction to Health Research (3) 3 Sep-22 Feb-22 Tess and Kim

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;

2130 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 HEAL 2150                                               

PSYN 2110, 2125, 2145, 2160

PSYN 2145

Mental Health Nursing Practice 1: General Nursing 

(4) 96 hours 3 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 2150                                               

PSYN 2110, 2125, 2145, 2160

Tess

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

DSM; Multiple charting formats, PYXIS; Cerner; MSE; Suicide Risk assessment; Suicide Prevention; 

Motivational Interviewing; Substace Use Assessment (CIWA; COWS; MOCA; Narcan Training; Suboxone 

/Methadone; Trauma/Triggers; TB Testing; Boundary Setting; De-escilation: Immunization Course and 

Administration; Med Reconstitution

2145 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 HEAL 2150                                             

PSYN 2110, 2125, 2130, 2160

HEAL 2150 Laboratory Practice: Basic Nursing Skills (3) 3 Sep-22 Feb-22 Kim and Mary

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

2160 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 HEAL 2150                                                     

PSYN 2110, 2125, 2130, 2145

PSYN 2125 Pharmacology Theory: Gneeral Pharmacology (3) 3 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 2150                                                 

PSYN 2110, 2130, 2145, 2160

Kim

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

2230 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 2145, 2160

ANTH 2163                                                  

HEAL 2110, 2250                                                   

PSYN 2245

PSYN 2230

Health and Healing 1: Medical/Surgical Challenges 

(3) 4 Sep-22 Feb-22

PSYN 2145, 2160
HEAL 2150                                                     

PSYN 2110, 2125, 2130, 2145

Kim and Mary

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

2245 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 2145, 2160                                                     

HEAL 2150

ANTH 2163                                                       

HEAL 2110, 2250                                                      

PSYN 2230

PSYN 2245

Mental Health Nursing Practice 2: Medical/Surgical 

Nursing (4) 140 hours 4 Sep-22 Feb-22

PSYN 2145, 2160                                                     

HEAL 2150

HEAL 2150                                                     

PSYN 2110, 2125, 2130, 2145

Kim and Mary

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

Med Admin; IV admin Push, assessment; IV starts: Blood and Blood Products; Alaris Pump Module; 

Parenteral Nutrition; Ipidural and Controlled analgesia; 

3130 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 2230, 2245                                       

HEAL 2250

HEAL 3101                                               

PSYC 3920                                                             

PSYN 3145

PSYN 2130 Interpersonal Comminicaiton 1 (3) 4 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 2150                                               

PSYN 2110, 2125, 2145, 2160

Nicole

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma; Cognitive Behavioral Therapy; Psychodynamic Group 

Therapy; Motivational Interviewing Deescalation Techniques; Counselling Methodologies - Delivered in 

a laddering and unfolding manner; therapeutic relationships

3210 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3130, 3145
HEAL 3180                                            PSYN 

3211, 3225, 3245

HEAL 2250 Laboratory Practice 2: Advanced Nursing Skills (3) 4 Sep-22 Feb-22 Kim and Mary

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

·Chest tubes; Central Venous Catheter Care and Assessments; Unconscious client; Diminishing level of 

consciousness; Stroke, cardiac arrest; Gastrointestinal bleed;  Anaphylaxis; Sepsis; Falls; Suicide; 

Delirium, Dementia, Alzheimer’s; Post-partum hemorrhage; Med Admin; IV admin Push, assessment; IV 

starts: Blood and Blood Products; Alaris Pump Module; Parenteral Nutrition; Ipidural and Controlled 

analgesia; 

3211 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3130, 3145
HEAL 3180                                                            

PSYN 3210, 3225, 3245

HEAL 2110 Indigenous Health (3) 4 Sep-22 Feb-22 Tess

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

This course will root indigenous content for each course 

3225 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3130, 3145
HEAL 3180                                            PSYN 

3210, 3245, 3211

PSYN 3130

Health and Healing 2: Acute Mental Health Nursing 

Challenges (3) 5 Sep-22 Feb-22

PSYN 2145, 2160                                                     

HEAL 2150

HEAL 3101                                               

PSYC 3920                                                             

PSYN 3145

Tess

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma

3245 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3130, 3145,                                     

HEAL 3101

HEAL 3180                                            PSYN 

3210, 3211, 3225

PSYN 3145

Mental Health Nursing Practice 3: Acute MH Nursing 

(4) 140 hrs Psych 5 Sep-22 Feb-22 Tess

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

Refer to PSYN 2145 - Laddering complexity of approaches and interventions. 

4110 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22
HEAL 3180                                            

PSYN 3210, 3211, 

3225, 3245

PHIL 3010                                                                 

PSYN 4145                                                    

SOCI 3345

PSYN 3225 Mental Health Leadershp  (3) 5 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 3180                                            

PSYN 3211, 

3225, 3245

HEAL 3180                                            

PSYN 3210, 3245, 3211

Barb

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

4145 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22
HEAL 3180                                             

PSYN 3210, 3211, 

3225, 3245

PHIL 3010                                                     

PSYN 4110                                             SOCI 

3345

PSYN 3125 Pharmacology Theory : Psychopharmacology (3) 5 Sep-22 Feb-22 Kim

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

4245 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22
PHIL 3010                                                           

PSYN 4110, 4145                                  

SOCI 3345

Heal 3350

Laboratory Pracice 3: Interpersonal Communication 

Skills (3) 5 Sep-22 Feb-22 Kim

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

PSYN 3230

Health and Healing 3: Comminity and Global MH 

Nursing Challenges (3) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22 Tess

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

Course Outlines to be approved by FoH Curriculum only PSYN 3210 Continuum of Addictions and Mental Health (3) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 3180                                            

PSYN 3211, 

3225, 3245

HEAL 3180                                            

PSYN 3211, 3225, 3245

Tess and Kim

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma; Prescriptive Authority; Portions of Provincial Opioid 

Addiction Treatment Support Program

Deadline for Course Outlines to be approved by Program: 1-Mar-22 PSYN 3245

Mental Health Nursing Pracie 4: Comminity Mental 

Health (4)  ( 120 HOURS (Community) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22

PHIL 3010                                                     

PSYN 4110                                             

SOCI 3345

Keith

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

Deadline for Course Outlines to be presented to FoH Curriculum (only requiring FoH Curriculum approval): 1-Apr-22 PSYN 3430 Interpersonal Comminicaiton 2(3) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22 Nicole

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;  

Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma

Course Outlines to be approved by SSCC PSYC 2350 Psychopathology (3) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22 NIL

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

Deadline for Course Outlines to be approved by Program: 1-Jan-22 PSYN 4110

Health and Healing 4: Child & Adolescent MH 

Nursing (3) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 3180                                            

PSYN 3211, 3225, 3245

Tess and Kim

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma

Deadline for Course Outlines to be approved by FoH Curriculum 1-Feb-22 PSYN 3211

Contemporary Perspectives in Mental Health 

Nursing (3) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 3180                                            

PSYN 3211, 

3225, 3245

HEAL 3180                                                            

PSYN 3210, 3225, 3245

Barb and Nicole

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma

Course Outlines to be approved by SSCC (course outline updates only & not attached to Program changes): 1-Apr-22 PSYN 4145

Mental Health Nursing Practice 5: Speciality MH 

Nursing (4) 160 hrs (Specialtiy) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22

HEAL 3180                                             

PSYN 3210, 

3211, 3225, 

3245

PHIL 3010                                                     

PSYN 4110                                             

SOCI 3345

Barb and Nicole

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

Prescriptive Authority; Portions of Provincial Opioid Addiction Treatment Support Program

HEAL 3180 Health Research Methods (3) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22 Kim and Tess

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

Published in KPU Library: 1-May-22 PHIL  3010 Healthcare Ethics  (3) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22 Keith

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each 

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

PSYN 4245 Preceptorship (10) 8 Sep-22 Feb-22

PHIL 3010                                                           

PSYN 4110, 4145                                  

SOCI 3345

Tess Nicole and Keith

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies 

90

Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing)

Indigenous and inclusive language and content

Trauma Informed Care

Intergenerational Trauma

Opiate Agonsist Treatment

Prescriptive Legislation

Violence Prevention

Non Crisis Violence Inervention

Mental Health Act

Criticial Skills List for each course (in addtion to competency Checklist

Development of Clinical Practice Guide for each semester.  First page will be current faculty contact infromation and include course description, evaluation and competencies

Course guides for each clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; 

Standing Item each BPN faculty meeting - Discuss on resources or support.  Identify individual support requimrents and group soupprts such as guests an inservices  - this can be added to profesional development



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

 

 

 

AC13 Revision of BPN Qualifications for Faculty 

Members 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



 
 
Faculty Council – Faculty of Health        October 12, 2021 

Faculty of Health 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University  

 

RE: Revision of BPN Qualifications for Faculty Members  

 

Faculty Council, 

 

The BPN program, Faculty of Health, KPU is submitting a request for revision of Qualifications 

for faculty members teaching in the Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program. 

 

In accordance with Policy AC13 B.4: 

 Each educational administrative division of its Faculty Council will review its list of 

 qualifications for faculty positions within its area of jurisdiction on an annual basis and 

 present any chances to the Senate for its consideration.  Information to be provided 

 should include, but is not limited to, the following: 

 

a. Name of Educational administration decision 

b. Name of Department 

c. Name of Programs 

d. Qualifications Required  

 

 

The current BPN Faculty Qualifications are: 

 

Discipline  / Program Academic Professional Teaching  Experience 

Bachelor of Psychiatric 

Nursing (BPN) 

Master’s 

Degree 

(PhD 

preferred) 

Eligible for 

practicing 

membership 

with CRPNBC 

and/or CRNBC 

with no limits, 

no conditions, 

no terms  

 Related work 

experience. 

Psychiatric 

education and 

experience is 

recommended 

 

 

The proposed amendments to the BPN Faculty Qualifications are:   

 

Discipline  / 

Program 

Academic Professional Teaching  Experience 

Bachelor of 

Psychiatric 

Nursing (BPN) 

Master’s 

Degree 

(PhD 

preferred) 

Eligible for practicing 

membership with 

BCCNM as a 

Registered Psychiatric 

Qualified to 

fulfill all 

teaching 

responsibilities 

of the program  

Minimum of 

five years of 

practice 

experience and 

current 



 
 

Nurse with no limits, 

conditions or terms  

which includes 

RPN entry-level 

competencies to 

meet the 

standards of 

practice 

competence in 

their area of 

teaching  

 

The proposed amendments are taken directly from BCCNM Psychiatric Nursing Education 

Standards and Indicators found here: 

https://www.bccnm.ca/Documents/education_program_review/RPN_EPR_Standards_Indicators.

pdf 

 

Standard 4 States: 

 

Faculty  

The quality, expertise and number of faculty provide students with the support necessary to 

achieve program goals, gain the RPN entry-level competencies and meet the standards of 

practice. 

 INDICATORS:  

4.1 There is an adequate number of qualified faculty to achieve program goals.  

4.2 All psychiatric nursing courses are taught by Registered Psychiatric Nurses with current 

practicing registration.  

4.3 Faculty hold a qualification that is higher than the qualification for which their students are 

studying (or exceptions must be justified).  

4.4 Faculty are qualified to fulfill their teaching responsibilities, including a minimum of five 

years of practice experience and current competence in their area of teaching,  

4.5 Faculty serve as positive role models for students.  

4.6 New faculty are provided a comprehensive orientation to their roles and responsibilities.  

4.7 Faculty are required to maintain their competence and participate in professional 

development opportunities.  

4.8 Faculty use current research in teaching and learning.  

4.9 There is institutional support for a scholarly environment that models a culture of inquiry 

with opportunities for faculty research and student engagement in scholarship.  

4.10 There is a leadership development plan that fosters consultative leadership and succession 

planning to enable the growth and development of faculty.  

4.11 There is ongoing evaluation of the teaching effectiveness of faculty. 

 

Submitted on behalf of the BPN Program 

 
Tess Kroeker ADPN; BHS(PN); MBA; RPN 

Chair, Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program 

Faculty of Health, KPU 

https://www.bccnm.ca/Documents/education_program_review/RPN_EPR_Standards_Indicators.pdf
https://www.bccnm.ca/Documents/education_program_review/RPN_EPR_Standards_Indicators.pdf


 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C 

 

 

Summary of Program Revision  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Program Revision Summary BPN 

SSR – KPU 

 

Content of this summary have been used from the submission to BCCNM for the first annual letter 

following program review.  In addressing both the BCCNM program Review and KPU Program Review, 

the BPN has responded as follows:   

 

 

 The BPN responded to the feedback of the reviewers, faculty and students immediately following 

program review and began to examine course revision or supplements to bridge knowledge gaps 

and reinforce sequential learning. 

 Course content was amended with the insertion of theory, skills, and concepts to reinforce 

sequential mapping of concepts toward competency.   

 The BPN team determined the current configuration of the program courses was not conducive to 

comprehensively addressing all barriers of sequencing and scaffolding competencies.   

 Structural changes to the program were drafted including comprehensive consultation with the 

Faculty of Health leadership, Ministry of Advanced Education, KPU Curriculum Committee, KPU 

Registrar’s Office, Student Financial Aid and KPU Senate Standing Committee on Curriculum.  

The outcome of the consultation is that the structural changes proposed may proceed as the 

changes result in minimal content change beyond the structural configuration of courses. 

 The revisions to the program structure received approval from KPU Senate Standing Committee on 

Curriculum in April of 2021.  In addition to continuing to map the current version of the program 

(which has received program approval), the BPN team will finalize the competency mapping of the 

structurally revised version of the program.   

 The revised program is intended to activate in September 2022 or May 2023. 

 Of the content adjustments addressed, BPN is using this opportunity to respond to industry trends 

with the intention of offering a refined, contemporary, and responsive program to meet the needs 

of the clients served by our psychiatric nursing graduates (Primary Care Nursing, Substance Use 

Management/Opiate Agonist Treatment).   

   

 

In order to ensure theoretical concepts have been scaffolded in a matter which supports the student’s 

exposure to clinical placements with theoretical acumen and psychomotor skills, the order in which the 

program’s courses are delivered has been revised.  In addition to the structural revision, course content with 



 
minor changes accounts for adjustments ensuring students are exposed to trends representative of today’s 

mental health consumers.  The program is aware to effectively sustain the existing program (upon which 

the review is based) in addition to the ongoing work to establish a very effective program design which 

addresses indictors which have been only partially met.  Mapping both the existing program and the revised 

program will ensure a solid understanding of competency exposure in theory, practice and lab and enable 

significant improvements in the structural design scaffolding and delivery of the program’s curricular 

sequence in continuing to meet Entry to Practice Standards (BCCNM, 2014) and Clinical Competencies.  

 

The structural changes of the program in response to the program review is displayed in the following 

image comparing the current program with the proposed and now approved program course structure and 

sequencing.   

 



 



 
 

 

Highlights with rationale: 

 

 The health foundations certificate will be dissolved and many of the current courses from health 

foundations will be moved to program prerequsites.  Functionally, this does not impact nor change the 

integrity of the program as students currently require completion of the health foundations certificate in 

order to apply to the BPN Program.  In the revision, more generalized course options, also transferrable 

will enhance access to the program for students regionally, nationally and internationally compared to 

the more specific health foundations courses required previously.  A majority of the health foundations 

courses have been brought back into the program (lab courses) or remain as prerequise electives for 

application into the program.  Some of the prerequsite courses are established as firm requirments as 

they are prerequsite to higher level courses offered in later semesters of the program.  Prerequsites listed 

outside of the required requsite courses offer students a range of choice which also enhances the 

desiability of KPU’s BPN and mandate of the Ministry of Advanced Education.    

 Biology 1160, 1260 remain as prerequsites in order to continue to minimize attrition once students are 

accepted into the program (semester 3). 

 The initial Mental Health Nursing Course PSYN PSYN 2110 offered to our semeser three group builds 

upon the former psychosocial rehabiliation course (PSYN 2160) with content revision to enhance 

preparation for clincial (PSYN 2145) which specifially includes addition of Diagnositic Criteria – DSM 

of major mental disorders, etiology and intervetnions, simulated acute psychiatric mental status exam, 

substance use management, theoretical instruction on comorbitities with compex patient presenations. 

 The content revision remains with the current verson of the program and will be included in the revised 

verion of the program to account for strucural scaffolding of theoreical content and competency in a 

systematic matter.   

 Addition of a comprehensive communications section which spans three semesters including two theory 

courses and lab for communications (PSYN 2130 – Interpersonal Communication, HEAL 3350 – 

Laboratory Practice 3: Interpersonal Communications Skills, PSYN 3430: Interpersonal Communication 

2). 

 Addition of PSYC 2350 Psychopathology (Semester 6) and Prerequisites of PSYC 1100 and PSYCH 

1200 in Semester 1.  Doing so best prepares our graduates as they enter mental health placements with 

complex client presentations in Semester 7 and 8 clinical practice rotations.  

 

Courses Renamed:   

PSYN 2110 Essentials of Psychiatric Nursing > PSYN 2110 Fundamentals of Mental Health Nursing 

PSYN 2145 Psychiatric/Mental Health Nursing Practice 1  > PSYN 2145 Mental Health Nursing Practice1: 

General Nursing (PSYN 2160 Theory Absorbed)  

HEAL 2150 Laboratory Practice 2  > Health 2150 Laboratory Practice: Basic Nursing Skills (Absorbed 

HEAL 1150 – Personal Care Skils Lab 1) 

PSYN 2130 Communication > PSYN 2130 Interpersonal Communicaiton  

PSYN 2125 Pharmacology and other therapeutics > PSYN 2125 Pharmacology Theory: General 

Pharmacology  

PSYN 2230 Health and Healing > Health and Healing 1: Medical/Surgical Challenges  



 
HEAL 2250 Laboratory Practice 3 > HEAL 2250 Laboratory Practice 2: Advanced Nursing Skills 

PSYN 3130 Health and Healing > PSYN 3130 Health and Healing 2: Acute Mental Health Nursing 

Challenges 

PSYN 3145 Psychiatic/Mental Health Nurisng Practice 3 > PSYN 3145 Mental Health Nursing Practice 3: 

Acute MH Nursing  

PSCY 3921 Aging > PSYC 2350 Psychopathology Replaces – Students have expsure in other semesters to 

aging specific to nursing and needed to enhance their exposure to mental disorders and abnormal psycholgy. 

PSYN 3225 Leadership and Management > PSYN 3225 Mental Health Leadership 

PSYN 3210 Psychiatric/Mental Health Nursing:Global Health > PSYN 3210 Continnum of Addicitons and 

Mental Health – Course Revision to Include Subtance Use Medicine and Prescriptive Scope 

PSYN 3211 Issues and Trends in Psychiatric/Mental Health Nursing > PSYN 3211 Contemporary 

Perspectives in Mental Health Nursing 

PSYN 4145 Consolodation > PSYN 4145 Mental Health Nursing: Speciality MH Nursing 

PSYN 4110 Child and Adolescent  > PSYN 4110 Health and Healing 4: Child & Adolescent MH Nursing  

 

 

 

New Course Content in addtion to Psychopathology include HEAL 3350 Laboratory Practice 3: 

Interpersonal Skills and PSYN 3430 Interpersonal Communication 

 

Program Response: Theory and clinical lab skills within the program are meeting Entry Level 

Competencies within the program, however not always through a sequential threading or scaffolding 

structure.  Following program evaluation and through consultation with students and faculty, the program  

has begun the process of mapping theoretical competencies and adjusting course content to ensure 

theoretical content is presented to students prior to engaging in clinical practice rotations.  The work of 

theoretical mapping is happening with the current program and the program presented in its revised format 

to address the program review indicators, however, more importantly the sequential application of theory 

for the students as they progress through the program.  One such example mentioned in the previous 

program response are the clinical placements established for psychosocial rehabilitation find clientele 

present with complex needs with a variety of concurrent health conditions.  The program responded by 

bringing forward theoretical content on major mental disorders in semester three and then expanding the 

complexity of the concepts for care thereafter in the remaining mental health nursing courses.   

 

Example 1: 

PSYN 2160 Psychosocial Rehabilitation (Theory) is a course which introduces students to concepts 

including: 

 Principles of Psychosocial Rehabilitation (PSR) in the context of psychiatric nursing  

 Summarizing knowledge and influence of group dynamics to support clients to advance their health and 

well-being at the individual, family and community levels  

 Examining ways to promote the physical and mental health of clients to prevent disease, illness and 

injury 

 Examination of obstacles and barriers that inhibit optimal recovery 

 Analysis of personal and theoretical meanings of health, healing and health promotion 

 Exploring the role Appreciate the role of the family as a component of treatment and rehabilitation  



 
 

Following program review, with the consultation of faculty and students, content brought forward from later 

courses included   

 Reflect on the nature of severe and persistent mental illness 

 Identify the names and symptomology of major mental disorders DSM Diagnostic Criteria 

 British Columbia College of Nursing Professionals (BCCNP) Psychiatric Nursing Professional 

Standards: https://www.bccnp.ca/Standards/Pages/Default.aspx 

 Symptoms and Etiology of Serious Mental Illness 

 Mental Health Act 

 Further development of MSE, Terminology, Trauma Informed Care, Motivational Interviewing 

 Co-occurring Disorders and Integrated treatment 

 Community Treatment, Assertive Community and Case Management Models 

 Hospitalization and Re-hospitalization 

 

In semester 3 along with PSYN 2160, the students are accessing their first clinical practice rotation (PSYN 

2145 Psychiatric/Mental Health Nursing Practice).  Although the rotation is focused toward long term care 

agencies, we are seeing increasingly complex client presentations encountering co-occurring health 

conditions.  In addition to the students benefiting from early exposure to greater detail of mental disorders, 

diagnosis, and interventions prior to semester 4 (First Acute Psych Inpatient Rotation), the students are best 

prepared to intervene effectively in semester 3 with the content revisions of PSYN 2160 for patients with 

complex mental health and comorbid presentations.   

  

The first stage of successfully mapping concepts is the alignment of courses and consideration of the scope 

of the curricular concepts in the courses timing (semester) and activities (skills, scope of practice, theory, 

lab) of when the course are offered.  BPN has taken a great deal of time to create a course and program 

structure which will sustain a very streamlined approach to unfolding of concepts in an increasingly 

complex skill base manner through course progression to meet entry to practice requirements.  Per the 

recommendations of program review, mapping and scaffolding of concepts began straight away (February 

2000).  This resulted in the determination that a structural revision of the courses was required, including 

the elimination of the Health Foundations Suite of courses which presented a barrier to scaffolding 

concepts for the program.   

 

The program has responded to the matter of mapping and sequencing of theoretical concepts within the 

program specific to the need of clearly articulating Professional Practice Requirements in theory, 

laboratory, and clinical practice.  As a result of the program structure, the response of the BPN program has 

been comprehensive toward the response of this unmet indicator surfacing within numerous standards of 

program review.  The BPN team facilitated a great deal of consultation and made tremendous efforts to 

create a program and course structure conducive to an efficient program delivery of concepts in a 

sequential manner.  In the next annual letter, the program mapping will be presented in detail for the 

current program (represented in this program review) in addition to the revised structure of the current 

program also preened in this response.   

 

The Dean’s Office has revised the orientation to new faculty with materials included in the following links.  

The resources have been created in collaboration with other departments and the Vice Provost.  Links 

available to faculty include practical resources in addition to information related to contacting other 

https://www.bccnp.ca/Standards/Pages/Default.aspx


 
departments available to support teaching and learning activities.   

Keep Teaching Resources 

Faculty and Instructional Staff Handbook 

Navigating Moodle-New User Basics 

Course Presentation - Navigation Video 

Video - Navigating Big Blue Button Webinars in Moodle  

 

 

Tess Kroeker ADPN; BHS(PN); MBA; RPN 

Chair, Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program 

Faculty of Health 

Tess.Kroeker@kpu.ca 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning/keep-teaching
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/fh/SitePages/Home.aspx
https://kputlcommons.freshdesk.com/support/solutions/articles/43000569898-new-to-moodle-moodle-basics-
https://media.kpu.ca/media/Kaltura+Capture+recording+-+April+5th+2020%2C+6A54A21+pm/0_jeop0pir
https://kputlcommons.freshdesk.com/support/solutions/articles/43000553543-bigbluebutton-basics-recorded-webinar
mailto:Tess.Kroeker@kpu.ca


 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
                        Reviewers’ Comments: First Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

1 
 

  
PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program 
 
Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 

 
Reviewer #1: Wonderful clear and actioned first annual review. It is clear that the faculty and overall 
department have clearly addressed the needs of the department through the steps outlined in this annual 
follow up report. I commend the program for their thoughtful consideration of the philosophy and the 
competencies within the program foundation and how they are considered as an ongoing action. Covid 19 has 
hit programs that are in program review very hard over the last two years, especially within the strategies 
that require collaboration with stakeholders or practicums. I just have some comments and suggested actions 
below related to these dates and delays that may be ongoing due to this. Please note that the dates should be 
updated and there may be need to be a second annual follow up due to this. Wonderfully written. 
 
Reviewer #2: The report reflects the serious and comprehensive view that the Faculty of Health has taken at 
the important task of revising an entire program. The details are very specific and well laid out. I found the 
Critical Skills checklist in Appendix A to be very helpful in determining the quality of the changes proposed 
and the work done to date. The areas that were outlined earlier have been addressed. Not all the steps have 
been completed, but where there are lags, the reasons for delay have been identified. Because work on these 
revisions continues in the coming year, the committee may consider requesting a report for next year as well.  

 

The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  

 

☒          Reviewer #1 & #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 

☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 

☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 

Review current philosophy and with faculty 
collaboration establish theoretical constructs which 
support health interventions for the client in meeting 
the BCCNM competencies. Page 1 
 

Change date range to reflect updated date of 
completion from Feb.2021 to Feb. 2022 (please note 
that this may require a second annual report) 

Embed revised philosophy statement and program 
foundation with theory, structure to health care 
approaches with clients into all course materials and 

Update completion date as goal is partially met.  
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
                        Reviewers’ Comments: First Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

2 
 

program resources. Example will be Betty Neuman’s 
Holistic Health assessment recognizing a person 
composed of 5 variables of health (psychological, 
developmental, physiological, sociocultural and 
spiritual) in dynamic interaction with their 
environment. Page 2 
 

Page 3: First goal has a completion date before the 
start date (Dec 2021 then Jan 2021).  

 

A list of “critical skills” such as MSE, Trauma Informed 
Care, Suicide Risk page 4 
 

In Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 
It is listed as partially met and ongoing. This needs an 
updated date to reflect new timelines. 
 

Engage faculty and the dean’s office in discussion of 
whom and which agencies should be involved. This 
may include clinical agencies, members of 
associations, interest groups and government. Page 6 
 

In Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 
It is listed as partially met. It looks like the program 
has started several engagements and has listed in 
detail the outcomes. If you want to continue to list 
this goal as partially met, please add more details to 
the Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy and 
update the dates and timeline. 
 

Efforts to build capacity and scope for IPAC continue. 
Page 6 
 

Was this strategy completed on Nov. 2020, or are you 
continuing it? 

Review and implement a strategy (calendar schedule) 
for formal and informal information/data collection 
within the context of engaging with stakeholders. 
This will include regular scheduled meetings (IPAC), 
special consultation meetings, survey schedule for 
employers, alumni. Potential to establish new survey 
tools to elicit information useful for program design 
and integrity. Page 8 
 

Update completion date as goal is partially met.  
 

exploring revision to current programming or the 
establishment of new programs. Page 9 
 

In Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 
It is listed as partially met. It looks like the program 
has started a new strategy outcome from this, does 
this strategy need to be updated and look at in 
second annual report? 

Establish, document and enforce a clear plan for 
curriculum/ program review. Page 10 
 

Change date range to reflect updated date of 
completion from May 2021 to a new date as it is 
partially met (please note that this may require a 
second annual report) 

 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
                        Reviewers’ Comments: First Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

3 
 

 
 

MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or 
remove rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #)  

Overall great job 

p. 6- small grammatical change- the sentence correction: 
 
been ongoing, however; even though multiple discussions were had, agencies often are hesitant to join the 
IPAC committee due to ongoing pressures with managing Covid 19 protocols. 

p. 7 Title change- This should read: Create sub committees or working groups as necessary to ensure the 
program is responsive to community heath trends and needs. 

 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: October 30, 2019 
 
Date of External Review Site Visit: February 3, 2020 
 
Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: November 25, 2020 
 
Date Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: December 22, 2021 

 

First Progress Report 

 
 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: September 2020 

 
STRATEGY 1: Further establish or formulate a revised philosophy for the BPN program which will include revision of language and structural foundations to health, assessment, planning and 

interventions which anchor the entire program and integration of Psychiatric Nursing Practice Competencies. The philosophy will be rooted in Nursing Theory. 

 
GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: The program requires further development of its program philosophy and the language embedded in the program materials (stating psychiatric 

nurses’ vs mental health practitioners). Embedded in the philosophy statement, a framework, clearly established must be articulated and threaded throughout the program (curriculum framework). 

 
 

Led Start on 
Complete  

 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy By Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress  

by (M/YY)  

 (M/YY) 
 

 

    
 

Review current philosophy and with faculty collaboration establish BPN   

Strategy to review has been partially met.  Implementation of 
new 

 

theoretical constructs which support health interventions for the client in Chair/Curr   philosophy will be completed by January 2022.  Review of 
 

meeting the BCCNM competencies. Chair All   current philosophy began in the early part of 2021 and 
 

 Faculty   continues presently.  This strategy process is in the final stages 
 

    of articulation.  The original timeline was not met due to 
 

  
Nov 2020 Feb 20221 

challenges faced within the program in a response to the Covid 
 

  19 pandemic.  The bulk of the course review and revision  

    
 

    efforts will activate in the period of December 2021-February 
 

    2022 and the finalized philosophy of the program will guide the 
 

    theoretical constructs health interventions for the clients served 
 

    in meeting BCCNM competencies. 
 

     
 

 
 
 

 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 1 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

Ensure all language within course materials and program description state    Met.  Faculty have been aware to and are updating each course 
 

Psychiatric Nurse or Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Curr. Chair   to ensure description and reference to the profession uses the 
 

    specific language of Psychiatric Nurse or Bachelor of 
 

    Psychiatric Nursing. This includes course or program materials 
 

    for the current BPN program version and the revised BPN 
 

  Nov 2020 Apr 2021 program version.  As the new program version will be offered 
 

    as early as September, 2022, and work currently underway, this 
 

    strategy will be completed in all course review and revision. 
 

    The BPN, through the process of program revision has an 
 

    established checklist which serves both as a guide and audit tool 
 

    to ensure QA strategies are achieved.  (See Appendix A) 
 

Embed revised philosophy statement and program foundation with    Partially met.  Courses for the revised program remain under 
 

theory, structure to health care approaches with clients into all course    revision with this quality assurance strategy to be administered 
 

materials and program resources. Example will be Betty Neuman’s Curr. Chair   in each new course presentation and embedded into the 
 

Holistic Health assessment recognizing a person composed of 5    theoretical and applied competencies of the program.  The 
 

variables of health (psychological, developmental, physiological, socio -    philosophical foundational elements for the BPN program have 
 

cultural and spiritual) in dynamic interaction with their environment.    been a subject of great consideration and discussion among the 
 

    BPN faculty.  Considerations with the revision of the program 
 

    philosophy relate to the historical foundations of the program 
 

    which have rooted the program for many years and have 
 

    contributed to the success of BPN students and will also 
 

  
Dec 2020 Dec 2021 

include a contemporary philosophy which represents 
 

  advancements in theoretical and philosophical structures for  

    
 

    psychiatric nursing programs.  Each course presentation 
 

    produced will have the revised philosophy statement embedded 
 

    into the course with links to health care approaches and 
 

    interventions with clients.  The next annual review presentation 
 

    will include examples of this QA indicator.  As the focused 
 

    work for all program revision, competency mapping in theory, 
 

    clinical and lab skills will activate fully in January of 2022, the 
 

    Philosophical principles rooting the program foundation will be 
 

    finalized in late December 2021 or early January 2022 before 
 

    the bulk of the course revision initiates. 
 

 
 

 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 2 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

STRATEGY: 2, 3, 4: Ensuring students are well prepared for clinical in all semesters with clear course expectations, skills they can practice in clinical and ensure this is articulated to the 

clinical agency through clinical practice manuals for the relevant semester. This includes the assurance that faculty have been adequately prepared to enter clinical, have oriented to the unit(s) 

and visit the students according to the teaching mode outlined in the collective agreement. The orientation manual for the semester will include contact information and communication 

strategies between faculty and the agency. 

 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: 2: Ensure the students are well and best prepared for entry to practice by focusing on key psychiatric nursing skillsets such 
 
as mental health assessments. 3: Ensure all faculty provide adequate and the intended support and supervision to students during clinical placement. This includes screening students and 

recommending appropriate clinical placements, orientation to the clinical practice areas and engagement with agency team members. 4: Prepare and provide updated manuals to the clinical 

practice units especially preceptor placements which outline the student’s knowledge/skill level for that placement, explore opportunities to engage with the clinical agencies on a more frequent 

basis and ensure evaluations and surveys are completed to enhance engagement and program development 
 

 
Led 

Start on 
Complete by 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
 Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress  

by 
 (M/YY)  

 (M/YY) 
 

 

    
 

Increase communication between the BPN and clinical agency. This will be    Met.  The BPN chair has engaged with all faculty attending the 
 

achieved initially by establishing a practice orientation for each clinical    site for orientation prior to initiating clinical.  Faculty arrange a 
 

experience. Traditionally the BPN would only provide this for preceptorship.    day of orientation at the site through the applicable manager or 
 

    clinical nurse educator (dependent upon the site). Our NR1 
 

    contracts accommodate compensation for this to occur.  This 
 

 All Dec 
Jan 20221 

will be an ongoing requirement for clinical placements within 
 

 faculty 2021 the BPN, in semesters particularly for 3,4,5 practicum.  Since  

  
 

    the time of program review, BPN faculty have been orienting to 
 

    the clinical practice units for each clinical rotation.  Although 
 

    this was a practice carried out often previously, it was not being 
 

    done with 100% consistency.  Since program review, it is the 
 

    expectation that faculty will orient to the unit before completing 
 

 
 

 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 3 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

     any shifts with the students.  This will occur even in the case 
 

     where faculty have consistently attended clinical practice 
 

     placements year to year on the same unit.  This expectation 
 

     allows faculty and the unit to become re-acquainted with the 
 

     faculty member, expectations, schedules, review of policy or 
 

     practices within the clinical agency. 
 

     Further, as we progress through a program revision process, the 
 

     BPN will establish a semester specific course guide which will 
 

     be shared with the clinical agency.  In this course guide, a 
 

     summary of the nature of the clinical practice goals and 
 

     objectives will be shared, including all contact information for 
 

     the assigned instructor.  This guide is particularly important for 
 

     the later semesters when faculty are not on-site and includes 
 

     semesters 6,7,8. 
 

A list of “critical skills” such as MSE, Trauma Informed Care, Suicide Risk     

Partially met and remains in progress.  Critical skills checklists 
have been embedded into  

 

Assessment and Prevention (not exhaustive), professionalism (from     competency checklist that are used in every clinical and 
 

competencies) will be highlighted and purposely built into courses with a     psychiatric theory course where the essential skills are 
 

dedicated plan for theory, and practice by faculty along with carrying these     highlighted.  This information is contained in the course 
 

elements over into additional courses for review. The BPN program will also     presentation.  The critical skills lists have been created with the 
 

be seeking resources for faculty specifically related to Online Teaching Skill     intention of highlighting the skills focus for the course and 
 

Development to ensure all aspects of the program are delivered in an     offers a mechanism to visualize where competencies are 
 

effective manner. Courses previously offered online which have been     addressed in learning and the process of scaffolding complex 
 

determined to require classroom instruction will be moved to the Chair, 
Dec 

  skills spanning multiple courses.  The checklist is not intended 
 

classroom once the global pandemic subsides. Curr. 
March Dec 
20221 

 

to be used as an evaluation tool as the elements are contained 

 

2020 
 

 

 Chair 
  within the scope of the competency document, but to highlight  

    
 

     the linkage of the skills focus with the specific theoretical, lab, 
 

     or clinical practice rotation courses. 
 

     In relation to resources specific to teaching online, BPN has 
 

     worked with the Learning Commons to access resources and 
 

     support at the request of faculty. 
 

     (https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning/teaching- 
 

          

     resources). Additionally, BPN is integrating a standing item 
 

        

     within the BPN faculty meetings to identify needs for support 
 

 
 

 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 4 

https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning/teaching-resources
https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning/teaching-resources


Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

    and resources. The BPN will refer individual faculty to 
 

    resources or provide guest speakers or in-services to faculty 
 

    when these areas of resources and support are identified.  The 
 

    quality improvement plan remains ongoing as we are still 
 

    developing courses for the revised program. 
 

Faculty will work with the agencies to participate in appropriate orientation. Staff    Met and is an ongoing expectation.  As highlighted above the 
 

who visit students in later semesters will document the day and time they visit    BPN has made it a requirement for faculty to attend agency 
 

students in clinical. In addition to the orientation manual, the expectation for all    orientation, including the completion of all online training 
 

faculty will be to discuss the student’s status and agency needs on at least one    modules prior to attending clinical.  This includes reviewing all 
 

occasion with the leadership team of the clinical practice unit.    agency training requirements on HSPNet prior to clinical and 
 

   
Beginning 

reporting completion of training as required including agency 
 

 All  audits.  The training is of particular importance in semester’s  

  with each  

 faculty 
 3,4,5 when faculty are working along with students on the  

 Jan 2020 semester  

 program clinical units.  It is not possible for faculty to orient to each  

  starting  

 chair 
 agency in the later semesters as they are supervising up to 20  

  January 2021  

   students.  At a minimum, with faculty both on site, remote, or  

    
 

    in an assignment with multiple placements, one formal meeting 
 

    will be arranged with the agency clinical leadership to discuss 
 

    expectations for faculty and student, learning needs, evaluation 
 

    and communication among parties.  This meeting will be 
 

    documented and submitted by faculty. 
 

 

STRATEGY 5: Increasing the scope of stakeholder contributions directly to the BPN from the health care and mental health care sectors. 

 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: This strategy supports goals 5: Increase the membership and scope of membership of the Integrated Program Advisory 

Committee for the BPN. This should include as many “sectors” as possible where the students access clinical practice placements and potential areas of employment. 6: Expand and 

maintain formal “stakeholder” connections and mechanisms which document the interactions for the purpose of relationship development to improve the quality and integrity of the 

program and to foster a reliable source of information for practice trends and ability to respond to those trends. This includes clinical practice agencies, health authority, nursing associations 

and government ministries. 
 
 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 

 
 

Led  
by 

 
 

Start on  
(M/YY) 

 
 

Complete  
by (M/YY) 

 
 

 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
 

 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 5 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

Engage faculty and the dean’s office in discussion of whom and which    Met. Partially met.  The BPN has, since program review, 
 

agencies should be involved. This may include clinical agencies, members of    engaged in efforts and actions to improve its stakeholder 
 

associations, interest groups and government.    contact and range of integration with health care and 
 

    mental health care sectors. Some of the activities include 
 

    appointment of KPU Student to the Board of Directors 
 

    NNPBC, Membership of Chair and KPU BPN Alumni in 
 

    the Canadian Federation of Mental Health Nurses, 
 

    appointment of KPU Chair to board of directors for Aces, 
 

    engagement with Fraser Health on Primary Care 
 

 
BPN Chair/ 

  Placement Initiative including a tour of a Surrey Primary 
 

   Care clinic and regular video conference with leaders  

 

Curr Chair Jan 2021 

December 
2021Dec 2021 

 

 responsible for activating the primary care clinic initiatives.  

 and Faculty 
  

 

   In December of 2021, the Dean FoH and BPN Chair will  

    
 

    engage the Ministry of Health in discussion under the 
 

    Pathway to Hope: A roadmap for making mental health 
 

    and addictions care better for people in British Columbia – 
 

    Report and Initiatives. 
 

    Recruitment for membership to the IPAC committee has 
 

    been ongoing, however;, even though multiple discussions 
 

    were had, agencies often are hesitant to join the IPAC 
 

    committee due to ongoing pressures with managing Covid 
 

    19 protocols. 
 

Reach out to those whom are decidedly critical in being a member of IPAC    

Met.  Those determined critical to continue with IPAC have 
been a continuous support of the program.  As the needs of 
Efforts to build capacity and scope for IPAC will remain 
ongoing as the health care needs of the public evolve.  
continue. 

 

    There has been a renewal of commitment with some of 
 

    the IPAC members, however, citing challenging times in 
 

    managing he Covid epidemic, some agencies with whom 
 

    the IPAC committee has benefited with representation are 
 

  Jan 2020 Nov 2020 wavering with commitment in the short term.  The BPN 
 

    continues to nurture these long-standing relationships and 
 

    will happily receive their return to the IPAC committee 
 

    when they feel they are able.  Additionally, the chair has 
 

    reached out to multiple agencies and sectors to request 
 

    participation in the IPAC committee.  Recently the 
 



 
 

 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 6 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

    invitation, including preliminary discussions, have gone to 
 

    individuals working in the brain science, health and 
 

    research sector and the secondary public school system. 
 

    In the new year, the Dean, FoH and BPN Chair have 
 

    secured a meeting with the Ministry of Mental Health and 
 

    Addictions.  During this meeting which will focus on the 
 

    Ministry goals for services within Mental Health and 
 

    Additions, we will request and invite representatives of the 
 

    Ministry to join our IPAC committee to better understand 
 

    their priorities and mandate to align our programming 
 

    offerings as appropriate. 
 

Create sub committee’s or working groups as necessary to ensure the program is    This strategy has not yet been met.  The BPN program has 
 

responsive to community heath trends and needs.    undergone substantive changes and is now in a process of 
 

    completing a significant program revision.  The program 
 

    revision has been approved at Senate Standing Committee 
 

    on Curriculum with a planned intake for May 2023 for the 
 

    new version of the program.  In a parallel consideration, 
 

    the health foundations pool of students has now been 
 

    depleted and we are hopeful for a May 2022 intake with 
 

    this being the last cohort to complete the current version 
 

    of the program.  Should there not be enough students to 
 

  
Jan 2020 

Dec 2020 & run an intake, this intake will be deferred to an exceptional 
 

  Jan 2021 intake for September 2022.  Further to this, through  

   
 

    recommendations both within the KPU program review 
 

    process, and the external program review, BPN has 
 

    amended policy AC13 in order that only registered 
 

    psychiatric nurses are teaching within the program (See 
 

    program approval standards, BCCNM) See Appendix B) 
 

    As such, we have been operating with 4.5 full time faculty, 
 

    one NR2 and committed contract faculty to root our 
 

    program.  Once through this period of flux, we intend to 
 

    fully staff the BPN program which will allow consistent 
 

    representation at key committee tables, including a 
 

 
 

 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 7 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

    subcommittee to ensure responsivity to community health 
 

    trends.  Short of this, the BPN has and remains involved 
 

    in key committees provincially and nationally allowing 
 

    regular and relevant exposure to the health trends 
 

    emerging within the health care system presently.  In the 
 

    new year, the BPN will be engaging with the Ministry of 
 

    Mental Health and Substance use for the purpose of 
 

    discussing the needs of the population requiring support 
 

    of our current program, potential for course content to be 
 

    addressed in addition to potentially looking at new 
 

    programming (Mental Health and Substance Use Worker) 
 

    with the support of our Mental Health and Substance use 
 

    professional faculty. 
 

Review and implement a strategy (calendar schedule) for formal and informal    Partially met. Review and establishment of a strategy is 
 

information/data collection within the context of engaging with stakeholders.    underway; however, a formalized schedule has not been 
 

This will include regular scheduled meetings (IPAC), special consultation    established. The BPN program has been working with OPA 
 

meetings, survey schedule for employers, alumni. Potential to establish new    since program review to identify survey options for 
 

survey tools to elicit information useful for program design and integrity.    stakeholders to allow exposure to critical information relating  
 

    to health care trends and the needs of the service providers in  
 

    the community.  Additionally, BPN has positioned itself to 
 

 BPN   engage with key stakeholders. Currently, BPN is engaged in 
 

 Chair/Curr   conversations with community public schools about clinical 
 

 Chair 

Feb 2020 

December 
2022Dec 
2021 

placement opportunities, working in collaboration with Fraser 
 

 Office of Health as the first nursing group in the province to engage in  

   
 

 Planning &   clinical practice opportunities in primary care clinics, meeting 
 

 Accountability   directly with the Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions in  
 

    the context of the Pathway to Hope report on Mental Health 
 

    and Substance use. FoH with the BPN faculty being key 
 

    contributors are working to respond to vulnerabilities in the 
 

    service of British Columbians within mental health and 
 

    substance use needs, along with best preparing mental health 
 

    practitioners to best serve the needs of a population with 
 

    comorbid health issues. This activity will take the form of 
 

 
 

 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 8 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 
 
 
 

 

expert consultation and the possibility of exploring revision to  
current programming or the establishment of new programs.  
Any changes to the current curriculum will be addressed at 
FOH Curriculum and Senate Accordingly.  In the process of 
program revision approved in July of 2021, the program is 
confident with the articulation of a comprehensive and 
contemporary program based on health trends occurring in 
our provincial communities.  Any activity of new 
programming will be done by the FoH and not have a direct 
impact upon the BPN unless there is the possibility of 
articulation into the current BPN program.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 9 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

STRATEGY 6: The BPN will develop an ongoing plan for curriculum review. Of note, the program will review and respond to the SSR and Quality Assurance Plan for the KPU review and 

BCCNM review with the current program whilst a parallel process will occur to prepare a formal program revision. Both processes will work toward addressing the recommendations outlined in 

the External Review Process and work toward creating an up-to date, highest quality Psychiatric Nursing program. 
 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: This strategy addresses Goals 7: The BPN will develop and implement an ongoing and clear plan for curriculum review 

and revision to keep curriculum current, consider resources necessary to effectively meet the plan and make recommendations as appropriate. The plan may also consider separate or unique 

admission criteria for the BPN specifically. Goal 8: Conduct a thorough curriculum review with competency mapping with each course presentation and pedagogy in BPN adjusted and 

supported for the purpose of best preparing students in all domains of learning within the program. (This QA Report recognizes this is the most significant portion of ERT and will formulate a 

majority of work and future activity). 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led Start on Complete 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 
 

by (M/YY) by (M/YY)  

  
 

     
 

Establish, document and enforce a clear plan for curriculum/ program    This work is partially met and remains ongoing with a 
 

review.    particular focus of time and resources dedicated to the 
 

 Curr. Chair Dec 2020 May 20221 revised BPN program, its courses and integration of 
 

    knowledge and skills in theory, lab and clinical practice 
 

    contexts. (See appendix A) 
 

With the plan for curriculum/program review, detail the nature of the work    Met. As above, this work is partially met and remains 
 

and the time commitment necessary for this work. The BPN team will    ongoing. (See Appendix A). This work will remain a 
 

develop a tracking document for regular curriculum review whereby the    priority for the BPN to prepare for a possible exceptional 
 

annual (minimum) and revisions out of industry need are detailed. The work BPN Chair/ 
Dec 2020 Dec 2021 

intake running the revised version of the program as early 
 

will be distributed among faculty on accountable time and the program may Curr. Chair as September 2022.  The document includes course  

  
 

petition for other resource support both within the department and by    revision and other critical program date commitments. 
 

engaging other departments or resources.    (Appendix C outlines the scope of the program revision) 
 

     
 

The BPN team will engage with Teaching and Learning for the purpose of    This QA activity is met and has an ongoing commitment 
 

supporting curriculum review and revision and faculty assignment of activities 
Chair/ Curr. 

  to remain engaged with Teaching and Learning associated 
 

within accountable time provisions as the first actions to resource dedication 
  with curriculum review and course revision.  This is the  

Chair Dean’s Jan 2021 Jan 2022  

of the work required. Following that, the BPN team may also consider BPN program’s top priority at the present time. Preceding  

Office 
  

 

approaching the dean’s office for more formalized support in the form of 
  this, a tremendous amount of work and time was  

   
 

time release for curriculum revision. The rationale for these actions account    expended on the program revision proposal itself. 
 

 
 
 
 
KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 10 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led Start on Complete 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 
 

by (M/YY) by (M/YY)  

  
 

     
 

for a majority of the program review deficits surround issues related to    Through the remaining days of December 2021, the BPN 
 

curriculum which is a resource intensive component. The integrity of the    is finalizing the assignment of faculty to the courses which 
 

program requires such a level of support and without dedicated resources to    require revision with the oversite of both the BPN Chair 
 

improve the quality of the program, the reputation of the university and    and BPN Curriculum Chair.  The BPN has been successful 
 

health of British Columbians may be compromised. The program may be    in securing dedicated time release for both the Mental 
 

expanding to create a Mental Health Care Worker Certificate which could    Health and Substance Use Support worker concept paper) 
 

provide the basis of one-time funding to achieve multiple program revision    January to April 2022) and release for a Curriculum Chair 
 

purposes.    from January to April 2022. 
 

    During the concentrated time of course revision, the BPN 
 

    Curriculum Chair will engage with Teaching and Learning 
 

    to support the work of course revision in addition to the 
 

    faculty contributions on the work.  With faculty numbers 
 

    below our regular assignment allocation (maternity leave 
 

    and recent resignation) the BPN will engage with the 
 

    dean’s office to ensure there is adequate support on the 
 

    priority work in preparing a quality revised version of the 
 

    BPN program.  Reference Appendix A 
 

Consider a process of BPN admissions that addresses the unique qualities of    Partially met.  The recommendation is under consideration 
 

candidates for the profession. Even    for screening candidates beyond the current GPA and 
 

beyond that which CASPer can offer.    Casper processes.  Selecting the best candidates for the 
 

    program is an important consideration for the BPN 
 

    program due to the responsibility and privilege in 
 

 Chair/Curr. 
Mar 2021 Jun 2022 

supporting the clients we serve in our community.  BPN 
 

 Chair faculty agree a screening interview process would be the  

   
 

    best addition to the process.  Attributes which would be 
 

    examined would include self-awareness, genuine interest in 
 

    patient care, empathy, understanding of personal and 
 

    professional boundaries.  This will require further 
 

    development and understanding of options which also 
 

 
 

 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 11 



Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

 
 

 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led Start on Complete 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 
 

by (M/YY) by (M/YY)  

  
 

     
 

    allow such a process to be done efficiently and that 
 

    minimizes the human resource implications of such a 
 

    process. 
  

 

 

STRATEGY 7: Address the curriculum recommendations from both SSR and ERT to improve the quality and experience of the BPN program in addition to creating a revised 

program proposal to meet the needs of contemporary mental health in the province of British Columbia. 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy 
Led Start on Complete 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 
 

by (M/YY) by (M/YY)  

  
 

     
 

The BPN is prepared to examine any and all resources available to achieve the    The BPN has undertaken a comprehensive program review 
 

work required to enhance the existing program and propose a revised program.    and has established and received approval for a revised 
 

That said, examining the use or realignment of resources, does not necessarily    program.  Such a review has encompassed a great deal of 
 

mean the dedicated resources currently assigned to curriculum work are    accountable time with the efforts of faculty committing to 
 

sufficient. In good faith, the program will examine and be open    the process in addition to continuing to offer quality 
 

to all possibilities. 
Chair/Curr 

  programming with operation of or current program.  The 
 

   program review has been actioned and is available for view  

 Chair/ BPN 
  

 

 Feb 2021 Feb 2022 in Appendix C of this submission.  Process has required  

 Faculty  

   consultation with our colleagues in the BSN program,  

 Deans Office 
  

 

   deans’ office, BPN curriculum and faculty, Faculty Council,  

    
 

    Ministry of Advanced Education, BCCNM and Senate 
 

    Standing Committee on Curriculum.  The result of this 
 

    work has resulted in an approved program revision to 
 

    which a great deal of the strategic activities referred to in 
 

    this document are addressed. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

KPU Faculty of Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program First Annual Follow-Up Report Page 12 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Course Outline Review and Course Tracking Sheet 



BPN Course Outlines: Review Sept 2022 
Previsous Version 

Program Number Implementation 
Review Date Prerequisites Corequisites  

 

Date   

 
2110 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22  

HEAL 2150  
 

     PSYN 2125, 2130, 2145, 2160   

PSYN       
 

 2125 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22  
HEAL 2150  

 

     PSYN 2110, 2130, 2145, 2160   

       
 

 
2130 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22  

HEAL 2150  
 

     PSYN 2110, 2125, 2145, 2160   

       
 

 
2145 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22  

HEAL 2150  
 

     PSYN 2110, 2125, 2130, 2160   

       
 

 
2160 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22  

HEAL 2150  
 

     PSYN 2110, 2125, 2130, 2145   

       
 

     
ANTH 2163  

 

 2230 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 2145, 2160 HEAL 2110, 2250  
 

     PSYN 2245  
 

       
 

    
PSYN 2145, 2160 ANTH 2163  

 

 2245 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 HEAL 2110, 2250  
 

    HEAL 2150 
PSYN 2230   

       

       
 

    
PSYN 2230, 2245 HEAL 3101  

 

 3130 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYC 3920  
 

    HEAL 2250 
PSYN 3145   

       

       
 

 
3210 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3130, 3145 HEAL 3180 PSYN  

     3211, 3225, 3245   

       
 

 3211 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3130, 3145 HEAL 3180  
 

     PSYN 3210, 3225, 3245  
 

       
 

 
3225 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3130, 3145 HEAL 3180 PSYN  

     3210, 3245, 3211   

       
 

 
3245 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3130, 3145, HEAL 3180 PSYN  

    HEAL 3101 3210, 3211, 3225   

       
 

    
HEAL 3180 PHIL 3010  

 

 4110 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3210, 3211, PSYN 4145   

    3225, 3245 SOCI 3345  
 

       
 

    
HEAL 3180 PHIL 3010  

 

 4145 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 3210, 3211, PSYN 4110 SOCI  

    3225, 3245 3345  
 

       
 

    
PHIL 3010   

 

 4245 1-Sep-17 1-Sep-22 PSYN 4110, 4145   
  

SOCI 3345 

 

Course Outlines to be approved by FoH Curriculum only  

Deadline for Course Outlines to be approved by Program: 1-Mar-22 

Deadline for Course Outlines to be presented to FoH Curriculum (only requiring FoH Curriculum approval): 1-Apr-22 

Course Outlines to be approved by SSCC  

Deadline for Course Outlines to be approved by Program: 1-Jan-22 

Deadline for Course Outlines to be approved by FoH Curriculum 1-Feb-22 

Course Outlines to be approved by SSCC (course outline updates only & not attached to Program changes) 1-Apr-22 

  

Published in KPU Library: 1-May-22 

  
New Version 

Program Number Course Name(CrR) Se me ster Implementatio Review Prerequisites Corequisites Assigned To QA and Content Stragegies to be embedded Specific Content to be embedded Notes: Progress/Updates 
 

    n Date Date        

       
HEAL 2150  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

        

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies; Course guides for each    

       
PSYN 2125, 2130, 2145, 2160     

        

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

            

BPN PSYN 2110 Fundamentals of Health Nursing (3) 3 Sep-22 Feb-22   Barb and Nicole  Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma  
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies; Course guides for each    

         clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;   
 

 HEAL 1180 Introduction to Healt h Research (3) 3 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess and Kim    
 

       
HEAL 2150  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and 

DSM; Multiple charting formats, PYXIS; Cerner; MSE; Suicide Risk assessment; Suicide Prevention;   

        

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each   

       
PSYN 2110, 2125, 2145, 2160    

        

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; Motivational Interviewing; Substace Use Assessment (CIWA; COWS; MOCA; Narcan Training; Suboxone   

           

  Ment al Healt h Nursing Practice 1:  General Nursing        /Methadone; Trauma/Triggers; TB Testing; Boundary Setting; De-escilation: Immunization Course and  
 

 PSYN 2145 (4) 96 hours 3 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess  Administration; Med Reconstitution  
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies   
 

 HEAL 2150 Laboratory Practice: Basic Nursing Skills (3) 3 Sep-22 Feb-22   Kim and Mary    
 

       
HEAL 2150  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

        

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies; Course guides for each    

       
PSYN 2110, 2130, 2145, 2160     

        

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

            

 PSYN 2125 Pharmacology T heory: Gneeral Pharmacology (3) 3 Sep-22 Feb-22   Kim    
 

      
PSYN 2145, 2160 HEAL 2150  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

      
PSYN 2110, 2125, 2130, 2145  

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies    

           

  Health and Healing 1: Medical/Surgical Challenges          
 

 PSYN 2230 (3) 4 Sep-22 Feb-22   Kim and Mary    
 

      
PSYN 2145, 2160 HEAL 2150  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

       

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each    

      
HEAL 2150 PSYN 2110, 2125, 2130, 2145     

       

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

            

  Ment al Healt h Nursing Practice 2: Medical/Surgical        Med Admin; IV admin Push, assessment; IV starts: Blood and Blood Products; Alaris Pump Module;   

 PSYN 2245 Nursing (4) 140 hours 4 Sep-22 Feb-22   Kim and Mary  Parenteral Nutrition; Ipidural and Controlled analgesia;  
 

       
HEAL 2150  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

       PSYN 2110, 2125, 2145, 2160  inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma; Cognitive Behavioral Therapy; Psychodynamic Group  
 

          Therapy; Motivational Interviewing Deescalation Techniques; Counselling Methodologies - Delivered in  
 

 PSYN 2130 Interpersonal Comminicaiton 1 (3) 4 Sep-22 Feb-22   Nicole  a laddering and unfolding manner; therapeutic relationships  
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and ·Chest tubes; Central Venous Catheter Care and Assessments; Unconscious client; Diminishing level of  

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each consciousness; Stroke, cardiac arrest; Ga strointestinal bleed; Ana phyla xis; Sepsi s; Falls; Suici de;  
 

         clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency; Delirium, Dementia, Alzheimer’s; Post-partum hemorrhage; Med Admin; IV admin Push, assessment; IV  
 

          starts: Blood and Blood Products; Alaris Pump Module; Parenteral Nutrition; Ipidural and Controlled   

 HEAL 2250 Laboratory Practice 2: Advanced Nursing Skills (3) 4 Sep-22 Feb-22   Kim and Mary  analgesia;  
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies   
 

 HEAL 2110 Indigenous Health (3) 4 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess  This course will root indigenous content for each course  
 

      
PSYN 2145, 2160 HEAL 3101  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

      

PSYC 3920  

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each    

      
HEAL 2150     

      

PSYN 3145  

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

           

  Healt h and Healing 2: Acute Ment al Health Nursing          
 

 PSYN 3130 Challenges (3) 5 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess  Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma  
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies   
 

  Ment al Healt h Nursing Practice 3: Acute MH Nursing          
 

 PSYN 3145 (4) 140 hrs Psych 5 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess  Refer to PSYN 2145 - Laddering complexity of approaches and interventions.  
 

      
HEAL 3180 

HEAL 3180  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   
 

      

PSYN 3211,  

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each    

      
PSYN 3210, 3245, 3211     

      

3225, 3245  

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

          
 

 PSYN 3225 Mental Health Leadershp (3) 5 Sep-22 Feb-22   Barb    
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies    

 PSYN 3125 Pharmacology Theory : Psychopharmacology (3) 5 Sep-22 Feb-22   Kim    
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each   
 

         clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

  Laborat ory Pracice  3: Interpersonal Communication          
 

 Heal 3350 Skills (3) 5 Sep-22 Feb-22   Kim    
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies    

  Health and Healing 3: Comminity and Global MH          
 

 PSYN 3230 Nursing Challenges (3) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess    
 

      
HEAL 3180 HEAL 3180  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma; Prescriptive Authority; Portions of Provincial Opioid  

 

      PSYN 3211, 
PSYN 3211, 3225, 3245  inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each Addiction Treatment Support Program   

      
3225, 3245  

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;   

           

 PSYN 3210 Continuum of Addictions and Mental Health (3) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess and Kim    
 

       
PHIL 3010  

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   
 

       

PSYN 4110     

        
inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies    

       

SOCI 3345     

           
 

  Ment al Healt h Nursing Prac ie 4: Comminity Ment al           

 PSYN 3245 Health (4) ( 120 HOURS (Community) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22   Keith    
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies; Course guides for each   
 

         clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;   
 

 PSYN 3430 Interpersonal Comminicaiton 2(3) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22   Nicole  Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma  
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies    

 PSYC 2350 Psychopathology (3) 6 Sep-22 Feb-22   NIL    
 

       
HEAL 3180  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

        

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each    

       
PSYN 3211, 3225, 3245    

 

        

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

           
 

  Health and Healing 4: Child & Adolescent MH          
 

 PSYN 4110 Nursing (3) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess and Kim  Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma  
 

      
HEAL 3180 

HEAL 3180  Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   
 

      

PSYN 3211,     

      
PSYN 3210, 3225, 3245  

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies    

      

3225, 3245     

            

  Contemporary Perspectives in Mental Health          
 

 PSYN 3211 Nursing (3) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22   Barb and Nicole  Trauma Informed Care; Intergenerational Trauma  
 

      HEAL 3180 
PHIL 3010  

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   
 

      
PSYN 3210,     

      

PSYN 4110  

inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each    

      
3211, 3225,     

      

SOCI 3345  

clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

      
3245     

  Mental Health Nursing Practice 5: Speciality MH          

            

 PSYN 4145 Nursing (4) 160 hrs (Specialtiy) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22   Barb and Nicole  Prescriptive Authority; Portions of Provincial Opioid Addiction Treatment Support Program  
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies    

 HEAL 3180 Health Research Met hods (3) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22   Kim and Tess    
 

         
Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   

 

         inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies ; Course guides for each   
 

         clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;    

 PHIL 3010 Healthcare Ethics (3) 7 Sep-22 Feb-22   Keith    
 

      
PHIL 3010   

Revised Program Philosophy; Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing); indigenous and   
 

      

PSYN 4110, 4145      

        
inclusive language and conent; Theory and Practice Scaffolding of competencies   

 

      

SOCI 3345      

            

 PSYN 4245 Precept orship (10) 8 Sep-22 Feb-22   Tess Nicole and Keith    
 

  90            
Registered Psychiatric Nurse Language (not nurse or nursing)  
Indigenous and inclusive language and content  
Trauma Informed Care  
Intergenerational Trauma  
Opiate Agonsist Treatment  
Prescriptive Legislation  
Violence Prevention  
Non Crisis Violence Inervention  
Mental Health Act  
Criticial Skills List for each course (in addtion to competency Checklist  
Development of Clinical Practice Guide for each semester. First page will be current faculty contact infromation and include course description, evaluation and competencies  
Course guides for each clinical practice rotation, shared with the clinical agency;  
Standing Item each BPN faculty meeting - Discuss on resources or support. Identify individual support requimrents and group soupprts such as guests an inservices - this can be added to profesional development 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix B 

 
 
 
 
 

 

AC13 Revision of BPN Qualifications for 
Faculty Members 



 
 

Faculty Council – Faculty of Health 

Faculty of Health 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

 

 

October 12, 2021 

 
 

RE: Revision of BPN Qualifications for Faculty Members 

 

Faculty Council, 

 

The BPN program, Faculty of Health, KPU is submitting a request for revision of 
Qualifications for faculty members teaching in the Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program. 

 

In accordance with Policy AC13 B.4:  
Each educational administrative division of its Faculty Council will review its list of 
qualifications for faculty positions within its area of jurisdiction on an annual basis 

and present any chances to the Senate for its consideration. Information to be provided 

should include, but is not limited to, the following: 

 

a. Name of Educational administration decision 

b. Name of Department 

c. Name of Programs 

d. Qualifications Required 
 

 

The previous current BPN Faculty Qualifications wereare: 

 

Discipline / Program Academic Professional Teaching Experience 

Bachelor of Psychiatric Master’s Eligible for  Related work 

Nursing (BPN) Degree practicing  experience. 

 (PhD membership  Psychiatric 

 preferred) with CRPNBC  education and 

  and/or CRNBC  experience is 

  with no limits,  recommended 

  no conditions,   

  no terms   
 

 

The current  proposed amendments to the BPN Faculty Qualifications, approved at KPU 

Senate (November 22, 2021)  are: 

 

Discipline / Academic Professional Teaching Experience 

Program     

Bachelor of Master’s Eligible for practicing Qualified to Minimum of 

Psychiatric Degree membership with fulfill all five years of 

Nursing (BPN) (PhD BCCNM as a teaching practice 

 preferred) Registered Psychiatric responsibilities experience and 

   of the program current 



 

  Nurse with no limits, which includes competence in 

  

no conditions, no 

terms.  or terms RPN entry-level their area of 

   competencies to teaching 

   meet the  

   standards of  

   practice  

 

The proposed amendments are taken directly from BCCNM Psychiatric Nursing Education 

Standards and Indicators found here: 

https://www.bccnm.ca/Documents/education_program_review/RPN_EPR_Standards_Indicators. 

pdf 

 

Standard 4 States: 

 

Faculty  
The quality, expertise and number of faculty provide students with the support necessary to  
achieve program goals, gain the RPN entry-level competencies and meet the standards of 

practice. 
INDICATORS: 
4.1 There is an adequate number of qualified faculty to achieve program goals.  
4.2 All psychiatric nursing courses are taught by Registered Psychiatric Nurses 
with current practicing registration.  
4.3 Faculty hold a qualification that is higher than the qualification for which their 
students are studying (or exceptions must be justified).  
4.4 Faculty are qualified to fulfill their teaching responsibilities, including a minimum of 

five years of practice experience and current competence in their area of teaching, 

4.5 Faculty serve as positive role models for students.  
4.6 New faculty are provided a comprehensive orientation to their roles and responsibilities.  
4.7 Faculty are required to maintain their competence and participate in 
professional development opportunities.  
4.8 Faculty use current research in teaching and learning.  
4.9 There is institutional support for a scholarly environment that models a culture of 

inquiry with opportunities for faculty research and student engagement in scholarship.  
4.10 There is a leadership development plan that fosters consultative leadership and 
succession planning to enable the growth and development of faculty.  
4.11 There is ongoing evaluation of the teaching effectiveness of faculty. 
 

Submitted on behalf of the BPN Program  
 

 

Tess Kroeker ADPN; BHS(PN); MBA; RPN 

Chair, Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program 

Faculty of Health, KPU 

https://www.bccnm.ca/Documents/education_program_review/RPN_EPR_Standards_Indicators.pdf
https://www.bccnm.ca/Documents/education_program_review/RPN_EPR_Standards_Indicators.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendix C 

 
 

 

Summary of Program Revision 

 

Note:  Revised Program was approved at KPU Senate on June 02, 2021 

and will be implemented in May 2023.  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Program Revision Summary BPN 
 

SSR – KPU 
 

 

Content of this summary have been used from the submission to BCCNM for the first annual letter following 
program review. In addressing both the BCCNM program Review and KPU Program Review, the BPN has 
responded as follows: 

 
 

 

 The BPN responded to the feedback of the reviewers, faculty and students immediately following 

program review and began to examine course revision or supplements to bridge knowledge gaps and 

reinforce sequential learning.


 Course content was amended with the insertion of theory, skills, and concepts to reinforce 

sequential mapping of concepts toward competency.


 The BPN team determined the current configuration of the program courses was not conducive to 

comprehensively addressing all barriers of sequencing and scaffolding competencies.


 Structural changes to the program were drafted including comprehensive consultation with the Faculty 

of Health leadership, Ministry of Advanced Education, KPU Curriculum Committee, KPU Registrar’s 

Office, Student Financial Aid and KPU Senate Standing Committee on Curriculum. The outcome of 

the consultation is that the structural changes proposed may proceed as the changes result in minimal 

content change beyond the structural configuration of courses.


 The revisions to the program structure received approval from KPU Senate Standing Committee on 

Curriculum in April of 2021. In addition to continuing to map the current version of the program (which 

has received program approval), the BPN team will finalize the competency mapping of the structurally 

revised version of the program.


 The revised program is intended to activate in September 2022 or May 2023.


 Of the content adjustments addressed, BPN is using this opportunity to respond to industry trends with 

the intention of offering a refined, contemporary, and responsive program to meet the needs of the 

clients served by our psychiatric nursing graduates (Primary Care Nursing, Substance Use 

Management/Opiate Agonist Treatment).
 
 

 

In order to ensure theoretical concepts have been scaffolded in a matter which supports the student’s exposure to 

clinical placements with theoretical acumen and psychomotor skills, the order in which the program’s courses 

are delivered has been revised. In addition to the structural revision, course content with 



minor changes accounts for adjustments ensuring students are exposed to trends representative of today’s mental 

health consumers. The program is aware to effectively sustain the existing program (upon which the review is 

based) in addition to the ongoing work to establish a very effective program design which addresses indictors 

which have been only partially met. Mapping both the existing program and the revised program will ensure a 

solid understanding of competency exposure in theory, practice and lab and enable significant improvements in 

the structural design scaffolding and delivery of the program’s curricular sequence in continuing to meet Entry 

to Practice Standards (BCCNM, 2014) and Clinical Competencies. 

 

The structural changes of the program in response to the program review is displayed in the following image 

comparing the current program with the proposed and now approved program course structure and 

sequencing. 



 



 

 

Highlights with rationale: 
 
 

 The health foundations certificate is now will be dissolved and many of the current courses from health 

foundations will be moved to program prerequsites. Functionally, this does not impact nor change the 

integrity of the program as students currently require completion of the health foundations certificate in order 

to apply to the BPN Program. In the revision, more generalized course options, also transferrable will 

enhance access to the program for students regionally, nationally and internationally compared to the more 

specific health foundations courses required previously. A majority of the health foundations courses have 

been brought back into the program (lab courses) or remain as prerequise electives for application into the 

program. Some of the prerequsite courses are established as firm requirments as they are prerequsite to 

higher level courses offered in later semesters of the program. Prerequsites listed outside of the required 

requsite courses offer students a range of choice which also enhances the desiability of KPU’s BPN and 

mandate of the Ministry of Advanced Education.




 Biology 1160, 1260 remain as prerequsites in order to continue to minimize attrition once students are accepted 
into the program (semester 3).




 The initial Mental Health Nursing Course PSYN PSYN 2110 offered to our semeser three group builds upon 
the former psychosocial rehabiliation course (PSYN 2160) with content revision to enhance preparation for 
clincial (PSYN 2145) which specifially includes addition of Diagnositic Criteria – DSM of major mental 
disorders, etiology and intervetnions, simulated acute psychiatric mental status exam, substance use 
management, theoretical instruction on comorbitities with compex patient presenations.




 The content revision remains with the current verson of the program and will be included in the revised 
verion of the program to account for strucural scaffolding of theoreical content and competency in a 
systematic matter.




 Addition of a comprehensive communications section which spans three semesters including two theory 

courses and lab for communications (PSYN 2130 – Interpersonal Communication, HEAL 3350 – Laboratory 

Practice 3: Interpersonal Communications Skills, PSYN 3430: Interpersonal Communication 2).




 Addition of PSYC 2350 Psychopathology (Semester 6) and Prerequisites of PSYC 1100 and PSYCH 1200 
in Semester 1. Doing so best prepares our graduates as they enter mental health placements with complex 
client presentations in Semester 7 and 8 clinical practice rotations.



 
 

Courses Renamed: 
 

PSYN 2110 Essentials of Psychiatric Nursing > PSYN 2110 Fundamentals of Mental Health Nursing PSYN 

2145 Psychiatric/Mental Health Nursing Practice 1 > PSYN 2145 Mental Health Nursing Practice1: General 

Nursing (PSYN 2160 Theory Absorbed) 
 

HEAL 2150 Laboratory Practice 2 > Health 2150 Laboratory Practice: Basic Nursing Skills (Absorbed 

HEAL 1150 – Personal Care Skils Lab 1) 
 

PSYN 2130 Communication > PSYN 2130 Interpersonal Communicaiton 
 

PSYN 2125 Pharmacology and other therapeutics > PSYN 2125 Pharmacology Theory: General 

Pharmacology 
 

PSYN 2230 Health and Healing > Health and Healing 1: Medical/Surgical Challenges 



HEAL 2250 Laboratory Practice 3 > HEAL 2250 Laboratory Practice 2: Advanced Nursing Skills 

PSYN 3130 Health and Healing > PSYN 3130 Health and Healing 2: Acute Mental Health Nursing 

Challenges 
 
PSYN 3145 Psychiatic/Mental Health Nurisng Practice 3 > PSYN 3145 Mental Health Nursing Practice 3: 
 
Acute MH Nursing 
 

PSCY 3921 Aging > PSYC 2350 Psychopathology Replaces – Students have expsure in other semesters to aging 

specific to nursing and needed to enhance their exposure to mental disorders and abnormal psycholgy. PSYN 

3225 Leadership and Management > PSYN 3225 Mental Health Leadership 
 
PSYN 3210 Psychiatric/Mental Health Nursing:Global Health > PSYN 3210 Continnum of Addicitons and 

Mental Health – Course Revision to Include Subtance Use Medicine and Prescriptive Scope 
 
PSYN 3211 Issues and Trends in Psychiatric/Mental Health Nursing > PSYN 3211 Contemporary 

Perspectives in Mental Health Nursing 
 
PSYN 4145 Consolodation > PSYN 4145 Mental Health Nursing: Speciality MH Nursing 
 
PSYN 4110 Child and Adolescent  > PSYN 4110 Health and Healing 4: Child & Adolescent MH Nursing 
 
 
 
 

 

New Course Content in addtion to Psychopathology include HEAL 3350 Laboratory Practice 3: 
 

Interpersonal Skills and PSYN 3430 Interpersonal Communication 

 

Program Response: Theory and clinical lab skills within the program are meeting Entry Level Competencies 

within the program, however not always through a sequential threading or scaffolding structure. Following 

program evaluation and through consultation with students and faculty, the program has begun the process of 

mapping theoretical competencies and adjusting course content to ensure theoretical content is presented to 

students prior to engaging in clinical practice rotations. The work of theoretical mapping is happening with the 

current program and the program presented in its revised format to address the program review indicators, 

however, more importantly the sequential application of theory for the students as they progress through the 

program. One such example mentioned in the previous program response are the clinical placements 

established for psychosocial rehabilitation find clientele present with complex needs with a variety of 

concurrent health conditions. The program responded by bringing forward theoretical content on major mental 

disorders in semester three and then expanding the complexity of the concepts for care thereafter in the 

remaining mental health nursing courses. 

 

Example 1: 
 

PSYN 2160 Psychosocial Rehabilitation (Theory) is a course which introduces students to concepts 

including: 
 Principles of Psychosocial Rehabilitation (PSR) in the context of psychiatric nursing



 Summarizing knowledge and influence of group dynamics to support clients to advance their health and well-being at the 
individual, family and community levels



 Examining ways to promote the physical and mental health of clients to prevent disease, illness and injury


 Examination of obstacles and barriers that inhibit optimal recovery


 Analysis of personal and theoretical meanings of health, healing and health promotion




 Exploring the role Appreciate the role of the family as a component of treatment and rehabilitation




 

Following program review, with the consultation of faculty and students, content brought forward from later 
courses included 
 Reflect on the nature of severe and persistent mental illness



 Identify the names and symptomology of major mental disorders DSM Diagnostic Criteria




 British Columbia College of Nursing Professionals (BCCNP) Psychiatric Nursing Professional Standards: 
https://www.bccnp.ca/Standards/Pages/Default.aspx  

 Symptoms and Etiology of Serious Mental Illness


 Mental Health Act




 Further development of MSE, Terminology, Trauma Informed Care, Motivational Interviewing




 Co-occurring Disorders and Integrated treatment




 Community Treatment, Assertive Community and Case Management Models




 Hospitalization and Re-hospitalization


 

In semester 3 along with PSYN 2160, the students are accessing their first clinical practice rotation (PSYN 2145 

Psychiatric/Mental Health Nursing Practice). Although the rotation is focused toward long term care agencies, 

we are seeing increasingly complex client presentations encountering co-occurring health conditions. In addition 

to the students benefiting from early exposure to greater detail of mental disorders, diagnosis, and interventions 

prior to semester 4 (First Acute Psych Inpatient Rotation), the students are best prepared to intervene effectively 

in semester 3 with the content revisions of PSYN 2160 for patients with complex mental health and comorbid 

presentations. 

 

The first stage of successfully mapping concepts is the alignment of courses and consideration of the scope of 

the curricular concepts in the courses timing (semester) and activities (skills, scope of practice, theory, lab) of 

when the course are offered. BPN has taken a great deal of time to create a course and program structure which 

will sustain a very streamlined approach to unfolding of concepts in an increasingly complex skill base manner 

through course progression to meet entry to practice requirements. Per the recommendations of program 

review, mapping and scaffolding of concepts began straight away (February 2000). This resulted in the 

determination that a structural revision of the courses was required, including the elimination of the Health 

Foundations Suite of courses which presented a barrier to scaffolding concepts for the program. 

 
 

 

The program has responded to the matter of mapping and sequencing of theoretical concepts within the program 

specific to the need of clearly articulating Professional Practice Requirements in theory, laboratory, and clinical 

practice. As a result of the program structure, the response of the BPN program has been comprehensive toward 

the response of this unmet indicator surfacing within numerous standards of program review. The BPN team 

facilitated a great deal of consultation and made tremendous efforts to create a program and course structure 

conducive to an efficient program delivery of concepts in a sequential manner. In the next annual letter, the 

program mapping will be presented in detail for the current program (represented in this program review) in 

addition to the revised structure of the current program also preened in this response. 

 
 

 

The Dean’s Office has revised the orientation to new faculty with materials included in the following links. The 

resources have been created in collaboration with other departments and the Vice Provost. Links available to 

faculty include practical resources in addition to information related to contacting other 

https://www.bccnp.ca/Standards/Pages/Default.aspx


departments available to support teaching and learning activities. 
 
Keep Teaching Resources 
 
Faculty and Instructional Staff Handbook 
 
Navigating Moodle-New User Basics 
 
Course Presentation - Navigation Video 
 

Video - Navigating Big Blue Button Webinars in Moodle  
 
 
 
 

 

Tess Kroeker ADPN; BHS(PN); MBA; RPN  
Chair, Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Program  
Faculty of Health  
Tess.Kroeker@kpu.ca 

https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning/keep-teaching
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/fh/SitePages/Home.aspx
https://kputlcommons.freshdesk.com/support/solutions/articles/43000569898-new-to-moodle-moodle-basics-
https://media.kpu.ca/media/Kaltura+Capture+recording+-+April+5th+2020%2C+6A54A21+pm/0_jeop0pir
https://kputlcommons.freshdesk.com/support/solutions/articles/43000553543-bigbluebutton-basics-recorded-webinar
mailto:Tess.Kroeker@kpu.ca


 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 5.6 

Meeting Date: January 19, 2022 
Presenter: Ross Pink, Wade Deisman, Greg Millard 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Political Science Self-Study Report 

  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Political Science Self-Study Report as attached.  

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

  

Attachments 

Political Science Self-Study Report-v3 

Political Science Self-Study Report Appendices 

Political Science Self-Study Report-v3 tracked changes 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted January 17,  2021 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FACULTY OF ARTS 

 

POLITICAL SCIENCE PROGRAM REVIEW 

 

SELF-STUDY REPORT 

 

JANUARY 14, 2022 

 

Program Review Team Members: 

Francis Abiew 

Conrad King 

Ross Michael Pink 

Shinder Purewal 

Valerie Vezina 

  



Political Science Self-Study Report  1 

 

Table of Contents 

 Program Overview ............................................................................................... 4 

Brief History of the Program ....................................................................................................... 4 

Scope of the Review .................................................................................................................... 5 

 Program Currency and Connections .................................................................... 7 

Competitive Context ................................................................................................................... 7 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board ............................................................................ 7 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector......................................................................... 7 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units ........................................................... 12 

Program’s Articulation .............................................................................................................. 13 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach ........................................................ 13 

Student Demand for the Program .............................................................................................. 14 

Summary and Recommendations .............................................................................................. 14 

Summary ................................................................................................................................... 14 

 Quality of Curriculum Design ............................................................................ 18 

Assessment of the Curriculum .................................................................................................. 18 

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum ................................................................................. 22 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum .................................................................................. 24 

Career/Further Education Preparedness .................................................................................... 25 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes ..................................................................... 26 

Summary and Recommendations .............................................................................................. 26 

 Quality of Instructional Design........................................................................... 29 

Delivery Modes ......................................................................................................................... 29 

Student Experience .................................................................................................................... 34 

Faculty Experience .................................................................................................................... 38 

Summary and Recommendations .............................................................................................. 40 

References ................................................................................................................................. 43 

Chapter 5. Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities ...................................................... 44 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities ...................................................... 44 

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ..................................... 44 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ..................................... 44 

Summary and Recommendations .............................................................................................. 46 

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Recommendations ................................................................... 47 

Summary of Conclusions .......................................................................................................... 47 



Political Science Self-Study Report  2 

 

Chapter 7. Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean ........................................................... 51 

Program Overview .................................................................................................................... 51 

Appendices for Self-Study Report ........................................................................................ 53 

 

  



Political Science Self-Study Report  3 

 

Notice to the Reader 

 

The Political Science Department Self Study Report is a document of reflection, analysis, and 

action. It is designed to set forth a vision that is in the best interests of students, Faculty, 

Administration and the larger KPU community. Some elements of the Report contain 

confidential information thus discretion is requested of the reader in sharing those sections. 

We greatly appreciate all those who donated their time and expertise in the completion of the 

report and welcome constructive feedback.  

 

 

Territorial Acknowledgement 

 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU) takes its name from the Kwantlen First Nation. 

KPU is situated in a region south of the Fraser River which overlaps with the unceded 

traditional and ancestral lands of the Kwantlen, Musqueam, Katzie, Semiahmoo, 

Tsawwassen, Qayqayt and Kwikwetlem peoples. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Political Science Self-Study Report  4 

 

 Program Overview 

Brief History of the Program 

Program Description 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University is relatively new on the higher education front in Canada. 

In 1981, Kwantlen College was formed after separating from Douglas College. The 

Political Science curriculum was offered shortly thereafter. In 1995, Kwantlen University 

College became a degree granting institution. In 2008, the University received Provincial 

Government approval to become Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU). Recognized as 

a teaching focused institution, KPU has five campuses: Surrey Main Campus, Richmond, 

Langley, Cloverdale and Civic Plaza in Surrey. Political Science was originally co-housed 

with History until the late 1990’s. It offered a Minor in 2006 and a Major from 2013 

onwards. The total student enrolment at KPU in 2021 is 22,000. Political Science courses 

are taught at the campuses in Surrey, Richmond, and Langley. KPU offers smaller class 

sizes, capped at 35 for most classes and hosts a large number of working students. Smaller 

class sizes are a helpful unique selling point (USP) for KPU.  

“When classes are reduced, students tend to learn more (at least by a modest amount), as 

measured by standardized test results, and their engagement in learning is enhanced, as 

demonstrated by classroom behavior, attitude, and effort; some studies suggest that 

students expend more academic effort and initiate more of their own learning activities in 

smaller classes.” (Bascia, N. and E. Fredua-Kwarteng (2008).  “Reducing Class 

Size:  Promises and Perils.”  Education Canada 48(4):  30-33.) 

The Student Survey noted that 52% of students valued the smaller class size model at KPU. 

In addition, KPU has a higher percentage of working students compared to other universities. 

The National Center for Education Statistics, the Journal of College Student Retention, and 

findings within the Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice have noted research 

that concludes that students benefit from working part-time. 

The B.A. Major in Political Science offers the chance to explore the political world 

through an innovative suite of offerings that combines a solid foundation in scholarship 

with 'hands-on' learning opportunities in debate, diplomacy, and policy. The Bachelor of 

Arts Major in Political Science is designed with a special focus on emerging power 

dynamics at the national, trans-national, and global levels, and is therefore an ideal choice 

for those with a serious interest in engaging with the many dimensions of power in the 

modern world. Important course themes include, among others, Ideology and Politics, 

Canadian Government and Politics, Politics in the City, Introduction to Political Science, 

Comparing Countries Introduction to Comparative Politics, Introduction to International 

Relations, International Organization, Sustainability and Government, Law and Politics:, 

and The Charter of Rights and Freedoms. 

 

https://nces.ed.gov/pubs94/94311.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/238448990_Balancing_work_and_academics_in_college_Why_do_students_working_10_to_19_hours_per_week_excel
http://naspa.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.2202/1949-6605.2011?needAccess=true&amp;journalCode=uarp19#.WdPvYWtSxhE


Political Science Self-Study Report  5 

 

As a Political Science B.A. Major, you will begin your studies with a broad range of 

introductory courses that expose you to the key sub-fields within the discipline (Canadian 

and comparative politics, international relations, and political thought), before gradually 

transitioning to more specialized courses in the second- and third-year levels, and advanced-

level seminar work in the fourth year of study. You will also take at least one 'experiential' 

course instilling hands-on skills in debate, diplomacy, and policy, as well as one upper-level 

course on emerging trans-national sites of power. 

Scope of the Review 

This review looks at Program Currency and Connections, Quality of Curriculum Design, 

Quality of Instructional Design and Quality of Services Resources and Facilities. The KPU 

Dean of Arts, Associate Deans, Office of Planning & Accountability and many colleagues 

have been instrumental in offering the Political Science Faculty guidance and support in the 

completion of the Program Review Self-Study Report. Major goals in the coming years are 

to maintain program integrity, increase enrolment, meet successful learning outcomes for 

students, increase experiential and co-op opportunities for students, and eventually 

participate and guide the formation and establishment within the next 10 years of a Graduate 

Program in Political Science leading to an M.A. in Political Science at Kwantlen Polytechnic 

University.  

Consultations with Faculty, Dean/Associate Deans, Planning and Previous Program Review 

The last Program Review was completed in 2011. The important recommendations emerging 

from the 2011 Review included establishing a Major in Political Science which was 

achieved, and secondly, to expand Program courses and opportunities. Program recognition 

in the community is expanding slowly but steadily. One major A goal of the 2011 Review 

was to establish further courses. This was achieved: for example, POLI 3131 The Politics of 

Continental Integration, launched in 2014 and POLI 3500 Public Debates in Politics, 

launched in 2013. Both courses have demonstrated robust enrolment. For the current 

Program review Faculty and the Chair have consulted with the Dean, the Associate Dean, 

Colleagues in other departments, the Office of Institutional Analysis and informally with 

stakeholders. Program specific priorities that will emerge from the 2021 Program Review 

include:  

1) Increasing enrolment; 

2) Integrating indigenous issues into academic content and sustainability awareness into 

political science courses as these twin goals align with Vision 2023. 

3) To continue to pursue the goal stated in the 2011 Review of creating a Department Pod 

and perhaps, co-sharing with another Department such as History.  In the 2015 Program 

Review update report, it was noted that “[t]here was agreement among Faculty and the 

External Review Team that POLI's existing departmental space is inadequate.” As noted in 

the Self-Study Report, physical space is crucial for the creation of an enriched program 

culture for students and faculty, and in serving as a magnet to attract and retain students. We 

urgently recommend the allocation of a departmental 'pod' (either unique to POLI or shared 

with another small department such as Geography), or other neighboring individual offices 

for permanent POLI Faculty along with a larger shared space for departmental/Student 



Political Science Self-Study Report  6 

 

gatherings and perhaps some desks for contract Faculty.” 

4) To initiate consultations regarding two prospective program development possibilities: a) 

an Honors program or b) a Post-Baccalaureate Certificate in Sustainability and Climate 

Change. In regard to the Honors program, there is considerable student interest indicated in 

the survey results and we see the models that have been developed in Journalism and 

Philosophy as viable for the size of our department. In regard to the Post-Bac, Vision 2023 

establishes KPU’s formal commitment to increasing education and awareness on the vital 

issue of sustainability. At KPU more broadly, and in Canada generally there is increasing 

interest in the confluence of governance, human rights, law, business, with environmental 

dimensions of sustainability. Moreover, sustainability is rapidly becoming a core area of 

employment in Government, the Private Sector, NGO communities, Education and Research 

in which KPU students can achieve viable and rewarding employment.  

5) Increase opportunities for students to participate in experiential learning and co-op 

opportunities. The Political Science Department has achieved progress in supporting student 

success. The department adheres to a philosophy of continuous improvement that is 

consistent with the ‘student centered’ approach that both the Political Science Department 

and Faculty embrace. Notable findings from the Student Survey (Appendix A) will drive 

initiatives and progress over the next ten years.  

  



Political Science Self-Study Report  7 

 

 Program Currency and Connections 

Competitive Context 

The Political Science Department at KPU faces competition from more established 

programs in the Lower Mainland such as the University of British Columbia (UBC) and 

Simon Fraser University (SFU). Strong benefits of the UBC and SFU programs are that 

those students completing a BA Major in Political Science may proceed to complete a 

Masters in Political Science or a Ph.D. More established Political Science programs with 

Graduate components generate more contacts and wider networking opportunities for 

students. The absence of a Masters in Political Science Program or a Graduate Certificate 

in Sustainability and Climate Change Studies at KPU presents a challenge for both student 

enrolment and student retention. Climate change and sustainability are rapidly drawing 

student interest and millions of new jobs are being created that relate to these fields. A 

March 2020 study by Cambridge Global Perspectives (2020) noted that 39% of U.S. 

students believe that climate change is the most important global issue. A 2021 survey by 

Leger 360 noted that a majority of Canadians over the age of 18 are concerned about the 

environment.  

Additional Political Science programs are offered at Capilano University, Langara College, 

Douglas College, Trinity Western University, and the University of the Fraser Valley. 

Within the Fraser Valley region, the prime enrolment competition comes from Simon 

Fraser University with a Surrey campus, University of the Fraser Valley and Trinity 

Western University. The KPU Political Science Department will substantially benefit from 

increasing a public profile in the community through community events, advertising, and 

developing high quality courses and programs that attract students. KPU must build upon 

two substantial comparative advantages 1) being a University that is friendly to working 

students, and 2) through the successful small class size model. As previously noted, there 

is study-based evidence that smaller class sizes facilitate higher learning outcomes for 

students. 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board  

The Political Science Department is in the process of establishing a Program Advisory 

Committee that will be completed in 2022.  

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector  

The Political Science Department continues to proactively network with the KPU alumni 

community. A promotion was established with the KPU Marketing Department to highlight 

alumni success and profile successful alumni on KPU and Political Science websites. There 

are 4 immediate and tangible benefits from engaging with alumni. 

 

KPU Political Science Alumni  

 

1) Alumni are a source of networking and positive feedback in the general community for 

KPU; 



Political Science Self-Study Report  8 

 

2) Alumni often contribute and ‘give back’ to the KPU Community in direct and indirect 

ways; 3) Alumni often return to KPU to give talks and guest lectures to students and guests. 

For example, at the upcoming 2022 Climate Night, alumni who are successful in the 

environmental field have agreed to speak at the public event;  

4) Alumni often support and publicize promote KPU in the community, for example a former 

Political Science Student who is a main news reporter with CITY TV Vancouver interviewed 

the Chair of the Political Science Department thus generating positive news coverage for 

KPU. 

  

Community Networking  

 

The Political Science Department also networks with Federal, Provincial and Municipal 

Politicians to generate awareness of the Program and to open dialogue for Student co-ops 

and additional learning opportunities. Moreover, alumni who are engaged in politics, 

academia, government, NGO, IGO, Law, and business-related careers are generally 

supportive of KPU Political Science students and opening up opportunities and networking 

for them. Supplementary information from the Alumni Survey (Appendix B) include: 

In 2020 the Political Science Department launched POLI 2140, Comparative Politics of 

Asia. The Course achieved 90% enrolment with positive Student feedback. Accordingly, 

POLI 2140 will be offered annually. It is the first time the Political Science Department has 

offered a Southeast Asia Politics Course. Given that Canada is a Pacific Rim Country, a 

member of APEC, and British Columbia culture is enriched with vibrant Asian immigrant 

communities, it is timely and prudent to increase KPU Political Science Courses on Asian 

Politics and Government. Moreover, the Student Survey noted that 26% of students were 

very satisfied with Asian course offerings at KPU and 30% were somewhat satisfied. These 

numbers have room for improvement but have nonetheless improved considerably in 

reference to the table below.  

 

Selected Program Satisfaction Indicators 

 

Selected Program 

Satisfaction Indicators 

(Source: Alumni Survey) 

Very satisfied (% of 

students) 

Somewhat satisfied (% of 

students) 

Development of 

intercultural competencies 

31 42 

Program led to 

development of written 

skills 

56 36 

Program led to 

development of oral skills 

52 40 

Program led to 

development of critical 

thinking 

48 44 

Time invested in program 

was well spent 

44 40 



Political Science Self-Study Report  9 

 

Developed knowledge of 

southeast Asia and south 

Asia 

19 27 

Overall ranking of the 

political science program, 

42 38 

 

The Political Science Department is growing and gaining more awareness in the larger 

community. A goal of the Program Overview is to increase alumni presence in KPU events 

and course guest lectures. As noted, alumni are participating in the upcoming Climate Night 

in 2022. A former student and Green Party candidate was also a guest speaker in a POLI 

2100 Class. Other alumni have also agreed to visit and speak to KPU Political Science 

students. As student post graduate career planning is always a high priority, a goal is to have 

alumni who have successfully launched careers such as law, journalism and public service 

to come and speak to KPU Political Science students about specific and rewarding career 

pathways.  

  

Many alumni recommended an increase in hands-on learning. This view is shared by the 

faculty and steps have been taken to increase hands-on learning with co-ops, volunteer 

postings and other related knowledge opportunities.  

 

The Political Science Department relies upon five strategies for effectively reaching external 

groups: 

1. An updated and articulate webpage featuring courses, Program Information, and 

Faculty Profiles.  

2. Active involvement in community events, conferences, and guest speaking roles. 

3. Active participation in all forms of media promotion such as participating in 

interviews. These were achieved between 2018-2021 with CBC, Vancouver Sun, 

CITY TV Vancouver, CKNW Simi Sara Radio Program and Red FM. In addition, 

Political Science Faculty are regular contributors and frequently featured in the 

popular and well-read KPU Runner Newspaper.  

4. The updating of information and events and collaboration with the KPU marketing 

team.  

5. Active promotion of the KPU Political Science Department’s considerable attributes 

to High School students, University students, the KPU TALK program, and the 

general public through Guest Speaking and participation at the annual KPU Open 

House.  

 

The KPU TALK Program is a popular venue for Faculty to present seminars on a wide range 

of issues to audiences of mature learners who pay to attend the speaker series which 

generally consists of 25 various lectures over the year. The seminars are hosted at the KPU 

Surrey and Richmond campuses.  

 

At the 2019 KPU Open House the Political Science Department Chair presented a seminar 

on Networking for Success and Political Science Careers that was attended by over 45 

students and prospective students. This educational event was followed up with a second 

presentation to a group hosted by the Future Students Office at KPU.  

 



Political Science Self-Study Report  10 

 

The Student Survey (Appendix A) highlighted important and fascinating points that will be 

pursued by the Political Science Department Faculty. First, 59% of students received 

information about the Political Science Program from the website thus emphasizing the 

tremendous value of the Political Science website. Second, 17% of students found that a visit 

to KPU was useful and demonstrates the power of first point of contact and creating a 

welcoming environment for prospective and new students. Third, 50% of students noted that 

a high school visit by a KPU Faculty or Staff member was influential. Program and related 

initiatives will be expanded in from 2022 and onwards. Fourth, students noted that 

information from a High School counsellor was helpful in their decision to attend KPU. 

Thus, the Political Science Department and Faculty will continue contacts with High School 

Teachers and Counsellors through events, emails, and guest speaking. As Political Science 

is relatively new in the High School curriculum, 2 KPU Political Science Faculty Members 

have agreed to launch a Guest Speaking Tour of Greater Vancouver High Schools starting 

in Surrey to promote KPU and the Political Science Program.   

 

In November 2019 the Political Science Department established the KPU Student Climate 

Change Ambassador Program (SCCAP), with a goal to give Climate Change Presentations 

at Universities, High Schools, Community Centers, Political Events and other Public forums 

to highlight important sustainability and human rights themes on climate change which is 

the most significant development issue in the 21st century. In November 2019, 25 students 

signed up to participate. The Student Climate Change Ambassadors, who are well versed in 

climate change issues, give PowerPoint talks along with Dr. Ross Michael Pink, Chair of the 

Political Science Department. The students also share climate change scenarios from 

countries where they were born or have lived. An article on these events was later published 

in the KPU Runner newspaper. The program was set to deliver a series of talks in 2020 and 

will be rescheduled when the current Covid-19 pandemic situation improves, and public 

meetings are safe to proceed.  

 

In March 2020 the Political Science Department scheduled a Climate Night at KPU Surrey 

with several prominent speakers arranged including two Federal MPs, The SCCA program 

speakers, NGO leaders and a large gathering of guests and students. Climate Night will be 

rescheduled in 2022.  

 

In October 2019, United Nations Independent Expert IK Ero, who protects and advocates 

worldwide for people with albinism, delivered human rights talk at a KPU Political Science 

class in Richmond at the invitation of Dr. Ross Michael Pink. Ms. Ero is scheduled to give 

another Human Rights Talk at the KPU Surrey campus in the Fall of 2021, or Spring 2022 

to a large gathering when the health climate improves, and public gatherings return.  

 

In 2019, Ms. Ero opened her office to give two KPU students an extraordinary opportunity 

to serve as volunteer interns conducting research on important human rights issues related 

to her United Nations activity protecting persons with albinism. Each student who has career 

goals in International Law spent one semester conducting research with IK Ero. The students 

also received course credit by successfully completing a KPU Guided Study course. 

 

In 2019, the Political Science Department arranged with five area Members of Parliament to 

host KPU Political Science students for volunteer practicums for one semester. Given that 

80% of positions are never advertised and networking is vital for career opportunities and 



Political Science Self-Study Report  11 

 

success, this option will tremendously benefit KPU students who are studying Political 

Science. This initiative will be activated when health conditions improve and expanded to 

include additional sector sponsors such as municipal governments, Businesses and NGOs.  

 

In 2019, the Political Science Department hosted a Federal Candidate Debate at the KPU 

Surrey Campus for candidates in the riding. In attendance were Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal, MP for 

Surrey Newton along with the Conservative and NDP Candidates for Office. The Political 

debate was a popular community event with an audience of 150 attending that included a 

lively audience-candidate question and answer session where meaningful ideas were 

exchanged. These events are important public forums for KPU students to see politics in 

action and to meet political influencers. The events also serve to highlight an important 

public education role for KPU in the community.   

 

In 2018-2019 the Political Science Department delivered two ‘success networking and 

career focus’ Presentations for  KPU Political Science students and students from other 

departments in collaboration with the Future Students Office, (FSO). The events were well 

attended by students and feedback was positive. Students, particularly in Political Science, 

are keen to learn about career opportunities in the areas in which they are majoring. Students 

in Political Science are learning about multiple and successful career paths that their studies 

can lead to. Within the Political Science Department there is a growing awareness among 

Faculty of the need for sustained progress in three vital areas: 

1) the importance of creating student co-op, volunteer, and placement opportunities, 

2) increasing networking avenues, 

3) providing current and useful information to Political Science Majors on a range of 

successful career paths that are available with a Political Science degree.   

 

A sampling of these career opportunities with a degree in Political Science includes:  

1. Lawyer. Political Science is the most common undergraduate degree for Law School. 

Law provides a mix of important career opportunities in the legal profession, 

teaching, business, government and public service.  

2. Professors/ Teachers. Political Science leads to rewarding opportunities for teaching 

in Universities, Colleges, High Schools.  

3. Policy Analyst in a wide range of government, business, NGO, and IGO settings. 

The skills for effective policy analysis of complex and intersecting issues are well 

honed through numerous political science courses.   

4. Chief of Staff, Executive Assistant, Legislative Assistant 

5. Business Managers. Business is a common area for Political Science graduates who 

have a wide variety of skills.  

6. Civil Servant Federal, Provincial, Municipal Government 

7. Journalists and Media Professionals 

8. NGO Directors and Managers 

9. Politicians. Political Science graduates may pursue public service and are often quite 

successful. 

10. Lobbyists, Advocates and Public Relations Professionals.  



Political Science Self-Study Report  12 

 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units 

The Political Science Department Faculty maintains a robust schedule of interaction with 

Department Colleagues, Faculty Colleagues from other Departments, Deans, Associate 

Deans, Administration and KPU Staff. The Political Science Department Chair attends 

monthly Chair Meetings, Bi-monthly meetings with the Associate Dean and additional 

meetings with Administration and Department colleagues on a wide range of issues. Faculty 

attend regular Department meetings. Faculty serve on a range of committees including 

Faculty Council, Research and Scholarship, Accreditation and Curriculum. 

 

The Faculty Survey (see Appendix C) also highlighted a commitment to increasing the 

content of Asian Politics and noted that the faculty has a high level of collegiality.  

 

Program Connections 

 

Program Connections 

(Source: Faculty Survey) 

Very satisfied (% of 

Faculty) 

Somewhat satisfied (% of 

Faculty) 

Ability to present ideas/ 

research 

29 57 

Preparation of Students for 

a career 

33 33 

Preparation of Students for 

further education studies 

20 60 

Political Science Program: 

Overall Ranking 

17 67 

Experiential Learning for 

Students 

0 33 

 

The four 1100 courses offered by Political Science play a service role in constituting elective 

choices for a range of other areas of study both within and outside of the Faculty of Arts. 

Within Arts, these include Criminology, Philosophy, History – outside of Arts, these include 

Business, Economics and Agriculture. Data from Department and Institutional Analysis 
indicate that roughly, 75% of Students who take introductory level courses are not intended 

nor declared into Political Science – although there is some year over year variability here.  

 

Faculty participate in cross department events. For example, guest lectures have been given 

in the Geography department and cross-promotion and networking has been consistent with 

Policy Studies. In addition, the Department has given Student Success Networking Seminars 

with the FSO. Two Political Science Faculty members have taught in the successful and 

innovative ARTS 1100 Program and the Chair served on the hiring advisory committee for 

ARTS 1100. Faculty regularly participate in the ARTS Speaker Series and the popular KPU 

TALK Lecture Program.  

 

In sum, the KPU Political Science department is relatively small and new on the Greater 

Vancouver academic horizon, yet enrolment is increasing and connections within KPU and 

in the wider community are steadily expanding. The Political Science Faculty, as noted, 

actively pursues networking within the KPU community, academic departments, and 

maintains a robust record of media interviews, research, and publications.  



Political Science Self-Study Report  13 

 

Program’s Articulation  

Articulation: Internal and External 

 

I. Relationships with Other Disciplines 

 
Transfer credit is assessed by the Deans Office and Political Science Chair. Determination 

is made to fit the transfer credit closely to existing Courses in the Program. Where transfer 

credit is warranted but a direct course is not found, then as  an unassigned Arts credit is 

granted.  

 

Connections to other Departments  

 

The Political Science Department at KPU has good academic and networking connections 

to the Policy Studies, Geography and Journalism Departments. A Political Science Faculty 

representative has volunteered on the Policy Studies steering committee for several years. 

Linkages are being developed with the History Department and Journalism Program. In 

fact, Political Science Faculty have granted several interviews to Journalism students 

pursuing news stories.  

 

Numerous Political Science courses are requirements or on the recommended elective list 

for the Policy Studies B.A. In addition, POLI courses are integral to Asian Studies and to 

the Philosophy, Politics, and Economics concentrations within the B.A. General Studies, as 

well as being electives for Journalism. There is a goal to increase synergy with Business 

Faculty, with particular emphasis on connections between Politics, Business and 

Environmental Policy.  

 

II. Relationships with Other Universities 

 

The KPU Political Science Department has good and active relations with other University 

Departments. The Department successfully hosted, with Dr. Millard and Dr. Pink serving 

as Co-Chairs, the BC Political Science Association annual conference in 2014 that was 

hosted at KPU Richmond. Delegates from North America and Europe attended.  

 

In addition, the Department attends the annual provincial Articulation meetings where 

matters of mutual academic interest are discussed, and courses are articulated. The 

Department also promotes and facilitates PLA Courses. In the last three years, KPU 

Faculty have delivered guest Lectures in Political Science classes at the UBC and Simon 

Fraser University.   

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach 

The KPU Political Science Department Faculty has identified community awareness, 

stronger KPU promotion, increasing the number and scope of Political events and more 

robust networking as priorities. In 2020-2021, the Political Science Department updated and 

modernized its website. Moreover, the Department is now more visible on several media 

platforms (e.g., Instagram) including those often  frequented by students which is a key target 

audience. Progress on many community outreach and marketing fronts is ongoing. 



Political Science Self-Study Report  14 

 

Moreover, the Alumni Survey (Appendix B) emphasized the need to promote more 

networking and also suggested a quarterly newsletter. A Political Science Newsletter is one 

of the recommendations highlighted in the Program Review 2021. As noted earlier, the 

Political Science Department is increasingly active in the community through hosting events 

such as, the 2019 Federal Election Candidate Debate at KPU Surrey, and UN Independent 

Expert IK Ero in 2019; participating in media interviews on CBC 2019, CITY TV 2021; and 

the publication of an article in the mainstream media on the topic ‘Climate Change is 

threatening Water Security’, Vancouver Sun, Saturday March 21, 2020. 

Student Demand for the Program 

Student enrolment in Political Science is steadily growing despite the challenges of the 

Covid-19 pandemic in 2020-21. In terms of demand, there has been a 54% increase in FTE 

headcount over a five-year interval (Appendix E). There has also been proportional growth 

in the number of sections offered by the department. It is notable that international students 

are increasingly drawn to political science courses, with a 15% jump over five years. In terms 

of gender, there has been a 13% growth in female students taking courses.  

 

It is important to emphasize that Political Science is a leading undergraduate degree for law 

school students and represents a prominent course foundation for many Faculties such as 

Asian Studies, Business, History, Economics and Environmental Studies. Student Survey 

data revealed that 34% of students chose KPU Political Science Studies to advance post-

graduate goals.  “Approximately 81 percent of the 12,693 law school applicants who majored 

in political science were admitted. The average LSAT score for this major was 153.4. 

Political science is overwhelmingly the most popular major for pre-law students. In fact, 18 

percent of law school applicants between 2016 and 2017 majored in this area of study.” 

( www. Collegeconsensus.com ) 

Summary and Recommendations 

Summary 

The Political Science Program is evolving and expanding each year. While Political Science 

addresses many vital areas of society, it is not often a first choice for Arts students. 

Moreover, one of the challenges for the Program is to educate students and prospective 

students about the multiple career paths that are enhanced through the study of Political 

Science. An on-going misconception is that people study political science primarily to seek 

political office. In fact, rewarding careers, as previously noted, in law, teaching, journalism, 

business, government and other paths are enhanced with a Political Science degree. The 

Program is also seeking to maintain current currency through courses that reflect realities of 

today, emerging trends and growing areas of public and academic interest such as water 

rights, sustainability and climate change. The proceeding recommendations reflect careful 

consideration by Program colleagues through wide ranging inter-department consultations 

and attention to program improvement needs.  

  



Political Science Self-Study Report  15 

 

Program Review 2021  

 

1) Increasing enrolment and expanding Political Science Department news and 

social media platforms for students and prospective students. In the Student 

Survey it was noted that 59% of students attained obtained their information about 

KPU and the Political Science Department through the Department website. In 

addition, 41% of student respondents found the Political Science website ‘very 

useful’ and 29% described it as ‘essential’. Rationale: Increasingly students and the 

public access social media for information and decision making. The Program must 

improve and stay current with respect to social media and is taking steps to achieve 

this goal. 

2) Initiate consultations with regard to: 1) an Honors program, or 2) a Post-

Baccalaureate Certificate in Sustainability and Climate Change. Regarding the 

Honors program, there is considerable student interest indicated in the survey results 

and we see the models that have been developed in Journalism and Philosophy as 

viable for the size of our departments. Regarding the interest and need for the post-

baccalaureate, according to the Environics Institute, 63% of Canadians believe that 

climate change is anthropogenic meaning caused by human activity. A 2020 study 

by the Canadian Nuclear Association (CNA) and conducted by Abacus Data 

observed that 88% of Canadians reported being adversely impacted by climate 

change. The growth of environmental awareness particularly among young 

Canadians and students and the concomitant emergence of the Green Party as well 

as environmental law and policy in Canada augur well for a program at KPU that 

maximizes learning and societal opportunities about Climate Change and the 

Environment. The Political Science Department offers POLI 2100 an Environment 

and Politics Course which is consistently one of the best enrolled courses in the 

Department and draws  a wide range of students from other Departments. The 

Political Science Department has a tremendous opportunity to develop a comparative 

advantage in Environmental and Climate Change education. Offering a Post 

Graduate Certificate in Sustainability and Climate Change will advance this goal.  

Rationale: Many programs have an honors program at KPU, and the Department’s 

view is that an honors program will enhance the program and perhaps increase the 

number of students that remain at KPU for 3rd and 4th year instead of transferring to 

other institutions.  

3) Subsuming further academic content about Indigenous awareness and 

sustainability awareness into Political Science Courses as these twin goals have 

been highlighted in the KPU education goals and vision. Rationale: Simply stated, 

this goal has been prioritized in the KPU Strategic Vision announced in 2019.  

4) To pursue the stated goal in the 2011 Review of creating a Department Pod 

and co-sharing with another Department, such as History. This is a goal that 

enjoys wide support from faculty, the Arts Dean and Associate Deans. Rationale: 

Smaller departments can benefit from the synergy of cooperating and collaborating 

with other small departments. A department related to Political Science such as 

History, Criminology or Asian Studies is preferred. Many students from these three 

named departments take courses in the Political Science department so it is a 

natural step to increase engagement.   

5) Increase opportunities for KPU students to participate in experiential learning 

and co-op.  Although the KPU Student Survey reported that 36% are ‘Very 



Political Science Self-Study Report  16 

 

Satisfied’ with experiential learning opportunities this is an area that needs 

improvement. There is a strong correlation between mentorship, experiential 

learning, and career success. Thus, innovative initiatives will be launched, in 

cooperation with a host of KPU, Business, Government, NGO, IGO, and 

Community Partners to build upon these opportunities for the substantial benefit of 

KPU students. Formalizing and significantly expanding Political Science Co-Op 

and volunteer opportunities in the Community for Political Science students would 

continue to be explored. For example, in January 2020 five area MPs offered to 

host KPU Political Science students for Volunteer and Co-Op opportunities. KPU 

Political Science students may also pursue ARTS 4800 – the practicum course – for 

more hands-on, applied educational experiences. Rationale:  Mentoring and 

volunteer opportunities enhance career success and learning. 71% of Fortune 500 

companies have mentoring programs. (https://www.guider-ai.com/blog/mentoring-

statistics-the-research-you-need-to-know)  It is understood that in the post 2021 

era the general landscape for secure careers is more competitive. 

6) Establishing an Alumni Advisory Committee. Rationale:  This will increase 

networking opportunities and provide added advice and guidance. This goal will 

help the Faculty and Department to draw upon a wider circle of academics and 

stakeholders to guide the program and enhance community connections.   

7) Instituting a Political Science Department ‘Great Debates’ series at KPU that 

engages a wide variety of Guest Speakers at KPU and  is open to the Public 

and KPU Community. Rationale:  To increase community engagement and 

learning opportunities for students and the public. The KPU Political Science 

Program has hosted many lively and well attended Political Debates with Party 

candidates. One event in 2015 attracted 150 students and members of the public at 

the Surrey campus.  

8) Expanding the successful KPU Student Climate Change Ambassador Program 

with additional University, High School and Community Presentations  

9) Establishing a Program Advisory Committee for Social Science Departments 

at KPU that would include Political Science, History, Geography, Policy 

Studies, Asian Studies, Criminology, Indigenous Community Justice, 

Philosophy, Journalism, and additional departments. The goal of the Advisory 

Social Sciences Committee is to develop department synergy, dialogue, and 

resources for the benefit of Student/Faculty Learning and Networking. In the Arts 

Faculty, students often take a variety of courses across diverse disciplines. The 

Advisory Committee would help to foster synergy and cooperative learning 

opportunities and may lead to an increase in declared Minors as well as collegiality 

among instructors and expanded networking opportunities for Arts students.  

10) Commencement of a monthly Political Science On-line Newsletter to share 

with students, the KPU Community, Alumni, Employer Communities, and the 

General Public     

11) Launching High School Political Science Information Sessions in Greater 

Vancouver starting with Surrey High Schools. In the Student Survey, it was 

noted by respondents that a visit by a KPU Faculty/Staff had a 50% favorability 

rating and that information about KPU from a High School Counsellor had a 100% 

favorability rating.  

12) KPU Faculty to engage in research and scholarship that creates opportunities 

for students. Both KPU President Alan Davis and Deepak Gupta, the Associate 



Political Science Self-Study Report  17 

 

Vice President for Research, Innovation and Graduate Studies have emphasized 

this pedagogical benefit. KPU Political Science Faculty are actively engaged in a 

diverse range of important and groundbreaking research, often with international 

dimensions. Our faculty have been successful in securing a wide range of grants 

including: Katalyst, COVID funding, 0.6 PD Funds and the Faculty of Arts 

Excellence and Advancement Fund ( FAEAF ). Monies for research have a direct 

impact on the quality of education experienced by our students in so far as they 

acquire much needed insight into the knowledge production and dissemination 

process. These innovative initiatives will continue in 2022 and onwards thanks to 

strong research ethos in the Faculty of Arts and encouragement from the Associate 

Deans and the Dean of the Faculty of Arts.  

Rationale: The Faculty can learn and contribute to students, scholarship, the 

KPU community and partner opportunities through active involvement in the 

excellent research and scholarship opportunities available at KPU 

 

 

  



Political Science Self-Study Report  18 

 

 Quality of Curriculum Design 

Assessment of the Curriculum 

Overview of the Program 

The political science program aims at studying power in all its forms. Since power is in a 

sense everywhere – from the workplace to the family, from communications media to the 

classroom, and beyond – practically everything can be grist for political analysis. Most often, 

however, political scientists focus upon power as exercised by governments and states, and 

in the international arena, between governments and states - as well as non-governmental 

organizations, businesses, social movements, and armed groups - that seek to influence all 

of these. Thus, Political Science explores domestic and international influences that shape 

the lives of citizens through government, democracy, laws, public policy, media, 

bureaucracy, civil society and economics. 

 

As in the last self-study, the program still revolves around two main areas: Canadian politics 

and International politics. Although extra courses have been added in political theory (see 

2015 report), the program still only offers a limited variety of courses. This is due to both 

the number of Faculty (5 regular or NR2) and availability of financial resources by the 

University to expand the program. 

Program Competencies 

The  program competencies, as they are found in the surveys,  are listed below. However, as 

the Department reflects on them and proceeds to a program revision, these program 

competencies might not reflect the needs of the new BA framework and the needs of 

graduates as the world shifts and changes. As course outlines are updated and reviewed, a 

more fulsome process to revisit and revise these should be undertaken. Right now, it should 

be noted that the current program competencies have some gaps (in soft skills, such as 

communication for example) and will need to be revisited. For now, and as found in the 

surveys, the program competencies are the following: 

1. Clearly and accurately present ideas and research 

2. Knowledge of political systems across different cultures 

3. Intercultural competencies 

4. Applied political skills including on election campaigns, NGOs, IGOs, lobbying and 

survey analysis 

5. Knowledge of Southeast Asia and South Asia political issues 

6. Knowledge of the political influence of NGOs, governmental, and intergovernmental 

sectors 

7. Knowledge of key historical events in political activism globally 

8. Knowledge of opportunities for civic engagement 

 

The program is centered around courses ranging from 1000-level to 4000-level as listed 

below: 

POLI 1110 Ideology and Politics 

POLI 1120 Canadian Government and Politics 

POLI 1123 Politics in the City 



Political Science Self-Study Report  19 

 

POLI 1125 Introduction to Political Science 
POLI 1145 Comparing Countries: Introduction to Comparative Politics   
POLI 1150 Introduction to International Relations 
POLI 2100 Sustainability and Government 
POLI 2121 Law and Politics: The Charter of Rights and Freedoms   
POLI 2122 Political Leadership: The Prime Ministers of Canada 
POLI 2131 Politics of the European Union 
POLI 2140 Comparative Politics of Asia 
POLI 2150 States, Markets, Globalization: International Political Economy 
POLI 2155 War, Crime, and Violence: Contemporary Political Conflict 
POLI 2200 Classic Thinkers: History of Political Thought 
POLI 2235 British Columbia Government and Politics 
POLI 3100 American Government and Politics 
POLI 3122 Canadian Foreign Policy 
POLI 3125 Visions of Nationhood: Canada, Quebec, and First Nations 
POLI 3131 The Politics of Continental Integration   
POLI 3146 Government and Politics of India 
POLI 3147 Foreign Policies of the Major Powers 
POLI 3150 American Foreign Policy 
POLI 3160 International Organizations 
POLI 3170 International Peacekeeping 
POLI 3500 Public Debates in Politics 
POLI 4110 Applied Policy Seminar II 
POLI 4120 Indigenous Peoples in Canada: Politics and Policy 
POLI 4125 The Politics of Multiculturalism in Canada 
POLI 4145 Cross-Border Politics 
POLI 4190 Selected Topics in Canadian Politics 
POLI 4191 Selected Topics in International Politics 
POLI 4210 Democracy: Classic and Contemporary Debates 
POLI 4330 International Human Rights 
POLI 4335 The Politics of Radical Islamism   
POLI 4340 Public International Law 
POLI 4420 Issues in Public Policy and Administration 
POLI 4500 Model United Nations 

 
Students have the opportunity to develop competency 1 in various courses of the program 

as, based on the course outlines, some form of written research paper in courses from 1000-

level to 4000-level are required. In POLI 1145 (Comparing countries), students have the 

chance to learn more about various political systems and different cultures. This is also true 

of a number of courses in the program (POLI 1110 – Ideology and Politics, POLI 1125 - 

Introduction to Political Science, POLI 1150 – Introduction to International Relations, POLI 

2150 – States, Markets and Globalization, POLI 3125 – Visions of nationhood). Similarly, 

competency 3 is met through those courses (and many others). Competency 4 can be 

developed by taking courses at the upper-level, such as POLI 4100 – Applied Policy 

Seminar. As for competency 5, the program has the following courses on Southeast and 

South Asia: POLI 2140 – Comparative Politics of Asia and POLI 3146 – Government and 

Politics of India. However, those courses are not offered regularly. For example, in the past 

5 years, POLI 2140 was offered in 2019 and 2021, but prior to 2019, the last offering dates 



Political Science Self-Study Report  20 

 

back to 2013! POLI 3146 was offered in 2015, 2017, 2020 and 2021, a bit more regularly, 

but if a program competency is on South Asia and the course is not offered at least one a 

year, this could mean students will not meet this competency at all if they could not have 

registered (or did not have the prerequisites) in a year. A gap of 2 years and more between 

course offerings is detrimental to both students and Faculty (who end up teaching the same 

courses and not the diverse courses the program has to offer). As such, revaluation of the 

course offerings and their frequency will be necessary for the Department to undertake in a 

program revision. Competency 6 is developed in the course POLI 2100 - Sustainability and 

Government and POLI 2150 – States, Market and Globalization. But the program does not 

have a specific course on NGOs per se, thus, it is part of the learning outcomes of the above-

mentioned courses. Competency 7 is met in a number of courses in the program (POLI 1100, 

POLI 1125, etc.). Finally, competency 8 is certainly the greatest weakness as the program 

needs to promote more generally the Arts practicum. 

 

As the surveys from both alumni and faculty demonstrate, there is a lot of room for 

improvement for competencies 5 and 8 to be fully met. Various solutions are mentioned 

throughout this report, such as hiring a faculty member who specializes in the area, 

increasing the offering of courses on South-East Asia, and promoting more generally (or 

integrating) the NGO certificate.  

 

It is worth noting the strengths of the program in competencies 1 and 2 which have had great 

satisfaction across the surveys. 

Essential Skills 

As defined by the Ministry, the essential skills of all programs are the following: 

1. Written communication  

2. Oral communication  

3. Group collaboration  

4. Critical analysis 

5. Problem resolution 

6. Learn on your own  

7. Reading and comprehension 

 

Those skills can be met throughout the program in various courses. For example, in POLI 

3500 Public Debates in Politics, students not only critically analyze great debates of past 

politicians and public speakers but have to debate various current issues. Similarly, in POLI 

1110, students have to debate ethical issues in the context of political ideologies. In all of 

those courses, there is an important reading aspect (of books, or articles) and oral/written 

communication components. Not only must the debate be presented to the class, but also in 

a written form. Group collaboration is also omnipresent in most of the courses offered by 

the program. POLI 4500 – Model United Nations is the best example of how the entire class 

actually has to collaborate in a simulation of the United Nations. 

 

The Student Survey revealed that for all skills a very high percentage of students were either 

very or somewhat satisfied. The percentage range from 70% (problem resolution) to 88% 

(for written communication) shows that the Ministry’s skills guidelines are more than met. 

Similarly, Faculty surveys all score over 60% (somewhat and very satisfied) on all skills 

levels, with learn on your own attaining the lowest percentage score (67%). Alumni surveys 



Political Science Self-Study Report  21 

 

also revealed a high percentage of satisfaction with scores ranging from 68% (group 

collaboration) to 92% (written and oral communication). For the discipline sector, all the 

skills identified by the Ministry are either essential or very important, and such high 

satisfaction scores demonstrate not only that the program meets the Ministry’s essential 

skills, but is also adapted for work after graduation. 

Learning Outcomes 

Most courses (approx. 75% of them) within the program are either overdue or up for review 

in 2021 (Note: the Department wanted to complete this self-study and the program review 

process before changing and adapting its course outlines)and its outlines will need to meet 

the new BA framework learning outcomes which are: 

1. Critical Thinking: Critically analyze one’s own and others’ thinking, and develop logical 

arguments supported by credible evidence.  

2. Communication: Communicate clearly and concisely considering audience and purpose, 

and demonstrate the ability to effectively use different mediums, formats and styles.  

3. Problem-Solving & Innovation: Develop multiple approaches to identify and address 

problems, implement strategies for action, and evaluate outcomes.  

4. Social Justice: Examine the impact of historical and ongoing injustices on contemporary 

societies and cultures; identify and explore ways of addressing systemic barriers to 

equality and inclusiveness.  

5. Intercultural Awareness: Engage and interact with diverse cultural traditions, knowledge 

systems, and perspectives; explore seeing the world through someone else's eyes, and 

articulate diverse perspectives.  

6. Information & Research Literacy: Articulate and investigate research questions using 

diverse methods; and draw on primary and secondary resources to make original 

analyses and observations.  

7. Numerical Literacy: Identify and interpret patterns of data, consider specific numerical 

values and statistics in the context of larger data sets, and interpret graphical 

representations of numerical information.  

8. Professionalism, Teamwork & Accountability: Manage time effectively and demonstrate 

awareness of one's skills, habits and abilities; collaborate with others respectfully; be 

accountable for one's actions. 

 

Currently, the Department feels confident that we are meeting the following learning 

outcomes: 1, 2, 3, 6 and 8. There are opportunities for the other learning outcomes to be met 

and this would become clearer as a full program and curriculum revision is undertaken. The 

learning outcomes will have to be better articulated to fit in the general BA requirements. A 

comprehensive review in updating course outlines and program competencies needs to be 

undertaken following this program review. For example, the learning outcomes need to 

reflect more accurately the higher order skills students will develop. We will refine the 

language in order to meet best practices and learning objectives.  

Credential-Level Specifications 

Currently, there is only very limited credential level specifications to take even upper-level 

courses. While having only limited specifications might seem like a good idea, this often 

leads to problems with students not mastering certain concepts or skills. For example, to take 

any 3000-level courses, one needs to have any 18 credits of 1100-level or higher, including 



Political Science Self-Study Report  22 

 

any 3 POLI credits. For example, a student who may have taken POLI 1120 – Canadian 

politics and government could take POLI 3147 - Foreign Policies of the Major Powers 

without the proper introductory courses of international relations. Similarly, a student who 

took POLI 1110 – Ideology and Politics can also be in this course. Without a basic 

understanding of International Relations theories, and concepts, the gap in the pre-requisite 

background information and knowledge can be detrimental to both students and instructors. 

Again, this would be addressed during a program revision following this self-study. 

Admissions and Prerequisites 

We do not have a limited intake of students. The minimum requirements to be admitted to 

the University have to be satisfied. As per the credential-level specifications mentioned 

above, a better laddering of courses with specific courses needed to take upper-level courses 

might be necessary. However, as noted by student comments in the survey, course options 

and offerings must follow suit.  

 

Degree-Level Standards (if applicable) 

If the program offers degrees, assess how they meet each of the following Degree Quality 

Assessment Board degree-level standards:  

• Depth and breadth of knowledge: The Department offers courses in many different sub-

disciplines of Political Science, such as Canadian politics, International Relations, Political 

Theory and Comparative Politics. There are a great number of students from outside the 

program who take POLI 1110 for example as a general elective. Furthermore, a number of 

our courses (POLI 2150, POLI 1110 and others) are required for other programs (CRIM, 

NGO certificate for example). That said, as the course offerings at the upper-level (especially 

4000-level) show, there are limited options for students to specialize with only Special 

Topics courses, and other limited choices that are not offered frequently (a major critique 

from students’ surveys). 

• Knowledge of methodologies and research: All POLI courses have, as evaluation criteria, 

a written research paper or performing some form of research. However, POLI does not have 

its own Methods course, and students who want to major or minor in POLI must complete 

SOCI 2260. 

• Application of knowledge: POLI 4500 Model United Nations, offers students the 

opportunity to apply their knowledge through experiential learning.  

• Communication skills: Developing communication skills is crucial in any career in politics. 

As such, students in most of our courses, have to do oral presentations.  

• Awareness of limits of knowledge: Students, in all courses, are exposed to various theories, 

writers, and perspectives so they can be aware of their limits of knowledge. Furthermore, 

they are confronted to their own political biases and limitations by working on debate papers, 

critical analysis for example. • Professional capacity/autonomy: Students, for example, can 

take a special topics course at the upper level in which they develop political campaign 

materials.  

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum 

Student Survey (Appendix A) reveals that most students (72%) were either somewhat 

satisfied or very satisfied with the curriculum offered by our program. However, it is 



Political Science Self-Study Report  23 

 

disarming to see that 20% of them were somewhat dissatisfied or very dissatisfied. Among 

the strengths, students point to class sizes (an asset at KPU) and the relationships they could 

build with their instructors.  

Furthermore, the student survey reveals the following satisfactory levels with the program: 

 

Program outcomes Very satisfied (% of 

students) 

Somewhat satisfied 

(% of students) 

Clearly and accurately present ideas and 

research 

41 44 

Develop knowledge of political systems 

across different cultures 

41 48 

Develop intercultural competencies 30 41 

Develop applied political skills including 

on election campaigns, NGOs, lobbying 

and survey analysis 

30 33 

Develop knowledge of Southeast Asia and 

South Asia political issues 

26 30 

Develop knowledge of the political 

influence of NGOs and non-government 

sectors 

33 52 

Develop knowledge of key historical 

events in political activism globally 

41 41 

Develop knowledge of opportunities for 

civic engagement 

30 41 

 

When it comes to essential skills, the survey results are as follow: 

Essential skills Very satisfied (% of 

students) 

Somewhat satisfied 

(% of students) 

Written communication 46 42 

Oral communication 54 27 

Group collaboration 46 42 

Critical analysis 31 54 

Problem resolution 35 35 

Learn on your own 46 35 

Reading and comprehension 38 50 

 

The high level of satisfaction for both the program competencies and essential skills do 

demonstrate that the program meets those objectives and is aligned with them. 

 

However, one recurring complaint was the course offering. For students, there are not 

enough courses offered in Political Science every semester, the offerings are often 

concentrated in lower-level courses (which are open to all students) and, as such, even where 

students are interested in majoring in Political Science, they tend to switch their major or 

change programs as they cannot fulfill their upper-level requirements. Following a 

curriculum mapping and program revision might lead us to the conclusion that offering a 

wide diversity of courses at all levels every semester would ensure that we retain students 



Political Science Self-Study Report  24 

 

and that there is an adequate preparation for the changing world and job market that our 

graduates will encounter. 

 

Students also point out that they would like to see concentrations or specializations to better 

target their major and also the development of an honours program. Also mentioned was the 

need to advertise more widely the NGO certificate and Policy Studies (minor or major). This 

is noted and is part of our recommendations and conclusions in this chapter. 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum 

In the survey sent to faculty, it was highlighted that 67% of faculty were somewhat satisfied 

by the overall curriculum, and 33% of the faculty were very satisfied with the curriculum. 

The strengths identified were the following: 

1. The program prepares students for careers in international organizations, governmental 

and non-governmental sectors. Additionally, it gives them a solid foundation to continue 

their studies at the graduate level and in law school. 

2. The program prepares students with knowledge of political systems, governance and 

ideologies, political participation, political socialization, globalization, multiculturalism, 

environmentalism and the role of Indigenous peoples in Canadian polity. It instills the 

virtues of citizenship or how a citizen is both a participant and a ruler in governance. It 

prepares students to understand the change, development and motion in political systems 

in Canada and the world. 

The faculty survey reveals the strengths and weaknesses of the program. When it comes to 

the program competencies, the following two results are worth discussing. Only 17% of 

Faculty are very satisfied with how the program prepares students to develop knowledge of 

Southeast Asia and South Asia political issues. Similarly, only 17% are somewhat satisfied 

with competency 7 (Develop knowledge of key historical events in political activism 

globally). As pointed out in their comments, faculty believe in the importance of 

strengthening the course offerings in Southeast and South Asia and developing more 

specializations within the program. 

 

It is worth noting that the level of satisfaction for the essential skills is quite high. For 

example, 83% of faculty are either somewhat or very satisfied when it comes to written 

communication, oral communication, group collaboration, critical analysis, and reading and 

comprehension. All faculty said that the program prepares students for problem resolution. 

Although not necessarily curriculum related, the diversity of faculty was noted as a strength. 

This is an important aspect to note as diverse faculty (ethnicity, gender, age, etc.) do bring 

diverse viewpoints which benefit our students. Nevertheless, some weaknesses were also 

pointed out. It should be noted that only 50% were somewhat satisfied with the prerequisites. 

This is a major area of discontent and room for improvement. The need for more 

prerequisites might seem like a barrier to attracting students, but it has many benefits, such 

as ensuring that students, especially those who pursue a major in Political Science, would 

have acquired the major concepts and knowledge before pursuing upper-level courses. 

However, whether better scaffolding or adding prerequisites is the best option for the 

program, a full program revision is necessary.  Right now, we can say that the requirements 

to pursue 3000-level courses are 18 credits at the 1000 level with only 3 credits in POLI 



Political Science Self-Study Report  25 

 

(some courses point to specific courses in POLI but still only require 3 credits in POLI). The 

4000-level courses have similar requirements. This is insufficient and we often end up with 

students in their second year doing upper-level courses who are often ill-prepared. 

Developing a road map and making more courses in POLI required to pursue those courses 

will be highly beneficial for both our students (who will be better prepared) and faculty. It 

is quite frequent to see such road maps at other institutions.  

It was also highlighted by faculty that we should develop and expand the domain of 

comparative politics in both developed and developing states and  offer more courses on 

some regional issues (such as South Asia and Southeast Asia where a lot of the student 

population comes from). 

Career/Further Education Preparedness  

Career Pathways 

For many students, their decision to attend KPU Political Science was based on career 

prospects and their ability to achieve their career goals. From alumni survey, it is noted that 

about a quarter of students end up working in government agencies, others work in law firms 

or private businesses (banks, consulting firms). Most alumni say that they are somewhat or 

very satisfied with how the program helped them achieve that. In fact, for the statement: 

“Relevance of program curriculum to my career goals”, 44% were somewhat satisfied and 

37% very satisfied. And 63% were either somewhat satisfied or very satisfied with the 

preparation they received to achieve the career they wanted. Some work in government 

agencies or other sectors. However, it is worth noting that very few were satisfied (only, 

30% were either somewhat or very satisfied, but most importantly 30% were very 

dissatisfied) by the course offering. Alumni Preparedness for Work/Further Education.  

 

Alumni surveys reveal that 80% of them were somewhat satisfied or very satisfied as to how 

the program helped them get ready for work or further education. Among the strengths they 

identified, there are passionate instructors and close-knit cohort/community. However, they 

mentioned major drawbacks and offered solutions such as more hands-on learning. This 

could be achieved by making an internship requirement (or option) as part of the major for 

example. Some other suggestions include having evaluations that are more related to the 

future work they might be doing (such as writing briefing notes, media analysis, etc.) Finally, 

the lack of Indigenous content and courses was pointed out. This is an important aspect and 

one that the department is taking very seriously. 
 
The Discipline/Sector Feedback shows that students who graduated from the political 

science program were either very prepared (67%) or extremely prepared (33%) to work for 

the organization they were hired in (see Appendix F). However, although those numbers are 

great, the very small number of respondents (3!) should also be noted. Better and more 

connected links with the “industry” will help the program to improve and gather more 

student feedback. 



Political Science Self-Study Report  26 

 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes 

The Department is really small and does not have a curriculum committee. For a fulsome 

review process to happen, a team will need to be formed or a faculty member be given time 

release to undertake the curriculum mapping or use accountable time and get back to the 

Department with the full picture. Based on the data collected in this program review, a 

thorough re-visit of the program outcomes, and curriculum alignment should be undertaken 

to meet the needs of this self-study and the new BA framework. The Department will need 

assistance from the Teaching and Learning Commons to go through all the steps. The 

outcomes of such a revision may support the creation of new courses to increase offerings 

to students as well as capitalize on partnerships with other Faculties and programs. Since the 

courses are due for their 5-year review, this is an ideal time to complete this work.  

 

There needs to be a consideration of the prerequisite requirements for some 1000 and 2000 

level Political Science courses to encourage entry from other Faculties. As Political Science 

is a core area of studies for many Faculties and Departments such as Business, History, Asian 

Studies, Criminology and Philosophy, it is important to consider opportunities to embrace 

these students. For example, Political Science 2121 Law and Politics, is a foundation course 

about the Charter of Rights and Freedoms that imparts essential knowledge for many 

students in other areas. The prerequisite for this course could be adjusted.   

The Department is really small and does not have a curriculum committee. For a fulsome 

review process to happen, a team will need to be formed or a faculty member be given time 

release or accountable time to undertake the curriculum mapping and get back to the 

Department with the full picture. Based on the data collected in this program review, a 

thorough re-visit of the program outcomes, and curriculum alignment should be undertaken 

to meet the needs of this self-study and the new BA framework. The Department will need 

assistance from the Teaching and Learning Commons to go through all the steps. The 

outcomes of such a revision may support the creation of new courses to increase offerings 

to students as well as capitalize on partnerships with other Faculties and programs. Since the 

courses are due for their 5-year review, this is an ideal time to complete this work.  

 

There needs to be a consideration of the prerequisite requirements for some 1000 and 2000 

level Political Science courses to encourage enrolments by students from other Faculties. As 

Political Science is a core area of studies for many Faculties and Departments such as 

Business, History, Asian Studies, Criminology and Philosophy, it is important to consider 

opportunities to embrace these students. For example, Political Science 2121 Law and 

Politics, is a foundation course about the Charter of Rights and Freedoms that imparts 

essential knowledge for many students in other areas. The prerequisite for this course could 

be adjusted.   

Summary and Recommendations 

The program strengths are certainly the essential skills as surveys from students, faculty and 

alumni show a moderate level of satisfaction. The department also seems to prepare students 

for their future careers as the discipline/sector specific survey revealed.  

 

This self-study reflects the following opportunities for development to enhance the program: 

(1) To better prepare students for the diversity of careers a degree in political science can 



Political Science Self-Study Report  27 

 

offer them, (2) To ensure that a diversity of views and courses are accessible to our students 

which would both meet our learning outcomes and the overall objective of the University to 

be more diverse and inclusive. 

 

To achieve these outcomes, the following steps are recommended: 

1) Program revision. 

2) Revisit program competencies and outcomes. 

3) Assess the need for improved scaffolding and/or pre-requisites. 

4) Consider new electives to better prepare students and offer a diversity of POLI courses. 

5) Develop the program into more specific areas of specialization such as: 

a) Canadian and local politics  

b) International/Global politics 

c) Political theory  

d) Comparative politics 

6) Merge or be more proactive in teaming up with policy studies by collaborating more 

and expanding our offering in public policy and public administration. It will also help 

the program improve the competencies related to NGOs and activism. Other programs 

at KPU (NGO certificate for example) could also be merged or fused here and benefit 

from a more flexible offering. The recommendations have noted a goal to consult more 

broadly with other KPU Departments and community organizations.  

 

The self-study also points out that a diversity of views and courses are important. As such, 

to ensure that a diversity of views and courses are accessible to our students which would 

both meet our learning outcomes and the overall objective of the University to be more 

diverse and inclusive, it is recommended to: 

- Expand the course offerings and develop more courses in Southeast and South Asia 

(Chinese politics for example) 

- Develop a course on gender in politics. Although not mentioned in the survey (not a 

question asked, hence no data on it), departments of political science across the Lower 

Mainland (and in Canada) in general have such a course (See: 

https://www.ufv.ca/calendar/current/CourseDescriptions/POSC.htm; 

http://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2021/summer/courses/pol/316.html; 

https://politics.ubc.ca/research/research-areas/gender-in-politics/ In order for the program to 

remain competitive (and frankly to be up to date), such a course is really needed.  

- Ensure indigenous components in targeted courses such as: POLI 1110 (Ideology and 

Politics), POLI 1120 (Canadian Government and Politics) (and others). Recommendations 

in the next 10-year phase are committed to expanding more inclusive and sensitive 

Indigenous content, First Nations Guest Speakers and Community networking that serve as 

bridges into First Nations Communities.   

- Develop an Honors program, in order to retain more students in the Major. This comment 

was made in both the student and faculty surveys respectively. 

 

 

https://www.ufv.ca/calendar/current/CourseDescriptions/POSC.htm
http://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2021/summer/courses/pol/316.html
https://politics.ubc.ca/research/research-areas/gender-in-politics/


Political Science Self-Study Report  28 

 

The program strengths are certainly the essential skills as surveys from students, faculty and 

alumni show a moderate level of satisfaction. The department also seems to prepare students 

for their future careers as the discipline/sector specific survey revealed.  

 

This self-study reflects the following opportunities for development to enhance the program: 

(1) To better prepare students for the diversity of careers a degree in political science can 

offer them, (2) To ensure that a diversity of views and courses are accessible to our students 

which would both meet our learning outcomes and the overall objective of the University to 

be more diverse and inclusive. 

 

To achieve these outcomes, the following steps are recommended: 

1) Revisit program competencies and outcomes. 
2) Program revision.   
3) Assess the need for improved scaffolding and/or pre-requisites. 

4) Consider new electives to better prepare students and offer a diversity of POLI courses. 

5) Develop the program into more specific areas of specialization such as: 

- Canadian and local politics,  
- International/Global politics, 
- Political theory,  
- Comparative politics. 

6) Merge or be more proactive in teaming up with policy studies by collaborating more 

and expanding our offering in public policy and public administration. Similarly, the 

same could be done with other programs such as the NGO certificate. The 

recommendations have noted a goal to consult more broadly with other KPU 

Departments and community organizations.  

 

The self-study also points out that a diversity of views and courses are important. As such, 

to ensure that a diversity of views and courses are accessible to our students which would 

both meet our learning outcomes and the overall objective of the University to be more 

diverse and inclusive, it is recommended to: 

70 7) Expand the course offerings and develop more courses on Southeast and South Asia 

(Chinese politics for example) 
 8) Develop a course on gender in politics. Although not mentioned in the survey (not a 

question asked, hence no data on it), departments of political science across the Lower 

Mainland (and in Canada) in general have such a course (See: 

https://www.ufv.ca/calendar/current/CourseDescriptions/POSC.htm; 

http://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2021/summer/courses/pol/316.html; 

https://politics.ubc.ca/research/research-areas/gender-in-politics/ In order for the program to 

remain competitive (and frankly to be up to date), such a course is really needed.  

15) Ensure indigenous components in targeted courses such as: POLI 1110 (Ideology and 

Politics), POLI 1120 (Canadian Government and Politics) (and others). Recommendations 

in the next 10-year phase are committed to expanding more inclusive and sensitive 

Indigenous content, Indigenous Guest Speakers and Community networking that serve as 

bridges into Indigenous Communities.   

https://www.ufv.ca/calendar/current/CourseDescriptions/POSC.htm
http://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2021/summer/courses/pol/316.html
https://politics.ubc.ca/research/research-areas/gender-in-politics/


Political Science Self-Study Report  29 

 

 Quality of Instructional Design 

Delivery Modes 

Range of modes 

Until March of 2020, all POLI courses have been classroom-centered, with a maximum of 

35 students per class at the 1000- to 3000- level, and 25 in our 4000-level courses (all of 

which are considered ‘seminar’ courses). In this classroom environment, a variety of 

teaching formats are used, including lectures, seminar discussion, small group learning, 

debates, and in-class simulation exercises. Occasionally instruction moves outside the 

conventional classroom, to utilize computer labs, library labs, or for off-campus field trips. 

A survey of political science students suggests considerable support for this approach to 

program delivery, with 84% of respondents stating that they were somewhat or very satisfied 

with these modes of instruction (see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). A survey of 

faculty suggests the same: 84% of faculty are also somewhat/very satisfied with the range 

of instructional modes (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). 

 

A fully remote mode of teaching had not been offered in POLI courses until March of 2020, 

when all instructors were required to quickly pivot to online instruction. We remain in a fully 

remote teaching mode until at least September 2021, and possibly longer. As such, from the 

summer of 2020 until the end of 2021, most POLI courses have been offered exclusively 

online, and many courses were also offered asynchronously. Anecdotal evidence suggests 

that political science students see the benefit of face-to-face interaction. Survey data (beyond 

political science) suggests that some students can also see benefits in remote delivery, such 

as lower levels of anxiety during class discussions, more time for study instead of 

commuting, and better accommodation for students with disabilities (see Appendix D, 

Remote Learning Survey Infographic). As such, there appears to be some appetite and 

opportunity to offer some instruction in an online (and possibly asynchronous) format on an 

ongoing basis. During program and course revisions, we will evaluate the best delivery mode 

for each course. For example, the department could develop hybrid courses, meaning that 

part of a POLI course would be offered synchronously in the classroom (or similar face-to-

face environment), and part of the course offered in a remote environment such as Moodle, 

either synchronously or asynchronously. Given some (albeit limited) positives associated 

with remote learning, as well as new risks and uncertainties faced by higher education in 

general, the POLI department will explore opportunities to develop hybrid courses which 

use a ‘blended’ format for instruction.   

Accommodating Diverse Learning Styles 

 

POLI instructors believe in accommodating the diverse learning styles of our students. The 

modes of instruction we employ can engage a variety of learning styles often within the same 

lesson. For example, a single lesson might engage assimilative learning via lecture, 

convergent learning via conceptual discussion, divergent learning via videos/readings of 

concrete political scenarios, and accommodative learning via group work or political 

simulations (Kolb, 1984). The movement between reflective observation and ‘learning-by-

doing’ is intrinsic to our modes of teaching and is evident even within individual lessons. As 

such, 80% of political science students reported that they were somewhat or very satisfied 



Political Science Self-Study Report  30 

 

with POLI instructors’ ability to accommodate diverse learning styles (see Appendix A, 

Student Survey Report). Faculty reported slightly lower levels of satisfaction, with 67% 

somewhat or very satisfied with the extent to which diverse learning styles are 

accommodated (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). 

 

Furthermore, POLI instructors accommodate requests made by accessibility services, 

regarding students who have special learning requirements. Looking ahead, there is an 

opportunity to extend accommodations in a way that might benefit under-reported need for 

accommodation. Moving to a blended mode of instruction would allow students to have 

asynchronous access to resources that they could then replay as needed (such as a 

PowerPoint with embedded audio files, or a videotaped lecture with closed captioning). 

These delivery modes would accommodate learners with special needs (such as visual or 

auditory impairments) as well as English as Second Language learners – who tend not to 

report need for learning accommodation. Moreover, hybrid modes can also be used to ‘flip 

the classroom’, so that students can digest the more reflective components of course content 

at their own pace (i.e., readings and lectures), thus allowing the instructor to use face-to-face 

interaction for more ‘learning-by-doing’ components, as well as more one-on-one or small 

group instruction. The POLI department will investigate opportunities to develop hybrid 

POLI courses.  

Ensuring emotional and physical safety.  

 

For political science, equity, diversity, and inclusion are not mere descriptors of appropriate 

educational practice, they are substantive elements of what we examine – namely, power. 

Therefore, creating and sustaining a supportive and collaborative learning environment is 

paramount for effective instruction of political science. POLI instructors do this in a number 

of ways, and typically early in each course. Some instructors discuss respect and integrity, 

the benefits of drawing from heterogeneous experiences or viewpoints, as well as the 

difference between safety and comfort. These class-wide conversations establish guidelines 

for a safe and respectful learning environment, which also allows us to turn conflicting 

opinions or discomfort into opportunities for growth and learning. Other instructors use 

activities which establish a social contract for the ‘citizens’ in a course, activities which 

entail input and buy-in from the students regarding the rules and guidelines for appropriate 

behavior. Whatever the method utilized, POLI instructors are careful to establish and 

maintain safe and respectful learning environments, and spaces where equity, diversity and 

inclusion are possible. This has been noted by students and faculty. 76% of political science 

students reported that they were somewhat or very satisfied with POLI instructors’ processes 

for ensuring students’ emotional and physical safety in the learning environment, and further 

16% were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied(see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). 67% 

of faculty reported that they were somewhat or very satisfied with processes for ensuring 

student safety (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). Finally, POLI instructors utilize 

the Early Alert System if individual students appear to be struggling, in order to get them 

the learning, emotional or physical supports they need for success.    

Range and Value of Experiential Learning Opportunities.  

 

Students retain about 10% of what they read and 20% of what they hear, but up to 90% of 

what they themselves do and say (Stice, 1987). Rather than transmitting knowledge to a 



Political Science Self-Study Report  31 

 

passive audience, POLI instructors try to facilitate ‘learning-by-doing’, a learning paradigm 

where students are active in the discovery, processing and application of information. 80% 

of political science students reported that they were somewhat or very satisfied with 

opportunities for experiential learning (see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). However, 

just 33% of faculty are somewhat satisfied with opportunities for experiential learning (see 

Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). Examples of experiential learning and active learning 

techniques are provided below.  

 

POLI instructors frequently use active learning techniques in the classroom environment, 

such as problem- and team-based learning activities, total physical response exercises, and 

simulations of voting systems of Intergovernmental Organizations. Regarding the latter, 

POLI 4500: Model United Nations is a course devoted to simulation, and it develops 

students’ understanding of International Relations as well as cultivates interpersonal skills 

through experiential learning. One Model UN team emerged from this course to become 

award winners at MUN simulations in Vancouver, Portland, Melbourne, Brussels, and Seoul 

(KPU Newsroom, 2015). In another course, POLI 4190: Special Topics in Canadian 

Politics, students create their own political party as part of a sustained project over the 

duration of the semester. Finally, political science students have multiple opportunities to 

engage in applied research, either within specific lessons (as case studies which use real data 

from public indices), as directed studies (vis-à-vis ARTS 3991/3992/3993 courses involving 

research directed by POLI faculty), or as paid research assistants in projects conducted by 

POLI faculty. Students have numerous experiential learning opportunities, some as 

individual lessons within a course, others integral to an entire course or project.  

 

Experiential learning is also manifest outside the conventional classroom environment. 

POLI instructors have taken students for off-campus field trips to polling stations (during 

federal elections, as part of POLI 1120: Canadian Government and Politics), and even to 

the provincial legislative assembly in Victoria (as part of POLI 3500: Public Debate in 

Politics). One instructor initiated a ‘climate change student ambassador program’ which 

brings KPU students of politics to the broader community, to discuss and disseminate 

information on climate change policies and politics. Furthermore, political science students 

have an opportunity to experience a field school devoted to politics and policy. One POLI 

instructor is also director for the European Union Study Tour and Internship Program, a 

three-week study tour and optional two-month internship placement, which takes Canadian 

university students to Europe each May. This field school was cancelled in 2020 and 2021 

(due to the global pandemic), but when it resumes in 2022, KPU political science students 

will have the opportunity to participate in this immersive learning experience. The 

department aspires to offer more field school opportunities, internships, and co-op activities 

when it is again safe to resume these kinds of activities.   

  

Student satisfaction with program delivery 

 

Political science students have expressed reasonably high levels of satisfaction with the 

delivery of the political science program. According to the Student Satisfaction Survey, 74% 

of students were somewhat or very satisfied with their experience in KPU’s political science 

program (see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). A few general comments from surveyed 

students reflect the strength of program delivery: “I particularly like the small class sizes 

especially for classes that can carry debates and discussions”; “The instructors for this 



Political Science Self-Study Report  32 

 

program excel in presenting relevant information and course material”; and “A strong mix 

of instructors whose specializations encompass a broad range of political science topics”. 

However, students have commented on areas for improvement in program delivery, with 

one comment suggesting that class times are too long: “It would be great if class would be 

[changed] from 3 hours to 1.5 hours twice a week, as lectures can tend to become tiresome”. 

There are ways that faculty can grapple with this, on a course-by-course or even lesson-by-

lesson basis, including greater implementation of project-based and inquiry-based learning. 

At the program level, the implementation of hybrid courses should facilitate greater 

opportunity to ‘flip the classroom’. This issue is revisited on the summary and 

recommendations section.  

  

Faculty satisfaction with program delivery 

Political science faculty have expressed high levels of satisfaction with the delivery of the 

political science program. According to the Faculty Satisfaction Survey, 84% of faculty are 

somewhat or very satisfied with their experiences in the political science program, and 17% 

are somewhat dissatisfied (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). Faculty perspectives 

on overall instructional design will be discussed in more detail in section four (‘Faculty 

Experience’), yet what follows is a brief comment on the comparatively low levels of faculty 

satisfaction regarding experiential learning. Despite the range and value of experiential 

learning opportunities discussed above, and the relatively high levels of satisfaction 

expressed by students, faculty believe they should be doing more. It would seem that faculty 

are well-engaged with experiential learning within the conventional classroom setting (using 

a wide variety of active learning techniques), yet we are not yet bringing experiential 

learning outside the classroom – into broader political communities, from local to global. 

The Summary and Recommendations section of this chapter will elaborate on ways we can 

ameliorate this. Assessment Methods 

Types of assessment 

 

POLI instructors use a wide range of assessment techniques. Summative assessment 

methods include written exams, quizzes, research papers, argumentative papers, policy 

briefs, class participation, and reports. To evaluate cognitive and interpersonal skills, 

instructors also incorporate different types of summative assessment, such as oral 

presentations, video presentations, structured debates, and participation in simulations or 

team-based learning activities. More complex active learning techniques can also involve 

summative assessment of affective learning (i.e., students’ sense of growth, maturity, 

situational awareness, and so on). This form of student development is assessed vis-à-vis 

reflective journals, self-evaluation, and peer evaluation.   

 

Where possible, instructors also deploy formative assessment methods. Formative 

assessments might have a summative (grading) component, but the important feature is that 

they are iterative and allow students to build on instructor feedback and their own practice. 

Examples of formative assessments include weekly participation assignments, journaling, 

and scaffolded assignments (such as paper submissions preceded by an outline, draft, or 

annotated bibliography). As all assessments are intended to be broadly formative towards 

general course learning outcomes, POLI instructors avoid very high stakes summative 

assessments, and try to spread assessment out over the course, as well as provide at least one 

assessment early in a course. Instructors also provide much individualized qualitative 



Political Science Self-Study Report  33 

 

feedback to students (in the form of specific commentary on assignments. 84% of students 

are somewhat or very satisfied with the feedback that POLI instructors provide (see 

Appendix A, Student Survey Report). 

  

Are assessments clear, accurate and transparent? Are standards consistent across 

program?  

 
Instructors use clear assessments which offer valid and reliable indicators of whether 

students have achieved the course learning outcomes. Evaluation schemata are always 

provided to students from the first day of a course, and often specific instructions on 

assignments are provided as well. Some instructors have adopted the use of detailed grading 

rubrics, which make the grading process and expectations transparent to students. Political 

science students report that 88% are somewhat or very satisfied with the clarity of the 

information they receive on how they will be evaluated (see Appendix A, Student Survey 

Report). 100% of faculty are somewhat/very satisfied with the extent to which students are 

provided clear information on evaluation (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report).  

 

There appears to be broad consistency of assessment standards across the program. 

Instructors frequently discuss grading standards during department meetings, as well as 

current best practice in assessment. Moreover, instructors try to provide consistent 

approaches to ‘issues’ in assessment, such as plagiarism and other academic integrity 

violations. Students and faculty both report that 84% are somewhat or very satisfied with 

the consistency of assessment standards across the program (see Appendix A, Student 

Survey Report and Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report).  

Do assessments allow students to demonstrate attainment of competencies and learning 

outcomes? 

 
Students at all levels of the program are asked to thoughtfully engage in politics through 

assigned readings, writing assignments, as well as demonstrate critical thinking and basic 

research skills. Our 1000- and 2000-level courses put greater emphasis on assessing 

fundamental learning processes, with a focus on core concepts and the skills required for 

students to proceed with upper-level coursework. According to the revised Bloom’s 

taxonomy on learning (Anderson et al., 2001), this learning process begins with 

remembering, understanding, and applying knowledge. Knowledge in this context can refer 

to factual, conceptual, procedural and even metacognitive knowledge. Lower-level courses 

establish the basic parameters of the discipline, the fundamental issues and debates in 

political life; and how concepts and theory can be applied to specific problems. Yet students 

at the lower levels are also asked to begin developing the more advanced skills of analysis 

(making sense of relevant materials and constructing arguments about them), evaluation 

(checking and critiquing concepts and theories), and creation (bringing together materials 

into research assignments, argumentative essays, and so on). What changes as students move 

along is less the nature of what is taught than the complexity of the materials, as well as 

increasing expectations that basic knowledge and skills are now in place, such that 

refinement and increased sophistication are achievable. In short, students in 3000- and 4000- 

level courses are asked to tackle more challenging materials and problems. There is a much 

heavier emphasis upon primary scholarly texts (rather than textbooks) and on presentations 



Political Science Self-Study Report  34 

 

and oral contributions. All 4000-level courses are  ‘seminar’ courses, such that students are 

expected to carry the discussion (under the aegis of the instructor), using advanced 

undergraduate materials and addressing more complex issues. Political science students 

report that 92% are somewhat or very satisfied with the range of assessments that let them 

demonstrate what they have learned (see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). Faculty 

report that 100% are somewhat or very satisfied with the extent to which assessment methods 

support – and allow students to demonstrate attainment of – program competencies and 

learning outcomes (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report).  

Student Experience 

Grade Distribution 

Longitudinally, the cumulative grade distributions for political science courses have been 

consistent over academic years 2015 to 2020. Compared (longitudinally) alongside the 

Faculty of Arts, political science courses have had slightly lower grade distributions (i.e., in 

relation to all other Arts courses over the same five-year period). This trend is neither 

anomalous nor alarming. For example, in academic year 2019/20, 80% of students in Arts 

courses received a grade of C or higher, whereas 75% of students in political science courses 

received a grade of C or higher. Grade distribution can also be measured longitudinally by 

examining the percentage of students who received a D- or F-grade or withdrew from a 

course (DFW rate), as well as the percentage of students who repeat a course (repeat rate), 

between 2015 to 2020. Consistent with mean grade distribution, political science courses 

had a higher DFW rate (ranging from 19% to 23% between 2015 and 2020) compared to the 

DFW rate for the Arts (ranging from 16% to 19% over the same period). The repeat rate is 

also lower for political science (3-5% of students repeat a course, depending on academic 

year) as compared to the Faculty of Arts (6-8% repeat a course) (see Appendix E, 

Administrative Data Report). These two metrics suggest that political science courses have 

a slightly higher rate of poor student performance, compared to the Arts in general, but not 

to the degree that it is an alarming issue. Overall, the difference between political science 

and the Arts in comparative grade distribution is marginal, and we cannot speculate here as 

to the causes.  

 

As might be expected from this, the mean grade point average (GPA) for political science 

students is also slightly below the overall distribution across the Arts. Longitudinally, 

political science students have been on average around 0.25 GPA lower than the mean GPA 

in the Arts, between 2015 and 2019. For example, in 2018/19, political science students had 

a cumulative GPA of 2.64 compared to 2.88 across the Arts. The academic year 2019/2020 

was somewhat anomalous across the entire Faculty of Arts, with a mean GPA of 3.02 (also 

with a greater standard deviation), with political science having a mean GPA of 2.72 (with 

a standard deviation consistent with previous academic years) (see Appendix E, 

Administrative Data Report). There appears to be a general trend of grade inflation across 

the Arts, with a sudden ‘spike’ evident in 2019/20. Is this ‘spike’ related to the quick pivot 

to remote learning as a result of the global pandemic? Will this trend continue? And what 

relationship is there between political science and other Arts programs when it comes to 

explaining this trend? These questions are difficult to answer at this time, yet will be subject 

to further investigation by the department. That said, when compared across all programs in 



Political Science Self-Study Report  35 

 

the Arts, the cumulative grade distribution and mean GPA distributions for political science 

are marginally lower than the Arts, yet still appropriate.  

Retention and Graduation Rates 

Retention can be measured across a program, by the percentage of students who receive a 

D, F or W grade (DFW rate by year), and the percentage of students who repeat a course 

(repeat rate per year), by the number of students who move from one level of the program 

to the next (seat numbers), and by how student GPAs improve as they move from 1000- to 

4000- level courses (mean GPA by year). This data was measured using the academic year 

2019/2020, and then compared across the Faculty of Arts, to assess if program retention rates 

are appropriate. The DFW rate (by year) and repeat rates (by year) for political science 

conform to patterns established across the Arts, albeit slightly higher. For example, the DFW 

rate for first-year political science students was 22%, as compared to 18% for first-year Arts 

students, and the DFW rate for fourth-year political science students was 11% compared to 

7% for Arts. Although possibly an outlier, the repeat rate for level four political science 

students was 10% in 2019/20, as compared to only 4% across the Arts. Yet there were also 

lower repeat rates for 1000-level political science courses (4%) as compared to 1000-level 

Arts courses (9%). The mean grade distributions by level are similar, although political 

science students have lower GPAs on average (around 0.20 lower) when compared to the 

Arts as a whole. Whatever the cause for these slightly lower grades across political science 

courses, across levels, and across academic years, our mild concern is that this has some 

effect on student retention in the political science program. At least for 2019/20, seat 

numbers in political science do not conform to the patterns established by Arts programs, in 

general. One expects a large number of ‘level 1’ seats, a stark drop-off to ‘level 2’ seats (i.e., 

2000-level courses), a small decline from ‘level 2’ to ‘level 3’ seats, and then another drop-

off in seat numbers to ‘level 4’. The pattern established across the Arts is as follows: level 2 

seats are about 25% the number for level 1, level 3 seats are marginally fewer than level 2 

(only 459 fewer seats in total, a 7% difference), and level 4 seats are about a third of the 

number of seats in level 3 (2061 compared to 6421). We see some of this pattern in political 

science, but the drop off from level 1 to level 2 is much starker than the general Arts: level 

2 seats are only about 10% of level 1, and then level 3 seats actually increase from level 2 

(153 at level 3, versus only 93 at level 2), before the expected drop-off to 82 seats at level 4 

(see Appendix E, Administrative Data Report). It is difficult to ascertain the cause for this 

unusual pattern, but it is likely that political science’s ‘service’ to other (larger) programs is 

part of the explanation. Many students in other programs appear to take level 1 political 

science courses as electives, perhaps because they recognize the utility of understanding 

politics and policy for other areas of study. Another potential factor is that level 2 political 

science course offerings are insufficient in variety or number, so students are compelled to 

find electives elsewhere. Comments from political science students suggest that this could 

be a factor – although not necessarily the primary cause – for somewhat weak student 

retention in political science. One student commented, “offer more sections across the 

different campuses instead of shuttling everyone to the Surrey campus for most upper-level 

courses”, while another asked for “added courses in summer semester at the upper level” 

(see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). A final theory pertains to student decision making 

regarding credentials, which will be elaborated below in the discussion on graduation rates. 

However, we should also not assume that these potential causes for slightly weaker retention 

are mutually exclusive.    

 



Political Science Self-Study Report  36 

 

Graduation rates provide information about median years to graduation, as well as graduate 

‘headcount’ (number of credentials awarded, by academic year). With no certificates or 

diplomas offered by political science, we only compare 2-year Associates of Arts (AA) 

degrees and 4-year Bachelor of Arts (BA) degrees. Furthermore, the year 2016/17 appears 

to be an outlier both for Arts and for political science, so we focus on other years when 

evaluating overall trends. The data on median years to graduation is inconclusive. Students 

in political science appear to take about the same amount of time to complete a degree as 

students across the Arts, although the sample sizes for political science credentials are too 

low to draw meaningful conclusions. The graduation headcounts in political science are 

stable and increasing, in a pattern that mirrors the Faculty of Arts in general. The AA in 

Political Science seems to be declining in popularity, with only one graduate in each of 2020 

and 2019, and zero in the previous two academic years. This was anticipated, because the 

BA in Political Science came online at KPU since the last program review. The number of 

BA Political Science graduates has increased each year since the 2015/2016 academic year 

(aside of the anomaly in 2016/2017), with our highest number of BAs awarded in 2020, at 

thirteen. This compares favorably to Arts overall, which had decreasing numbers of AA 

degrees, and major fluctuations in number of BAs awarded (with numbers in 2020 only just 

returning to numbers seen in 2015/16). The most remarkable change in graduation data has 

been in the number of diplomas awarded (which political science does not offer). Diplomas 

awarded have almost doubled between 2018 and 2019, and then doubled again between 2019 

and 2020 (see Appendix E, Administrative Data Report). Based on preliminary findings 

from (yet unpublished) research by a member of the political science department, our sense 

is that diplomas are highly attractive to international students (who also increase in number 

every year). When considered alongside retention rates (see above), one might surmise that 

international students are sampling 1000-level political science courses, but then not 

continuing in political science because there is no diploma in political science, and/or 

because offerings of upper-level political science course are too few.  

 

Although more data would be helpful for drawing conclusions, there appears to be slight 

barriers to retaining students in political science, and having them progress at a reasonable 

pace. Aligning to the theories presented above, barriers could be one or all of: political 

science courses have slightly lower grade distribution; international students avoid political 

science because it does not lead to a desirable credential; and/or there are not enough upper-

level courses on offer. Further investigation is required, but we can draw some preliminary 

conclusions about how to improve retention. The political science program is unlikely to 

simply give higher grades. Moreover, political science students express high levels of 

satisfaction with assessment (see section on Assessment Methods), suggesting that 

assessment is fair, and that it is the material which is challenging. We cannot change the 

credentials on offer. Perhaps our only immediate recourse is to make our program more 

appealing (to domestic and international students) so that more students consider a credential 

or even just additional elective courses in political science. As a department, we could make 

our range of 2000-, 3000-, and 4000-level courses more diverse and appealing to students. 

More on this in the Summary and Recommendations section, at the end of this chapter.  

Student Outcomes 

The Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training sets program targets across a range 

of measures, manifest as percentages of student outcomes (reported by alumni). Fourteen 

program alumni from 2017 to 2019 responded to polling, and this provides us with data on 



Political Science Self-Study Report  37 

 

student outcomes for the program. Alumni reported high levels of satisfaction (100%), a 

perception of high quality in the program (100%), and excellent skills development (96%) 

from their political science credentials and coursework. These metrics exceed Ministry 

targets. Amongst respondents, 79% indicated that they were currently employed, and 8.3% 

unemployed (the latter being just over the Ministry standard of 7.5%). Given how recently 

these students graduated, these employment numbers are satisfactory. What is less 

satisfactory is the usefulness of the credential and coursework to current employment. 55% 

reported that they had employment related to their studies (not in itself overly concerning – 

many credentials from the Arts lead to more tangential career trajectories). However, the 

only data point significantly below the Ministry standard is the reported ‘usefulness’ of the 

program for their employment outcome: at 73%, this is well below the 90% target set by the 

Ministry (see Appendix E, Administrative Data Report). It is difficult to know if this reported 

level of usefulness reflects shortcomings in the program. Certainly, students could be better 

informed about connections between what they learn in the program and what they will do 

for employment after completing their studies (likely truer for skills development than for 

the substantive content of political science courses). However, political science is not a 

program that is strictly – or even primarily – vocational. Training our students to be ‘labour-

market ready’ is arguably secondary to cultivating good citizenship. Critical thinking, an 

understanding of politics, and an awareness of political efficacy are hardly ‘job-specific 

skills’ in the conventional sense. These types of knowledge and skills likely make our 

students better at their post-graduate employment, yet our department is primarily motivated 

to help our students become better citizens (and arguably, more ethical human beings). 

Nonetheless, students could be better connected to potential post-graduation workplaces, to 

better understand how their political science knowledge and skills will be used in 

employment (see Summary and Recommendations section, at the end of this chapter). 

Student Satisfaction with Instruction 

Political science students report high levels of satisfaction with instruction in the program 

(see Appendix A, Student Survey Report for all data below). 74% of political science 

students are somewhat or very satisfied overall, with instruction in the program. Notably, 

another 22% were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied overall, leaving only 4% expressing some 

level of dissatisfaction with overall program instruction. Drilling down to specific elements 

of instruction, 84% of students are somewhat/very satisfied with instructors’ presentation of 

course material, and 80% are somewhat/very satisfied with instructors’ level of information 

about current developments in the discipline/sector. Student comments reflect this high level 

of satisfaction: “the professors of the political science department are highly organized, 

passionate and professional”; “the information learned from classes is very comprehensive”; 

and “KPU has some truly brilliant professors. I have had almost exclusively positive 

experiences with them”. Other comments reinforce these perceptions. Yet there are also 

comments that indicate areas for improvement. One comment pertains to use of technology: 

“…PowerPoints uploaded to Moodle could make classes more accessible for students who 

work a lot”. The development of online course content and even the development of hybrid 

courses could go some way to addressing this issue (see Summary and Recommendations 

section, at the end of this chapter). Another comment pertains to the topicality of course 

content: “There is not enough recent information shared. The news is shared, but nothing 

about stuff happening in the communities that we could be a part of.” This last comment 

suggests that our instruction design has currency, but sometimes lacks ‘locality’ (i.e., many 

current issues are discussed, yet perhaps not ones that feel immediate and local for some 



Political Science Self-Study Report  38 

 

students). Since the degree of ‘locality’ depends on the specific course, the perception of 

students, and the perception (as well as academic freedom) of the instructor, it would be 

inappropriate to mandate that instruction become more ‘localized’. Moreover, this is largely 

an issue of curriculum design, not instructional design. Yet inasmuch as instruction design 

can be connected to locality, our department could seek opportunities for experiential 

learning opportunities in the local community. More on this in the Summary and 

Recommendations section, at the end of this chapter. 

Faculty Experience 

Expertise and Qualifications 

The faculty in the program cover the full range of sub-disciplines in political science: 

Canadian politics, comparative politics, International Relations, political theory, as well as 

public policy and public administration. This extensive coverage is useful for a small 

department. Yet there are also specific areas of expertise where the faculty provide intensive 

focus: Canadian multiculturalism and political culture; international human rights and 

humanitarian interventions; global environmental governance; the European Union; South 

Asian politics; the politics of islands; theories of statehood and democratization; and political 

ideologies.     

  

There are seven members of the Department of Political Science, two of which are part-time 

(sessional) instructors. Five full-time instructors are all regularized. All faculty, including 

the two sessional faculty, meet the preferred academic requirements (i.e., all have a PhD in 

political science or International Relations). All have also met the preferred teaching 

requirements (i.e., have a record of teaching excellence at the post-secondary level). For a 

number of instructors in the department, this record of teaching excellence is extensive. 

Although experience outside academia is not required for a faculty position with this 

program, some faculty have related professional experience in the worlds of government, 

policy, or advocacy. One instructor held an executive position or high-level consultancy 

position with a development bank, an HR firm, and with the UN Development Program. 

Another instructor was a Judge with the Court of Canadian Citizenship for the BC and Yukon 

region (see Appendix F - Policy A13), Appendix G (Table of Minimum Qualifications) and 

Appendix H (CVs of Department Instructors)). In sum, the expertise and qualifications of 

faculty in the department far exceed the minimum requirements, and indeed, instructors 

bring a diverse range of expertise and experience to the program. 

 

 

The KPU Political Science Department is distinguished for diversity, dedication and a 

breadth of knowledge that touches upon all themes in modern political science and theory. 

Moreover, based upon the Student Survey (Appendix A), there is a high degree of student 

recognition for the qualities and skills of the KPU Political Science faculty. The Student 

Survey reflect the following observations: 

 

 63% of students are very satisfied with instructors’ ability to present course material.  



Political Science Self-Study Report  39 

 

 63% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ level of information and topic 

knowledge. 

 52% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ classroom teaching. 

 56% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ ability to accommodate 

diverse learning styles. 

 52% of students are very satisfied with instructors’ feedback to students. 

  

Maintenance of expertise and currency in the discipline/sector 

 

In addition to their heavy teaching load, faculty members have chosen to be active in 

research, publishing, and community outreach. Ross Pink has published two books on 

environmental politics within the last five years, co-founded an educational NGO called 

Global Water Rights, and has been a frequent invited speaker on water rights. As a 

complement to her several academic publications on nationalism, Valérie Vézina published 

a book on island nationalism in 2018 which was a finalist for two Canadian political science 

awards. She has also made appearances on news media as a political analyst. Having already 

published extensively and an internationally recognized expert on humanitarian 

interventions, and peace operations, Francis Abiew is currently co-authoring a forthcoming 

book on the International Criminal Court in The Hague. Shinder Purewal has published 

several academic books and articles on the politics of India and the Indian diaspora, has 

appeared on news media as a political analyst, and recently ran for office in federal politics. 

Conrad King has recent publications on education politics in Canada and Europe, and he is 

also the Director for the European Union Study Tour and Internship Program. Serdar Kaya 

has published several articles on statehood and the integration of Islamic immigrants in 

western liberal democracies. Tyler Chamberlain has been active in presenting his research 

on Canadian politics and political theory, which led to a best paper award at a 2019 academic 

conference as well as a forthcoming publication in the Canadian Political Science Review 

(see Appendix H, CVs of Department Instructors). Although the primary commitment of our 

instructors remains undergraduate teaching, our faculty represents a good mix of scholarly 

research, networking and outreach, institutional service, and applied political activity. 

Faculty Satisfaction with Instruction 

Faculty satisfaction is determined through an anonymous survey of political science faculty, 

conducted by the Office for Planning and Accountability. Seven faculty responded to this 

survey (for all data below, see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). As previously stated, 

84% of faculty are somewhat or very satisfied with their experiences in the political science 

program, and 17% are somewhat dissatisfied. Regarding overall instructional design, 

however, only 50% of faculty are somewhat or very satisfied, with the other 50% being 

somewhat dissatisfied. This dissatisfaction seems to stem more from limitations in the modes 

of program delivery, rather than dissatisfaction with methods of instruction or assessment. 

Faculty comments reflected general satisfaction with many elements of instructional design, 

such as: “a growing and dynamic program with innovative ideas”; “good instructors…but 

needs to be a bit more diverse”; and “in comparative analysis, our department is doing as 

well, if not more, than other departments of political science with given resources”. Positive 

elements about instructional design included multiple comments regarding the benefits of 

small class sizes, the high levels of engagement from both students and instructors, and the 



Political Science Self-Study Report  40 

 

diversity of instruction which can “allow students to develop critical thinking and problem-

solving skills”. Yet there are also comments on specific areas for improvement. Regarding 

assessment, there were faculty comments requesting “better grading criteria for written 

work” and the “[provision of] teaching and marking assistants”. The former can be addressed 

through departmental discussions (given suitable respect for academic freedom), while the 

latter is unlikely to occur given the current mandate of KPU as an institution. According to 

faculty, key areas for improving our instructional design include deepening the links to local 

community, especially if it could facilitate much needed experiential or even work placement 

opportunities. One faculty commented on the “growing links to the community” while 

another suggested that we still need “more community engagement”. There were multiple 

comments along the lines of the program needing “co-op and volunteer opportunities”, 

“more experiential learning would be of benefit”, and one instructor suggested “more guest 

speakers”. Clearly, there is a recognized need for the program to have a greater presence in 

the extra-university community, especially if this could facilitate networking, work-related 

experiences, or applied (experiential) learning for students. However, the local extra-

university community also imposes some geographical constraints, because, as one faculty 

commented: “the remote location of classes makes it difficult to get off campus to relevant 

sites for field trips”. Simply put, KPU campuses are not proximate to institutional ‘centers 

of power’ for even municipal politics, let alone provincial or federal politics. It will take 

some creative thinking to design program elements which involve experiential learning 

activities away from KPU campuses. 

Summary and Recommendations 

The political science program has high-quality instructional design, fulfilling KPU’s primary 

mandate as an undergraduate teaching institution. Indeed, given recent changes in credential 

offerings, the department perhaps exceeds expectations. The opportunity for KPU students 

to major in political science has only been a possibility since our last program review, and 

the number of BA Political Science graduates has increased each year. Indeed, when one 

considers the heavy teaching load, the small size of the department, credential changes, and 

the effects of the coronavirus pandemic, one could argue that our instructional design is very 

strong. Areas of particular strength include the high level of student and faculty engagement, 

the high degree of student satisfaction, the diversity of instructional modes effective for 

small class sizes, and the consistency, clarity and effectiveness of assessment methods. 

When it comes to the fundamentals of undergraduate instruction in political science, the 

program is doing very well.  

 

The program faces a number of challenges. For one, there are mild-to-moderate barriers 

regarding student retention and progression. In part, this is likely due to ‘growing pains.’ 

The relative newness of KPU’s BA Political Science might be deterring some students – 

especially international students – from perceiving its vocational utility and real-world 

application. Progression might also be hindered by the slightly lower grades (on average) 

that students earn in political science courses. A second challenge has emerged because of 

the global pandemic. Political science typically engenders high levels of student 

engagement, and there is growing evidence that student engagement has decreased due to 



Political Science Self-Study Report  41 

 

remote learning environments (King, forthcoming). Despite this, faculty have demonstrated 

considerable resourcefulness and adaptability with the sudden yet sustained pivot to remote 

teaching. It appears that faculty have been willing to learn new skills, techniques, and modes 

of instruction, which presents opportunities to improve instruction in areas beyond the 

conventional classroom. Eventually we will return to face-to-face instruction, but we should 

be learning now about which elements of instructional design should be retained from our 

remote teaching experiences. A third challenge is KPU’s lack of physical proximity to 

experiential learning opportunities specifically pertaining to politics and policy. Although 

geographical constraints can be overcome with creative instructional design, insufficient 

experiential learning outside the classroom has been further exacerbated by the coronavirus 

pandemic. Until the pandemic, there had been efforts to involve students in extra-university 

experiential learning (such as the Climate Change Ambassador program or the EU Study 

Tour). But efforts to bring KPU political science students out into wider political and policy 

communities had to be shelved until further notice. The challenge going forward is not just 

to rebuild these opportunities, but to also build new ones (with perhaps greater emphasis on 

local community and virtual spaces). Finally, KPU’s 2023 Academic Plan presents a kind of 

‘meta-challenge’, and not just to political science. The 2023 Academic Plan demands that 

all programs recognize KPU’s unique identity as a polytechnic university, such that we focus 

on: 

 

Diversity. In terms of instructional design, this refers to maintaining our diversity of 

instruction modes, assessment methods, and program delivery. 

 

Connection. If KPU is to be the university “where thought meets action”, then the political 

science department should see this as a challenge to build more and deeper connections 

outside the program, and thus somewhat redesign how the program is delivered.  

 

Quality. In terms of instructional design, our program has already achieved a high degree of 

teaching excellence, yet we should consider how quality within the program might better 

translate to quality beyond the program (i.e., how political science students can best be 

equipped to become change-makers in their communities).  

 

Distinctiveness. Small class sizes with highly engaged instructors are simply not enough to 

differentiate political science at KPU from similar institutions. If we are going to add value 

to our instructional design (and make it distinctive), then we will likely need to innovate the 

flexibility and applicability of our instruction design.   

 

As we move forward, we can build on our strengths yet innovate in ways that promote 

excellence in instructional design and improve students’ attainment of competencies and 

learning outcomes. In light of the challenges and mandates above, the department 

recommends the following courses of action.  

1. ‘Lock in’ our learning from remote teaching. All POLI faculty have learned to use 

Moodle more effectively, as well as Big Blue Button, MS Teams, Zoom, and other 

technologies. There are other useful tools that have emerged (such as: closed 

captioning of Kaltura videos, embedding audio files in PPT presentations, qualitative 



Political Science Self-Study Report  42 

 

grading rubrics embedded in Moodle assignments, and so on). We recommend that 

an additional department meeting be scheduled in 2021, to be used as a workshop to 

share best practice in technology, assessment, and assessment standards.  

2. Hybrid courses. The POLI department will explore opportunities to redesign courses 

to meet the needs of all students (and thus minimize the need for accommodations). 

For example, we will develop hybrid courses which use a ‘blended’ format for 

instruction. As an example of a hybrid format, the weekly ‘contact hours’ could be 

divided into 1.5 hours of online instruction (synchronous or asynchronous) which 

focus on assimilative learning and reflective content, and 1.5 hours of face-to-face 

instruction which focus on convergent and accommodative ‘learning-by-doing’. 

Advantages of the hybrid format include better accommodation for diverse learning 

styles, special needs, and ESL students; ‘flipped’ classrooms that allow for more 

interpersonal experience; greater adaptability in the event of future disruptions like 

Covid-19; and greater flexibility for students with extensive commitments beyond 

their studies (i.e., employment, family commitments, etc.). Moreover, this could also 

speak to strategy 2.6 of KPU’s 2023 Academic Plan, which calls for faculty to 

“[p]ursue and develop a new approach to adult learning education recognizing the 

need for alternative delivery modes capable of addressing the challenges and 

obstacles for this learner group.”  

3. Consider changing contact hours (generally) from 3 consecutive hours per week, to 

two sessions of 1.5 hours.  

4. Cultivate and offer more upper-level courses. The substantive content of these 

courses is an issue for curriculum design, yet program delivery (and especially, 

retention and progression) could be enhanced by providing a broader array and more 

frequent course offerings above 1000-level. A broader array of 2000-, 3000-, and 

4000-level courses might draw reluctant students into the program, and have them 

consider a credential in political science. Moreover, if some 3000- and 4000-level 

courses could be accompanied by more job-related experiences and/or contribute to 

an Honours program in political science, then retention and graduation rates will 

likely improve over the medium term.         

5. Cultivate more experiential learning opportunities (especially outside the 

conventional classroom). Our department has been quite successful at developing 

experiential learning opportunities within the classroom, and this should continue, 

especially for 1000-level courses. For upper-level courses, we would like to cultivate 

experiential learning opportunities outside the classroom (such as field schools, co-

op placements, mini-internships, and so on). This speaks to strategy 2.7 of KPU’s 

2023 Academic Plan, which calls for us to “Actively establish community 

partnerships in relation to teaching and learning.” However, there are two caveats to 

this recommendation. First, these types of experiential opportunities are more 

suitable for mature students (i.e., in third- or fourth-year courses) because they have 

developed the requisite skills and knowledge to handle real-world complexity, and 

because our reputation (as an institution and program) within the extra-university 

community is at stake. Second, developing these kinds of opportunities is very 

resource intensive. Even with support from administrative units at KPU (such as Co-

op), POLI faculty will likely need twice as much time to prepare a course with a 



Political Science Self-Study Report  43 

 

meaningful co-op component, compared to preparation of a conventional course 

based only in the classroom. If administration recognizes this additional 

commitment, then we could work out a way for faculty members to develop such 

courses.  

6. Further to the point above, we would like to create a new course: POLI 4122: 

Practicum in Political Science. This course is envisaged as a part-time, one-semester 

placement with a research institute, advocacy organization, member of parliament or 

legislative assembly, or with other politically engaged organizations. (Note that we 

may be forced to abandon the ‘Practicum’ model in favour of a Co-op due to 

logistical factors; but we should certainly have at least one of these incorporated into 

our proposal, and perhaps both if this can be made to work). 

 

References 
Anderson, L. W., Krathwohl, D. R., Airasian, P. W., Cruikshank, K. A., Mayer, R. E., 

Pintrich, P. R., … Wittrock, M. C. (2001). A Taxonomy for Learning, Teaching, and 

Assessing: A Revision of Bloom’s Taxonomy of Educational Objectives. (L. W. 

Anderson & D. R. Krathwohl, Eds.). New York: Longman. 

Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning: Experiences as the source of learning and 

development. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall. 

KPU Newsroom. (2015). More awards for KPU’s Model UN team. Retrieved February 20, 

2021, from https://www.kpu.ca/news/2015/03/13/more-awards-kpus-model-un-team 

Stice, J. E. (1987). Using Kolb’s Learning Cycle to Improve Student Learning. Engineering 

Education, 77, 291–296. 

  

https://www.kpu.ca/news/2015/03/13/more-awards-kpus-model-un-team


Political Science Self-Study Report  44 

 

Chapter 5. Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

This category highlights some of the areas of Departmental concern. The program depends 

on several resources, services and facilities that contribute to competencies and learning 

outcomes. These include library materials both physical and electronic; the bookstore; 

physical space such as classrooms, lab/computer space, and Faculty offices; the learning 

center; administrative support; and academic advising, counselling, among others.  

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Overall, 52% of students surveyed were very satisfied, while 22% of respondents were 

somewhat satisfied. This suggests just about adequate provision of resources offered through 

the program. Some of the specific comments from respondents regarding library resources 

include: “there are great journals and books online to access”; “the online resources are 

incredible. The ability to do research on any given topic is greatly facilitated by the access 

we as Students have to online journals”. On the availability of audio-visual and computer 

equipment only 39% of students expressed they were very satisfied with the situation. A 

similar percentage (39%) expressed same regarding DVDs/streaming video on program-

related topics. This can be easily addressed as numerous program-related topics that used to 

be available on DVDs can easily be accessed on YouTube. 48% of respondents expressed 

they were very satisfied with the availability of Books. This figure increases to 52% 

regarding availability of eBooks. 

 

While library holdings in terms of volumes of hardcopy materials held at KPU are limited 

in comparison with other universities in the Lower Mainland such as UBC or SFU, there are 

a variety of online information and databases that students have access to, and librarian 

support for program-related research including the provision of inter-library loan services 

that students are sometimes unaware of (in this context, 57% of student respondents 

indicated they were very satisfied with this service; while 41% expressed same with Library 

orientation). Overall, students would benefit from a further collection of additional 

discipline-specific library resources (see Appendix A).  

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Given the resources available to the Department, the survey indicates, overall, 50% of 

faculty members are somewhat satisfied with the resources, services and facilities that are 

specific to the Political Science program. Highlighting the strengths of the program, some 

specific comments indicate “we have adequate resources and services for an undergraduate 

university”; and “good support”. In the context of highlighting the areas for improvement” 

specific comments in the survey indicate: “the collection of library resources could be 

improved”; “classrooms can be overcrowded”; “computers are sometimes slow” and, “[the] 

Department needs more administrative assistance (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). 

Specifically, Faculty would like the establishment of budgetary and purchasing priorities 

directed at increasing the library holdings whether in physical or electronic form that will 

support specific areas of the discipline particularly as they relate to upper-level course 



Political Science Self-Study Report  45 

 

offerings. This can be done in consultations with the librarian tasked with purchasing 

resources for Political Science. The problem of overcrowded classrooms, perhaps, can be 

met with an additional ‘dedicated’ classroom space (further addressed below). In sum, the 

comments suggest an ongoing need for areas of improvement, located in the overall context 

that 50% of Faculty are somewhat satisfied with the resources, services and facilities specific 

to the Political Science program. 

 

The problem of physical space has been one of ongoing serious concern for the Department. 

It has repeatedly over the years requested ‘dedicated’ classroom space for the program, 

particularly on the Surrey campus. Acknowledging institution-wide challenges with 

scheduling and allocating classroom space, the earlier faculty comment about overcrowded 

classrooms occurs in situations where Political Science classes are sometimes moved to 

smaller classroom spaces that are problematic for pedagogical purposes. Another example 

of this problem occurs where lower-level classes with group discussion components or 

‘seminar’ classes are allocated in a theatre-style classroom where the seats are fixed and 

cannot be moved around. Presently, there is only one classroom that is used in the Fir 

building and given these issues and the fact that political science classes are held in different 

buildings/classrooms across campus, an additional dedicated classroom space will, to an 

extent, address this need. Furthermore, this will enhance formal and informal venues where 

political science students can converge to engage in discussions and forge a political science 

student ‘identity’ that will draw other students to the program. 

 

Additionally, having a communal space or departmental ‘pod’ in the vicinity of the faculty 

offices has been one of high priority as noted elsewhere in this report. Political Science is 

one of the few programs in the Faculty of Arts that does not have its own departmental ‘pod’. 

Having such a ‘pod’ will greatly enhance informal learning and engagement not only among 

students, but also interactions between faculty and students in creating a flourishing 

departmental culture and a distinctive Political Science identity.  

 

Furthermore, the absence of private offices for faculty has long been of serious concern. 

The Department has been moved into different Faculty office spaces over two decades. The 

Department had requested for private offices during the numerous consultations for space 

allocations when the Fir Building expansion construction activities were taking place. Upon 

completion, the private offices space was allocated to the English Department with POLI 

being moved yet again within the Fir Building to make room for a Psychology lab. This has 

left the Department with only two shared offices with three desks and two computers per 

office. This office situation is far from ideal to say the least. As much as possible, and 

schedules permitting, there is only one Faculty member in an office at any particular time, 

however, that is not always the case, as there can be overlapping schedules and office hours 

where two or more Faculty members are in an office at the same time. In such situations, 

required privacy in meeting with students becomes problematic, not to mention the quiet 

time required in preparations to teach, grading, or conducting research. At a minimum, an 

extra office space will help alleviate this situation. 

 

The Department currently shares an Administrative Assistant with several other 

departments. As captured earlier in the specific comments by Faculty regarding areas for 

improvement, this is not optimal when quick responses to emails are needed, or a specific 

problem arises that requires immediate attention because the DA might be attending to other 



Political Science Self-Study Report  46 

 

priority tasks from other departments. The DA is also not in the proximity of Faculty offices, 

and this can lead to frustration particularly in situations where urgent assistance is needed 

regarding an issue whether related to faculty or student. 

Summary and Recommendations 

The Political Science program is integral to the academic life and course offerings in the 

Faculty of Arts. As expressed in the survey, it is a small but growing, innovative and 

dynamic program. Student engagement is high and interaction with Faculty is generally 

very good. The strengths of the program lie in the various areas of expertise and 

engagement that Faculty bring to the Department in preparing students for graduation. In a 

comparative context, the Department is doing as well, if not more, than other departments 

of political science given the resources, services, and facilities at its disposal. In order to 

continually improve its mandate, the Department would like to suggest and seek the 

relevant external support towards the realization of:  

 

1) More dedicated classroom space for the Department, particularly on the Surrey 

campus. Although Classrooms are modern there have been limitations in availability. 

This issue will continue to be addressed with Facilities and the Deans Office. One 

option is to concentrate Political Science courses, for example at the Surrey campus, in 

the Fir Building.  

2) Additional library holdings on discipline-specific materials. The availability and 

expansion of reserve items at the KPU libraries is important. This reduces some of the 

costs associated with Textbooks.  

3) Additional office space is needed for Faculty who are often compressed into small 

Office spaces. This is a matter of importance as Faculty often do not have the space 

and privacy to meet with students.  

4) Dedicated Departmental ‘pod’. This proposal has been years in the making although 

now is a prudent time to operationalize the sensible goal as Student enrolment and the 

Department are growing.  

5) A departmental assistant in the vicinity of the Department.  

  



Political Science Self-Study Report  47 

 

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

Summary of Conclusions 

The KPU Political Science Department and faculty along with the Dean, Associate Deans, 

Administration and Staff are dedicated to expanding the program and providing quality 

and successful learning outcomes for students. KPU and the Political Science Department 

have many comparative advantages, such as smaller class sizes, more student engagement, 

an innovative culture and teaching emphasis which can be harnessed to uplift the student 

experience in the Political Science Department. The following recommendations have been 

carefully developed to achieve this important goal. These are organized into short-, 

medium- and long-term provisions. 

Short to Medium Term Goals 

Program development  

1. Commence consultations to establish a Political Science Graduate Certificate in 

Sustainability and Climate Change. According to the Environics Institute, 63% of 

Canadians believe that climate change is anthropogenic meaning caused by human 

activity. A 2020 study by the Canadian Nuclear Association (CNA) and conducted 

by Abacus Data observed that 88% of Canadians reported being adversely impacted 

by climate change. The growth of environmental awareness particularly among 

young Canadians and students and the concomitant emergence of the Green Party as 

well as environmental law and policy in Canada auger well for a program at KPU 

that maximizes learning and societal opportunities about Climate Change and the 

Environment.  

2. Institute a Political Science Department ‘Great Debates’ series that engages a 

wide variety of guest speakers at KPU, open to the public and the KPU community.  

3. Expand the successful KPU Student Climate Change Ambassador Program 
with additional University, high school and community presentations.  

4. Promote research by POLI faculty, supported by research opportunities for 

undergraduate POLI students. In 2021, KPU President Alan Davis and the V.P. of 

Research noted that it is important for KPU Faculty to promote and engage in 

research opportunities. One prime opportunity is through the PD Grants. The KPU 

Political Science faculty are actively engaged in a diverse range of important and 

ground-breaking research, often with an international dimension. These innovative 

initiatives will continue in 2022 and onwards, thanks to strong encouragement from 

President Davis, the Office of Research and Scholarship, the Associate Deans, and 

the Dean of the Faculty of Arts.  

5. Ensure diversity in Faculty hiring. Future recruitment should focus on 

opportunities for women, people of colour, and Indigenous peoples.  

 

Curriculum design 

 

6. Indigenize the curriculum. This has been highlighted in KPU’s 2023 strategic plan, 

and POLI curriculum is an appropriate forum for this. Two introductory courses 

(POLI 1110: Political Ideologies and POLI 1120: Canadian politics) should be 



Political Science Self-Study Report  48 

 

significant platforms for curricular indigenization.  

7. Develop awareness of environmental sustainability across the curriculum. This 

has also been highlighted in KPU’s 2023 strategic academic plan, and POLI 

curriculum is an appropriate forum for this.  

8. Develop a course on women and gender in politics.  

9. Consult and collaborate with colleagues in the Policy Studies program in order 

to expand our course offerings in public policy and public administration. Graduate 

certificates might also be a vehicle for inter-departmental collaboration.  

 

Instructional Design 

 

10. ‘Lock in’ our learning from remote teaching. All POLI Faculty have learned to 

use Moodle more effectively, as well as Big Blue Button, MS Teams, Zoom, and 

other technologies. There are other useful tools that have emerged (such as: closed 

captioning of Kaltura videos, embedding audio files in PPT presentations, qualitative 

grading rubrics embedded in Moodle assignments, and so on). We recommend that 

an additional Department meeting be scheduled in 2021 as a workshop to share best 

practice in technology, assessment, and assessment standards.  

11. Develop hybrid courses. The POLI department will explore opportunities to 

redesign courses to meet the needs of all students (and thus minimize the need for 

accommodations). For example, we will explore opportunities to develop hybrid 

courses which use a ‘blended’ format for instruction. As an example of a hybrid 

format, the weekly ‘contact hours’ could be divided into 1.5 hours of online 

instruction (synchronous or asynchronous) which focus on assimilative learning and 

reflective content, and 1.5 hours of face-to-face instruction which focus on 

convergent and accommodative ‘learning-by-doing’. Advantages of the hybrid 

format include better accommodation for diverse learning styles, special needs, and 

ESL students; ‘flipped’ classrooms that allow for more interpersonal experience; 

greater adaptability in the event of future disruptions like Covid-19; and greater 

flexibility for students with extensive commitments beyond their studies (i.e., 

employment, family commitments, etc.). Moreover, this could also speak to strategy 

2.6 of KPU’s 2023 Academic Plan, which calls for faculty to “[p]ursue and develop 

a new approach to adult learning education recognizing the need for alternative 

delivery modes capable of addressing the challenges and obstacles for this learner 

group.”  

12. Cultivate more experiential learning opportunities (especially outside the 

conventional classroom).  It is understood that in the post 2020 era the general 

landscape for secure careers is more competitive. Although the KPU Student Survey 

reported that 36% are ‘Very Satisfied’ with experiential learning opportunities this 

is an area that needs improvement. There is a strong correlation between mentorship, 

experiential learning and career success. Our Department has been quite successful 

at developing experiential learning opportunities within the classroom, and this 

should continue, especially for 1000-level courses. For upper-level courses, we 

would like to cultivate experiential learning opportunities outside the classroom 

(such as field schools, co-op placements, mini-internships, and so on). For example, 

in January 2020 five area MPS offered to host KPU Political Science students for 

Volunteer and Co-Op opportunities. Moreover, this speaks to strategy 2.7 of KPU’s 

2023 Academic Plan, which calls for us to “[a]ctively establish community 



Political Science Self-Study Report  49 

 

partnerships in relation to teaching and learning.” However, there are two caveats to 

this recommendation. First, these types of experiential opportunities are more 

suitable for mature students (i.e., in third- or fourth-year courses) because they have 

developed the requisite skills and knowledge to handle real-world complexity, and 

because our reputation (as an institution and program) within the extra-university 

community is at stake. Second, developing these kinds of opportunities is resource 

intensive. Even with support from administrative units at KPU (such as Co-op), POLI 

Faculty will likely need twice as much time to prepare a course with a meaningful 

co-op component, compared to preparation of a conventional course based only in 

the classroom. If administration recognizes this additional commitment, then we 

could work out a way for Faculty members to develop such courses.  

13. Create a new course called POLI 4122: Practicum in Political Science. This 

course is envisaged as a part-time, one-semester placement with a research institute, 

advocacy organization, member of parliament or legislative assembly, or with other 

politically engaged organizations. Innovative initiatives can be launched, in 

cooperation with a host of KPU, business, government, NGO and community 

partners to build upon these opportunities for the substantial benefit of KPU students. 

(Note that we may be forced to abandon the ‘Practicum’ model in favour of a Co-op 

due to logistical factors; but we should certainly have at least one of these 

incorporated into our proposal, and perhaps both if this can be made to work). 

 

Governance, infrastructure, and outreach.  

 

14. Formulate an Advisory Committee for Social Science Departments at KPU that 

would include Political Science, History, Geography, Policy Studies, Asian Studies, 

Criminology, Indigenous Community Justice, Philosophy, Journalism and additional 

departments. The goal of the Advisory Social Sciences Committee is to develop 

department synergy, dialogue and resources for the benefit of student/faculty 

learning and networking 

15. Form an Alumni Advisory Committee.  
16. Request additional library holdings on discipline-specific materials. 

17. Expand and innovate presence of the Department on media platforms in 

Canada and Internationally. One element of this could be the commencement of a 

monthly on-line newsletter to share with students, the KPU community, alumni, 

employer communities and the general public.  

 

Medium to Long Term 

 

18. Develop the program into specific areas of specialization, such as: Canadian/local 

politics; international/global politics; political theory; and comparative politics. 

19. Create an Honours program. A move towards applied and experiential curriculum 

and instruction is important for producing more ‘employment-ready’ POLI graduates 

(see below). This can be complemented by an Honours program that can also produce 

more ‘research-ready’ POLI graduates. In the words of one POLI Faculty, we “need 

more pre-requisites; [and] to develop an Honours program to retain more students.” 

An Honours program would thus develop the research, analytical, and writing skills 

of political science students. Moreover, it would retain students in the POLI major 

rather than seeing them leave for other institutions. This could be done utilizing 



Political Science Self-Study Report  50 

 

conventional instructional design (egs.: 3000-level methodologies courses, ARTS 

course as directed studies, writing-intensive upper level POLI courses, and the 

production of an Honours thesis). Also, this could also be combined with experiential 

instructional design (egs. 4000-level field work courses, placement-intensive upper 

level POLI courses, and perhaps a substantial work placement and e-portfolio as an 

alternative ‘capstone’ project).  

   

20. Expand Departmental presence on internet and social media platforms for 

students and prospective students. In the Student Survey it was noted that 59% of 

students obtained their information about KPU and the Political Science Department 

through the Department website. In addition, 41% of student respondents found the 

Political Science website ‘very useful’ and 29% described it as ‘essential’.  

21. Launch Political Science Information Sessions at Greater Vancouver secondary 

schools, starting with Surrey. In the Student Survey, it was noted by respondents 

that a visit by a KPU Faculty Member or Staff had a 50% favourability rating and 

that information about KPU from a high school counsellor had a 100% favourability 

rating.  

22. Consider changing contact hours (generally) from 3 consecutive hours per week, 

to two sessions of 1.5 hours. 

23. Create a ‘Department Pod’ and share this with another Department, such as 

History. This was a stated goal in the 2011 Program Review that never materialized. 

This would address a persistent problem of office space for faculty (going back to 

before the 2011 review. Furthermore, a Pod could allow for more dedicated 

classroom space for the department, particularly on the Surrey campus. 

24.  Develop a module on digital literacy and citizenship which can be used in 1000-

level introductory courses. 

25. Cultivate and offer more upper-level courses. The substantive content of these 

courses is an issue for curriculum design, and program delivery (and especially, 

retention and progression) could be enhanced by providing a broader array and more 

frequent course offerings above 1000-level. A broader array of 2000-, 3000-, and 

4000-level courses might draw reluctant students into the program and have them 

consider a credential in political science. Moreover, if some 3000- and 4000-level 

courses could be accompanied by more job-related experiences and/or contribute to 

an Honours program in political science, then retention and graduation rates will 

likely improve over the medium term.       

 

 

 

 

 

  



Political Science Self-Study Report  51 

 

Chapter 7. Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean 

Program Overview 

What do you see as the program’s greatest accomplishments over the last 5 years?  

Several accomplishments are salient. First, faculty in the department have worked together 

to enhance the overall relevance and quality of their educational programing through a series 

of sustained community engagement initiatives. Two exemplars are noteworthy: The 

Climate Change Ambassadors program and the student placement program they have piloted 

with the UN. Second, the department has also grown its research capacity, both through 

prioritized hiring and by fostering a culture of mentorship and support. This had an 

observable impact on the quality of educational offerings and the reputation of the 

department: faculty are not only excellent educators but recognized in their subfields for 

their research and scholarship. The department has a solid record of book and article 

publications.  

 

Does the program adequately fulfill the purpose for which it was intended? If not, how can 

it be improved? 

The program is vibrant and dynamic. The courses of study it provides promote an 

understanding of the role that politics play in everyday life and a broader understanding of 

the ways that power and influence shape historical trajectories. Like many of our smaller 

programs Political Science is somewhat challenged to find students to commit to the program 

through a Major or a Minor degree. Certainly, more could be done to boost the profile of 

Political Science as a Major or Minor option for students and the Deans Office will be 

working with the department to heighten its profile within the University community and to 

support the outreach the department has been engaged in with local high schools and other 

community stakeholders. 

 

How does the program’s curriculum support the following? 

 graduates’ pursuit of meaningful employment and further education 

 the viability and continued development of the program 

To more effectively market Political Science as a major it is helpful to highlight the skills 

and abilities it allows students to cultivate and the potential employment opportunities for 

graduates. The department has built up a rich and diverse roster of the career pathways and 

occupational opportunities students with a Political Science degree can pursue after 

graduation. However, we need to do more to get this message to students. We are pleased to 

see that the department is keen to refresh its curriculum to make it more appealing to students 

and that provisions are being made for a Program Advisory Committee which could provide 

input and assistance. For some courses, this could be a simple name change, while for others 

it would mean the inclusion of more experiential education and indigenous perspectives. We 

also support the department in creating new courses, such as Political Science and Film, to 

align with the film and screen studies credential that ARTS is in the initial stages of 

developing, and the proposed practicum course which provide students with workplace-

based practica. We also encourage the department to audit all of their courses and remove 

those that have not been offered for quite some time, and likely would not be offered in the 

future. 



Political Science Self-Study Report  52 

 

 

What challenges and opportunities for growth should the program consider based on the 

following? 

 student demand (past, present and future) 

 comparable programs at competing institutions 

 trends and changing contexts in the discipline/sector 

Student demand for the courses is strong, but less so for the degrees. It is a fairly traditional 

program, with a focus on International Relations. What sets the program apart is its 

community connections and experiential opportunities such as the Model UN. The 

department would benefit from venturing more directly into social and political issues 

associated with race and gender. There are pressing social and political struggles around 

BIPOC issues and students are very interested in and involved with many of these.  

What plans (departmental, faculty and institutional) are in place for program growth and 

development? 

The Deans office fully supports the department’s desire for a shared office space and a pod 

with another department(s). However, due to the premium put on space we have been unable 

to realize this goal. In the post-pandemic new KPU context we plan to revisit matters 

associated with the allocation of space across all Arts programs and it is possible that POLI 

could emerge with a better spatial footprint, one that allows for cross fertilization with other 

departments and the development of a more student-focused community space. 

 

What resources, institutional support, and/or external support would help address the 

program’s plans for growth and development? 

We have tentatively put aside 4 permanent sections to add to the department’s base for 2022. 

This will help them diversify their courses as well as their faculty roster. We will ask them 

to pay attention to EDI perspectives when hiring. There are also some opportunities to 

consider around indigenization and decolonization within the curriculum. Hiring 

opportunities should also be considered in regard to these initiatives. 

 

Collectively, what qualifications and other human resources are required so the program 

will be able to make the changes required to improve and remain current? 

We will support the faculty to make the changes they desire. And certainly, hiring a new 

faculty member, even at 50%, could help them expand into new areas such as Indigenous 

politics, women and gender, etc. We will also aid the department as they construct their 

Program Advisory Committee. 

 

What areas should the program focus on for the short range (< 6 months), mid-range (6 mo. 

– 2 years), and long range (>2 years) program directions and improvement? 

In the short term the priority should be on creating a PAC and on developing its offering of 

blended courses. Midterm priorities would be on the creation of the practicum and course 

development initiatives (new courses and indigenizing the curriculum). At the long range 

level, we believe it would be beneficial to develop graduate programming and cultivate an 

Honours degree. 

 



Political Science Self-Study Report  53 

 

Appendices for Self-Study Report 

Provided in separate document. 

 



FACULTY OF ARTS 

POLITICAL SCIENCE PROGRAM REVIEW 

SELF-STUDY REPORT APPENDICES 

APRIL 28, 2021 



TABLE OF CONTENTS

APPENDIX A: STUDENT SURVEY REPORT......................................................1
APPENDIX B: ALUMNI SURVEY REPORT.......................................................24
APPENDIX C: FACULTY SURVEY REPORT....................................................39
APPENDIX D: STUDENTS' VIEWS ON REMOTE LEARNING REPORT...52
APPENDIX E: ADMNISTRATIVE DATA REPORT.........................................55 
APPENDIX F: DISCIPLINE/SECTOR SURVEY REPORT...............................66
APPENDIX G: QUALIFICATIONS FOR FACULTY MEMBERS POLICY...72
APPENDIX H: TABLE OF MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS...........................74
APPENDIX I: CURRICULUM VITAES OF FACULTY MEMBERS...............94

 



Appendix A: Political Science Program Review Student Survey Results 

The student survey was sent to 86 Political Science students. A total of 29 students responded. The response rate is 
34%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent.

Q1 - Which of the following credentials are you working towards? Please select all that 
apply. 

Which of the following credentials are you working towards? Please select all that apply. Percentage 

1 Bachelor of Arts Degree: Major in Political Science 76% 

2 Bachelor of Arts Degree: Minor in Political Science 17% 

3 Associate of Arts in Political Science 7% 

Total 29 

Q2 - What is your intended or declared major?

What is your intended or declared major? 

Sociology 

Sociology 

Policy Studies 

English and Political Science 

Double minor in Criminology and Political science. 

Double Minor - Geography/Political Science 

1



Q3 - Which of the following sources of information did you use to learn about KPU's 
Political Science program? Please select all that apply.

2



Which of the following sources of information did you use to learn about KPU's Political Science 
program? Please select all that apply. Percentage Count 

1 KPU’s Political Science program website 59% 17 

2 KPU’s online Academic Calendar (with information about the Political Science program, courses, schedules, 
deadlines, etc.) 24% 7 

3 Program advertising (including pamphlets) 17% 5 

4 My visit to KPU 17% 5 

5 BC Education Planner website 10% 3 

6 Social media 7% 2 

7 Visit by KPU representative to my high school 7% 2 

8 Other contact with KPU representative(s), including faculty and students 7% 2 

9 High school teachers/counsellors 7% 2 

10 BC Transfer Guide website 3% 1 

11 Other (Please specify) 3% 1 

12 KPU open house or events 0% 0 

13 KPU Educational Advising 0% 0 

Total 29 

Q3a - Other (Please specify)

I wanted to learn about it 

3



Q4 - How useful were each of these sources of information? 

 

 

4



 Question Not at all 
useful 

Somewhat 
useful 

Very 
useful Essential 

 
Count 

1 BC Education Planner website 0% 33% 67% 0% 3 

2 BC Transfer Guide website 100% 0% 0% 0% 1 

3 Program advertising (including pamphlets) 0% 20% 60% 20% 5 

4 Social media 0% 50% 50% 0% 2 

5 KPU's Political Science program website 6% 24% 41% 29% 17 

6 KPU's online Academic Calendar (with information about the Political 
Science program, courses, schedules, deadlines, etc.) 0% 43% 14% 43% 7 

7 My visit to KPU 0% 40% 60% 0% 5 

8 Visit by KPU representative to my high school 0% 0% 50% 50% 2 

9 Other contact with KPU representative(s), including faculty and 
students 0% 50% 0% 50% 2 

10 High school teachers/counsellors 0% 0% 0% 100% 2 

11 Other (Please specify) 0% 0% 0% 100% 1 

  

5



Q5 - Which of the following influenced your decision to enroll in KPU's Political Science 
program? Please select all that apply. 

 

 

6



 Which of the following influenced your decision to enroll in KPU's Political Science program? Please select 
all that apply. Percentage 

 
Count 

1 Career prospects/earning potential 52% 15 

2 Small class size 52% 15 

3 Qualifications for programs of advanced study (i.e. law or medicine) 34% 10 

4 Reputation of instructors 24% 7 

5 Program admission requirements 21% 6 

6 Ease of transfer from/into other institutions 14% 4 

7 Level of credential offered 14% 4 

8 Other (Please specify) 14% 4 

9 Program’s connections to the discipline/sector 10% 3 

10 Reputation of program 10% 3 

11 Recommendations from high school teachers 7% 2 

12 Family/friends in the same program 3% 1 

13 Range of program resources and services 3% 1 

14 Recommendations from family/friends 3% 1 

15 Recommendations from professionals in the discipline/sector 3% 1 

16 Success of program graduates 3% 1 

 Total  29 

 

Q5a - Other (Please specify) 

Reading news about certain events 

Passionate about the discipline 

Couldn't get into another school 

BrOad range of job prospects after graduation 

  

7



Q6 - How important was each of the following in your decision to enroll in KPU's Political 
Science program?

8



 

 Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential 

 
Count 

1 Career prospects/earning potential 0% 13% 60% 27% 15 

2 Ease of transfer from/into other institutions 0% 25% 25% 50% 4 

3 Family/friends in the same program 0% 0% 100% 0% 1 

4 Level of credential offered 0% 25% 50% 25% 4 

5 Program admission requirements 17% 33% 33% 17% 6 

6 Program’s connections to the discipline/sector 0% 0% 100% 0% 3 

7 Qualifications for programs of advanced study (i.e. 
law or medicine) 0% 0% 40% 60% 10 

8 Range of program resources and services 0% 0% 100% 0% 1 

9 Recommendations from family/friends 0% 100% 0% 0% 1 

10 Recommendations from high school teachers 0% 0% 50% 50% 2 

11 Recommendations from professionals in the 
discipline/sector 0% 0% 0% 100% 1 

12 Reputation of instructors 0% 0% 71% 29% 7 

13 Reputation of program 0% 0% 67% 33% 3 

14 Small class size 0% 20% 33% 47% 15 

15 Success of program graduates 0% 0% 0% 100% 1 

16 Other (Please specify) 0% 25% 25% 50% 4 

  

9



Q7 - Thinking of KPU's Political Science program as a whole, how satisfied are you with 
the following? 

 

 

 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Relevance of program curriculum 
to my career goals 4% 7% 7% 44% 37% 27 

2 Prerequisites that prepare me for 
more advanced courses 4% 7% 7% 44% 37% 27 

3 Level of ability required to 
succeed in the program 4% 7% 7% 44% 37% 27 

4 Range of courses offered each 
term 30% 33% 7% 15% 15% 27 

5 The preparation I am receiving to 
achieve the career I want 7% 19% 11% 30% 33% 27 

 

10



Q8 - How satisfied are you with the way KPU’s Political Science program is preparing you 
to do the following? 

 

 

 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Clearly and accurately present ideas and 
research 4% 7% 4% 44% 41% 27 

2 Develop knowledge of political systems 
across different cultures 4% 4% 4% 48% 41% 27 

3 Develop intercultural competencies 4% 7% 19% 41% 30% 27 

4 
Develop applied political skills including 
on election campaigns, NGOs, lobbying 

and survey analysis 
0% 22% 15% 33% 30% 27 

11



5 Develop knowledge of Southeast Asia 
and South Asia political issues 15% 15% 15% 30% 26% 27 

6 
Develop knowledge of the political 

influence of NGOs and non-government 
sectors 

0% 15% 0% 52% 33% 27 

7 Develop knowledge of key historical 
events in political activism globally 4% 7% 7% 41% 41% 27 

8 Develop knowledge of opportunities for 
civic engagement 4% 15% 11% 41% 30% 27 

 

Q9 - How satisfied are you with the way KPU’s Political Science program is helping you 
develop the following skills? 

 

 

12



 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Written communication 8% 0% 4% 42% 46% 26 

2 Oral communication 4% 4% 12% 27% 54% 26 

3 Group collaboration 4% 0% 8% 42% 46% 26 

4 Critical analysis 8% 0% 8% 54% 31% 26 

5 Problem resolution 8% 4% 19% 35% 35% 26 

6 Learn on your own 8% 0% 12% 35% 46% 26 

7 Reading and 
comprehension 4% 0% 8% 50% 38% 26 

 

Q10 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Political Science program curriculum? 

 

 

 Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Political Science program curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 8% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 12% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 8% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 40% 

5 Very satisfied 32% 

 Total 25 

Q11 - Thinking of KPU’s Political Science program's curriculum as a whole, please 
highlight the strengths of the program. 

Enthusiastic educators, such as [Instructor Name Redacted], [Instructor Name Redacted], and [Instructor Name Redacted], make learning 
enjoyable and engaging. 
Classsizes 

The professor’s are passionate about the material and that makes the program more enjoyable. 
The department is very strict in a good way although it is student centric. It prepares students for real world organizational cultures in 
which pressures, and deadlines are inescapable. Overall, the department is very strong with  passionate and well known professors. 
excellent professors in terms of lecture quality, student interaction and overall willingness to help improve students in all academic life 

Very engaging professors, and embracing colleagues. 

great Profs  great courses  helps with public speaking 

The small class sizes are great for learning and collaboration. The different courses offered are great! 

Knowledgeable professors who can relay information back, learning new things everyday in relation to ongoing events and political history 

There is a good amount of information on what the program is about 
Great faculty with various approaches to teaching. The curriculum has a lot of various courses to chose from to suit the many interests and 
fields within political science. 

13



Good profs 
It teaches important skills effectively (critical thinking, argument-formation, communication, collaboration, etc). These can be applied to a 
wide variety of contexts, even if a specific course doesn’t make that application. 
Covers a broad range of topics and manages to keep ones interest on all topics. 
KPU Political Science program excels in providing a wide range of course topics that are relevant and essential to any student wishing to 
pursue or study in politics. 
Everyones ideas are welcome 

Knowledgable instructors 
The best part of this program for me is the instructors. The ones I have had the opportunity to study under have demonstrated passion, 
expertise, and have helped me become a stronger student at every opportunity. The relationships I have developed with them has made 
the courses more meaningful than simple instructor-student relations where focus is on lectures and grades; I have been able to receive 
valuable career and graduate study advice from them which has helped me make decisions on where to apply. 

Q12 - Thinking of KPU’s Political Science program's curriculum as a whole, please 
highlight the areas for improvement.

need more choices for classes to choose from 
During the last several semesters, only a limited number of classes from this program were available when compared to the total number 
that KPU has posted on its website. 
The department needs to have a place where political science students can sit. 

more classes in upper level, as the program is very popular at KPU but not enough classes to fill graduate requirements every semester 

Offering more classes in the semesters, especially summer semester. This could mean expanding capacity, like hiring more professors. 

More upper-level political science classes   if possible not having [Course Name Redacted] as a requirement 
There’s never enough of a selection for courses to take each term. A lot of people in my classes couldn’t get into the classes they needed. 
This makes people transfer to different schools. It would be good to get more real world experience 
I have to transfer because classes are not offered. This IS NOT ideal for me and I am frustrated that there are barely any higher level 
courses, plus course content is so outdated, need to have more classes focused on current events, as past philosophers do not directly 
impact today's work 
Please offer more classes for each term. As a result, I've heard students have been left not being able to compete their degrees at KPU due 
to the lack of classes that are offered, and even graduates not being able to graduate on time or earlier then they should have because 
there are few choices for classes in their schedule. This has not only been an issue with the Political Science program, but I've heard this 
about other programs as well.  Also, let students know on the program website for Political Science, the jobs that are most hire after 
graduation. Another thing is having a Political Science practicum or internship that gives students experience. 
Courses I need aren't always available 
More courses need to be offered each semester especially in the evening. Theres a lot of courses id love to take but are never offered in 
the evenings 
Applying how the skill set of a political science major/minor could be applied to a variety of new and relevant contexts would make a 
significant improvement to the current Political Science program; areas of race, gender, inequality, justice systems and social justice, 
though increasingly relevant to study today, are unfortunately under-studied in KPU classrooms. 
More advertising of the NGO and Non-Profit certificate.  If more people knew about it then they would probably take the certificate, 
leading to less empty seats and the potential loss of an amazing opportunity. 
I think what would make the political science program at KPU excel would be to implement an Honours Program in addition to 
concentrations and specializations. I would also like to have more course options per semester as well. 
more classes offered different instructors teaching different classes 

More opportunities are needed outside of the classroom, and need to be accessible to ALL students in the program. 
I can see KPU PoliSci partnering with the various levels of government to provide co-op or internship opportunities that can supplement the 
classroom learning experience. 
definitely need more classes to be offered per semester, because waiting a whole year to take a course is not efficient and people want to 
graduate 

14



Q13 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, how satisfied are you with the following? 

 

 

 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 The mode (classroom, lab, online, co-
op, etc.) used to deliver the program 8% 0% 8% 32% 52% 25 

2 My instructors’ ability to accommodate 
diverse learning styles 8% 8% 4% 24% 56% 25 

3 Opportunities for experiential learning 
(i.e. learning by doing and reflecting) 8% 4% 8% 44% 36% 25 

4 
Processes for ensuring students’ 

emotional and physical safety in the 
learning environment 

8% 0% 16% 28% 48% 25 

  

15



Q14 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, how satisfied are 
you with the following? 

 

 

 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 The clarity of the information I 
receive on how I will be evaluated 4% 0% 8% 44% 44% 25 

2 
The range of assessments that let 

me demonstrate what I have 
learned 

0% 4% 4% 44% 48% 25 

3 The consistency of assessment 
standards throughout the program 4% 4% 8% 48% 36% 25 

4 The feedback my instructors provide 0% 12% 4% 32% 52% 25 

 

  

16



Q15 - Thinking of KPU's Political Science program as a whole, how satisfied are you with 
the following? 

 

 

 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Frequency with which course 
prerequisites are offered 25% 17% 13% 29% 17% 24 

2 
Availability of the courses I need to 
complete the program in a timely 

manner 
33% 38% 0% 13% 17% 24 

 

  

17



Q16 - Thinking of the instruction you have received throughout the program, how 
satisfied are you with the following?

Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 My instructors’ presentation of course 
material 4% 4% 8% 21% 63% 24 

2 
My instructors’ level of information 
about current developments in the 

discipline/sector 
4% 13% 4% 17% 63% 24 

Q17 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's 
Political Science program?

My instructors’ 
level of 
information 
about current 
developments 
in the 
discipline/sector 

My instructor’s 
presentation of 
course material 

18



 Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Political Science program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 4% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 22% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 35% 

5 Very satisfied 39% 

 Total 23 

Q18 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the strengths of the program. 

The professors of the political science department are highly organized, passionate and professional. 

same as previous comment 

Very well informed, engaging, approachable and understanding. 

love the conversations  be able to connect international issues and come up with solutions 

The classrooms are set up well. The information learned from classes is very comprehensive. 

Professors for the most part are very enthusiastic and excited about what they teach and it reflects in our learning as well. 

KPU has some truly brilliant professors. I have had almost exclusively positive experiences with them. 

It is an amazing program 

The instructors for this program excel in presenting relevant information and course material. 

Can't think of anything 

A strong mix of instructors whose specializations encompass a broad range of political science topics. 

Q19 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the areas for improvement. 

same as previous comment 

Moodle accessibility - Powerpoints uploaded to Moodle could make classes more accessible for students who work a lot. 

nothing because each instructor likes to teach in their own ways but we still get to discuss things. 
There is not enough of recent information shared. The news is shared but nothing about stuff happening in the communities that we could 
be a part of. 
A lot of professors are very mellow and dont feel the passion of the subject, therefore teaching can be very very depressing and not allow 
us to feel the content properly. Grading methods should be same across the board, however they are not at all. 
Offer more sections across the different campuses instead of shuttling everyone to the Surrey campus for most upper level courses 

It would be great it class would be cut short from 3 hours to 1.5 hours twice a week, as lectures can tend to become tiresome. 
Most of the classes cover the same broad content. There needs to be more issue area specific classes that can further dive into the theories 
and concepts learnt in earlier levels but in an applicational way. Some instructors classes are exactly the same no matter what the course is. 
Added courses in summer semester at the upper level. 

  

19



Q20 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU's Political Science 
program? 

 

 

 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of required texts and 
supplies at the KPU bookstore 4% 9% 13% 17% 57% 23 

2 Classroom space 4% 9% 9% 26% 52% 23 

3 Lab/computer space 4% 9% 26% 26% 35% 23 

4 Learning Centre 9% 4% 26% 17% 43% 23 

5 Places for students to do group or 
individual work 9% 17% 4% 26% 43% 23 

6 
Support services for students (e.g., 

advising, counseling, financial, career 
services) 

4% 9% 9% 35% 43% 23 

7 Technical equipment 4% 17% 26% 13% 39% 23 

 

20



Q21 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to KPU's 
Political Science program?

Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual and 
computer equipment 9% 9% 26% 17% 39% 23 

2 Books 4% 0% 17% 30% 48% 23 

3 DVDs/streaming video on 
program-related topics 4% 0% 39% 17% 39% 23 

4 eBooks 4% 0% 22% 22% 52% 23 

21



5 Librarian support for program-
related research 4% 4% 17% 17% 57% 23 

6 Library orientation 5% 5% 23% 27% 41% 22 

7 Online resources -  journal 
articles, etc. 4% 0% 4% 26% 65% 23 

8 Print periodicals, journals, etc. 4% 0% 22% 22% 52% 23 

9 Study guides 9% 0% 30% 13% 48% 23 

 

Q22 - How satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities offered through 
KPU's Political Science program? 

 

 

 How satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities offered through KPU's Political Science program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 4% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 22% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 22% 
5 Very satisfied 52% 
 Total 23 

Q23 - Thinking of the program's resources, services and facilities, please highlight the 
strengths of the program. 

no comment 

diverse readings  great classroom sizes 

There are great journals and books online to access. 

Lots of information available 

I particularly like the small class sizes especially for classes that can carry debates and discussions. 

many things offered 

No 
The online resources are incredible. The ability to do research on any given topic is greatly facilitated by the access we as students have to 
online journals. 

 

  

22



Q24 - Thinking of the program's resources, services and facilities, please highlight the 
areas for improvement.

Needs a facility where students of political science can sit. 

no comment 

n/a 
There are not enough areas to study on campus in groups or individually. I’ve never seen a poli sci tutor at the learning centre so maybe 
adding some. 
Hard to narrow down relevant info 

N/A 
All areas are in need of improvement, and across the board stop making students sit through library tutorials, because by your 3rd years it 
starts to become offensive when you are shown how to use a search bar for an hour. 
Some specialised journals are still not available to students and the process for requesting access could be made clearer. Additionally, 
course syllabi could include a brief list of recommended journals for use in research/general topic knowledge development. 

Q25 - In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU's Political Science 
program?

In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU's Political Science program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 13% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 13% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 39% 

5 Very satisfied 35% 

Total 23 

23



Appendix B: Political Science Program Review - Alumni Survey 

The alumni survey was sent to 94 Political Science alumni. A total of 26 alumni responded. The response rate is 30%1. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

Q1 - What is the highest credential you have earned in KPU’s Political Science program?

What is the highest credential you have earned in KPU’s Political Science program? Percentage 

1 Bachelor's degree: Major in Political Science 54% 

2 Bachelor's degree: Minor in Political Science 42% 

3 Associate of Arts in Political Science 4% 

Total 26 

Q2. When did you complete this credential?

 When did you complete this credential? Percentage 

1 2019 23% 

2 2018 19% 

3 2017 15% 

4 2016 12% 

5 2015 8% 

6 2014 12% 

7 2013 12% 

Total 26 

1 The survey was sent to 94 alumni; 8 emails bounced. The RR is based on 86 invites. 

24



Q3 - How satisfied are you with how KPU’s Political Science program prepared you to do 
the following?

25



 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Clearly and accurately present ideas and 
research 0% 4% 12% 42% 42% 26 

2 Develop knowledge of political systems 
across different cultures 0% 8% 19% 35% 38% 26 

3 Develop intercultural competencies 0% 19% 8% 42% 31% 26 

4 
Develop applied political skills including on 

election campaigns, NGOs, lobbying and 
survey analysis 

4% 12% 19% 38% 27% 26 

5 Develop knowledge of Southeast Asia and 
South Asia political issues 8% 15% 31% 27% 19% 26 

6 
Develop knowledge of the political 

influence of NGOs and non-government 
sectors 

4% 12% 8% 42% 35% 26 

7 Develop knowledge of key historical 
events in political activism globally 0% 12% 12% 46% 31% 26 

8 Develop knowledge of opportunities for 
civic engagement 4% 12% 23% 31% 31% 26 

 

Q4 - How satisfied are you with how KPU’s Political Science program helped you develop 
the following essential skills? 

 

26



 

 Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Written communication 0% 4% 4% 36% 56% 25 

2 Oral communication 0% 4% 4% 40% 52% 25 

3 Group collaboration 0% 12% 20% 36% 32% 25 

4 Critical thinking 0% 4% 4% 44% 48% 25 

5 Problem solving 0% 8% 16% 36% 40% 25 

6 Learn on your own 0% 4% 16% 28% 52% 25 

7 Reading and 
comprehension 0% 0% 12% 28% 60% 25 

 

Q5 - If there was a particular topic/area that was missing from KPU's Political Science 
program that would have helped you prepare for related work or further study, please 
tell us about it. 

If there was a particular topic/area that was missing from KPU's Political Science program that would have helped you prepare for related 
work or further study, please tell us about it. 

Co-OP opportunities 
Course selection was great, [Course Name Redacted] best course I took at KPU in terms of preparation, public speaking, paper writing and 
professionalism. Really prepared me for current workplace expectations in government work. 
Lack of jobs after graduation. Not preparing students for the real world. Too many hypotheticals in the teachings as opposed to solving real 
world problems. Overall extremely poor program that on its own has no future for the graduate unless it’s complemented with another 
degree. 
Policy writing. That is, formal applied government writing 

It would've been very helpful to have had mentors who were PoliSci alumni that succeeded in their career paths. 

Municipal Politics or more courses with a BC focus. 

Just keep expanding and developing. 
Preparing to actually work in an environment where there were underlying dynamics at play (I.e boys club type behaviours that I would 
experience in the field, sexism in the work-place, institutional racism) 
On refugees and indigenous 

Quantitative 

  

27



Q6 - Thinking of KPU's Political Science program as a whole, to what extent do you agree 
with the following? 

 

 

 Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 The program prepared me for the career I 
wanted 8% 8% 16% 48% 20% 25 

2 The program prepared me for further education 8% 4% 12% 44% 32% 25 

3 The time I invested in my Political Science 
education was well spent 4% 8% 4% 40% 44% 25 

4 The money I invested in my Political Science 
education was well spent 4% 12% 12% 32% 40% 25 

5 
The program provided me with opportunities for 
experiential learning (i.e. learning by doing and 

reflecting) 
16% 8% 16% 40% 20% 25 

6 
The program provided me with opportunities to 

develop connections with industry/potential 
employers 

28% 24% 24% 16% 8% 25 

28



Q7 - Overall, how satisfied were you with how KPU's Political Science program prepared 
you for work and/or further education? 

 

 

 Overall, how satisfied were you with how KPU's Political Science program prepared you for work and/or further 
education? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 8% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 8% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 4% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 38% 

5 Very satisfied 42% 

 Total 24 

 

Q8 - Thinking of KPU’s Political Science program as a whole, please highlight the strengths 
of the program. 

Passionate instructors: [Instructor Names Redacted] 
I don’t feel like it really aided me in finding a career. I feel like it was just assignment and test based. Do the work, get a grade and move 
on.... 
The professors are what make this program. Each professor I had was knowledgeable, supportive and helped me with any areas of 
confusion I had with any topics. 
Scrap the whole program as it is not a good degree. 
Close-knit cohort and strong community that creates a robust network; Great access to professors creates a rich learning environment; 
small classes create a deep learning environment and opportunity to explore topics 
small classes 
Some professors were excellent at providing the guidance and knowledge to the students, it was very clear as to which professors were 
invested in the success of their students. Really enjoyed the [Course Names Redacted]. I found these courses very engaging and great 
foundation as to the career trajectory I was following 
Great teachers, just needs to grow and keep building. 

The topics covered The instructors The options of writing research, making presentations,  and working in a group. 

Passionate teachers 
I felt I learned such important and vital information about a variety of things, that were relevant to politics and governance at both a local 
and international level. Even when I moved to the U.S to pursue a law degree in Chicago, the foundation of learning from Undergrad really 
helped me to easily adjust. (I already had a fairly comprehensive understanding of how the political system in the U.S worked) 
Great professors 

Faculty, small class sizes, interesting topics 

[Instructor Name Redacted] 

  

29



Q9 - Thinking of KPU’s Political Science program as a whole, please highlight the areas for 
improvement. 

hands on learning 
Hands on learning through multiple practicums or internships in a variety of settings would be helpful. 
Needs a major overhaul. 
Applied learning opportunities - It would have been more helpful to get practice and experience that's practical and insightful for how real 
political science-related jobs work; Instructor quality - Many professors are great, however many are downright terrible. 
better instructors more hands on classes - ie. [Instructor Name Redacted] class. 
lack of a practicum/co op program 
It would have been very great if the professors teaching the beginner Poli Sci courses were as invested and focussed as the professors for the 
3rd & 4th year classes, especially that these courses are not only mandatory for the Major, but also because for many students, these are their 
first introduction to Political Science 
Publish the students researches, inside the college, to encourage them do more. And let them think more about the issues around them, not 
only from what the instructors want. 
More availability of courses at different campuses. 
I would suggest there be some Courses to teach us/expose us in advance to the types of environment we will be working in. Maybe an 
internship requirement (but only if the school will also assist in helping a student find placement if they cannot do so themselves). 
Additional topics such as refugees, indigenous. 
Would have loved a Coop program associated with this program. 
Research methods and analysis, like quantitative 
It's a Political Science department and never was there a land acknowledgment! Seriously, Canada is a colonial entity and rarely was Indigenous 
content or perspectives explored in class. Also, the program needs to find more ways for students to put their knowledge into practice - either 
doing guided research (to prepare students for further study) and experience working in or with entities that use the knowledge learned in the 
classroom. 
 

Q10 - Are you currently employed? 

# Are you currently employed? Percentage 

1 Yes 75% 

2 No 25% 

 Total 24 

Q11 - Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? 

# Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? Percentage 

1 In a full-time regular position 72% 

2 In a part-time regular position 17% 

3 In a contract position 6% 

4 In a casual or temporary position 6% 

 Total 
18 

 
 

 

  

30



Q12 - In which of the following sectors are you currently employed? Please select all that 
apply.

# Answer % Count 

13 Government agencies 22% 4 

1 Non-governmental organizations 6% 1 

2 International agencies 0% 0 

3 Law firms 11% 2 

4 Lobbying firms 0% 0 

5 Research organizations 0% 0 

6 Consulting firms 6% 1 

7 Newspaper/media 0% 0 

31



8 Universities and colleges 6% 1 

9 Private firms 11% 2 

12 Other (Please specify) 33% 6 

10 Banks 6% 1 

11 Political parties 0% 0 

 Total 100% 18 

 

Q12_TEXT - Other (Please specify) 

Sales. 

Insurance 

warehouse office support 

Coaching 

Tourism Marketing 

Food and service 

 

Q13 - What is your current position? 

Account Manager 

Sales/compliance officer 

Intern 

Customer service 

Quality service analyst 

Fraud Investigator 

Co-Founder & Chief Community Officer 

LAA 

Caseworker 

Archivist 

Coach 

Office Manager 

Senior Marketing Specialist 

Kids Ministry Coordinator / Missions 

Manager 

  

32



Q14 - Could you specify the organization where you are currently employed? This 
information will help us better determine KPU graduates’ career trajectories. 

TEKsystems 

Legislative Assembly of British Columbia 

CLBC 

Purposely Platform Inc. 

Personal Injury Law Firm 

LLP 

King Saud bin Abdelaziz University for Health Sciences 

Vail Resorts 

Church 

Starbucks 

 

Q15 - Where is the organization located? Please select all that apply. 

 

33



# Answer % Count 

1 Abbotsford/Mission/Chilliwack 19% 3 

2 Burnaby/New Westminster 31% 5 

3 Coquitlam/Port Coquitlam/Port Moody 25% 4 

4 Delta (North Delta, Ladner, Tsawwassen) 19% 3 

5 Langley/Aldergrove 25% 4 

6 North Vancouver/West Vancouver 13% 2 

7 Pitt Meadows/Maple Ridge 19% 3 

8 Richmond 13% 2 

9 Surrey/South Surrey/Cloverdale/White Rock 31% 5 

10 Vancouver 44% 7 

11 Outside the Lower Mainland. (Please specify where) 38% 6 

Total 100% 16 

Q15_TEXT - Outside the Lower Mainland. (Please specify where)

Multiple locations throughout province 

Victoria 

Also 45 offices around the province 

All of BC 

Saudi Arabia, Riyadh 

Whistler 

Q16 - Were you previously employed?

# Were you previously employed? Percentage 

1 Yes 83% 

2 No 17% 

Total 6 

34



Q17 - In which of the following sectors were you previously employed? Please select all 
that apply.

# Answer % Count 

13 Government agencies 40% 2 

1 Non-governmental organizations 20% 1 

2 International agencies 20% 1 

3 Law firms 20% 1 

4 Lobbying firms 0% 0 

5 Research organizations 0% 0 

6 Consulting firms 0% 0 

7 Newspaper/media 0% 0 

8 Universities and colleges 20% 1 

9 Private firms 0% 0 

10 Other (Please specify) 60% 3 

12 Banks 0% 0 

11 Political parties 20% 1 

Total 100% 5 

35



Q17_TEXT - Other (Please specify)

None of them. Had to get another degree and educate myself further and do a career change to get in the labor force. 

Call centre 

Retail/service 

Q18 - Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Political Science 
program?

# Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Political Science program? Percentage 

1 Yes 50% 

2 No 50% 

Total 24 

Q19 - Please list the name of the program and the institution where you enrolled after 
completing KPU’s Political Science program.

Master of Public Policy, SFU 

Accounting degree 

UBC Bachelor off Education professional program 

UBC BCOM 

Juris Doctor at University of Illinois, Chicago (John Marshall Law School) 

UBC- teacher education 

Kings College University of London 

SFU's Masters of Public Policy 

Bachelor's of Education at the University of British Columbia 

Juris Doctor, University of Alberta, Faculty of Law 

Q20 - What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently earning since 
completing KPU’s Political Science program?

# What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently earning since completing KPU’s Political Science 
program? - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 Diploma 8% 

2 Associate’s Degree 0% 

3 Bachelor’s Degree 17% 

4 Professional designation (Please specify) 25% 

5 Other (Please specify) 17% 

6 Master's Degree 33% 

7 Doctorate 0% 

Total 12 

36



Q20_1_TEXT - Professional designation (Please specify)

Teaching 

Education 

Law Degree 

Q20_2_TEXT - Other (Please specify)

Supplemental Courses 

Juris Doctor 

Q21 - How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s 
Political Science program?

# How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s Political Science program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 14% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 5% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 32% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 45% 

5 Very satisfied 5% 

Total 22 

Q22 - What can KPU’s Political Science program do to build better connections with 
alumni?

I have no desire to become connected with alumni 

Pub nights 

Something connected to careers and/or further polo sci 

Maybe host alumni socials? 
Quarterly newsletter or email 

5% 
Very 
satisfied 

37



Q23 - How do you identify your gender?

# How do you identify your gender? Percentage 

1 Male 36% 

2 Female 55% 

3 Non-Binary 0% 

4 Prefer not to answer 9% 

Total 22 

Q24 - What is your age group?

# What is your age group? Percentage 

1 18-24 4% 

2 25-29 48% 

3 30-39 39% 

4 40 and older 4% 

5 Prefer not to answer 4% 

Total 23 

38



Appendix C: Political Science Program Review Faculty Survey Results 

The faculty survey was sent to 8 Political Science faculty members. A total of 7 faculty members responded. The 
response rate is 88%.  

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

1 - How satisfied are you with how KPU’s Political Science program is preparing students 
to do the following?

39



# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Clearly and accurately present ideas and 
research 14% 0% 0% 57% 29% 7 

2 Develop knowledge of political systems 
across different cultures 14% 0% 14% 14% 57% 7 

3 Develop intercultural competencies 14% 0% 29% 57% 0% 7 

4 
Develop applied political skills including 
on election campaigns, NGOs, lobbying 

and survey analysis 
0% 29% 29% 43% 0% 7 

5 Develop knowledge of Southeast Asia 
and South Asia political issues 17% 17% 50% 0% 17% 6 

6 
Develop knowledge of the political 

influence of NGOs and non-government 
sectors 

0% 29% 29% 29% 14% 7 

7 Develop knowledge of key historical 
events in political activism globally 0% 0% 83% 17% 0% 6 

8 Develop knowledge of opportunities for 
civic engagement 0% 17% 33% 33% 17% 6 

40



2 - How satisfied are you with how KPU’s Political Science program is helping students 
develop the following essential skills?

Seven fac

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Written communication 0% 17% 0% 33% 50% 6 

2 Oral communication 0% 0% 17% 50% 33% 6 

3 Group collaboration 0% 17% 0% 33% 50% 6 

4 Critical analysis 17% 0% 0% 50% 33% 6 

5 Problem resolution 0% 0% 0% 67% 33% 6 

6 Learn on your own 0% 33% 0% 50% 17% 6 

7 Reading and 
comprehension 0% 17% 0% 33% 50% 6 

41



3 - How satisfied are you with the following aspects of the program’s curriculum?

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Its discipline/sector relevance 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 6 

2 Its ability to adapt to 
discipline/sector changes 0% 17% 17% 50% 17% 6 

3 The use of prerequisites to prepare 
students for subsequent courses 0% 33% 17% 50% 0% 6 

4 Its preparation of students for a 
career in the discipline/sector 0% 17% 17% 33% 33% 6 

5 Its preparation of students for 
further education 0% 20% 0% 60% 20% 5 

42



4 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU’s Political Science program curriculum?

# Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU’s Political Science program curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 67% 

5 Very satisfied 33% 

Total 6 

5a - Thinking of KPU's Political Science program's curriculum as a whole, please highlight 
the strengths of the program.

The program prepares students for careers in international organizations, governmental and non-governmental sectors. Additionally, it 
gives them a solid foundation to continue their studies at the graduate level and law school. 
International Politics   Canadian Politics    Environment and Climate Change  Theory 
The program prepares students with knowledge of political systems, governance and ideologies, political participation, political 
socialization, globalization, multiculturalism, environmentalism and the role of first nations in Canadian polity. It instills the virtues of 
citizenship or how a citizen is both a participant and a ruler in governance. It prepares students to understand the change, development 
and motion in political systems in Canada and the world. 
The program is quite good. It has a diverse faculty. 

Collegiality among faculty members; diversity of courses. 

5b - Thinking of KPU's Political Science program's curriculum as a whole, please highlight 
the areas for improvement.

Southeast Asia Politics 

Need more prerequisites; need to develop an honours program to retain more students. 

More experiential learning would be of benefit. 
It needs to expand in the domain of comparative politics of development (Western Europe, Japan and North America) and comparative 
politics of developing states (East Asia, Latin America and Africa). It also needs more expertise in policy and administration studies, in 
general, and politics of ethnic and gender studies, environment and first nations, in particular. 
It needs to concentrate more on regional issues, especially South Asia and Southeast Asia. 

43



6 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, how satisfied are you with the following?

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The range of modes (classroom, lab, 

online, co-op, etc.) used to deliver the 
program 

0% 0% 17% 67% 17% 6 

2 The extent to which diverse learning 
styles are accommodated 0% 17% 17% 50% 17% 6 

3 
Processes for ensuring the emotional and 
physical safety of students in the learning 

environment 
0% 17% 17% 50% 17% 6 

4 Opportunities for experiential learning 
(i.e. learning by doing and reflecting) 0% 33% 33% 33% 0% 6 

44



7 - Considering the Political Science program’s assessment methods as a whole, how 
satisfied are you with the following?

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither 
satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The extent to which students are provided 

clear information on how they will be 
evaluated 

0% 0% 0% 33% 67% 6 

2 
The extent to which assessment methods 

support program competencies and learning 
outcomes 

0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 6 

3 

The extent to which assessment methods 
allow students to demonstrate their 

attainment of program competencies and 
learning outcomes 

0% 0% 0% 67% 33% 6 

4 The extent to which assessment standards 
are consistent throughout the program 0% 0% 17% 67% 17% 6 

45



8 - Considering how instruction is delivered across the Political Science program as a 
whole, how satisfied are you with the following?

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Instructors’ collective expertise to 
deliver the curriculum 0% 0% 0% 33% 67% 6 

2 Instructional methods that facilitate 
student learning 0% 0% 0% 67% 33% 6 

3 
Instructional methods that facilitate 
students’ progression through the 

program 
0% 0% 17% 50% 33% 6 

46



9 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction delivered across the program?

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction delivered across the program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 50% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 17% 

5 Very satisfied 33% 

Total 6 

10a - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the strengths of the program.

The strengths of the program allow students to develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills. 

The program is vast and diverse. 

Small class size facilitates interaction between instructor and students. 

Small Classes    High Student Engagement    Diverse Teaching Strengths 

Quite good. Not much discussion when it comes to options 

Instructors engage their students in the learning process by testing, extensive feedback, encouraging questions and participation. 

10b - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the areas for improvement.

remote location of classes makes it difficult to get off campus to relevant sites for field trips 
Need more regular faculty members to develop "areas of specialization" within the program (eg: comparative, canadian, theory) when 
doing a major. The instructors are great, but there is place for much more (and needed) regular people. 
More technology needs to be integrated. 

Co-Op and Volunteer Opportunities  More Community Engagement  Added Courses on Southeast Asia  More Guest Speakers 

By providing teaching and marking assistants 

47



Q11 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU’s Political Science 
program?

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of relevant texts and 
supplies at the KPU bookstore 0% 17% 33% 0% 50% 6 

2 Classroom space 0% 33% 0% 50% 17% 6 

3 Lab/computer space 17% 17% 17% 50% 0% 6 

4 Learning Centre 0% 0% 33% 50% 17% 6 

5 Places for students to do group or 
individual work 17% 17% 0% 50% 17% 6 

6 Support services for students (e.g. 
counseling, advising, finance, career) 0% 0% 17% 67% 17% 6 

7 Technical equipment 0% 20% 20% 40% 20% 5 

48



Q12 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to KPU’s 
Political Science program?

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual and 
computer equipment 0% 0% 17% 33% 50% 6 

2 Books 0% 0% 0% 67% 33% 6 

3 DVDs /streaming video on 
program-related topics 0% 0% 33% 50% 17% 6 

4 eBooks 0% 0% 33% 33% 33% 6 

5 Librarian support for program-
related research 0% 0% 17% 17% 67% 6 

6 Library orientation 0% 0% 33% 33% 33% 6 

7 Online resources – journal 
articles, etc. 0% 0% 17% 50% 33% 6 

8 Print periodicals, journals, etc. 0% 0% 33% 33% 33% 6 

9 Study guides 0% 0% 17% 67% 17% 6 

49



Q13 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities that are 
specific to the Political Science program?

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities that are specific to the Political Science 
program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 50% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 

5 Very satisfied 0% 

Total 6 

14a - Thinking of the program’s resources, services and facilities, please highlight the 
strengths of the program.

We have adequate resources and services for an undergraduate university. 

Ease of Use    and  Good Support 

14b - Thinking of the program’s resources, services and facilities, please highlight the 
areas for improvement.

The collection of library resources could be improved 

Classrooms can be  crowded  Computers are sometimes slow 

Department needs more administrative assistance. 

50



15 - In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU’s Political Science 
program?

# In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU’s Political Science program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 17% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 67% 

5 Very satisfied 17% 

Total 6 

16 - Thinking of KPU's Political Science program as a whole, please highlight the strengths 
of the program.

The strength of the program lies in the various areas of expertise and engagement that Faculty bring to the Department in preparing 
students for graduation. 
Small class sizes, passionate and knowledgeable instructors. 
A growing and dynamic Political Science Program with innovative ideas Student engagement is high and interaction with Professors is 
generally very good Growing links to the Community 
In a comparative analysis, our department is doing as well, if not more, than other departments of political science with given resources. 

The program has some good instructors. It does have a good program but needs to be a bit more diverse. 

17 - Thinking of KPU's Political Science program as a whole, please highlight the areas for 
improvement.

Facilities are old (but functional). 

Added specialty courses on Asia  More co-op and volunteer opportunities for Students 

Needs more full-time faculty and administration assistance. 

More faculty in different areas. Different courses need to be taught. Better grading criteria for written work. 

51



Preferences for Asynchronous versus Synchronous Delivery 

 

What Students Appreciated about Remote Learning in Summer 2020 
Students have many positive things to say about their remote learning experience. When it worked well, it was 
often due to the efforts of faculty, which is captured in the words of one student: “Empathetic professors who 
understand individual circumstances regarding COVID, and don't judge harshly if we do poorly. Instead, they have 
an encouraging attitude and guide us to success.” Flexibility of remote learning was valued by many students. 

 

 

 

3%

17%

23%

28%

24%

5%

Completely synchronous

Mostly synchronous

An equal mix

Mostly asynchronous

Completely asynchronous

No preference

11%

16%

21%

23%

25%

4%

Living Abroad Living in Canada “Asynchronous learning allowed 
for greater flexibility to manage 

other courses and life. Synchronous 
learning to some degree helped 
me feel more connected to my 
classmates and professors and 

engage better with the material.… 
I largely prefer asynchronous for 
the flexibility but synchronous 
learning definitely helps stay 

engaged and focused.”  
KPU Student, Summer 2020

What Students Like About Asynchronous Delivery: 
Can study at their own pace and gain a deeper understanding 

Can take more courses since no schedule conflicts and campus doesn’t matter 
Easier to balance school with work and family responsibilities 

Can do course work when it’s quiet at home 
Synchronous Activities are Useful For: 

Interacting with classmates 
Engaging with the instructor during the lecture 
One-on-one help in ‘office hours’ and tutoring 

Online Resources Students Value: 
Recorded lectures that students can watch anytime, and repeat if needed 

Voice-over Power Points they can review anytime 
Course materials easily accessible online 

Course materials well organized on Moodle 
Online to-do lists and calendars Students Appreciate Instructors For: 

Being kind and understanding 
Putting in extra time to make remote learning a positive experience 

Flexible deadlines to reduce stress due to technical issues 
Listening to student needs regarding online formats 

Timely responses to their emails 
Timely feedback on assignments Benefits of Remote Delivery: 

Felt safer during the pandemic 
Able to take courses when not in Canada 

Online discussions and presentations less stressful than talking in class 
More time for studies since they don’t have to travel to campus 

Remote learning often more accommodating for students with disabilities 

*140 students were outside of Canada

Appendix D: Students’ Views on Remote Learning
Based on a survey of students taking courses in Summer 2020
2,559 students (29%) responded

52



Students’ Suggestions for Improving Remote Learning 
Many students enjoyed their remote learning experience, but it did not always go smoothly. There were some technical 
issues early in the term that took time to get sorted out. Remote learning was a new experience for most students, and 
instructors had limited time to prepare for the summer. Here are students’ suggestions on how KPU can improve remote 
learning for the future. 

Factors Students Want Us to Keep in Mind: 
Most KPU students work, and often work full-time in the summer. With the pandemic, financial issues are more common 
so students may take whatever work they can find and not be able to turn down a shift. Home may not provide a quiet 
place to study as other family members may also be spending a lot of time at home. About 10% of KPU students have 
children living at home and may have additional child-care responsibilities due to the pandemic. Students living outside 
Canada also have time zone differences to deal with. All these factors mean that students may have limited flexibility about 
when they can focus on their studies. 
Although some students love remote learning, others found it very challenging and want to return to face-to-face instruction 
as soon as possible. Most of the students outside Canada are new to KPU, and may find starting university this way even 
more challenging than those in Canada. As students pointed out, many of their best experiences were when their 
instructors were empathetic and understanding of these extra challenges. 

Students’ Workload:
Online learning can increase workloads with online forums, discussion, weekly assignments and 
readings, in addition to watching online lectures. Some students feel they are doing more work 
now than they did with face-to-face instruction. This may be a consequence of some instructors 
increasing the number of assignments to help students stay on track, but instead students feel the 
workload is more than they can keep up with and would like the volume of work to be reduced 
back to a similar level as before. Many students took more courses than they usually do in the 
summer. There may have been many factors influencing this, but some pointed out that it was 
made possible because there were no schedule or campus conflicts. Although students were 
happy for the increased access to courses, the increased course load may have had some 
unexpected impacts. One example is screen fatigue, given the amount of work that is done on the 
screen. Flexibility with deadlines, and ensuring students have lots of advance notice can help 
reduce workload-related stress. 

Assignments and Exams: 
Students would like to know about assignments as early as possible so they can plan accordingly. This gives them more 
flexibility and allows them to balance schoolwork with other responsibilities. One challenge with asynchronous delivery is 
that students may be at different places in the course. This can make keeping track of assignments and deadlines more 
difficult, especially with an increased number of assignments. Some students suggested a calendar or notification system 
in Moodle or elsewhere would help them keep track. Group projects are common at KPU but students point out that they 
are difficult to do in a remote learning environment as it is more challenging to connect with classmates and ensure 
everyone is making an equal contribution. Hence, many requested that group projects not be assigned for courses with 
remote delivery. Another common request is for more timely feedback on assignments. Sometimes the method of 
submitting assignments creates unintentional challenges for students. They may not have access to scanners, for instance. 
There seems to be unintentional consequences of methods used to combat cheating on exams, resulting in harder exams, 
or lack of time to complete the exams. Students suggested that exams should have increased time limits, be replaced with 
alternatives, or that better proctoring be done. Based on the survey, however, we know that proctoring capabilities would 
be limited by student webcam access (15% had no access, 16% had limited access). 

! 

53



Mode of Instruction: 
Although most students prefer some form of asynchronous 
delivery, they still want a lecture or similar format where the 
content is explained, which could be in the form of a recorded 
video. They don’t want to be left to review the assigned material 
only on their own, they want instructors to guide them. 
Recorded lectures that students can revisit as often as they need 
are ideal for many students. This makes it possible for them to 
study when it’s quiet at home, and avoid conflicts with work, 
family responsibilities and other courses. They would prefer to 
have the recorded lectures available earlier in the term so they 
can work at their own pace. A week to review each video class 
and do the assigned work and readings would be helpful. Many 
would also like a limited number of synchronous activities to 
help them feel more engaged. 

Communication and Engagement: 
Students desire to be more connected to 
both their peers and instructors. 
Suggestions from students include: 
holding online office hours at scheduled 
times in addition to providing timely 
responses to emails; asking students for 
feedback about remote delivery in order to 
adapt to their needs; and facilitating 
connection with other students. Students 
would also like to have clear information 
about the structure of the course provided 
at the beginning of the term. 

Technology: 
Some instructors are better at using technology, and some 
technology worked better than others. Providing instructors 
with information on best practices on the use of Moodle, Big 
Blue Button and other technology may reduce the technology 
problems. Many students suggest that Moodle should be 
mandatory and that when Moodle is optimally organized, 
learning is made easier. Some also suggested that Big Blue 
Button be mandatory for synchronous activity, such as small 
group discussion and virtual office hours. 
They also want to ensure technology works as intended, and 
is compatible with all operating systems. Those providing 
technological support should know how to troubleshoot the 
technology and course-specific software, and training for 
students on how to use the software would also be useful. 

Learning Resources: 
Most students want resources, including textbooks and library 
materials, to be available electronically. Some suggested that 
ensuring textbook lists are made available well in advance of the 
start of term allows students time to order the books online. 
Students also preferred to access their course materials and 
quizzes through Moodle rather than other platforms that 
they must pay extra for. 

Services: 
Some students requested access to online 
services such as counselling and tutoring, not 
aware that these service are available online. 
Others wanted to be able to go to campus for 
these services. This suggests a need for 
improved communication about the services 
that are available remotely, and how to access 
them. 
 

54



Appendix E: ADMINISTRATIVE DATA REPORT FOR POLITICAL SCIENCE

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION ..........................................................................................................................................................1 

DATA FOR CHAPTER 2 OF THE SELF STUDY: PROGRAM CURRENCY AND CONNECTIONS .........................................2 

STUDENT DEMAND FOR THE PROGRAM ................................................................................................................2 

ENROLMENT TRENDS .........................................................................................................................................2 

Exhibit 1: FTE Headcount by Academic Year: Political Science and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate 
Courses ...........................................................................................................................................................2 

Exhibit 2: FTE Headcount by Academic Year: Political Science ....................................................................2 

Exhibit 3: FTE Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts Programs ......................................................2 

POLITICAL SCIENCE ENROLMENT IN B.C. ............................................................................................................3 

Exhibit 4: Number of Students Enrolled in Bachelor/Associate of Political Science Programs at B.C. 
Public Post-Secondary Institutions ................................................................................................................3 

DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF KPU STUDENTS ......................................................................................................3 

Exhibit 5: Profile of Political Science Students by Academic Year ...............................................................3 

Exhibit 6: Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year ..................................................................3 

SEAT TRENDS ......................................................................................................................................................4 

Exhibit 7: Average Seats per Class from 2016/17 to 2019/20: .....................................................................4 

Exhibit 8: Fill Rate from 2016/17 to 2019/20: ..............................................................................................4 

DATA FOR CHAPTER 4 OF THE SELF-STUDY: QUALITY OF INSTRUCTIONAL DESIGN ..................................................5 

STUDENT EXPERIENCE ............................................................................................................................................5 

GRADE DISTRIBUTIONS .......................................................................................................................................5 

Exhibit 9: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Political Science Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20 ...........5 

Exhibit 10: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 to 
2019/20 ..........................................................................................................................................................5 

Exhibit 11: Grade Data for Political Science and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Level Courses from 
2015/16 to 2019/20 .......................................................................................................................................6 

Exhibit 12: Grade Data for Political Science and Faculty of Arts Courses for 2019/20 across 
Undergraduate Levels ....................................................................................................................................7 

GRADUATION COUNTS .......................................................................................................................................9 

Exhibit 13: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Political Science ........................................................9 

Exhibit 14: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts ...........................................................9 

Exhibit 15: Median Years to Graduate: Political Science ..............................................................................9 

Exhibit 16: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Arts ................................................................................9 

STUDENT OUTCOMES ...................................................................................................................................... 10 

55



Exhibit 17: Student Outcomes Measures - KPU Political Science Average Scores Compared with 
Ministry Targets .......................................................................................................................................... 10 

INTRODUCTION 

This report presents data for the Bachelor of Arts in Political Science (Major, Minor) and Associate of Arts in 
Political Science self-study report.  

The section pertinent to chapter 2 of the self-study presents (1) enrolment trends, (2) Political Science 
enrolment in BC, (3) demographic profile of students, and (4) seat trends.  

The section pertinent to chapter 4 of the self-study presents (1) grade distributions (2) graduation counts and (3) 
findings of BC Student Outcomes Survey.  

There are 17 numbered exhibits. Each exhibit presents data to address a particular issue in the self-study report. 

Footnotes provide important information about the data sources and definitions. 

56



DATA FOR CHAPTER 2 OF THE SELF STUDY: PROGRAM CURRENCY AND 
CONNECTIONS 
STUDENT DEMAND FOR THE PROGRAM 

ENROLMENT TRENDS1 

Has demand for Political Science courses been changing over the last five years? How does demand for Political 
Science courses compare with demand for Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses over the same period?  

Exhibit 1: FTE Headcount2 by Academic Year: Political Science and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 % Change3 

Political Science 559 641 832 926 827 22% 

Faculty of Arts   10,440   11,036   12,360   12,122   11,574 5% 

Has demand for the Political Science program changed over the last five years? How does it compare with 
demand for Faculty of Arts undergraduate programs over the same period? 

Exhibit 2: FTE Headcount by Academic Year: Political Science4 
2015/165 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 %Change 

Political Science Total6 
114 131 165 156 176 54% 

Intended 33 69 115 108 121 267% 
Bachelor’s Degree (Major) 38 39 37 37 45 18% 
Associate Degree 38 9 3 2 3 -92% 
Minor 14 16 13 11 13 -7% 

Exhibit 3: FTE Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts Programs 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 % Change 

Faculty of Arts Total7 5,712 5,692 5,895 5,737 5,843 2% 

Definitions 
FTE Headcount  Headcount used for FTE calculations. This includes students who withdrew from the course. 

1 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Enrolment dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
2 Headcount used for FTE calculations. This includes students enrolled in the course from the Stable Enrolment date, 
including those who later withdrew from the course. 
3 % Change refers to change between 2015/16 to 2019/20. 
4 Data for Intended, Major (Bachelor’s and Associate), and Minor headcounts in Political Science are reported separately.  
5 Effective September 2015 and onwards, KPU has now admitted new students to a Faculty instead of a program and these 
new students are being reported under the ‘undeclared’ credential category until they meet program declaration 
requirements (exception are students enrolled in a limited entry program). 
6 To avoid double counting students, Political Science total is a unique headcount for the year, not the sum of Intended and 
Declared counts. 
7 Faculty of Arts total includes undeclared Faculty of Arts students.  

57



POLITICAL SCIENCE ENROLMENT IN B.C. 8 

How do KPU Political Science enrolment trends compare with overall enrolment trends in B.C? 

Exhibit 4 presents the number of students enrolled in Bachelor/Associate of Political Science programs at B.C. 
public post-secondary institutions.  

Exhibit 4: Number of Students Enrolled in Bachelor/Associate of Political Science Programs at B.C. Public Post-
Secondary Institutions 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 
Associate Degree 63 106 128 129 130 
Bachelor’s Degree 1,564 1,480 1,472 1,488 1,518 
Total 1,625 1,584 1,593 1,617 1,648 

DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF KPU STUDENTS9 

Has the demographic profile of Political Science students changed over the last five years? 

Is the gender distribution in the Political Science program equitable?  

Exhibit 5: Profile of Political Science Students by Academic Year 
Student Profile 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
FTE Headcount 114 131 165 156 176 
% Female 35% 40% 40% 44% 48% 
% 22 years or younger 59% 58% 62% 65% 65% 
% International 5% 13% 20% 15% 20% 

How does the demographic profile of Political Science students compare with that of the Faculty of Arts 
undergraduate students over the same period? 

Exhibit 6: Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year 
Student Profile 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
FTE Headcount  5,712  5,692  5,895  5,737  5,843 
% Female 63% 62% 62% 62% 62% 
% 22 years or younger 68% 69% 69% 68% 67% 
% International 5% 8% 15% 14% 17% 

8 All data reported below was obtained from the STP Enrolment dashboard 2017-18. STP refers to the B.C. Student 
Transitions Project, which tracks students in the public post-secondary education system. Data are coded by Classification 
of Instructional Program (CIP). To identify Bachelor/Associate Political Science programs, CIP code 45.1001 and credential 
category of Bachelor’s degree and Associate Degree were used.  
9 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Enrolment dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx. 

58



SEAT TRENDS10 

Has there been a change in average seats per class11 in Political Science courses? How do they compare with 
Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 7: Average Seats per Class from 2016/17 to 2019/20: 
Political Science: Faculty of Arts: 

Has there been a change in fill rates in Political Science courses? How do they compare with Faculty of Arts 
undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 8: Fill Rate from 2016/17 to 2019/20: 
Political Science: Faculty of Arts: 

Definitions 
Seats Offered Maximum number of seats available in a unit (section, course, department, 

faculty- depends on the menu selection) 
Seats Filled Number of seats taken in the unit (section, course, department, 

faculty- depends on the menu selection) 
Average Seats Offered Per Class Computed as Seats Offered / Count of Classes 
Average Seats Filled Per Class Computed as Seats Filled / Count of Classes 
Fill Rate Computed as Seats Taken / Seats Offered. 

A measure of % capacity utilization. 

10 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Seat Statistics dashboard 2019-20, which is located at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx.  
11 The new class size target is 25. 

32.7 34.4 33.7 31.2

24.8
29.1

32.3
28.0

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

27.6 28.1 27.8 29.0

24.3 25.0 26.0 26.9

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

76%
85% 96% 90%

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

88% 89% 93% 93%

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

59



DATA FOR CHAPTER 4 OF THE SELF-STUDY: QUALITY OF INSTRUCTIONAL 
DESIGN 
STUDENT EXPERIENCE 

GRADE DISTRIBUTIONS12 

Are an adequate number of students in Political Science courses receiving a grade of C and above? How do they 
compare with the students in Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 9: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Political Science Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20 

Exhibit 10: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20 

12 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Grade Distribution dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx.   

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

3%

9%

21
%

36
%

49
% 60

% 67
% 77

%

78
% 83

% 93
%

2%

7%

19
%

34
%

49
% 59

% 67
% 74

% 77
% 81

% 90
%

3%

9%

21
%

35
%

48
%

60
% 69

% 78
%

80
% 84

% 92
%

5%

13
% 23

% 33
%

45
% 55

% 64
%

77
% 81

% 87
% 93

%

5%

13
% 24

%

37
%

51
% 62

% 70
% 75

% 80
% 86

% 93
%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

9%

19
%

32
% 44

% 55
% 65

% 73
% 80

% 83
% 86

% 93
%

8%

18
%

32
% 44

% 55
% 65

% 72
% 79

% 82
% 86
% 93

%

9%

19
%

31
% 42

% 53
% 63

% 70
% 77

% 81
% 85

% 93
%

10
% 21

%

34
% 45

% 56
% 65

% 73
% 80

% 83
% 87

% 94
%

12
% 24

%

38
% 49

% 59
% 68

% 74
% 80

% 83
% 86
% 91

%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

60



Does the repeat rate in Political Science courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the repeat rate of 
Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses?  

Does the DFW rate in Political Science courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the DFW rate in 
Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 11: Grade Data for Political Science and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Level Courses from 2015/16 to 
2019/20 

Political Science: Faculty of Arts: 

Political Science: Faculty of Arts: 

Political Science: Faculty of Arts: 

2.60 2.61 2.66 2.64 2.72 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Mean Grade & Std Dev

2.86 2.85 2.80 2.88 3.02 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Mean Grade & Std Dev

5% 4% 3% 3% 4%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Repeat Rate

6% 7% 6% 7% 8%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Repeat Rate

22% 23% 20% 19% 20%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

DFW Rate

17% 18% 19% 17% 16%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

DFW Rate

61



Are there any issues with Political Science students’ performance at each level? How do they compare with 
Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses?   

Exhibit 12: Grade Data for Political Science and Faculty of Arts Courses for 2019/20 across Undergraduate Levels 

Political Science:13 Faculty of Arts: 

Political Science: Faculty of Arts: 

Political Science: Faculty of Arts: 

Political Science: Faculty of Arts: 

13 Note that variations in sample size can affect the mean scores. 

2.57 
2.89 

3.13 
3.42 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4

Mean Grade & Std Dev

2.88 3.09 
3.34 

3.65 
3.93 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Mean Grade & Std Dev

906

93
153

82

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Seats
27,678

6,880 6,421

2,061
37

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Number of Seats

4% 3% 0%
10%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

Repeat Rate

9% 6% 4% 4% 0%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Repeat Rate

62



Definitions 
Grade For courses with numeric grade mode, this is the letter grade (A+ through F) assigned to a 

student based on achievement in a course. 
Mean Grade The average grade of students in the selected courses, based solely on the numerical grade 

equivalent of a letter grade. A weighted average is used, such that larger classes have a 
larger influence on the computed mean. 

Cumulative 
Distribution 

The number of students who receive a particular letter grade (A+ through F) plus those who 
receive a higher grade, as a percentage of the total number of students with a grade or a 
W/WE. Useful for estimating the proportion of passing students based on any specific grade 
requirement. 

DFW Rate % of students who received a grade of D or F or withdrew from the course. 
Percentage is calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF 
(Deferred). A common metric used to identify courses with high rates of poor student 
performance. 

Enrolment Number of students assigned a grade or W/WE (Withdraw) or DEF (Deferred), except those 
marked as AUD (Audit). These are not unique students since they are allowed to repeat and 
take multiple courses. Students include those who have withdrawn from their class, but 
does not include those who dropped the class before the Stable Enrolment Date. To protect 
privacy, this dashboard does not display grade information for courses with less than 5 
students. 

Repeat Rate Students who repeat a course, that is, have taken the course previously. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF. 

22%
15% 12% 11%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

DFW Rate

18% 14% 10% 7%
0%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

DFW Rate

63



GRADUATION COUNTS14 

Has there been a change in the number of Political Science graduates over time? How does it compare with 
Faculty of Arts in general? 

Exhibit 13: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Political Science 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Associate of Arts in Political Science 2 0 0 1 1 
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science 9 3 10 11 13 

Exhibit 14: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Total15 861 715 802 888 1,562 
Associate Degree 92 65 74 52 66 
Bachelor’s Degree 482 345 386 354 437 
Certificate 144 127 102 72 203 
Diploma 152 192 246 420 862 

Are Political Science students completing the program within a reasonable time? How does it compare with 
Faculty of Arts in general? 

Exhibit 15: Median Years to Graduate:16 Political Science 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Associate of Arts in Political Science 3.5 - - 4.9 2.9 
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science 4.8 2.8 7.0 5.0 6.0 

Exhibit 16: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Arts 
2015/16 

Associate Degree 3.8 
Bachelor’s Degree 5.7 
Certificate 2.0 
Diploma 2.8 

Definitions 
Graduate 
Headcount 

Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up to 
total or 100% because a student can earn multiple credentials in different categories within the 
same academic year. 

Credential Specific academic award granted upon completion of Program, such as "Associate of Arts Degree" vs 
"Associate of Science Degree". 

Median A computed "middle" number in a set of numbers when sorted by value, such that 50% of the values 
are higher and 50% are smaller than this number. The Median is preferred over the Mean when the 
distribution of numbers contains a few extreme values. Extreme values will distort the Mean in that 
direction, whereas the Median is not affected by extreme values. 

14 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Credentials dashboard AY 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx. 
15 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibit 14 are unique headcounts of students 
for the year, not the sum of the credential counts. 
16 The data in Exhibits 15 and 16 present the median number of years students took to receive their first credential. 

64



STUDENT OUTCOMES17 
There are 7 measures that Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills & Training uses to assess each 
institution with respect to the outcomes students achieve within 2 years of graduation. A description of 
each follows. Ministry has a target for each measure. 

Unemployed Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market) 
Employed Proportion of former students who are employed 
Related Job Proportion of former students employed in a related field of study 

Usefulness Proportion of former students who reported satisfaction in the usefulness of their 
knowledge and skills in performing their jobs 

Satisfaction Proportion of former students' who reported satisfaction with their education 
Quality Proportion of former students' who assessed their quality of instruction positively 

Skill Development [Former] student assessment of their skill development at KPU. An overall average 
for all skills is provided, plus the results for each skill 

Are we achieving the Ministry’s targets? Are the graduates getting jobs in a related field? 

Exhibit 17: Student Outcomes Measures - KPU Political Science Average Scores Compared with Ministry 
Targets 

Measures 

Average Student 
Outcome Scores for 
KPU Political Science 

(2017-2019) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 14 
Unemployment 8.3% 

 
≤ 7.5% 

 Employed 79% 
 Related Job 55% 
 Usefulness 73%   ≥ 90% 

Satisfaction 100%   ≥ 90% 
Quality 100%   ≥ 90% 
Skill Development 96%   ≥ 85% 

Write Clearly and Concisely 100% ≥ 85% 
Speak Effectively 100% ≥ 85% 

Read and Comprehend Materials 100% ≥ 85% 
Work Effectively with Others 93% ≥ 85% 

Analyze and Think Critically 93% ≥ 85% 
Resolve Issues or Problems 93% ≥ 85% 

Learn on your Own 93% ≥ 85% 

17 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Student Outcomes dashboard 2015-19, which is available 
at: https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx.  

65



Appendix F: Political Science Program Review - Discipline/Sector Survey Report 

The discipline/sector survey was sent to 20 Political Science discipline/sector representatives. A total of 5 
representatives responded. The response rate is 25%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

Q1 - Which sector best describes your organization or business? Select all that apply.

# Answer % Count 

1 Political party 20% 1 

2 Government agency 0% 0 

3 Non-governmental organization 20% 1 

4 International agency 20% 1 

5 Law firm 20% 1 

6 Lobbying firm 0% 0 

7 Research organization 0% 0 

8 Consulting firm 20% 1 

9 Newspaper/media 0% 0 

10 University/college 0% 0 

11 Bank 0% 0 

12 Private firm 0% 0 

13 Other, please specify: 20% 1 

Total 100% 5 

Q1_TEXT - Other, please specify:

Former Political leader 

66



Q2 - Considering the needs and expectations of your organization, how important is it for 
an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following?

# Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential Total 

1 Clearly and accurately present ideas and research 0% 0% 40% 60% 5 

2 Knowledge of political systems across different cultures 0% 60% 40% 0% 5 

3 Intercultural competencies 0% 40% 60% 0% 5 

4 Applied political skills including on election campaigns, 
NGOs, lobbying and survey analysis 0% 60% 40% 0% 5 

5 Knowledge of Southeast Asia and South Asia political issues 20% 40% 40% 0% 5 

6 Knowledge of the political influence of NGOs and non-
government sectors 0% 20% 40% 40% 5 

7 Knowledge of key historical events in political activism 
globally 20% 20% 40% 20% 5 

8 Knowledge of opportunities for civic engagement 0% 20% 60% 20% 5 

67



Q3 - Considering the needs and expectations of your organization, how important is it for 
an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following skills? 

 

# Question Not at all important Somewhat important Very important Essential Total 

1 Written communication 0% 0% 40% 60% 5 

2 Oral communication 0% 0% 20% 80% 5 

3 Group collaboration 0% 0% 40% 60% 5 

4 Critical analysis 0% 0% 40% 60% 5 

5 Problem resolution 0% 0% 20% 80% 5 

6 Learn on your own 0% 0% 60% 40% 5 

7 Reading and comprehension 0% 0% 0% 100% 5 

 

  

68



Q4 - What other skills, training or knowledge should an entry-level applicant have to be 
hired into your organization? 

Very good to excellent communications skills, written and oral include strong ability in persuasive writing.  Ability to conduct research from 
credible and reliable sources. Attribute of humility: willingness to start in a small space and graduate over time into more complex role. 
quantitative skills (data analysis), managing pressure, dealing with failures 

Technical skill, ability to easily research; collaborative spirit, willingness to participate on team problem solving. 

Willingness, enthusiasm to learn 

 

Q5 - What are the emerging trends in the sector that KPU Political Science students 
should be prepared for? 

non-traditional opportunities including applying political science to more concrete fields: health, privacy in the digital age, business, conflict 
resolution and law etc 
the rapid development of advanced technology, the rising schism in our civic and political culture 
Electoral interference by social media fake accounts and the danger that imposes on democracy.  The escalating use of social media and it’s 
reach. How to assess public opinion within a polling environment that used to rely on landlines. 
Changing political structures 

 

Q6 - How familiar are you with KPU’s Political Science program? 

 

# How familiar are you with KPU’s Political Science program? Percentage 

1 Not at all familiar 0% 

2 Slightly familiar 20% 

3 Moderately familiar 40% 

4 Very familiar 40% 

 Total 5 

 

Q7 - When you think about KPU’s Political Science program, what are the top three 
characteristics that come to mind? 

Characteristic #1 Characteristic #2 Characteristic #3 

applied knowledge immersive learning diversity 
Engaged Civically responsible Strong leadership 

 

69



Q8 - Have you ever hosted, hired, or worked with KPU Political Science alumni and/or 
students? 

# Have you ever hosted, hired, or worked with KPU Political Science alumni and/or students? Percentage 

1 Yes 75% 
2 No 25% 
 Total 4 

 

Q9 - Which of the following best describes your previous experience with students 
and/or alumni in KPU’s Political Science program? Please select all that apply. 

# Which of the following best describes your previous experience with students and/or alumni in KPU’s Political Science 
program? Please select all that apply. Percentage 

1 I have hosted KPU Political Science co-op, internship, mentorship or work experience students 29% 
2 I have hired KPU Political Science alumni to work in my organization 29% 
3 I have worked with KPU Political Science alumni 43% 
 Total 7 

Q10 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Political Science alumni 
and/or students to work in your organization? 

 

# Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Political Science alumni and/or students to work in your 
organization? Percentage 

1 Not at all prepared 0% 

2 Somewhat prepared 0% 

3 Very prepared 67% 

4 Extremely prepared 33% 

 Total 3 

 

Q11 - Please comment on the alumni and/or students you hired or worked with. Please 
highlight any strengths you have observed. 

Willingness to begin with humble tasks.  Ability to improve the way things were done. Applied critical thinking skills in data analysis and 
research Seeing and taking opportunity 
I worked with a few KPU alumni in different industries. They shared a few common characteristics: adaptable and highly engaged. 
Local government has utilized students during various events or large community initiatives. Critical thinking and ideas around process 
were strengths observed. 

 

70



Q12 - Please comment on the alumni and/or students you hired or worked with. Please 
highlight any suggestions you have for improvement. 

interpersonal skills and communication 
I think they may lack the ability to think about the world in a bigger picture. Exposing students to the global world in a holistic way can 
certainly help students in their careers. For example, making sure they are familiar with big organizations they can work for in the future 
(Mckinsey, Economist Intelligence Unit, World Economic Forum etc), or prominent individuals in the field. 

 

Q13 - What can KPU’s Political Science program do to build better connections with the 
discipline/sector? 

Enter working partnerships with schools and institutions with larger reach e.g. Geneva Institutes and UN agencies. 

Developing a robust co-op program, hosting networking events, seminars, conferences etc. 

Engage in various city committees either by membership or by observation and analysis. 

Bring speakers in from elected government 

 

71



Policy History 

Policy No. 

AC13 

Approving Jurisdiction: 

Board of Governors, with Senate advice 

Administrative Responsibility: 

Provost and Vice President Academic 

Effective Date: 

March 29, 2017 

Qualifications for Faculty Members 

Policy 

A. CONTEXT AND PURPOSE 

This Policy exists in order to guide Kwantlen Polytechnic University in the appointment of faculty with 
the appropriate credentials, scholarly records and experience commensurate with the academic and 
professional standards of their disciplines, and the educational programs, courses, research activities, 
and / or services of which they are comprised. 

B. SCOPE AND LIMITS 

This Policy applies to the appointment of all faculty at Kwantlen Polytechnic University. 

C. STATEMENT OF POLICY PRINCIPLES 

1. The University is committed to the continuous assurance of program quality and the success of its
students through graduation and mobility into areas of further study.

2. The credibility and sustainability of the University’s programs require faculty who are
appropriately qualified and who possess the necessary scholarly preparation and currency to
meet external peer expectations of accreditation, program approval and program review bodies.

3. Faculty qualification standards will vary in accordance with the academic and professional
expectations appropriate to the University’s diverse disciplines and departments, and the specific
educational program, course, research, and / or service responsibilities of any particular faculty
appointment.

D. RELATED POLICIES & LEGISLATION 

AC3 Program Review 
AC10 Establishment, Revision, Suspension and/or Discontinuance of Programs 
University Act RSBC 1996 Chapter 468 

Appendix G: Policy AC13

72



Section 35.2 (6) “The senate of a special purpose, teaching university must advise the board, and 
the board must seek advice from the senate, on the development of educational policy for the 
following matters: 
(i) the qualifications for faculty members” 

Section 40 “A Faculty has the following powers and duties: 
(e)  Subject to an order of the president to the contrary, to prohibit lecturing and teaching in 
the faculty by persons other than appointed members of the teaching staff of the faculty 
and persons authorized by the faculty, and to prevent lecturing or teaching so prohibited 
(f) Subject to the approval of the senate, to appoint for the examinations in each faculty 
examiners who, subject to an appeal to the senate, must conduct examinations and 
determine the results;” 

E. RELATED PROCEDURES 

Refer to AC13 Qualifications for Faculty Members Procedure 

73



Minimum Qualifications – Faculty Positions 

Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Academic and Career 
Preparation 

Bachelor’s Degree in a teaching 
area (Master’s preferred) ENGQ 
1099 – Relevant Master’s 
Degree 

Experience required ENGQ 
1099 – Experience teaching 
adults 

Related working experience 

Access Programs for 
Students with Disabilities 

Master’s Degree in Special 
Education or related field 

Experience in an instructional 
capacity 

Recent related work experience 

Accessibility Services Master’s Degree in one of the 
following: Disability Studies, 
Education, Psychology, Social 
Work, Counselling, 
Rehabilitation, Occupational 
Therapy, or a related field. 

Experience in research or 
teaching. 

Experience determining or planning 
accommodations, preferably in a post-secondary 
setting. 

Accounting (ACCT) Bachelor’s degree, Master’s 
preferred for full-time faculty 

Accounting designation (CPA or 
CFA) 

Post-secondary preferred 5 years accounting experience 

Anthropology Master's degree required; PhD 
preferred. 

Professional designation as 
required by the position. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. 

Appendix H: Table of Minimum Qualifications

74



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Appliance Servicing Completion of Appliance Service 
Technician (apprenticeship) in-
school program, or equivalent, 
and completion of a Gas 
Appliance Service Technician in-
school program, or equivalent. 

The instructor must hold both a 
subsisting British Columbia (BC) 
Appliance Service Technician 
Certificate of Qualification (CofQ) 
and a BC Gas Appliance Service 
Technician CofQ, or hold a 
subsisting Appliance Service 
Technician CofQ with 
interprovincial (IP) Red Seal 
Endorsement (RSE) from another 
Canadian jurisdiction and a Gas 
Appliance Technician CofQ, or 
equivalent.   
To instruct the Gas Appliance 
Certificate module, the instructor 
must hold a subsisting BC Gasfitter 
Class A or BC Gasfitter Class B CofQ 
with IP RSE.   

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 Instructional Skills
Workshop (ISW)
certificate, or equivalent;
or

 BC Provincial Instructor
diploma (PID), or
equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

A minimum of five years’ diverse experience as an 
appliance service journeyperson. 

Applied Business Technology Master’s Degree required Secondary or Post-secondary 3 years related work experience 

Applied Communications 
(CMNS) 

Master’s in Communications, 
English, Journalism or related 
discipline.  

No professional designation 
required. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

At least three to five years of 
demonstrated successful 
teaching experience at the 
post-secondary level. 

Experience teaching 
international students is 
preferred.  

Professional communications experience is 
preferred. Examples include but are not limited to 
jobs where writing is the primary function, leading 
an organizational communications strategy, 
designing and implementing communications plans, 
and leading comprehensive fundraising campaigns. 

75



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Applied Science Master’s degree in Engineering 
or Physics. Must have 
specialization in both 
engineering and physics over 
the undergraduate degrees 
held. 

Registration as a Professional 
Engineer in BC or eligibility for 
same(to be achieved in a specified 
period) 

Post-secondary. 

Arts Master's degree required; PhD 
preferred. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. 

Asian Studies PhD or ABD status in a relevant 
discipline required. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. 

Automotive Service 
Technician 

Completion of Automotive 
Service Technician 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or equivalent. 

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Automotive Service 
Technician CofQ with IP RSE, or 
hold a subsisting Automotive 
Service Technician CofQ with RSE 
from another Canadian jurisdiction. 

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

A minimum of five years’ diverse experience as an 
automotive repair journeyperson. 

Bachelor of Psychiatric 
Nursing (BPN) 

Master’s Degree (PhD preferred) Eligible for practicing membership 
with CRPNBC and/or CRNBC with 
no limits, no conditions, no terms. 

Related work experience. 
Psychiatric education and experience is 
recommended. 

Bachelor of Science in 
Nursing (BSN) 

Master’s Degree (PhD preferred 
– one degree in nursing)

Eligible for practicing membership 
with CRNBC with no limits, no 
conditions, no terms. 

Post-secondary teaching 
experience or educational 
courses at Master or PhD 
level. 

Three years preferred, related work experience. 

76



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Bachelor of Science in 
Nursing Advanced Entry 
(BSN-AE) 

Master’s Degree (PhD preferred 
– one degree in nursing)

Eligible for practicing membership 
with CRNBC with no limits, no 
conditions, no terms. 

Post-secondary teaching 
experience, online or blended 
curriculum experience or 
training preferred. 

Related work experience. 

Biology/Health Science Master’s degree in appropriate 
specialization, PhD preferred, 
subject matter specialization 
may be required 

Appropriate professional 
designation(where applicable). 

Post-secondary preferred. 

Brewing (HOPS courses) Bachelor's degree, Master's 
preferred for full- time faculty. 

Post-secondary preferred. 5 years related work experience. 

Business and Quantitative 
Methods (BUQU) 

Masters required. 
Ph.D.  preferred. 

No professional designation 
required. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Applicants with a masters 
should have at least three 
years of experience teaching 
business quantitative methods 
at the post-secondary level. 

Preference will be given to candidates with a 
minimum of three years of professional experience 
directly related to business quantitative methods. 

Business Management MBA or equivalent (PhD 
preferred) 

Post-secondary preferred 5 years related management experience 

CADD 

Core and Specialties 
(CADM, CADS, CADI, 
CADA courses) 

CAD related 
programming 

Drafting or Technology 

Diploma Bachelor’s degree 
preferred 

Post-secondary preferred. 

Post-secondary preferred. 

6 years related work experience. 

6 years related work experience. 

77



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Carpentry/Building 
Construction 

Completion of Carpenter 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or equivalent. 

Preference will be given to an 
applicant who has completed a 
Construction Technician 
certificate program of study, or 
equivalent. 

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Carpenter CofQ, 
preferably with an IP RSE, or hold a 
subsisting Carpenter CofQ with IP 
RSE from another Canadian 
jurisdiction. 

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

A minimum of five years` experience as a 
carpentry/building construction journeyperson. 

At least five years` supervisory or administrative 
experience preferred. 

Chemistry Master’s degree in appropriate 
specialization, PhD preferred. 

Appropriate professional 
designation (where applicable). 

Post-secondary preferred. 

Community Service Support 
Worker 

On Hiatus 

Computer Business Systems 
(CBSY) 

Master’s Degree required Appropriate professional 
designation in computing 

3 years related work 
experience 

3 years directly related work experience 

Computing Sciences and 
Information Systems (CSIS) 

Master’s Degree in Computer 
Science or related discipline 
(PhD preferred) 

Post-secondary preferred Related professional experience 

78



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Construction Electrician 
Levels 1, 2 and 3 

Construction Electrician 
Level 4 

Completion of Construction 
Electrician (apprenticeship) in-
school program, or completion 
of Industrial Electrician 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or equivalent. 

Completion of Construction 
Electrician (apprenticeship) in-
school program, or equivalent. 

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Construction 
Electrician CofQ, preferably with IP 
RSE, or subsisting BC Industrial 
Electrician CofQ, preferably with IP 
RSE, or subsisting Construction 
Electrician CofQ with IP RSE from 
another Canadian jurisdiction, or 
subsisting Industrial Electrician 
CofQ with IP RSE from another 
Canadian jurisdiction.  

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Construction 
Electrician CofQ, preferably with IP 
RSE, or subsisting Construction 
Electrician CofQ with IP RSE from 
another Canadian jurisdiction.  

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

A minimum of five years` experience as an 
electrical journeyperson. 

Supervisory experience would be an asset. 

A minimum of five years’ experience as an electrical 
journeyperson. 

Supervisory experience would be an asset.  

Co-operative Education Bachelor’s Degree (Master’s 
preferred) 

Related work experience 

Counsellor Master’s Degree in Counselling 
Psychology or Social Work from 
a recognized university. 

Registration with the relevant 
professional body as required 
(BCCSW, BCPA) or certification with 
either the BC Association of Clinical 
Counsellors (RCC) or the Canadian 
Counselling and Psychotherapy 
Association (CCC). 

Five years of relevant counselling work/clinical 
practice; experience in successfully navigating and 
engaging with institutional systems, services, and 
supports within a post-secondary institution is 
preferred. 

79



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Creative Writing MFA, MA in an appropriate 
discipline required. 

Two professionally published books 
(for positions in fiction poetry, or 
creative non‐fiction) or two major 
projects or productions (for 
positions in screenplay, drama or 
new media) with a preference 
given to those genres taught by the 
department. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence within a 
creative and / or 
interdisciplinary domain at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. 

Criminology PhD, LLM, or equivalent 
combination of graduate work, 
research publication, and 
experience required. 

Professional designation as 
required by the position. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. 

Drafting: 

 Core & Specialties

 CAD Related
Programming

 Drafting or Technology
Diploma

 Bachelor’s Degree preferred

 Post-secondary preferred

 Post-secondary preferred

 6 years related work experience

 6 years related work experience

Economics Master’s Degree in Economics 
(PhD preferred) 

Post-secondary preferred 

Education Assistant Program 
(EDAS) 

Relevant Bachelor's degree 
required; Master’s degree 
preferred 

Teacher’s certificate preferred. 
Credential in specific field (e.g. RN 
for health based course, OT/PT for 
rehabilitation based coursework) 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence in the K-
12 system particularly, and at 
the post-secondary level in 
the requisite area of 
specialization. 

Professional or extensive experience in specialized 
coursework is required. 

80



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Educational Studies Education Positions: 
Master's Degree required; PhD, 
EdD in Education, Humanities or 
Social Sciences preferred.  

Counselling Positions: 
MA in Counselling Psychology or 
Clinical Psychology from an 
accredited program required; 
PhD in Counselling Psychology 
or Clinical Psychology preferred. 

Professional designation as 
required by the position. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level for at 
least 5 years. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. For 
Counselling Positions, previous experience 
supervising students who are practicing individual 
and group counselling skills is desirable. 

ELST Master’s Degree in TESOL or 
related discipline. 

Specialist training and/or a degree 
in English language teaching –
equivalent to TESOL 1 and/or TESL 
Canada certification (min. 100 
hours of methodology, and 20 
hours supervised practicum). 
Native-like English fluency in both 
spoken and written language 
required. 

Extensive experience (min. 2 
years) teaching English for 
Academic Purposes. Post-
secondary teaching 
experience preferred. 

EAL curriculum development. Experience with 
and/or working knowledge of eLearning and mixed 
modes of delivery (including face-to-face, online 
and blended learning). 

English Master’s degree in English, 
Rhetoric and Composition, or 
literary studies is required; PhD 
in same is preferred. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
excellence in teaching 
composition and literature at 
the undergraduate level. 

Two years of teaching experience at the 
undergraduate level preferred. 

Environmental Protection 
Technology (ENVI courses) 

Bachelor’s degree, Master’s 
preferred 

Post-secondary preferred. Relevant experience required. 

81



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Farrier Completion of an accredited 
Farrier program of study.  

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting American Farrier’s 
Association (AFA) Journeyperson 
certification, or 
a Worshipful Company of Farriers 
(WCF) Diploma of Farriery, or a 
subsisting certificate issued by a 
Farriery Association, Board, Council 
or Guild from another jurisdiction 
or country. 

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent;

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

A minimum of five years’ current experience as a 
farrier journeyperson.  

Supervisory experience would be an asset. 

Fashion and Technology Bachelor’s Degree in Fashion or 
related disciplines or academic 
credentials and experience 
appropriate to areas of 
responsibility  

Post-secondary teaching 
experience, minimum 3 years 
preferred or a teaching 
credential 

5 years related work experience 

Fashion Marketing Bachelor’s Degree in Fashion 
Marketing or related disciplines 
or academic credentials and 
experience appropriate to areas 
of responsibility  

Post-secondary teaching 
experience, minimum 3 years 
preferred or a teaching 
credential 

3 years related work experience 

Fine Arts / Art History / 
Theory (ARTH) 

PhD in Art History with a 
specialization is required. 

Professional designation as 
required by the position. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience including an 
active and current record of publications is 
required. 

Fine Arts / Visual Arts (FINA) MFA (with specialization in an 
appropriate Fine Arts discipline) 
is required. 

Professional designation as 
required by the position. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience including an 
active and current exhibition record is required. 

Foundations in Design Bachelor’s Degree from design 
program or related field 

Eligible for professional designation Minimum 2 years teaching 
experience required.  Post-
secondary preferred. 

Minimum of 5 years of Multi / Inter / Trans-
disciplinary design experience preferred 

82



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Geography Master's degree required; PhD 
preferred. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. 

Gerontology-Based 
Recreation (GBTR) 

On Hiatus 

Global Competencies Master's Degree in a relevant 
discipline required. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Proven experience with expertise in teaching global 
competencies and utilizing e-Portfolio-based 
assessments is required. 

Graduate Nurse 
Internationally Educated 
(GNIE) 

Master’s Degree (Master’s 
Degree in progress) 

Eligible for practicing membership 
with CRNBC with no limits, no 
conditions, no terms. 

Experience in integration and 
education of IENs in Canada 
preferred. 

Related work experience in Canada. 

Graphic Design for 
Marketing 

Bachelor’s Degree (Masters 
preferred) from a Graphic 
Design program, or from a 
related discipline that is relevant 
to the Graphic Design for 
Marketing program 

Member of the Graphic Designers 
of Canada or the Association of 
Registered Graphic Designers, and 
eligible for professional designation 

Minimum of 5 years of post-
secondary teaching 
experience 

Minimum of 8 years of active professional design 
practice that includes business, marketing and/or 
relevant domains 

Health Care Assistant 
Program (HCAP) 

Bachelor’s Degree (Master’s 
preferred) 

Eligible for practicing membership 
with CRPNBC and/or CRNBC with 
no limits, no conditions, no terms. 

Related work experience 

Health Foundations (HEAL 
courses only) 

Master’s Degree in an applicable 
field 

Applicable provincial professional 
practice designation 

3 years applicable teaching 
experience in topic area 

Minimum 3 years applicable work experience 

Health Unit Coordinator 
(HUC) 

Health Unit Coordinator 
certificate and provincial 
instructor diploma or diploma in 
nursing (Master’s preferred) 

Post-secondary teaching 
preferred 

Minimum of 5 years’ experience as a Health Unit 
Clerk or nurse in an acute hospital setting 

History Master's degree required; PhD 
in History preferred 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. 

83



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Horticulture 

All programs: 
- 1100 level required 
HORT Degree courses 

Degree programs: 
- All 1100-2000 level 
HORT electives 

- 3000-4000 level HORT 
courses 

Diploma programs: 
- 1100-2000 level 
required HORT courses 
other than above listed 
Degree courses 

Master’s degree preferred. 

Bachelor’s degree preferred. 

Master’s degree, PhD preferred. 

Bachelor’s degree preferred. 

And/or professional designation. 

And/or professional designation. 

Professional designation preferred. 

And/or professional/trades 
designation. 

Post-secondary preferred. 

Post-secondary preferred. 

Post-secondary required. 

Post-secondary preferred. 

3 years of related work experience. 

5 years of related work experience. 

3 years of related work experience. 

5 years of related work experience. 

Human Resources 
Management 

MBA or equivalent 

PhD preferred 

CPHR or equivalent designation Required.  Post-secondary 
preferred 

5 years related Human Resources Management 
experience 

Indigenous Studies Master's Degree in a relevant 
discipline required, or fluency in 
indigenous languages where 
needed. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Preference will be given to Indigenous persons, and 
grassroots and community-based knowledge and 
engagement are an asset. 

Interdisciplinary Expressive 
Arts (IDEA) 

Master's degree required; PhD 
preferred 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Proven experience in community-based leadership 
and/or extensive experience in activism is an asset. 

84



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Interior Design Bachelor’s Degree in Interior 
Design, or related disciplines or 
academic credentials and 
professional experience 
appropriate to their areas of 
responsibility 

(Master’s Degree preferred for 
full-time faculty) 

Membership / or eligible for 
membership in appropriate 
professional association 
/organization (appropriate to 

discipline) 

NCIDQ certification preferred for 
faculty teaching in Studio Courses 
AND for full-time faculty1 

Minimum 2 years teaching 
experience required.  Post-
secondary experience 
preferred 

Substantial Professional Portfolio reflecting a 
minimum of 8 to 10 years diverse experience 
related to the built environment and evidence of 
experience or expertise appropriate to specific 
course content 

Journalism Journalism: 
Master's degree and/or 
equivalent industry experience 
required. 

Communication Studies: 
Master’s degree in 
Communications, Media 
Studies, or related discipline 
required 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Journalism: 
Advanced understanding of journalism practice, up-
to-date knowledge of evolving methods and 
necessary skills. 

Communication Studies: 
Considerable related and diverse work. 

Language and Cultures Master's degree required; PhD 
preferred in language of 
teaching or generative 
linguistics. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level for at 
least 2 years. 

Professional and applied experience in a culturally 
diverse environment is an asset. 

Librarian Master’s in Library and 
Information Science (MLIS) or 
equivalent from an American 
Library Association-accredited 
institution 

Demonstrated teaching ability 

Marketing (MRKT) Master’s Degree required (PhD 
preferred) 

Post-secondary preferred 5 years’ experience in Marketing 

1 The Council for Interior Design Accreditation (CIDA) requires that a majority of faculty members teaching interior design studio courses have a) earned a degree in interior design, and b) passed the complete 
National Council for Interior Design Qualification exam.   

85



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Masonry Completion of Bricklayer 
(Mason) (apprenticeship) in-
school program, or equivalent.  

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Bricklayer (Mason) 
CofQ with IP RSE, or subsisting 
Bricklayer CofQ with IP RSE from 
another Canadian jurisdiction.  

It  is preferred that the 
Instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

A minimum of ten years’ experience as a 
bricklayer/mason journeyperson.   

Mathematics Master’s degree in Mathematics 
or Statistics, PhD preferred, 
subject area specialization may 
be required. 

Post-secondary. 

Mechatronics and Advanced 
Manufacturing Technology 

For other than the specialty 
courses which may warrant an 
exception, completion of 
Construction/Industrial 
Electrical (apprenticeship) in-
school program, or  
completion of Industrial 
Mechanic (Millwright) 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or completion of 
Electrical and/or Mechanical 
Engineering Technology 
program, or equivalent. 

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Construction 
Electrician/Industrial CofQ, 
preferably with IP RSE, or 
Electrician CofQ with IP RSE from 
another Canadian jurisdiction, or 
hold a subsisting BC Industrial 
Mechanic (Millwright) CofQ with IP 
RSE, or a Mechanical Engineering 
Technology diploma.  Siemens 
Mechatronic Systems instructor 
certification preferred. 
An instructor with relevant or 
specialized certification may 
instruct speciality courses. 

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree;

 Siemens Mechatronic
Systems Instructor
Certification.

A minimum of eight years’ experience working in 
the manufacturing maintenance, or industrial 
fields.  

86



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Metal Fabrication/Fitter Completion of Metal Fabricator 
(Fitter) (apprenticeship) in-
school program, or equivalent.  

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Metal Fabricator 
(Fitter) CofQ with IP RSE, or 
subsisting Fitter/Structural Steel 
CofQ with IP RSE from another 
Canadian jurisdiction. 

BC Welder Level C CofQ, or 
equivalent welder certification 
from another Canadian jurisdiction 
preferred. 

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education; or

 Master of Education,

 Experienced user of
relevant software for
computer aided drawings
(CAD).

A minimum of five years’ experience as a metal 
fabrication/fitter journeyperson after earning the 
IP RSE. 

Experienced user of relevant software for word 
processing, spreadsheets and presentations.  

Millwright/Industrial 
Mechanic 

Completion of Industrial 
Mechanic (Millwright) 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or equivalent. 

For the Millwright/Industrial 
Mechanic Foundation program, 
completion of Industrial 
Mechanic (Millwright) 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or equivalent, or  
completion of Machinist 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program. 

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Industrial Mechanic 
(Millwright) CofQ with IP RSE, or 
subsisting Industrial Mechanic 
(Millwright) CofQ with IP RSE from 
another Canadian jurisdiction.  
For the Millwright/Industrial 
Mechanic Foundation program, the 
instructor may hold a subsisting BC 
Machinist CofQ with IP RSE, or 
subsisting Machinist CofQ with IP 
RSE from another Canadian 
jurisdiction.  

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent;

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Completion of a similar
Trainer
Training/Instructional
Methods program; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

 At least two years of
instructional experience
preferred.

A minimum of five years’ hands-on work 
experience as an industrial mechanic (millwright) 
after earning the IP RSE. 

For the Millwright/Industrial Mechanic Foundation 
program, a minimum of five years’ experience as an 
industrial mechanic (millwright), or machinist, after 
earning the IP RSE. 

Supervisory experience would be an asset. 

Modern Languages Master’s Degree in language of 
teaching (PhD preferred); 
Master’s Degree in generative 
linguistics (PhD preferred) 

2 years of post-secondary 
credit course teaching 
experience, preferably using a 
western academic approach 

87



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Music Performance-based Courses: 
Bachelor's degree required; 
Master's degree preferred.  

Theory & History Courses: 
Master's degree required; PhD 
preferred. 

Membership/or eligible for 
membership in an appropriate 
professional associate/organization 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or performance and/or considerable 
related professional experience within the music 
industry may be an asset depending upon the 
nature of the position. 

Parts, Warehousing, 
Logistics and Distribution 

Completion of a Parts Person 3 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or equivalent.  

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Parts Person CofQ 
with IP RSE, or subsisting Parts 
Technician CofQ with IP RSE from 
another Canadian jurisdiction. 

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education; or

 Master of Education.

A minimum of five years’ diverse experience as a 
parts and warehousing journeyperson covering all 
competencies of the program. 

Performing Arts in Theatre 
and Screen 

MFA/MA degree in a relevant 
discipline required. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates who demonstrate 
strong evidence of excellence 
in teaching at the post-
secondary level in the area of 
Theatre and Screen as 
Performing Arts. 

Knowledge, proven expertise, and professional 
experience in Theatre and Screen as Performing 
Arts. 

Philosophy Master's degree required; PhD 
in Philosophy preferred 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

An active and current program of research or 
record of publications is required. 

Physics Master’s degree required, PhD 
preferred, subject area 
specialization may be required. 

Registration as a Professional 
Physicist, or eligibility for same, is 
preferred. 

Post-secondary preferred. 

88



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Plumbing Completion of Plumber 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or equivalent, and 
completion of Gasfitter Class B 
schooling, or equivalent.  

The instructor must hold both a 
subsisting BC Plumber CofQ with IP 
RSE and a subsisting BC Gasfitter 
Class B CofQ, or a subsisting 
Plumber CofQ with IP RSE from 
another Canadian jurisdiction, and 
subsisting BC Gasfitter Class B CofQ 
with IP RSE, or equivalent Gasfitter 
certificate from another Canadian 
jurisdiction. 

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree, and

 at least two years`
supervisory or
administrative experience,

 Cross Connection Testing
Certificate from BC Water
& Waste Association
(BCWWA).

Minimum of five years` experience as a Plumber 
journeyperson after earning the IP RSE. 

Experienced user of relevant software for word 
processing, spreadsheets and presentations an 
asset. 

Plumbing and Piping Completion of Plumber 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program with IP RSE, or 
equivalent, and completion of 
Gasfitter Class B course of study, 
or equivalent. 

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Plumber CofQ with IP 
RSE, or subsisting Plumber CofQ 
with IP RSE from another Canadian 
jurisdiction, and subsisting BC 
Gasfitter Class B CofQ with IP RSE, 
or equivalent Gasfitter certificate 
from another Canadian jurisdiction. 

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree,
and

 at least two years’
supervisory or
administrative experience.

A minimum of five years’ experience as a Plumber 
journeyperson after earning IP RSE, and a minimum 
of five years’ experience as a Gasfitter Class B after 
receiving a CofQ. 

Experienced user of relevant software for word 
processing, spreadsheets and presentations an 
asset. 

89



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Policy Studies Master's degree required Related professional designation 
preferred. 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or related work experience or civic 
engagement experience is preferred. 

Political Science Master's degree required; PhD 
preferred. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level. 

Professional or related work experience as a 
practitioner in government, policy, or advocacy 
may be an asset depending upon the nature of the 
position. 

Product Design Bachelor’s Degree in Product 
Design or related disciplines, or 
a combination of academic 
credentials and experience. 

Master’s Degree preferred. 

Eligible for professional designation Minimum of 5 years at post-
secondary level 

Minimum of 5 years’ experience / practice in 
product design, or relevant field, or published 
evidence of scholarly research in a design-related 
subject 

Psychology PhD in Psychology or a related 
discipline approved by the 
Psychology Department 
required. 

Appropriate professional 
designation (where applicable). 

Preference will be given to 
candidates with a record of 
teaching excellence at the 
post-secondary level in the 
requisite area of 
specialization. 

Professional or applied experience may be an asset 
depending upon the nature of the position. 

90



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Public Relations Required: Bachelor’s degree 

Preferred: Candidates who have 
a Master’s level degree, either 
an MA or MBA, or are currently 
enrolled in an MA or MBA 
program in public relations, 
communications, marketing 
communications, or journalism. 
OR an MEd. 

Required: Three years of 
teaching experience, either in 
workplace training, adult 
education or post-secondary. 

Required: 

 Ten years of recent, diverse, and
progressively more senior professional
industry experience in public relations,
communications management or
journalism.

 Current and advanced understanding of
evolving public relations theory, methods,
practices and competencies at the mid-
career and senior levels of practice as
articulated by recognized public relations
and communications management industry
associations.

 To teach design courses in the program, the
requirement is ten years of recent, diverse,
and progressively more senior experience
in design or multimedia production.

Public Safety 
Communications 

Post-Secondary Post-secondary desirable Minimum of 7 years communications experience in 
appropriate discipline 

Science Master’s Degree in appropriate 
specialization 

Appropriate professional 
designation (where applicable) 

Post-secondary 

Sociology Master's degree in Sociology 
required; PhD in Sociology or a 
related discipline approved by 
the Sociology department 
preferred. 

N/A Preference will be given to 
candidates who demonstrate 
strong evidence of excellence 
in teaching, with a track 
record of quality teaching at 
the post-secondary level. 

Knowledge, proven expertise, and work experience 
appropriate to content areas. 

Special Education Teacher 
Assistant (SETA) 

Master’s Degree preferred; 
Bachelor’s required for 
education focused courses 

Teacher’s certificate preferred or 
Provincial Instructor Diploma  

Teaching experience in K-12 system; post-
secondary or related teaching experience 

Sustainable Agriculture Master’s degree required, PhD 
preferred 

91



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Technical Apparel, Post-
Baccalaureate Diploma 

Master’s Degree in Apparel 
Design, Product Design, 
Industrial Design, or related 
disciplines or Academic 
credentials and experience 
appropriate to areas of 
responsibility. 

Eligible for professional designation Post-secondary teaching 
experience preferred 

Minimum of 8 – 10 years diverse experience 
related to Technical Apparel Design AND 

Evidence of experience or expertise appropriate to 
specific course content AND 

Demonstrate a clear understanding of related fields 

Traditional Chinese 
Medicine – Acupuncture 
Diploma Program (TCM-AD) 

TCM Clinical courses: Master’s 
Degree or Doctor of TCM 

Other courses: Master’s Degree 
in an applicable field or Doctor 
of TCM/Doctor of 
Medicine/Complementary and 
Alternative Medicine 

Applicable provincial professional 
practice designation 

3 years applicable teaching 
experience in topic area 

TCM Clinical courses: Minimum 5 years applicable 
work experience 

Other courses: Minimum 3 years applicable work 
experience 

University Transitions Doctorate required in education, 
social science or humanities 

Strong evidence of excellence 
in teaching in an academic 
discipline and a minimum of 
five years’ experience 
teaching at post-secondary 
institutions.  Experience 
teaching content areas 
contributing to post-
secondary success (e.g. study 
skills and strategy’s academies 
writing, personal and career 
development 

Knowledge, experience, and sensitivity related to 
first-year and senior year post-secondary student 
transitions, engagement and challenges to student 
retention and success.  Knowledge and experience 
administering and interpreting standards measures 
for use in academic development, including the 
MBTI and the Strong Interest Inventory.  Proven 
expertise in academic field demonstrated through a 
strong record of scholarly publications and 
presentations. Current engagement in scholarly 
research and/or writing projects preferred. 

92



Discipline / Program Academic Professional 
Teaching (Where not a 

requirement, it is a preference) 
Experience 

Welding Completion of Welder 
(apprenticeship) in-school 
program, or equivalent. 

The instructor must hold a 
subsisting BC Welder CofQ with IP 
RSE, or subsisting Welder CofQ 
with IP RSE from another Canadian 
jurisdiction, and hold both a 
subsisting BC Pipe Welder Pressure 
Vessel 7 (PWP7) and BC Pipe 
Welder Pressure Vessel 10 (PWP10) 
pressure tickets, or hold subsisting 
equivalent pressure vessel welding 
certification from another Canadian 
jurisdiction.  

It is preferred that the 
instructor possess at least one 
of the following: 

 BC Teaching Certificate

 ISW certificate, or
equivalent; or

 BC PID, or equivalent; or

 Bachelor of Education
degree; or

 Master of Education
degree.

A minimum of five years` diverse experience as a 
welding journeyperson, including experience 
applying the welding code according to the 
American Society of Mechanical Engineers (ASME) 
or Canadian Standards Association (CSA) W59. 

93



Appendix I: Curriculum Vitaes of Faculty Members 

FRANCIS KOFI ABIEW 

EDUCATIONAL HISTORY 

1993-1997 University of Alberta 
Doctor of Philosophy  (Ph.D.) 
Thesis: Evolution of the Doctrine and Practice of Humanitarian 
Intervention (Thesis advisor: Professor Thomas Keating) 

1992-1993 University of Alberta 
Master of Arts (M.A.) 
Thesis: Revisiting the Right of Humanitarian Intervention in 
International Law (Thesis advisor: University Professor Emeritus 
and Honorary Professor of Law Leslie C. Green (Deceased) 

1989-1991 University of Alberta 
Master of Laws (LL.M.) 
Thesis: The Rights, Interests and Duties of Host Countries and 
International Oil Companies under International Petroleum 
Agreements (Thesis advisor: Professor David R. Percy) 

1985-1987 Ghana School of Law 
Barrister-at-Law (B.L.) 

1981-1985 University of Ghana 
Bachelor of Laws with Honours (LL.B.) (Hons) 

94



EMPLOYMENT HISTORY 

May 2010- Present Faculty,  Department  of  Political  Science,  Kwantlen 
Polytechnic University 

May 2007 – May 2010 Chair 
Department of Political Science, Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

May 2003-May 2007 Faculty 
Department of Political Science, Kwantlen 

Polytechnic University 
(International Relations, Introduction to 

Political Science, Contemporary Political Conflict, International 
Organization, International Human Rights, Model United Nations, 
Politics of International Peacekeeping) 

September 2001-April 2003  Postdoctoral Fellow and Coordinator 
Centre for Security and Defence Studies, 
The Norman Paterson School of International Affairs, Carleton 
University (research, organizing conferences, seminars and 
workshops, occasional lecturer, editor of occasional paper series) 

August 1999-May 2000 Assistant Professor 
Department of Political Science, University of Windsor 
(International Relations, International Organizations, International 
Conflict Management, Public International Law, Selected Topics in 
International Politics) 

Lecturer 
Summer 1999 Political Science 260 (Core introductory International Relations 

course), Department of Political Science, University of Alberta 

September 1998-May1999 War Studies 502 (War, Politics, and International Relations), 
a full year M.A. course to military officers from the Royal Military 
College of Canada, Kingston, at the Canadian Forces Base, 
Edmonton 

Political Science 359 (Upper level undergraduate course on 
International Security), Department of Political Science, University 
of Alberta 

January 1998-August 1998 Political Science 260 (Core introductory International Relations 
course), summer session, Department of Political Science, 
University of Alberta 

95



Political Science 461 (Upper level undergraduate course on 
International  Institutions),  winter  term,  Department  of  Political 
Science, University of Alberta 

Spring 1997 Instructor 
Political Science 263 (Undergraduate course on Issues in 
International Politics), Department of Political Science, University 
of Alberta 

Sept.1993-April 1997 Occasional Lecturer in Public International Law 
Department of Political Science and Faculty of Law, University of 
Alberta 

Teaching/Research Assistant in International Relations and 
Comparative Politics 

Judge, Practice rounds of Jessup International Law Moot Court 
Competition, Faculty of Law, University of Alberta 

Jan 1993-June 1993 Editorial Assistant, International Ombudsman Institute, Edmonton 

May-August 1992 Editorial Assistant, Alberta Law Review 

1989-1991 Research Assistant, Faculty of Law, University of Alberta 

1987-1988 Instructor/Research Fellow 
Criminal Law and Immovable Property Law 
Researcher on the Public Tribunal as an alternative court structure 

in the Ghana legal system, Faculty of Law, University of Ghana 

ACADEMIC HONOURS 

2015 Faculty Professional Development Research Grant, Arts, Kwantlen 
Polytechnic University ($14,500) 

2014 Special Purpose Fund, Faculty of Arts, Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University ($750) 

2012 Faculty  Professional  Development  Research  Grant,  Social 
Sciences, Kwantlen Polytechnic University ($12,500) 

Faculty Professional Development Research Grant, Social 
Sciences, Kwantlen Polytechnic University ($7,500), with Noemi 
Gal-Or 

2010 - 2011 Faculty  Professional  Development  Research  Grant,  Social 
Sciences, Kwantlen Polytechnic University ($4,600), with Noemi 

96



Gal-Or 

Faculty Professional Development Research Grant, Social 
Sciences, Kwantlen Polytechnic University ($14,000) 

2001- April 2003 Strategic Defence Forum Postdoctoral Fellow, Norman Paterson 
School of International Affairs, Carleton University 

1993-1997 Research Scholar and Teaching Assistant, Department of Political 
Science, University of Alberta 

1996 Selected Participant, Academic Council on the United Nations 
System/American Society of International Law Summer Workshop 
on International Organization Studies, Brown University 

1995 J. Gordin Kaplan Graduate Student Award, Faculty of Graduate 
Studies and Research, University of Alberta 

1989-1991 Research Scholar, Faculty of Law, University of Alberta 

PUBLICATIONS 

BOOKS 

The Evolution of the Doctrine and Practice of Humanitarian 
Intervention (The Hague: Kluwer Law International Publishers, 
1999) 

ARTICLES IN REFEREED JOURNALS 

“Humanitarian Action under Fire: Reflections on the Role of NGOs 
in Conflict and Post-Conflict Situations", International 
Peacekeeping, Vol.19, No.2, Spring 2012, pp.203-216 

"Humanitarian Intervention and the Responsibility to Protect: 
Redefining a Role for ‘Kind-hearted Gunmen’”, Criminal Justice 
Ethics, Vol. 29, No. 2, August 2010, Special Issue, pp.93-109 

“NGO-Military Relations in Peace Operations”, International 
Peacekeeping, Vol.10, No.1, Spring 2003, Special Issue, pp.24-39 

“Outside Agents and the Politics of Peacebuilding and 
Reconciliation”, International Journal, Vol.LV, No.1, Winter 
1999-2000, pp.80-106 (with Tom Keating) 

97



“NGOs and UN Peacekeeping Operations: Strange Bedfellows”, 
International Peacekeeping,Vol.6,No.2, Summer 1999, pp.88-110 
(with Tom Keating) 

“Assessing Humanitarian Intervention in the Post-Cold War 
Period: Sources of Consensus”, International Relations, Vol.XIV, 
No.2, August 1998, pp.61-90 

CHAPTERS IN BOOKS 

“Multilateralism and US Foreign Policy: The United Nations in the 
Clinton Era” in Robert W. Murray ed., Seeking Order in Anarchy: 
Multilateralism as State Strategy (Edmonton: University of Alberta 
Press, 2016), pp.153-176 

"International Responsibility of the AOG in International Law: Is 
there a Case for an African Approach?", in Noemi Gal-Or, Cedric 
Ryngaert, Math Noortmann, eds., Responsibilities of the Non-State 
Actor  in  Armed  Conflict  and  the  Market  Place:  Theoretical 
Considerations  and  Empirical  Findings  (Leiden:Brill  Nijhoff, 
2015), pp.347-370 (with Noemi Gal-Or) 

"Libya, Intervention, and Responsibility: The Dawn of a  New 
Era?" in Carsten Stahn and Henning Melber eds., Peace 
Diplomacy, Global Justice and International Agency: Rethinking 
Human Security and Ethics in the Spirit of Dag Hammarskjold, 
(Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014), pp.536-560 (with 
Noemi Gal-Or) 

"Article 4(h) intervention: Problems and Prospects" in Dan Kuwali 
and Frans Viljoen eds., Africa and the Responsibility to Protect: 
Article 4(h) of the African Union Constitutive Act (New York: 
Routledge Publishers, 2014), pp.109-126 

“The East Pakistan (Bangladesh) Intervention of 1971” in Samuel 
Totten and Paul R. Bartrop eds., The Genocide Studies Reader 
(New York: Routledge Publishers, 2009), pp.390-395 (Reprint) 

“Vietnam’s intervention in Cambodia (Kampuchea),1978" in 
Samuel Totten and Paul R. Bartrop eds., The Genocide Studies 
Reader(NewYork:RoutledgePublishers,2009),pp.395-397 (Reprint) 

“Kosovo, Iraq and the Evolution of the Theory and Practice of 
Humanitarian Intervention” in Osvaldo Croci and Amy Verdun 
eds., The Transatlantic Divide: Foreign and Security Policies in the 
Atlantic Alliance from Kosovo to Iraq (Manchester: Manchester 

98



University Press, 2006), pp.64-76 

“Defining a Role for Civil Society: Humanitarian NGOs and 
Peacebuilding Operations” in Tom Keating and Andy Knight eds., 
Building Sustainable Peace (Edmonton and Tokyo: University of 
Alberta Press/United Nations University Press, 2004), pp.93-117 
(with Tom Keating) 

“NGO-Military Relations in Peace Operations” in Henry F. Carey 
and Oliver P. Richmond eds., Mitigating Conflict: The Role of 
NGOs (London: Frank Cass Publishers, 2003), pp.24-39 

“Humanitarian Intervention in Africa: Rwanda and Liberia” in 
Malinda S. Smith ed., Globalizing Africa (Trenton, NJ: Africa 
World Press/Red Sea Press, 2003), pp.147-166 

BOOK REVIEWS 

David Malone, Decision-Making in the Security Council: The Case 
of Haiti (Oxford: Clarendon Press,1998) 334pp. International 
Journal, Vol.LV, No.3, Summer 2000, pp.524-525 

OTHER PUBLICATIONS 

"Does the Prospect of a Unified Syrian Opposition make Outside 
Intervention more Likely?", The Morningside Post, School of 
International and Public Affairs, Columbia University, November 
21, 2012, http://www.themorningsidepost.com/2012/11/21/great- 
debate-intervention-in-syria/ 

"From Civil Strife to Civil Society: NGO-Military Cooperation in 
Peace Operations", Norman Paterson School of International 
Affairs, Carleton University, Occasional Paper No. 39, 2003 

CONFERENCE REPORTS 

Canadian Defence and the Canada-US Strategic Partnership, 
Norman Paterson School of International Affairs, Carleton 
University, Occasional Paper No. 29, 2003 

Democratic Civil-Military Relations, Prepared for the Association 
of Universities and Colleges of Canada and the Department of 
National Defence, Ottawa, 2002 

99

http://www.themorningsidepost.com/2012/11/21/great-


CONFERENCE PAPERS AND PARTICIPATION 

"Faculty Advisor", KMUN Delegation to the 24th Session of 
Harvard World Model United Nations, Seoul, South Korea, March 
16-20, 2015 

"International Responsibility of the Non-State Actor in 
International Law: Is There a Case for a Multi-Cultural 
Approach?", presented at Kwantlen Institute for Transborder 
Studies and Political Science Department, Oxford Brookes 
University, Non-State Actor Committee of the International Law 
Association, International Law Association-Canada, Leuven Centre 
for Global Governance Studies, and the Flemish Fund for Scientific 
Research Belgium, joint international conference on 'Non-State 
Actor Responsibilities: Empirical Findings and Theoretical 
Considerations', at Kwantlen Polytechnic University, Richmond, 
BC, June 26-28, 2013 (with Noemi-Gal-Or) 

"The African Union and Intervention for Human Protection: 
Prospects and Problems", invited, presented at conference on 
'Article 4h@10: How to End Mass Atrocities in Africa?', Centre for 
Human Rights, Faculty of Law, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, 
South Africa, December 6-7, 2012 

"Jus-Post-Bellum: Mapping the Normative Foundations", invited 
participant, Grotius Centre for International Legal Studies, 
University of Leiden, at Peace Palace, International Court of 
Justice, The Hague, The Netherlands, May 31-June 1, 2012 

"Military Intervention: Interests and Values", invited, presented at 
28th University of Manitoba Political Studies Students' conference 
on 'Twenty Years of Western Military Intervention: Protecting 
Whose Right(s)', University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, February 1-3, 
2012 

"Protecting Civilians in Libya", presented at Political Science 
Students Association Symposium, Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University, Surrey, January 26, 2012 (with Noemi Gal-Or) 

"Has the UN Passed its 'Sell By' Date", invited keynote speaker, 
19th Annual University of British Columbia Model United 
Nations, Vancouver, British Columbia, January 7-9, 2012 

"Libya, Intervention, and Responsibility: Dawn of a New Era?", 
invited, presented at The Hague Academic Coalition, Embassy of 
Sweden, the Dag Hammarskjold Foundation conference on 'Peace 

100



Diplomacy, Global Justice and International Agency: Rethinking 
Human Security and Ethics in the Spirit of Dag Hammarskjold 
(1905-1961)', Peace Palace, International Court of Justice, The 
Hague, The Netherlands, November 9-10, 2011 (with Noemi Gal- 
Or) 

“Humanitarian Action under Fire: Reflections on the Role of 
NGOs in Conflict and Post-Conflict Situations”, presented at the 
Twenty Fourth Annual Meeting of the Academic Council on the 
United Nations System, Wilfrid Laurier University and The Centre 
for International Governance Innovation, Waterloo, Ontario, June 
2-4, 2011 

”Humanitarian Intervention and the Responsibility to Protect: 
Redefining a Role for ‘Kind-hearted Gunmen’”, invited, presented 
at workshop on ‘The Ethics of Intervention/Protection: Contending 
Approaches’, Center for International Human Rights and the 
Institute of Criminal Justice Ethics, John Jay College of Criminal 
Justice, City University of New York, New York City, January 21- 
22, 2010 

“The Hague Conventions and the Role of NGOs”, presented at a 
symposium on the 100th anniversary of the Hague Conventions, 
Institute for Transborder Studies, Kwantlen Polytechnic University, 
Richmond campus, B.C., November 6, 2007 

“NGOs and  the Military in Post-Conflict  Reconstruction: 
Rethinking Strategies toward Sustainable Peace”, invited, 
presented at conference on ‘The Challenges of Peacebuilding: 
Reconstructing Shattered Societies’, Trudeau Centre for Peace and 
Conflict Studies, University of Toronto, Toronto, February 3-5, 
2006 

“The Role of  Non-Governmental Organisations in Peace 
Operations”, presented at the Institute for Transborder  Studies, 
Point of View Lecture Series, No.8, Kwantlen University College, 
Surrey campus, B.C., March 17, 2005 

“Kosovo and the Question of Humanitarian Intervention”, invited, 
presented at conference on ‘A Transatlantic Divide on Security: 
Canada, the European Union, NATO and the New Bush Doctrine 
of  Pre-Emptive  Self-Defence’,  University  of  Victoria,  Victoria, 
B.C., June 11-13, 2004 

“From Civil Strife to Civic Society: NGO-Military Coordination in 
Complex  Humanitarian  Emergencies”,  invited,  presented  at  the 

101



Asia-Pacific  Center  for  Security  Studies,  Honolulu,  Hawaii, 
November 4-6, 2003 

“Sovereignty, Intervention and Reconstruction: What Can 
Outsiders Do?”, invited, presented at conference on ‘ECOWAS, 
Conflict Prevention and Human Security in West Africa – A 
Response to NEPAD’, Accra, Ghana, October 23-25, 2002 

“Post Conflict Reconstruction: Lessons Learnt and Best Practice”, 
invited participant, Wilton Park, in association with The Foreign 
and Commonwealth Office, Department for International 
Development,  at  Wiston  House,  Steyning,  West  Sussex,  UK, 
September 30-October 4, 2002 

“Canadian Defence and the Canada-US Strategic Partnership”, 
participant and rapporteur, Canadian Defence and Foreign Affairs 
Institute, Center for the Study of the Presidency, and Centre for 
Security and Defence Studies, Carleton University, at The Lord 
Elgin Hotel, Ottawa, September 5-6, 2002 

“Strengthening the Capacity of the United Nations in Conflict 
Prevention and Peacebuilding”, invited participant, Wilton Park, in 
association with The Foreign and Commonwealth  Office, 
Department  for  International  Development,  at  Wiston  House, 
Steyning, West Sussex, UK, March 4-8, 2002 

“Nongovernmental Organizations and the Military in Complex 
Emergencies”, invited participant, Wilton Park, in association with 
The Foreign and Commonwealth  Office, Department for 
International Development, at Wiston House, Steyning, West 
Sussex, UK, April 23-26, 2001 

“Humanitarian Intervention? How Can We Do it Better?”, invited 
participant, Wilton Park, in association with The Foreign and 
Commonwealth Office, Ministry of Defence, Department for 
International Development, International Commission on 
Intervention and State Sovereignty, at   Wiston House, Steyning, 
West Sussex, UK, February 19-23, 2001 

“International Institutions and Human Survival” invited, presented 
to the Global Survival Workshop, The Faculty Retirees 
Association, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, March 4, 
2000 

“The Role of Outside Actors and the Politics of Peacebuilding and 
Reconciliation in Africa” presented at the Third Annual Africa 

102



Society Conference, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, 
February 25-26, 2000 (with Tom Keating) 

Panel Chair on “De-Militarization, Peace and Good Governance in 
Africa”, Second Annual Africa Society Conference, University of 
Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, February 26-28, 1999 

“Outside Agents and the Politics of Reconciliation” presented at 
the Twelfth Annual Meeting of the Academic Council on the 
United Nations System, United Nations Headquarters, New York 
City, June 16-18, 1999 (with Tom Keating) 

“The Role of Nongovernmental Organizations in Peacekeeping 
Operations” presented at the Eleventh Annual Meeting of the 
Academic Council on the United Nations System, Lester B. 
Pearson Canadian International Peacekeeping Training Centre, 
Cornwallis, Nova Scotia, June 17-19, 1998 (with Tom Keating) 

"Re-examining the Doctrine of Humanitarian Intervention in 
International Relations" invited, presented at the Academic Council 
on the United Nations System/American Society of International 
Law Summer Workshop on International Organization Studies, 
Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island, July 28 - August 9, 
1996 

"Towards the Establishment of an International Criminal Court", 
presented at the Eighth Annual Meeting of the Academic Council 
on the United Nations System, The Graduate Center, City 
University of New York, New York City, June 19-21, 1995 

WORK IN PROGRESS 

Towards International Justice: The Law and Politics of 
Prosecutions at the International Criminal Court (Waterloo: Wilfrid 
Laurier University Press, Forthcoming) (under contract) (with 
Noemi Gal-Or) 

OTHER PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES 

External Examiner, Ph.D. Dissertation (Solomon Frimpong 
Amoateng, The Juridical Nature of Participatory Governance and 
the Integration of Community Interests in Natural Resource 
Extraction and Management in Canada and Ghana) Faculty of 
Law, University of Alberta, June1-July 6, 2020 

103



Peer Reviewer, International Security (2020) 

Peer Reviewer, Global Governance: A Review of Multilateralism 
and International Organizations (2019) 

Reviewer, Routledge Publishers (2019) 

Reviewer, National Research Fund of South Africa (2017) 

Member,  Advisory  Board,  Millennium:  Journal  of  International 
Studies (2015) 

Peer Reviewer, Geopolitics (2014) 

Peer Reviewer, Millennium: Journal of International Studies (2014) 

Peer Reviewer, Development and Change (2014) 

Peer Reviewer, Global Crime (2013) 

Reviewer, University of Toronto Press (2013, 2015) 

Peer Reviewer, International Peacekeeping  (2003/2004, 2012) 

Peer Reviewer, Global Governance: A Review of Multilateralism 
and International Organizations (2011) 

Member, Faculty Professional Development Committee, Faculty of 
Arts, Kwantlen Polytechnic University (2019-Present) 

Member, Chairs Committee, Faculty of Social Sciences, Kwantlen 
Polytechnic University (2007-2010) 

Member,  Faculty  Council  Bylaw  Committee,  Faculty  of  Social 
Sciences, Kwantlen Polytechnic University (2008-2009) 

Member,  Search  Committee,  Department  of  Political  Science, 
Kwantlen Polytechnic University (2007-Present) 

Member,  Curriculum  Development  Committee,  Department  of 
Political Science, Kwantlen Polytechnic University (2003) 

M.A. Course  Developer, “War,  Politics and International 
Relations”, Royal Military College of Canada, CFB, Edmonton 
(1998/1999) 

MEMBERSHIPS 

104



Academic Council on the United Nations System (ACUNS) 
American Political Science Association 
Ghana Bar Association (inactive) 

105



CURRICULUM VITAE 

TYLER CHAMBERLAIN, Ph.D. 
Email: TyWChamberlain@gmail.com 
Web:    http://carleton-ca.academia.edu/TylerChamberlain 

EDUCATION 

PhD in Political Science, Carleton University, 2018 
Areas of concentration: Political Theory, International Relations 
Dissertation title: Clarifying the Conflict between Modern Science and Natural Right 
Supervisor: Dr. Waller Newell 

MA in Political Science, Carleton University, 2012 
Thesis: Pascal’s Epistemological Critique of Early Modern Political Philosophy 
Supervisor: Dr. Peter C. Emberley 

BA (with Distinction) in Political Studies, with a minor in Christianity and Culture, Trinity 
Western University, 2008 

Certificate in Leadership and Applied Public Affairs, Trinity Western University, 2008 

ACADEMIC EMPLOYMENT 

Simon Fraser University 
Sessional Instructor, Department of Political Science……... ……...…Spring 2019-present 

Courses:  POL 141: War, International Cooperation, and Development 
POL 221: Introduction to Canadian Government 
POL 310: Identity Politics 
POL 317: Citizenship, Migration, and Identity 
POL 346: International Organization 

Douglas College 
Sessional Instructor, Department of Political Science……………………... Summer 2020 

Courses:  POLI 1101: Introduction to Political Science 
POLI 1102: Introduction to Canadian Government 
POLI 1103: Introduction to World Politics 

University of the Fraser Valley 
Sessional Instructor, Department of Political Science……...................... Fall 2019-present 

Courses:  POSC 100: Introduction to Political Science 
POSC 260: International Relations and Global Politics 
POSC 360: The United Nations and International Organizations 
POSC 368: Global Issues and Canadian Foreign Policy 
POSC 460: Seminar in Global Politics 

106

mailto:TyWChamberlain@gmail.com
http://carleton-ca.academia.edu/TylerChamberlain


POSC 480: Special Topics in Political Theory (Politics in Film) 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
Sessional Instructor, Department of Political Science…………………Fall 2019-present 

Courses:  POLI 1120: Canadian Government and Politics 

Trinity Western University 
Part-time Instructor, Departments of Political Studies and Philosophy........ 2012-present 

Courses: POLS 101: Introduction to Political Thinking 
POLS 234: Introduction to Canadian Government and Politics 
POLS 334: Issues in Canadian Government and Politics 
POLS 312: Globalization and Global Governance 
POLS 392: Ethics and Public Affairs 
PHIL 105: Introduction to Philosophy 
PHIL 210: Contemporary Ethical Issues 
I have also supervised TWU student internships in Ottawa, ON. 
In addition to my teaching responsibilities, I have served as the Campus 
Liaison for TWU’s Laurentian Leadership Centre, located in Ottawa, 
since 2016. 

Acting Director, Laurentian Leadership Centre1………...…. July 2014-December 2014 

Carleton University 
Teaching Assistant, Department of Political Science……………………… 2012-2014 

Courses: PSCI 1100: Introduction to Political Science: Democracy in Theory and 
Practice 
PSCI 2300: History of Political Thought 
PSCI 2601: IR: Global Politics 

ACADEMIC AWARDS AND HONOURS 

Winner of the 2019 British Columbia Political Studies Association Marjorie Griffin Cohen Prize 
(awarded to the 2 best papers presented at annual conference). 

PUBLICATIONS AND OTHER SCHOLARLY OUTPUT 

Refereed Articles 

“The Right to Refuse Cabinet Advice as a Democratic Reform.” Canadian Political Science 
Review. (FORTHCOMING) 

Book Reviews 

1 The Laurentian Leadership Centre is an Ottawa satellite campus of Trinity Western University that offers 200-hour 
internships for upper-level students and recent graduates. 

107



“Canada on the United Nations Security Council: A Small Power on a Large Stage,” by Adam 
Chapnick, Canadian Journal of Political Science, (March 2020). doi: 10.1017/ 
S0008423920000165. 

“Organism and Environment: Inheritance and Subjectivity in the Life Sciences,” by Russell 
Winslow, Choice 55:8 (November 2017). 

“The North American High Tory Tradition,” by Ron Dart. Clarion: A Journal of Spirituality and 
Justice [Online]. (October 2017). 

“Wagering on an Ironic God: Pascal on Faith and Philosophy,” by Thomas Hibbs. Choice 55:3 
(June 2017). 

“Pascal the Philosopher: An Introduction,” by Graeme Hunter. University of Toronto Quarterly 
84:3 (Summer 2015). 

Papers in Progress 

“Forms, Misology and The Meaning of Inquiry in Phaedo’s Arguments for Immortality” 
(UNDER REVIEW) 

“High Tory Conservatism in the Thought of John Farthing and Eugene Forsey” 

“Personalism Versus Institutionalism: A Hobbesian Analysis of Populism Studies” 

“A Postcolonial Classical Realism?: A Comparison of the Similarities and Differences Between 
E.H. Carr and Edward Said” 

Conference Presentations 

“High Tory Conservatism in the Thought of John Farthing and Eugene Forsey.” Presented at the 
British Columbia Political Studies Association Conference: Online, Oct. 16-17. 

“Personalism Versus Institutionalism: A Hobbesian Analysis of Populism Studies” Presented at 
the British Columbia Political Studies Association Conference: Online, Oct. 16-17. 

“Cartesian Means to Hobbesian Ends: Competing Early Modern Solutions to the Problem of 
Social Discord.” Presented at the Canadian Political Science Association Conference; 
University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC: June 2019. 

“The Right to Refuse Cabinet Advice as a Democratic Reform.” Canadian Political Science 
Association Conference; University of Regina, Regina, SK: May 2018. 

Also presented at the British Columbia Political Studies Association; Langara College, 
Vancouver, BC: May 2019 

“Aristotle and Hobbes on the Importance of Individuals Versus Institutions.” Canadian Political 
Science Association Conference; University of Regina, Regina, SK: May 2018. 

Panel Discussant, “Greek and Roman Political Thought.” Canadian Political Science Association 
Conference; University of Calgary, Calgary, AB: June 2016. 

108



“Aristotle, Natural Right, and the Challenge of Modern Science.” Canadian Political Science 
Association Conference; University of Calgary, Calgary, AB: June 2016. 

“The Good as the End of Scientific Inquiry: an Interpretation of Plato’s Phaedo.” HBU 
Philosophy Conference: God, Nature, and Scientific Knowledge; Houston Baptist University, 
Houston, TX: September 2015. 

“MacIntyre’s Unsuccessful Aristotelianism: An Oakeshottian Critique of After Virtue.” Aristotle 
and the Peripatetic Tradition; Dominican University College, Ottawa, ON: October 2014. 

“George Grant’s Platonic Justification of Modern Freedom.” Christians in Political Science 
Conference; Azusa Pacific University, Azusa, CA: May 2014. 

“The Compatibility of Classical Natural Right and Modern Science.” Canadian Political Science 
Association Conference; Brock University, St. Catherines, ON: May 2014. 

“Blaise Pascal as a Political Thinker: The Politics of the Knowledge of the Heart.” Canadian 
Political Science Association Conference; University of Victoria, Victoria, BC: June 2013. 

Panel Discussant, “Locke, Pirates, and Intoxication in the 17th Century.” Canadian Political 
Science Association Conference; University of Victoria, Victoria, BC: June 2013. 

“Blaise Pascal’s Epistemology as Political Theory.” Carleton Political Science Graduate Student 
Conference: Austerity, Society, and the Value of Political Inquiry; Carleton University, 
Ottawa, ON: January, 2013. 

“The Cosmological Argument and Necessary Explanations.” AECDO Student Conference; 
Dominican University College, Ottawa, ON: February 2009. 

109



SERDAR KAYA 
Department of Political Science 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University  
serdar.kaya@kpu.ca 

Last updated: 1 January 2021 
 
 
 

CITIZENSHIP 
 

 

 
Canadian. 

 
 
 
ACADEMIC EMPLOYMENT 

 
 

 
2019- Non-regular faculty member (Kwantlen Polytechnic University, Canada) 
2017- Instructor, Lecturer (Simon Fraser University, Canada) 
2016-2017 Postdoctoral research fellow (University of Queensland, Australia) 
2013-2016 Instructor (Simon Fraser University, Canada) 
2009-2013 Teaching assistant (Simon Fraser University, Canada) 

 
 
 
EDUCATION 

 
 

 
Ph.D. in Political Science, Simon Fraser University – Canada (2015) 
Exam 1: Comparative Politics (subfield: developing systems) 
Exam 2: International Relations (subfields: foreign policy analysis, int'l political economy) 

Dissertation Title: Islamophobia: A Comparative, Multilevel Analysis of Western Europe 
 

M.A. in Political Science, University of Akron – U.S.A. (2007) 
Concentration in International Relations. 

 
M.B. A., California State University, Los Angeles – U.S.A. (2002) 
Concentration in Finance. 

 
B.A. in Business Administration, Istanbul University – Turkey (2000) 
Concentration in Economics. 

 
 
 
RESEARCH and TEACHING INTERESTS 

 
 

 
Migration, Diversity, Policy 
Multiculturalism. Intergroup relations. Islam-West relations. Refugees. 

 
Methods 
Qualitative, quantitative, experimental, and mixed methods. 

110

mailto:serdar.kaya@kpu.ca
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Simon_Fraser_University


COURSES TAUGHT 
 

 

 

Introductory courses 
 
 
 
 
 

Courses on Methods 
 
 
 

Courses on Migration 
 
 
 
 

Courses on Islam, the Middle East, 
and the Developing World 

Introduction to Canadian Politics 
Introduction to Comparative Politics 
Introduction to Global Studies 
Introduction to International Relations 
Introduction to Political Science 

 
Statistics with R 
Statistics with SPSS 
Research Methods (undergraduate and graduate levels) 

 
Global Labour Migration 
Labour Migrants in the West 
Race, Immigration, and the Canadian State (online only) 
Refugees and Forced Migration 

 
Introduction to Middle East Politics 
Islam and the West 
Politics of Developing Nations 

 
 

All course syllabi are downloadable at: https://sfu.academia.edu/kaya/Syllabi 
 
 
 
STUDENT SUPERVISION 

 
 

 
2020. Mentor of one doctoral student (APSA Mentoring Program) 
2017. Advisor of one visiting Ph.D. student (University of Queensland, Australia)    
2016. Thesis Examiner for two Honours projects (University of Queensland, Australia) 
2016. Academic Reader for five Honours projects (University of Queensland, Australia) 
2016. Supervisor of research assistants on various levels (University of Queensland, Australia) 
2015. Mentor of two doctoral students (MPSA Mentoring Program) 

 
 
 
SPECIALIZED METHODOLOGY TRAINING 

 
 

 
Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR) 
University of Michigan (Summer 2012) 

Courses: Mathematics for Social Scientists (upper level); Regression (upper level); 
Methodological Issues in Race and Ethnicity. 

 
Institute for Qualitative and Multi-Method Research (IQMR) 
Syracuse University (Summer 2010) 

Coursework in research design, discourse analysis, fieldwork and archival research techniques, 
ethnographic methods, content analysis, and process tracing. 

111

https://sfu.academia.edu/kaya/Syllabi


OTHER SPECIALIZED TRAINING 
 

 

 
International Institute for Genocide and Human Rights Studies (IIGHRS) 
University of Toronto (Summer 2011) 

Coursework on human rights, causes of genocide, impacts of genocide on survivors and their 
descendants, reconciliation between perpetrator and victim groups, and prevention. 

 
 
 
PEER-REVIEWED JOURNAL ARTICLES 

 
 

 
2020. Kaya, Serdar; and Phil Orchard. "Prospects of Return: The Case of Syrian Refugees in  

Germany." Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies 18(1): 95-112. 
 

2019. Kaya, Serdar. "Institutionalization of Islam in Secular Europe: The Influence of State-  
Religion Relations on Anti-Muslim Attitudes." Policy Studies Journal 47(3): 793-818. 

 
2017. Kaya, Serdar. "Social Consequences of Securitizing Citizenship: Two-Tiered Citizenry and  

Anti-Immigrant Attitudes." Canadian Ethnic Studies 49(3): 27-49. 
 

2017. Kaya, Serdar. "State Policies toward Islam in Twenty Countries in Western Europe: The  
Accommodation of Islam Index." Muslim World Journal of Human Rights 14(1): 55-81. 

 
2015. Kaya, Serdar. "Islamophobia in Western Europe: A Comparative, Multilevel Study." Journal 

of Muslim Minority Affairs 35(3): 450-465. 
 

2015. Kaya, Serdar. "Outgroup Prejudice from an Evolutionary Perspective: Survey Evidence from  
Europe." Journal of International and Global Studies 7(1): 16-31. 

 
2012. Kaya, Serdar. "The Social Psychology of the Ergenekon Case: The Collapse of the Official  

Narrative in Turkey." Middle East Critique 21(2): 145-156. 
 

2009. Kaya, Serdar. "The Rise and Decline of the Turkish Deep State: The Ergenekon Case." Insight 
Turkey 11(4): 99-113. 

 
 
 
BOOK CHAPTERS 

 
 

 
2021. Kaya, Serdar. "Hay’at Tahrir al-Sham and Jabhat al-Nusra." In Handbook of Terrorist and 

Insurgent Groups: A Global Survey of Threats, Tactics, and Characteristics, ed. Scott N. 
Romaniuk. Taylor and Francis. (forthcoming) 

112

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/15562948.2019.1570579
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/15562948.2019.1570579
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/psj.12332
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/psj.12332
https://muse.jhu.edu/article/677520/pdf
https://muse.jhu.edu/article/677520/pdf
https://www.degruyter.com/view/j/mwjhr.2017.14.issue-1/mwjhr-2016-0003/mwjhr-2016-0003.xml?format=INT
https://www.degruyter.com/view/j/mwjhr.2017.14.issue-1/mwjhr-2016-0003/mwjhr-2016-0003.xml?format=INT
http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13602004.2015.1080952
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/2015-jigs.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/2015-jigs.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/2012-middle-east-critique.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/2012-middle-east-critique.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/2009-insight-turkey.pdf


UNDER REVIEW / IN PROGRESS 
 

 

 
In Progress: Orchard, Phil; and Serdar Kaya. "Conflict-Induced Displacement: Causes and 

Analytical Issues (1991-2014)." (journal article) 
 

In Progress: Kaya, Serdar. "Multiculturalism and the Accommodation of Islam: Quebec and the 
Rest of Canada." (journal article) 

 
In Progress: Kaya, Serdar. "Multiculturalist Policies in Rhetoric and Practice: The Case of 

Muslims in the West." (journal article) 
 

In Progress: Kaya, Serdar. R: An Introduction. (textbook, full first draft) 
 
 
 
BOOK REVIEWS 

 
 

 
2015. Kaya, Serdar. "Constructing Muslims in France: Discourse, Public Identity, and the Politics of  

Citizenship (by Jennifer Fredette)" Ethnic and Racial Studies 38(13): 2444-2446. 
 

2011. Kaya, Serdar. "Cumhuriyet'in Dindar Kadınları [The Religious Women of the Republic] (by 
Fatma K. Barbarosoglu)" Contemporary Islam 5(2): 211-212. 

 
2011. Kaya, Serdar. "Velvet Jihad: Muslim Women's Quiet Resistance to Islamic Fundamentalism 

(by Faegheh Shirazi)" Journal of Middle East Women's Studies 7(2): 120-122. 
 

2010. Kaya, Serdar. "Secularism and State Policies Toward Religion: The United States, France, and  
Turkey (by Ahmet Kuru)" Southeast European and Black Sea Studies 10(4): 491-493. 

 
 
 
FILM REVIEWS 

 
 

 
2021. Kaya, Serdar. For Sama (by Waad Al-Kateab, and Edward Watts). Refuge: Canada's Journal 

on Refugees. 
 

2014. Kaya, Serdar. "Yılmaz Guney's Arkadas and Yol: The Changing Approach of the Renowned  
Socialist Filmmaker to Gender Equality." Research Journal of Politics, Economics and 
Management 2(1): 61-65. 

113

http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/bookreview-2015-fredette.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/bookreview-2015-fredette.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/bookreview-2011-barbarosoglu.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/bookreview-2011-shirazi.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/bookreview-2010-kuru.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/bookreview-2010-kuru.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/filmreview-2014-yilmaz-guney.pdf
http://www.serdarkaya.com/publications/filmreview-2014-yilmaz-guney.pdf


ENCYCLOPEDIA ENTRIES 
 

 

 
2020. Kaya, Serdar. "Refugees." In The Palgrave Encyclopedia of Global Security Studies. Palgrave 

Macmillan. 
 

2015. Kaya, Serdar. "Hrant Dink." In The Armenian Genocide: The Essential Reference Guide. 
ABC-CLIO. pp. 113-115. 

 
2014. Kaya, Serdar. "Islamic Society of North America (ISNA)." In The Oxford Encyclopedia of  

Islam and Politics, Volume 2. Oxford University Press. pp. 601-602. 
 
 
 
CITATION RECORD 

 
 

 
Citations (all): 100+ 
h-index: 5 

Profile page on Google Scholar 
 
 

CONFERENCE PAPERS [selected] 
 

 

 
2019. "Multiculturalist Policies in Rhetoric and Practice: The Case of Muslims in the West." 

Canadian Political Science Association (CPSA), University of British Columbia, Vancouver. 
 

2016. "The Influence of Interethnic Contact on Social Cohesion in 20 European Countries." 
Australian Political Studies Association (AuPSA), Sydney, Australia. 

 
2015. "Accommodation of Islam (AOI) Index." 

Western Political Science Association (WPSA), Las Vegas, Nevada. 
Midwest Political Science Association (MPSA), Chicago, Illinois. 

 
2014. "The Policy Components of Citizenship Regimes." 

WZB Berlin Social Science Center international conference, Berlin, Germany. 
 

2014. "Islamophobia: Western Europe and Canada." 
International Studies Association (ISA), Toronto, Ontario. 

 
2013. "Anti-Muslim Sentiments in the West: A Comparative, Multilevel Analysis." 

Center for Race & Gender Studies annual conference, University of California, Berkeley. 

114

https://www.amazon.ca/Palgrave-Encyclopedia-Global-Security-Studies/dp/3319743201/
http://www.amazon.com/The-Armenian-Genocide-Essential-Reference/dp/1610696875
http://www.amazon.com/Oxford-Encyclopedia-Islam-Politics/dp/0199739358/
http://www.amazon.com/Oxford-Encyclopedia-Islam-Politics/dp/0199739358/
https://scholar.google.com/citations?user=GY2yasMAAAAJ


CONFERENCE ACTIVITIES 
 

 

 
 

Proposal reviewer 

Panel chair 

 
 
 

Panel discussant 
 
 
 
 

Panel organizer 

 
2021. Council of European Studies (CES), online 
2019. Council of European Studies (CES), Madrid, Spain 

 
2016. Australian Political Studies Association (AuPSA), Sydney, Australia 
2016. Council of European Studies (CES), Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 
2015. Midwest Political Science Association (MPSA), Chicago, Illinois 
2012, 2010. Assoc. for the Study of Nationalities (ASN), New York 
2011, 2009. Middle East Studies Association (MESA), Washington, DC 

 
2019. Migration: Policies and Practice II (CPSA), Vancouver, Canada 
2016. Midwest Political Science Association (MPSA), Chicago, Illinois 
2014. WZB Berlin Social Science Center, Berlin, Germany 
2012, 2011, 2010. Assoc. for the Study of Nationalities (ASN), New York 

2012. Assoc. for the Study of Nationalities (ASN), New York 

 
 

WORKSHOPS AND SYMPOSIUMS 
 

 

 
2015. "State Recognition, Legitimacy, and Tolerance: Muslims in the West." 

Workshop titled Religion and the Political Participation and Mobilization of Immigrant 
Groups: A Transatlantic Perspective, Center for Ethnic and Migration Studies (CEDEM), 
University of Liège, Belgium, May 11. 

 
2015. "The Evolution of Textbooks in Turkey: More Democratic, but Still Denialist." 

Symposium titled December to Varkiza: Memory, Political Discourse, and the Greek Civil 
War, Stavros Niarchos Foundation Centre for Hellenic Studies, Simon Fraser University, 
Canada, February 20. 

 
 
 
FELLOWSHIPS AND SCHOLARSHIPS 

 
 

 
2016. Postdoctoral research fellowship (University of Queensland, Australia) 
2011. Doctoral fellowship, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC) 
2011. President's Ph.D. research stipend (Simon Fraser University) 
2010. Graduate fellowship (Simon Fraser University) 
2009. Pacific century graduate scholarship (British Colombia Provincial Government) 
2008. C.D. Nelson memorial graduate scholarship (Simon Fraser University) 

115



JOURNAL REFEREEING 
 

 

 
Ethnic and Racial Studies (2020) 
Global Governance (2018, 2020) 
Group Processes & Intergroup Relations (2017) 
International Affairs (2016) 
International Journal of Comparative Sociology (2019) 
International Studies Quarterly (2020) 
Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies (2020) 
Journal of International Migration and Integration (2017, 2020) 
Journal of Migration [Göç Dergisi] (2017) 
Muslim World Journal of Human Rights (2016, 2017) 
Political Psychology (2015, 2017) 
Religions (2018, 2020) 
Review of Religious Research (2018, 2020) 
Societies (2018) 
Turkish Studies (2016, 2017) 

 
 
 
PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS 

 
 

 
American Political Science Association (APSA) (Subsections: Religion and Politics, Migration and Citizenship) 
Association for the Study of Nationalities (ASN) 
Canadian Political Science Association (CPSA) 
Council for European Studies (CES) (Immigration Research Network) 
The Middle East Studies Association of North America (MESA) 

 
 
 
COMPUTER SKILLS 

 
 

 
Statistical Software Packages: R, Stata, SPSS, NVivo 
Experimental Analysis Software: Inquisit 
Programming Languages: Phyton 
Web Programming Languages: HTML, CSS, PHP, RDFa, Javascript 
Other: Filmmaking, video editing, sound editing. 

 
 
 
LANGUAGES 

 
 

 
Turkish (native), English (fluent), French (fair), Spanish (fair), German (basic) 

 
 
 
REFERENCES 

 
 

 
Available upon request. 

116



Conrad King 
Department of Political Science 
Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

conrad.king@kpu.ca 
 

Teaching Fields 
 

Extensive teaching experience in comparative politics, Canadian politics, political theory, 
International Relations, and global development. Formats have included lectures, short- 
course formats, technology-supported teaching, field schools, and service learning. 
Experienced with curriculum design and pedagogical innovation for undergraduate 
courses. 

 
Research Interests 

 

Substantive research expertise in comparative politics, political theory and the European 
Union, with narrower specialization in public policy, especially education policy. 

 
 
 

Post-Secondary Positions 
Instructor, Dept. of Political Science, Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

 
(2019-present) 

Director, European Union Field School and Internship Program (2015-present) 

Instructor (adjunct), European Studies Program, University of Victoria (2016-2019) 

Chair, Dept. of Political Science, Capilano University (2018-2019) 
Instructor, Dept. of Political Science, Capilano University (2013-2019) 

Principal Investigator and Project Manager (Canada) 
Jean Monnet ‘Near-EU’ Network, Institute for European Studies, UBC 

 
(2016-2019) 

Teaching Assistant, Department of Political Science, UBC. (2011-2015) 

Invited Doctoral Researcher, OSC, Sciences Po Paris (2014) 

Program Coordinator, International Education, Langara College. (2010-2011) 
Instructor, International Education, Langara College. (2008-2009) 

 

Researcher, Central European Centre for Political and Sociological Sciences, 
Technical University Dresden. (2008-2009) 

Research Assistant, Institute for European Studies, UBC (2007-2008) 

Guest Lecturer, Department of Social Studies, 
Cheongju National University of Education (South Korea) (2005) 

117

mailto:conrad.king@kpu.ca


Education_ 
 

Ph.D. Political Science, University of British Columbia, 2018 
• Dissertation: ‘The Politics of Subsystems: Agenda Management and Policy 

Change in Education’. 
• Committee: Antje Ellermann, Kurt Hübner, Alan Jacobs. 
• Subfields: Comparative Politics, Political Theory, Europe and the EU 

 
M.A. European Studies, University of British Columbia, 2008 

• Thesis: ‘Convergence, Cooperation, Coordination: Higher Education Governance 
and the Bologna Process’ 

 
B.Ed. Simon Fraser University, 2005 

• Specializations: secondary social studies; international/intercultural education; 
environmental education. 

 
B.A. Honours History, University of Toronto, 2003 

• Dean’s list scholar, graduated with high distinction 
 
 
Awards, Fellowships, Research Grants 

 

➢ 0.6% Faculty PD Fund, Kwantlen Polytechnic University.  Value: $5500 
➢ Jean Monnet Network, grant number EAC/A04/2015, Erasmus Plus Programme, 

European Union.  Value: €300,000 
➢ Capilano University Faculty PD Committee, research on ‘Complex Active 

Learning Techniques’. Value: $2500 
➢ Four Year Doctoral Fellowship (UBC).  Value: $80,000 
➢ Dissertation Research Fund (Dept. of Political Science, UBC).  Value: $4800 
➢ International Research Mobility Award (Office of VP Research and International, 

UBC). Value: $500 
➢ Two DAAD Travel Awards (German Academic Exchange Service, one for 

research, one for observation of German Federal Election). Total value: $6000 
➢ Millennium Scholarship (Canadian Federal Government: twice awarded as 

Dean`s List Scholar).  Value: $6000 
➢ Eileen Allen Scholarship (St. Michael`s College, University of Toronto). $500 

118



Publications (Refereed) 
 

King, Conrad (2020).  ‘Discursive Power and the Internationalization of Universities in 
British Columbia and Ontario’ in Canadian Journal of Higher Education 50 (4): 100-115 

 
King, Conrad (2020). ‘Internationalisation of higher education in a Canadian context: 
responses to the Bologna Process from Canadian universities’ in The Bologna Process 
and its Global Strategy: Motivations and External Responses, eds. H. Moscovitz and H. 
Zahavi. (London: Routledge) 

 

King, Conrad (2019). ‘Internationalisation of higher education in a Canadian context: 
Responses to the Bologna Process from Canadian universities’ in European Journal of  
Higher Education 9 (1): 58-72 

 

King, Conrad (2012). ‘Mental Models and the Europe 2020 Strategy: Neo-schumpetarian 
Ideas in Innovation and Education’ in Canadian Journal of European and Russian  
Studies 7(2): 1-12 

 

King, Conrad, Stefan Gänzle and Stefan Meister (2009). ‘Higher Education in 
Kaliningrad’ in Adapting to European Integration? Kaliningrad, Russia and the 
European Union, eds. S. Gänzle, G. Müntel and E. Vinokurov. (Manchester: Manchester  
University Press). 

 

King, Conrad, Stefan Gänzle and Stefan Meister (2009). ‘The Bologna Process and Its 
Impact on Higher Education at Russia’s Margins: The Case of Kaliningrad’ in Higher  
Education 57 (4): 533-547 

 

Publications (Non-Refereed) 
 

King, Conrad (2012). ‘Book review: Democracy across Borders: From Dêmos to Dêmoi 
by James Bohman’ in German Politics and Society 30 (3): 115-18 (Autumn 2012) 

 
King, Conrad (2012). ‘The Europe 2020 Strategy and its implications for Canada’ in 
Policy Notes (Canada-Europe Transatlantic Dialogue, September 2012). 

 
King, Conrad (2006). ‘The Bologna Process: Bridge or Fortress? A Review of the Debate 
from a North American perspective’ in The Canada-EU Bridge Project. (Toronto: 
CCGES/York University, 2006). 

 
King, Conrad (2006). ‘Europe-Canada Mobility Project: 2003-2006’ (Report for Human 
Resources Development Canada.  Published by Department of Education, SFU) 

119

https://www.routledge.com/The-Bologna-Process-and-its-Global-Strategy-Motivations-and-External-Responses/Moscovitz-Zahavi/p/book/9780367435974
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/21568235.2018.1561311?journalCode=rehe20
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/21568235.2018.1561311?journalCode=rehe20
https://ojs.library.carleton.ca/index.php/CJERS/article/view/2468
https://ojs.library.carleton.ca/index.php/CJERS/article/view/2468
https://manchesteruniversitypress.co.uk/9780719079016/
https://manchesteruniversitypress.co.uk/9780719079016/
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10734-008-9187-4
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10734-008-9187-4


Conferences (Selected)_ 
 

• ‘Covid-19 and Canada: from stable student mobility to enduring 
remote education?’ (Coronavirus and its Impact on International Students: 
International Education in the Time of Global Disruptions, RMIT University, 
Monash University and University of Melbourne, 10 Feb. 2021.  
https://impactinternationalstudentscorona.wordpress.com/) 

• ‘Between markets and norms: The internationalisation of higher education in 
Canada’ (Thinking Globally? Internationalising higher education around the 
world, Nanyang Technological University, 25 July 2019) 

• ‘Agenda Management and Policy Change in German Education’ (Fourth 
International Conference on Public Policy, International Public Policy 
Association, Concordia University, Montréal, 27 June 2019. And for the Annual 
Conference of the Canadian Political Science Association. UBC, Vancouver. 6 
June 2019) 

• ‘The internationalization of higher education in Canada’ (Fourth International 
Conference on Public Policy, International Public Policy Association, Concordia 
University, Montréal, 26 June 2019. And for a workshop panel on Inclusion and 
Diversity in our Universities: How Is Internationalization Changing Higher 
Education? Annual Conference of the Canadian Political Science Association. 
UBC, Vancouver.  6 June 2019). 

• ‘The Internationalization of Higher Education in Canada: Interactions between 
Global Discourses and Local Institutions’ (Shaping Sustainable Futures for 
Internationalization in Higher Education, Ontario Institute for the Study of 
Education, University of Toronto. 24 June 2019) 

• ‘Political Studies 12: curriculum design from a post-secondary perspective’ (B.C. 
Social Studies Teachers’ Association Conference; Vancouver: 19 October 2018) 

• ‘Active Learning Techniques and e-Portfolios’ (Association for Authentic, 
Experiential, and Evidence-Based Learning Conference, Vancouver: 25 July 
2018) 

• ‘Designing survey instruments for measuring internationalisation: perspectives 
from Canada, New Zealand and Singapore’ (Invited panelist, Internationalisation 
and Economic Development in the European Higher Education Area and Beyond: 
strategies, policies and tools. Pireaus, Greece: 14 June 2018) 

• ‘Unity and Diversity in Higher Education: Effects of Europeanization on 
Canadian Universities’ (European Community Studies Association Conference; 
Toronto: 10 May 2018). 

• ‘The Internationalization of Canadian Higher Education: which direction are we 
heading?’ (British Columbia Political Studies Association Conference, Kamloops: 
3 May 2018) 

• ‘Internationalization of higher education in a Canadian context.  Responses to the 
Bologna Process from Canadian universities’ (‘Looking Out’: Comparability and 
Compatibility in Global Higher Education, Near-EU Jean-Monnet Network 
Conference, Ljubljana, Slovenia: 9 October 2017). 

120

https://impactinternationalstudentscorona.wordpress.com/
https://impactinternationalstudentscorona.wordpress.com/


• ‘The Bologna Process: A View from the Outside’ (Ben-Gurion University’s 
Bologna Training Centre Annual International Conference, Tel Aviv, Israel: 25 
April 2017) 

• ‘Examining Active Learning Techniques: When are Simulations Effective?’ 
(Teaching and Learning Conference, American Political Science Association, 
Portland, USA: 13 February 2016) 

• ‘Policy Learning across the EU: The Politics of Education Reform in Germany 
and France’. (Council for European Studies Conference, Paris, France: 10 July 
2015). And also: (European Consortium for Political Research General 
Conference, Montréal: 28 August 2015). 

 
Service and Community Involvement 

 

• Consultant for the B.C. Ministry of Education and the B.C. Social Studies 
Teachers’ Association (2016-2019). Drafted preliminary curricular framework for 
a new secondary social studies core course: ‘Political Studies 12’. 

• Facilitator for ‘Democracy Café’ discussion series on electoral system reform for 
North Vancouver Community Resources Society (during 2015 federal election) 
and the Blueridge Community Association (during 2018 provincial ballot) 

• President, Young Researchers’ Network, European Community Studies 
Association – Canada (2012-2014) 

• President, CUPE local 2278, Graduate Teaching Assistant Union at UBC- 
Vancouver (2012). 

• Chair and organizer, Annual Conference for the Coalition of Graduate Employee 
Unions, 2-4 August 2012. 

• Department Representative (Political Science) and committee member for 
Academic and External Committees, Graduate Student Society, UBC (2011-2012) 

• Current member of the Canadian Political Science Association, American 
Political Science Association, European Community Studies Association 
(Canada), Council for European Studies, the Institute for Qualitative and Multi- 
Method Research (University of Syracuse), the European Consortium for Political 
Research’s standing group on Knowledge Politics and Policies, and EUCAnet 
(see expert profile, video profile and discussion of projects). 

 
 
Other 

 

• Citizenship: Canada, Republic of Ireland, United Kingdom 
• Languages: English (native proficiency), French (advanced), German (basic) 

Spanish (basic) 

121

https://www.eucanet.org/expert-directory/noncluster-member/king-conrad
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2kzC9IapnVs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MyqdtnOxjGM


Dr. Ross Michael Pink 
 
Email: ross.pink@kpu.ca 

 
Profile:  A responsible, dedicated education professional with 21 years of successful 
experience in teaching and education in Canada and internationally. 

 
Achievements 

 
* Ph. D. in International Relations, University of Leicester, England. 
* Book publication, ‘The Climate Change Crisis’, Ross Michael Pink, Palgrave Macmillan 
2018 
* Book publication, ‘Water Rights in Southeast Asia and India” Ross Michael Pink 
Palgrave Macmillan, November 2016. 
* Academic Paper presented on Law Enforcement Against Child Trafficking in Thailand 
at the APSA International Conference in Chiang Mai, Thailand February, 2014 
* Speaker on Water Rights and Law in India at the November 2013 United Nations 
University (UNU) and U.N. Institute of Water, Environment and Health (INWEH) 
Symposium at McMaster University entitled: WaSH and Well-being in November, 2013. 
* Guest Speaker, KPU TALK Program, 2018-2012 
*Lead consultant and trainer in 2001 for the United Nations Development Program 
(UNDP) in Vietnam. 
* Organized the Inter-Faith Forum at Corpus Christi College at UBC that brought 
together six different faith group leaders and 150 delegates to discuss themes of 
religious understanding and human rights. 
* Co-Founder of Global Water Rights, an educational NGO 
* Speaker on 'Water Rights and Development in Tibet, Mali, Indonesia and India' to an 
academic and government audience in Dharamshala, India, July 4, 2014 

 
Professional Experience 

 
2008- Present  Kwantlen Polytechnic University, Chair, Political Science 
Department and Lecturer in Politics and Environment 
Develop course syllabus and teach several courses including: Poli 1120, Introduction to 
Politics, Poli 1125, Introduction to Government and Politics, Poli / Post 2100 
Sustainability and Government, Poli 1150, International Relations, Poli 2150, States, 
Markets and Globalization and Poli 3100, European Union and NAFTA Politics and 
Trade. Serving as Chair of the Department since December 1, 2018. 

 
2013 University of Toronto, Lecturer 
Lecturer in International Law 

 
2006 - 2009 Cevey Systems (Germany) Senior Consultant, Canadian Manager 
Educational consultant and senior trainer on performance management for a European 
human resource consultancy. Responsible for seminar development and facilitation, 
business development and providing leadership training seminars in Canada, Europe, 
USA and Southeast Asia 

122

mailto:ross.pink@kpu.ca


 

Ross Michael Pink, Ph. D page 2 
 
 
 
2002 - 2006 Corpus Christi College (Vancouver)  Lecturer 
Develop course curriculum and lecture in the areas of International Relations, Canadian 
Government and Politics, Media Communication and Journalism. Developed the political 
science and journalism programs and organized three human rights conferences. 

 
2001 United Nations Development Program, (Vietnam) 

Lead Consultant 
Developed and delivered a comprehensive training program for senior level Vietnamese 
government managers in the areas of leadership and human resource planning. 

 
1994 - 2000  Business Development Bank of Canada (Vancouver) 

Executive Director 
Developed and supervised a range of executive training programs for professionals and 
new entrepreneurs. Hired and supervised a team of trainers, supervised a staff of 30 
consultants, responsible for financial and administrative leadership, proposal writing and 
building partnerships in the education and business communities. Membership on a 
Board of Directors dedicated to educational and entrepreneurial development in Greater 
Vancouver. 

 
 
EDUCATION 

 
Ph. D. International Relations and Human Rights University of Leicester 
Master of Arts Canadian Government   McGill University 
Bachelor of Arts   International Relations   University of British Columbia 

 
 
Memberships 

 
Canadian International Council (CIC) 
Registered Consultant, Canadian International Development Agency, CIDA 

 
Selected Publications 

 
The Climate Change Crisis, Book, Ross Michael Pink, Palgrave Macmillan, 2018 
Water Rights in Southeast Asia and India, Ross Michael Pink, Book, Palgrave 
Macmillan, 2016 
Rainwater Harvesting: Water Security for Marginalized Communities in India, Ross 
Michael Pink, Solutions Journal, 7(6) 80-84, 2016 
Child Trafficking in Thailand: Prevention and Prosecution Challenges, Asian Affairs: An 
American Review, Vol. 40, Issue 4, 2013 
Child Rights, Development and Water Security in India, Journal of the Institute of Asian 
Affairs, (JIAS), Vol. XXIV No. 1, Published in 2013 

123



 
 
 
 

Ross Michael Pink, Ph. D page 3 
 
 
Selected Publications 

 
Child Rights, Right to Water and Sanitation and Human Security,  Harvard University, 
Health and Human Rights Journal, Vol. 1, June 2012 
Combating Child Trafficking in India: Enforcement Weaknesses in the Judicial System, 
Journal of the Institute of Asian Studies, (JIAS) Vol. XX111, No. 1, December, 2010 

 
 
Media and Visiting Lecturer 

 
Guest Speaker on Water Rights and Climate Change, 2014-2020, Tokyo University, 
National University of Singapore, Thammasat University, Corpus Christi College, UBC, 
Taiwan National Normal University, University of Yangon, University of the Philippines, 
Los Banos, Tibetan Parliament in Exile, CTA, Dharamsala, India, Simon Fraser 
University, University of BC 
Guest Lecturer on Climate Change, Ministry of Natural Resources and Water, 
Government of Thailand, August 2018 
CBC, Interview on Election Politics, 2020 
CKNW, Sime Sara Radio Show Interview about World Water Day, March 22, 2018 
Guest Speaker on Climate Change, KPU-Science World Public Speaker Forum, 2017 

 
 
Selected List of Courses Taught 

 
Poli 1120, Introduction to Political Science, Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
Poli 1125, Canadian Politics and Government, KPU 
Poli / Post 2100 Sustainability and Government, KPU 
Poli 1145  Comparative Politics and Government, KPU 
Poli 3147  Foreign Policy of the Great Powers, KPU 
Poli 3131 European Union and NAFTA Politics and Trade, KPU 
Poli 4340 Public International Law, KPU 
Poli 1150  International Relations, Kwantlen Polytechnic University, 
ARTS 1100, Water Rights, KPU 
Poli 4330 International Human Rights, KPU 
Poli 340Y1Y  International Law, the University of Toronto 
Poli 208 Politics and Government of Southeast Asia, Corpus Christi College 
Poli 101 Canadian Politics, Corpus Christi College 
Poli 202 Politics of Resources (Water and Oil), Corpus Christi College 

124



Curriculum Vitae 
*** 

Dr. Shinder P. S. Purewal 
16277 – 80th Ave. 

Surrey, B.C., V4N 0X2 
Phone: 604-595-6745; 604-729-4592 

Email: shinder.purewal@kpu.ca 
 

 

 
 

Languages (Spoken and Written): 

English, Hindi and Punjabi 

Education: 
 

Ph.D. (1998), Queen’s University, Kingston, Ontario (Political Science) 
 

M.A. (1993), Simon Fraser University, B.C. (Political Science) 
 

B.A. (1988), Simon Fraser University, B.C. (Political Science) 
 

Career History: 
 

Professor (Sept. 2001 to Present), Department of Political Science, Kwantlen 
Polytechnic University, Surrey, B.C. 

 
Citizenship Judge (August 2005 to August 2008), The Court of Canadian 
Citizenship, British Columbia and Yukon Region (Governor-In-Council 
appointment) 

 
Adjunct Professor/Lecturer (January 1999 to Dec.31, 2005), Department of 
Political Science, Simon Fraser University, B.C. 

 
Lecturer (Sept. 1999 to Dec. 1999), Department of Political Science, University 
of British Columbia, B.C. 

 
Lecturer (Sept. 1998 to Dec. 1998), Department of Political Science, University 
of Victoria, B.C. 

 
Instructor (May 1997 to August 1997), Department of Political Studies, Queen’s 
University, Ontario. 

 
Teaching Assistant (September 1989 to August 1995), Department of Political 
Science (Simon Fraser University) and Department of Political Studies (Queen’s 
University). 

125

mailto:shinder.purewal@kpu.ca


 

Research Activity (Past and Present): 
 

Research Associate, Institute of Governance Studies, Simon Fraser University. 
 

Research Associate, Center for Indian and South Asian Research, University of 
British Columbia. 

 
Research Assistant, Department of Political Studies, Queen’s University. 

 
Research Assistant, Department of Political Science, Simon Fraser University. 

 
Publications: 

Books: 
 

Shinder Purewal (2014). Tandoori Democracy: Campaign 2012 for Punjab 
Assembly. New Delhi: Gyan Publishing. 

 
Shinder Purewal (2000). Sikh Ethnonationalism and the Political Economy of 
Punjab. New Delhi, New York: Oxford University Press. 

 
 

Journals/Conference Proceedings: 
 
 

Shinder Purewal (2012). “The Evolution of Sikh Secessionist Movement in 
Western Liberal Democracies.” International Journal of Business and Social 
Science, III (18): 107-113. 

 
Shinder Purewal (2011). “Sikh Diaspora and the Movement for Khalistan.” Indian 
Journal of Political Science. LXXII (4): 1131-1142 

 
Shinder Purewal (2003). “Quebec and Punjab: A Comparative Analysis of Two 
Autonomy Movements”, Proceedings of the Annual Conference of British 
Columbia Political Studies Association, Vancouver: Simon Fraser University. 

 
Shinder Purewal (2001). “Religion, Violence and Security in South Asia,” Punjab 
Journal of Politics, XXV (2): 3-21 

 
Shinder Purewal (2001). “Uniculturalism, Biculturalism or Multiculturalism: A 
Canadian Debate,” Punjab Journal of Politics, XXV (1): 17-27 

 
Shinder Purewal (1999). “Agrarian Roots of Sikh Ethnonationalism,” 
Proceedings of the Annual Conference of British Columbia Political Studies 
Association, Vancouver: University of British Columbia. 

126



Conferences and Seminars: 
 

“Multiculturalism at Crossroads: A Canadian Experience,” Paper present at a 
Seminar organized by the Department of Political Science, Guru Nanak Dev 
University, Amritsar, India (January 12, 2011). 

 
“Canadian Election Campaigns and the Issue of Environment,” Key Note Speech, 
delivered at a Conference on ‘Environment and Public Awareness,’ SBBS 
Institute of Engineering and Technology, Padhiana, India (January 10, 2011). 

 
“Ethnic Violence, Religious Fundamentalism and Security in South Asia,” Paper 
Presented at the Annual Conference of South Asianists of the Pacific Northwest, 
Simon Fraser University (27 October 2001) 

 
“Ethnic Violence in South Asia: A Political Economy Perspective,” Paper 
Presented at a Seminar organized by the Department of Political Science, Guru 
Nanak Dev University, Amritsar (February 15, 2001). 

 
Employment Equity in Federal and Provincial Jurisdictions: A Comparative 
Analysis,” Paper Presented at Leader’s Forum on Employment Equity, 
Employment Equity Secretariat, Government of British Columbia, Victoria 
(November 2, 1999) 

 
“Agrarian Roots of Sikh Ethnonationalism,” Paper Presented at the Annual 
Conference of British Columbia Political Studies Association, Vancouver, 
University of British Columbia (May 15, 1999) 

 
“Sikhism in the New Millennium: Challenges and Responses,” Paper Presented at 
Tercentenary Celebrations Seminar, Kamploops, Thompson River University 
(April 1999) 

 
Discussant, Conference on South Asian Security and Nuclear Weapons, 
Department of External Affairs and National Defence, Queen’s University, 
Kingston (May 1996). 

 
Unpublished Works: 

 
Shinder Purewal (1992). The Politics of Multiculturalism in Canada, 1963-1971. 
M.A. Dissertation, Department of Political Science, Simon Fraser University. 

 
Professional Association (Past and Present): 

 
Co-Editor-in-Chief, International Journal of Punjabi Literature (Toronto, 
Canada) 

 
Member, Advisory Council, Canadian International Peace Project (a Non- 
Government Organization, Toronto, Ontario) 

127



 

Director, Progressive Inter-Cultural Services Society, Vancouver and Surrey. 

Member, Canadian Political Science Association. 

Member, British Columbia Political Studies Association. 

Editor-In-Chief, International Journal of Punjabi Literature (Toronto, Canada) 

Member, Editorial Board, Understanding Sikhism: A Research Journal 
(University of Laval, Laval, Quebec) 

 
Member, Editorial Board, Punjab Journal of Politics (Guru Nanak Dev 
University, Amritsar) 

 
References: 

 
Available Upon Request 

 
----- 

128



 
 
 
 

Curriculum Vitae1 

Valérie Vézina 

 
 
 
Personal Information 

Academic address: Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
Department of Political Science 
12666 72 avenue 
Surrey, BC V3W 2M8 

 
Home address: 13965 92 avenue 

Surrey, BC V3V 1J3 
tel: (514) 928-0892 

 
E- mail: valerie.vezina@kpu.ca 

valerie.vezina@gmail.com 

Spoken and written languages: French, English, Spanish 

Citizenship: Canadian 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1 Last version October 15, 2020 

129

mailto:valerie.vezina@kpu.ca
mailto:valerie.vezina@gmail.com


Vézina, Valérie Curriculum Vitae 

Studies 
 

September2008-December2015: 

Degree: Ph. D. in Political Science 

University: Université du Québec à Montréal 
Département de science politique 

Field: Comparative Politics, Nationalism, Islands 
Supervisor: Dr. Alain-G. Gagnon 
Committee : José Igartua (UQAM), André Lecours (Ottawa), Jean-Guy Prévost 

(UQAM) 
Thesis: "L'îléité: le facteur insulaire dans l'étude du nationalisme. Étude comparative 

entre Terre-Neuve et Puerto Rico", 327 pages. 
Distinctions : Mention of honour and excellence (UQAM); nominated for the Bélanger- 

Andrew Prize of the Société Québécoise de Science Politique  (second 
position); nominated by the Department for the Vincent-Lemieux Prize of 
the Canadian Political Science Association 

September2005 - October 2006: 

Degree: Master in Political Science (M. A.) 

University: Memorial University of Newfoundland 
Political Science Department 

Field: International Politics, Comparative Politics, Newfoundland Supervisor: 
Dr. David Close 

Thesis: "The International Role of the Province of Newfoundland and 
Labrador", 80 pages. 

September 2001 - June 2005: 

Degree: B. A. (major: philosophy; minor: international relations) 
University: McGill University 

Faculty of Arts (Departments of philosophy and political science) 
 

Scholarships 

- Excellence Scholarship (2013) - Institut d'études internationales de Montréal  (2500$) 
- Excellence Scholarship (2011-2012) - Centre de recherche interdisciplinaire sur  la 

diversité au Québec (CRIDAQ) (2500$/year) 
- Scholarship  (2009)  -  Groupe  de  Recherche  sur  les  Sociétés  Plurinationales  (GRSP) 

(2000$) 
- Scholarship (2005-2006) - Memorial University of Newfoundland (4000$/year) 
- Keyfitz Entrance Scholarship (2001-2004) - McGill University 

(2000$/year) 
- Merit Scholarship (2001) - Canadian Merit Scholarship Foundation (2500 $) 

130



Vézina, Valérie Curriculum Vitae 
 

Academic Positions 

September 2018-present 
 

Position: Faculty Member (regular) 
Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
Department of political science 

Courses: Canadian  Political Parties; Canadian Government and Politics; British Columbia 
Government and Politics; Comparing Countries; Contentious Politics; Ideology 
and Politics; States, Markets and Globalization; 

Research grants: Katalyst Research Grant (25 000$ for 2 years) – Research project entitled 
“Islandness in non-island territories: A look at Canadian enclaves” 

 
January 2020- present 

Position:  Sessional instructor 
Simon Fraser University 
Department of political science 
French Cohort Program 

Courses: Le Canada dans le monde; Thèmes en gouvernance : nationalisme et nations 
sans État 

 
September  2018-present 

 
Position: Lecturer – online course 

Memorial University of Newfoundland 
Department of political science 

Course: Newfoundland and Labrador Government and Politics 
 

January 2016-April 2018: 

Position: Visiting Assistant Professor (limited-term teaching position) 
Memorial University of Newfoundland 
Department of political science 

Courses: Critical Reading and Writing in Political Science, Introduction to Politics and 
Government, Introduction to Public Policy & Administration, Newfoundland 
& Labrador Politics & Government,  Political Parties, Contentious Politics 

Distinction: Dean’s Award for Teaching Excellence (non-tenure track  instructors) 
for the Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences (2017-2018) 

 
 
November 2013 - December 2015: 

Position: Instructor (full-time, permanent) 
Champlain Regional College 
Department of social sciences 

Courses: Introduction to Political Science, International Politics, Politics and Society 

131



Vézina, Valérie Curriculum Vitae 
 
 
September 2014 - May 2015: 

Position: Mentor 
Centre Paulo-Freire 
(Help centre for political science students; advising on writing  papers, 
assignments, etc.) 
Université du Québec à Montréal 
Department of Political Science 

January 2014 - April 2014: 

Position: Visiting Researcher 
Institute of Caribbean Studies 
Universidad de Puerto Rico 
Reciento de Rio Piedras 

September2013 - December2013: 

Position: Instructor 
Université du Québec à Montréal 
Department of political science 

Courses: Initiation à la science politique 
 
 

September 2011 - April 2012: 
 

Position: Part-Time Faculty 
Acadia University 
Department of politics 

Courses: Global Politics, Global Issues 
 
 

September 2010 - December 2015: 

Position: Teaching Assistant 
Université du Québec à Montréal 
Department of political science 

Courses: Politique Canada-Québec, Le système international contemporain 

132



Vézina, Valérie Curriculum Vitae 
 
 

Publications 

Research Interests: Canadian Politics, Comparative Politics, Island Studies, Nationalism 
Studies 

Books (peer reviewed) 
 

1. V. Vézina. Une île, une nation? Québec: Presses de l'Université du Québec, 2018. 
- Distinctions: 

a) Book nominated for the Peter-Cashin Prize (best book written on  the political 
economy/history of Newfoundland) (2nd place) (2019) 
b) Finalist for the Prix Francophone (best book written in French) of the Canadian 
Political Science Association (2020) 

 
Journal Articles (peer reviewed) 

 
1. V. Vézina. Navigating citizenship and national identity in American territories: 

nationalism in American Samoa and Puerto Rico, Shima: The International Journal of 
Research into Island Cultures, 14, no. 2, 168-184, 2020. 

 
2. M. Dorion-Souillé, J. Massie & V. Vézina. Histoire militaire et politique étrangère: Les 

fondements du néonationalisme canadien, Politique et Sociétés, 37, no. 3, 51- 75, 2018. 
 

3. A. Lecours & V. Vézina. The Politics of Nationalism and Status in Puerto Rico. 
Canadian Journal of Political Science, 50, no.4, 1083-1101, 2017. 

- Distinction: Long-listed for the John McMenemy Prize (best article published in the 
Canadian Journal of Political Science) 

 
4. V. Vézina. Puerto Rico: the Quest for a 'National' Anthem. Shima: The International 

Journal of Research into Island Cultures, 11, no. 2, 220-231, 2017. 
 

5. V. Vézina. The Role of the Political System in Shaping Island Nationalism: a 
Comparative Examination of Puerto Rico and Newfoundland, Island Studies Journal, 
9, no. 1, 103-122, 2014. 

 
Book Chapters (peer reviewed) 

 
1. V. Vézina. When the "Other" Becomes a Proud Newfoundlander. In: The Democracy 

Cookbook : Recipes to Renew Governance in Newfoundland and Labrador, ed. by A. 
Marland & L. Moore, St. John’s, NL : ISER Books, 208-211, 2017. 

 
2. V. Vézina. Occuper le territoire dans l'étude des nationalismes. Réflexions sur le 

nationalisme insulaire. In: Actes du colloque étudiant du Centre Paulo-Freire, 1, 1-26, 
2015. 

133



Vézina, Valérie Curriculum Vitae 
 

3. V. Vézina & K. Basta. Nationalism in Newfoundland and Labrador. In: First Among 
Unequals: Politics and Public Policy in Newfoundland and Labrador, ed.  by A. Marland 
& M. Kerby, Montreal/Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press,  67-83, 2014. 

 
Feature Review – Book Review (peer reviewed) 

 

1. V. Vézina. Naomi Klein’s The Battle for Paradise: Puerto Rico takes on the disaster 
capitalists. Shima: The International Journal of Research into Island Cultures. 13(1), 
159-162, 2019. 

 

Book reviews 
1. V. Vézina. Book review of [Violence and Militants: From Ottoman Rebellions to Jihadist 

Organizations Baris Cayli, Montreal and Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press, 
2019, pp. 224.] Canadian Journal of Political Science, 53(1), 211-212, 2020. 
doi:10.1017/S0008423919001045 

 

2. V. Vézina. Compte rendu de [Les nations savent-elles encore rêver ? Les mythes 
nationaux à l’ère de la mondialisation, de Gérard Bouchard, Monréal, Boréal, 2019, 
438 p.] Politique et Sociétés, 39(3), 232–234, 2020. 

 
Conference Presentations 

 
1. V. Vézina. Uneasy Neighbours: Quebec-Newfoundland and Labrador's Relationship. 

Paper presentation given at the annual congress of the Canadian Political Science 
Association held in  Vancouver, British Columbia in June 2019. 

 
2. V. Vézina. Nationals but not Nationalists? The examination of nationalist demands in 

American Samoa and Puerto Rico. Paper presentation given at the international 
conference on island states  and island territories in Aruba in March 2019 

 
3. V. Vézina. Puerto Rico After Maria: Crisis, (Des)integration, and Identity. Paper 

presentation given at the annual meeting of the Atlantic Provinces Political Studies 
Association held in St.  John’s, Newfoundland in October 2018. 

 
4. V. Vézina. Puerto Rico and the Quest for a 'National' Anthem. Paper presentation given at 

the 13th International Small Island Cultures conference held in St. John’s from June 
15–19, 2017 at  Memorial University of Newfoundland. 

 
5. V. Vézina & A. Lecours. The Politics of Nationalism and Status in Puerto Rico. Paper 

presentation given at the annual meeting of the Canadian Political Science Association 
in Calgary (University  of Calgary) in June 2016. 

 
6. V. Vézina. Becoming the 51st state or remaining distinct? Paper presentation given at 

the International Political Association meeting (IPSA-AISP) in Montreal (Palais des 
Congrès de  Montréal) in July 2014. 

134



Vézina, Valérie Curriculum Vitae 
 

Radio/Television Interventions 
 

1. La Saskatchewan comme une île (March 2nd, 2020). Interview with Doris Labrie, host of 
“Pour faire un monde” at Radio-Canada Saskatchewan. See: https://ici.radio- 
canada.ca/premiere/emissions/pour-faire-un-monde/segments/entrevue/157221/ile- 
saskatchewan-conference-valerie-vezina?fbclid=IwAR3cL4VEBbQbUFTcKELJ4CxkF9- 
I9fQGFbQeVxpI9h7MD9F4AEZzKclcoWI 

 
2. Soirée  électorale Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador (May 16, 2019). I acted as a 

political analyst. 
See:https://www.facebook.com/radiocanada.info/videos/%C3%A9lections 
-terre-neuve-et-labrador-2019/291987015087065/ 

 
3. Churchill falls : Hydro-Québec n’a pas à renégocier le contrat, tranche  la 

Cour suprême (November 2, 2018). Interview for the Téléjournal- Acadie. 
See: https://ici.radio-canada.ca/tele/le-telejournal- 
acadie/site/segments/reportage/93423/churchillfalls 

 
4. Quel  sort  attend Porto  Rico?  (June  12,  2017) Analysis  on  the  5th 

plebiscite in Puerto Rico during the Morning Show in Quebec. See: 
http://ici.radio-canada.ca/premiere/emissions/premiere- 
heure/segments/entrevue/27133/porto-rico-referendum-vezina 

 
5. Le nationalisme terre-neuvien (May 12, 2016). Interview with Michel 

Doucet from the radio show entitled Format Libre on Radio-Canada- 
Moncton. See: http://ici.radio-canada.ca/emissions/format_libre/2015- 
2016/archives.asp?date=2016-05-12 

 
 

Professional Associations 
 

- Member, International Political Science Association 
 

- Member, Canadian Political Science Association 
 

- Member, Société Québécoise de science politique 
 

- Member, Canadian Sociological Association 

135

http://www.facebook.com/radiocanada.info/videos/%C3%A9lections
http://ici.radio-canada.ca/premiere/emissions/premiere-
http://ici.radio-canada.ca/emissions/format_libre/2015-


Vézina, Valérie Curriculum Vitae 
 
 
 

References 
 

Academic Referees 
 

Alain-G. Gagnon (UQAM): gagnon.alain@uqam.ca 

André Lecours (Ottawa): andre.lecours@uottawa.ca 

Jean-Guy Prévost (UQAM): prevost.jeanguy@uqam.ca 

 
Teaching Referees 

 
Gregory Millard (KPU): greg.millard@kpu.ca 

Luke Ashworth (Memorial): lashworth@mun.ca 

Russell Williams (Memorial): russellw@mun.ca 

136

mailto:gagnon.alain@uqam.ca
mailto:andre.lecours@uottawa.ca
mailto:prevost.jeanguy@uqam.ca
mailto:greg.millard@kpu.ca
mailto:lashworth@mun.ca
mailto:russellw@mun.ca


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FACULTY OF ARTS 

 

POLITICAL SCIENCE PROGRAM REVIEW 

 

SELF-STUDY REPORT 

 

JUNE 28, 2021 

JANUARY 14, 2022 

 

Program Review Team Members: 

Francis Abiew 

Conrad King 

Ross Michael Pink 

Shinder Purewal 

Valerie Vezina 

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  1 

 

Table of Contents 

 Program Overview ........................................................................................... 5 

Brief History of the Program ........................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Brief History of the Program .......................................................................................... 5 

External Accreditation .................................................................................................... 6 

Scope of the Review ....................................................................................................... 7 

 Program Currency and Connections ............................................................. 9 

Competitive Context ....................................................................................................... 9 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board ............................................................... 9 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector ............................................................ 9 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units ............................................... 14 

Program’s Articulation .................................................................................................. 15 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach ............................................ 16 

Student Demand for the Program .................................................................................. 16 

Summary and Recommendations .................................................................................. 17 

 Quality of Curriculum Design ...................................................................... 21 

Assessment of the Curriculum ...................................................................................... 21 

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum ..................................................................... 26 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum ..................................................................... 27 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes ......................................................... 29 

Summary and Recommendations .................................................................................. 30 

 Quality of Instructional Design .................................................................... 34 

Delivery Modes ............................................................................................................. 34 

Assessment Methods ..................................................................................................... 38 

Student Experience........................................................................................................ 39 

Faculty Experience ........................................................................................................ 43 

Summary and Recommendations .................................................................................. 46 

References ..................................................................................................................... 49 

Chapter 5. Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities .............................................. 50 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities .......................................... 50 

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ........................ 50 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ........................ 50 

Summary and Recommendations .................................................................................. 52 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  2 

 

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Recommendations ............................................................. 53 

Summary of Conclusions .............................................................................................. 53 

Chapter 7. Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean ................................................... 58 

Program Overview ........................................................................................................ 58 

Appendices for Self-Study Report ................................................................................... 60 

 Program Overview ................................................................................................ 5 

Brief History of the Program ....................................................................................................... 5 

Scope of the Review .................................................................................................................... 6 

 Program Currency and Connections ..................................................................... 9 

Competitive Context ................................................................................................................... 9 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board ............................................................................ 9 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector......................................................................... 9 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units ........................................................... 14 

Program’s Articulation .............................................................................................................. 15 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach ........................................................ 16 

Student Demand for the Program .............................................................................................. 16 

Summary and Recommendations .............................................................................................. 17 

Summary ................................................................................................................................... 17 

 Quality of Curriculum Design .............................................................................. 21 

Assessment of the Curriculum .................................................................................................. 21 

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum ................................................................................. 26 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum .................................................................................. 27 

Career/Further Education Preparedness .................................................................................... 29 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes ..................................................................... 29 

Summary and Recommendations .............................................................................................. 30 

 Quality of Instructional Design ............................................................................. 34 

Delivery Modes ......................................................................................................................... 34 

Student Experience .................................................................................................................... 39 

Faculty Experience .................................................................................................................... 43 

Summary and Recommendations .............................................................................................. 46 

References ................................................................................................................................. 49 

Chapter 5. Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities ........................................................ 50 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities ...................................................... 50 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  3 

 

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ..................................... 50 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ..................................... 50 

Summary and Recommendations .............................................................................................. 52 

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Recommendations ..................................................................... 53 

Summary of Conclusions .......................................................................................................... 53 

Chapter 7. Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean ............................................................ 58 

Program Overview .................................................................................................................... 58 

Appendices for Self-Study Report .......................................................................................... 60 

 

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  4 

 

Notice to the Reader 

 

The Political Science Department Self Study Report is a document of reflection, analysis, and 

action. It is designed to set forth a vision that is in the best interests of students, Faculty, 

Administration and the larger KPU community. Some elements of the Report contain 

confidential information thus discretion is requested of the reader in sharing those sections. 

We greatly appreciate all those who donated their time and expertise in the completion of the 

Reportreport and welcome all helpful and forward lookingconstructive feedback.  

 

 

Territorial Acknowledgement 

 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU) takes its name from the Kwantlen First Nation. 

KPU is situated in a region south of the Fraser River which overlaps with the unceded 

traditional and ancestral lands of the Kwantlen, Musqueam, Katzie, Semiahmoo, 

Tsawwassen, Qayqayt and Kwikwetlem peoples. 

 

 

 

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  5 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Program Overview 

Brief History of the Program 

Program Description 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University is relatively new on the higher education front in Canada. 

In 1981, Kwantlen College was formed after separating from Douglas College. The 

Political Science curriculum was offered shortly thereafter. In 1995, Kwantlen University 

College became a degree granting institution. In 2008, the University received Provincial 

Government approval to become Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU). Recognized as 

a teaching focused institution, KPU has five campuses,: Surrey Main Campus, Richmond, 

Langley, Cloverdale and Civic Plaza in Surrey. Political Science was originally co-housed 

with History until the late 1990’s. It offered a Minor in 2006 and a Major from 2013 

onwards. The total student enrolment at KPU in 2021 is 22,000. Political Science courses 

are taught at the campuses in Surrey, Richmond, and Langley. KPU has a comparative 

advantage in higher education in 2 distinct areas: smalloffers smaller class sizes, capped at 

35 for most classes and a high percentagehosts a large number of working students. 

Numerous studies have highlighted and documented the fact that smallSmaller class sizes 

foster higher levels of studentare a helpful unique selling point (USP) for KPU.  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  6 

 

“When classes are reduced, students tend to learn more (at least by a modest amount), as 

measured by standardized test results, and their engagement, satisfaction and successful  in 

learning outcomes. is enhanced, as demonstrated by classroom behavior, attitude, and 

effort; some studies suggest that students expend more academic effort and initiate more of 

their own learning activities in smaller classes.” (Bascia, N. and E. Fredua-Kwarteng 

(2008).  “Reducing Class Size:  Promises and Perils.”  Education Canada 48(4):  30-33.) 

The Student Survey noted that 52% of students valued the smaller class size model at KPU. 

In addition, KPU has a higher percentage of working students compared to other universities. 

The National Center for Education Statistics, the Journal of College Student Retention, and 

findings within the Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice have noted research 

that concludes that students benefit from working part-time. 

The B.A. Major in Political Science offers the chance to explore the political world 

through an innovative suite of offerings that combines a solid foundation in scholarship 

with 'hands-on' learning opportunities in debate, diplomacy, and policy. The Bachelor of 

Arts Major in Political Science is designed with a special focus on emerging power 

dynamics at the national, trans-national, and global levels, and is therefore an ideal choice 

for those with a serious interest in engaging with the many dimensions of power in the 

modern world. Important course themes include, among others, Ideology and Politics, 

Canadian Government and Politics, Politics in the City, Introduction to Political Science, 

Comparing Countries Introduction to Comparative Politics, Introduction to International 

Relations, International Organization, Sustainability and Government, Law and Politics:, 

and The Charter of Rights and Freedoms. 

 

As a Political Science B.A. Major, you will begin your studies with a broad range of 

introductory courses that expose you to the key sub-fields within the discipline (Canadian 

and comparative politics, international relations, and political thought), before gradually 

transitioning to more specialized courses in the second- and third-year levels, and advanced-

level seminar work in the fourth year of study. You will also take at least one 'experiential' 

course instilling hands-on skills in debate, diplomacy, and policy, as well as one upper-level 

course on emerging trans-national sites of power. 

External Accreditation 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University follows the policies and guidelines set forth by the B.C. 

Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training. The Ministry granted University 

status to KPU and accordingly, exercises an important accreditation and monitoring role. 

The institution became a member of Universities Canada in 2011, and hence is DQAB 

exempt. 

https://nces.ed.gov/pubs94/94311.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/238448990_Balancing_work_and_academics_in_college_Why_do_students_working_10_to_19_hours_per_week_excel
http://naspa.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.2202/1949-6605.2011?needAccess=true&amp;journalCode=uarp19#.WdPvYWtSxhE


 

Political Science Self-Study Report  7 

 

Scope of the Review 

This review looks at Program Currency and Connections, Quality of Curriculum Design, 

Quality of Instructional Design and Quality of Services Resources and Facilities. The KPU 

Dean of Arts, Associate Deans, Office of Planning & Accountability and many colleagues 

have been instrumental in offering the Political Science Faculty guidance and support in the 

completion of the Program Review Self-Study Report. Major goals in the coming years are 

to maintain program integrity, increase enrolment, meet successful learning outcomes for 

students, increase experiential and co-op opportunities for students, and eventually 

participate and guide the formation and establishment within the next 10 years of a Graduate 

Program in Political Science leading to an M.A. in Political Science at Kwantlen Polytechnic 

University.  

Consultations with Faculty, Dean/Associate Deans, Planning and Previous Program Review 

The last Program Review was completed in 2011. The important recommendations emerging 

from the 2011 Review included establishing a Major in Political Science which was 

achieved, and secondly, to expand Program qualitycourses and opportunities. Program 

recognition in the community and abroad which is developingexpanding slowly but steadily. 

One major A goal of the 2011 Review was to establish further courses. This was achieved: 

for example, POLI 3131 The Politics of Continental Integration, launched in 2014 and POLI 

3500 Public Debates in Politics, launched in 2013. Both courses have demonstrated robust 

enrolment.  

For the current Program review Faculty and the Chair have consulted with the Dean, the 

Associate Dean, Colleagues in other departments, the Office of Institutional Analysis and 

informally with stakeholders. Program specific priorities that will emerge from the 2021 

Program Review include:  

1) Increasing enrolment; 

2) Integrating indigenous issues into academic content and sustainability awareness into 

political science courses as these twin goals align with Vision 2023;. 

3) To continue to pursue the goal stated in the 2011 Review of creating a Department Pod 

and perhaps, co-sharing with another Department such as History.  In the 2015 Program 

Review update report, it was noted that “[t]here was agreement among Faculty and the 

External Review Team that POLI's existing departmental space is inadequate.” As noted in 

the Self-Study Report, physical space is crucial for the creation of an enriched program 

culture for students and faculty, and in serving as a magnet to attract and retain students. ;We 

urgently recommend the allocation of a departmental 'pod' (either unique to POLI or shared 

with another small department such as Geography), or other neighboring individual offices 

for permanent POLI Faculty along with a larger shared space for departmental/Student 

gatherings and perhaps some desks for contract Faculty.” 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  8 

 

4) To initiate consultations regarding two prospective program development possibilities: a) 

an Honors program or b) a Post-Baccalaureate Certificate in Sustainability and Climate 

Change. In regard to the Honors program, there is considerable student interest indicated in 

the survey results and we see the models that have been developed in Journalism and 

Philosophy as viable for the size of our department. In regard to the Post-Bac, Vision 2023 

establishes KPU’s formal commitment to increasing education and awareness on the vital 

issue of sustainability. At KPU more broadly, and in Canada generally there is increasing 

interest in the confluence of governance, human rights, law, business, with environmental 

dimensions of sustainability. Moreover, sustainability is rapidly becoming a core area of 

employment in Government, the Private Sector, NGO communities, Education and Research 

in which KPU students can achieve viable and rewarding employment. In the 2015 Program 

Review update report, it was noted that “[t]here was agreement among Faculty and the 

External Review Team that POLI's existing departmental space is inadequate.” As noted in 

the Self-Study Report, physical space is crucial for the creation of an enriched program 

culture for students and faculty, and in serving as a magnet to attract and retain students. We 

urgently recommend the allocation of a departmental 'pod' (either unique to POLI, or shared 

with another small department such as Geography), or other neighboring individual offices 

for permanent POLI Faculty along with a larger shared space for departmental/Student 

gatherings and perhaps some desks for contract Faculty.” 

5) Increase opportunities for students to participate in experiential learning and co-op 

opportunities. The Political Science Department has achieved progress in supporting student 

success. The department adheres to a philosophy of continuous improvement that is 

consistent with the ‘student centered’ approach that both the Political Science Department 

and Faculty embrace. Notable findings from the Student Survey (Appendix A) will drive 

initiatives and progress over the next ten years.  

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  9 

 

 Program Currency and Connections 

Competitive Context 

The Political Science Department at KPU faces competition from more established 

programs in the Lower Mainland such as the University of British Columbia (UBC) and 

Simon Fraser University (SFU). Strong benefits of the UBC and SFU programs are that 

those students completing a BA Major in Political Science may proceed to complete a 

Masters in Political Science or a Ph.D. More established Political Science programs with 

Graduate components generate more contacts and wider networking opportunities for 

students. The absence of a Masters in Political Science Program or a Graduate Certificate 

in Sustainability and Climate Change Studies at KPU presents a challenge for both student 

enrolment and student retention. Climate change and sustainability are rapidly drawing 

student interest and millions of new jobs are being created that relate to these fields. A 

March 2020 study by Cambridge Global Perspectives (2020) noted that 39% of U.S. 

students believe that climate change is the most important global issue. A 2021 survey by 

Leger 360 noted that a majority of Canadians over the age of 18 are concerned about the 

environment.  

Additional Political Science programs are offered at Capilano University, Langara College, 

Douglas College, Trinity Western University, and the University of the Fraser Valley. 

Within the Fraser Valley region, the prime enrolment competition comes from Simon 

Fraser University with a Surrey campus, University of the Fraser Valley and Trinity 

Western University. The KPU Political Science Department will substantially benefit from 

increasing a public profile in the community through community events, advertising, and 

developing high quality courses and programs that attract students. KPU must build upon 

two substantial comparative advantages 1) being a University that is friendly to working 

students, and 2) through the successful small class size model. Studies suggestAs 

previously noted, there is study-based evidence that smaller class sizes facilitate higher 

learning outcomes for students. 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board  

The Political Science Department is in the process of establishing ana Program Advisory 

BoardCommittee that will be completed in 2022.  

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector  

The Political Science Department continues to proactively network with the KPU alumni 

community. A promotion was established with the KPU Marketing Department to highlight 

alumni success and profile successful alumni on KPU and Political Science websites. There 

are 4 immediate and tangible benefits from engaging with alumni. 

 

KPU Political Science Alumni  

 

1) Alumni are a source of networking and positive feedback in the general community for 

KPU; 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  10 

 

2) Alumni often contribute and ‘give back’ to the KPU Community in direct and indirect 

ways; 3) Alumni often return to KPU to give talks and guest lectures to students and guests. 

For example, at the upcoming 2022 Climate Night, alumni who are successful in the 

environmental field have agreed to speak at the public event;  

4) Alumni often support and publicize promote KPU in the community, for example a former 

Political Science Student who is a main news reporter with CITY TV Vancouver interviewed 

the Chair of the Political Science Department thus generating positive news coverage for 

KPU. 

  

Community Networking  

 

The Political Science Department also networks with Federal, Provincial and Municipal 

Politicians to generate awareness of the Program and to open dialogue for Student co-ops 

and additional learning opportunities. Moreover, alumni who are engaged in politics, 

academia, government, NGO, IGO, Law, and business-related careers are generally 

supportive of KPU Political Science students and opening up opportunities and networking 

for them. Major findingsSupplementary information from the Alumni Survey (Appendix B) 

include: 

In 2020 the Political Science Department launched POLI 2140, Comparative Politics of 

Asia. The Course achieved 90% enrolment with positive Student feedback. Accordingly, 

POLI 2140 will be offered annually. It is the first time the Political Science Department has 

offered a Southeast Asia Politics Course. Given that Canada is a Pacific Rim Country, a 

member of APEC, and British Columbia culture is enriched with vibrant Asian immigrant 

communities, it is timely and prudent to increase KPU Political Science Courses on Asian 

Politics and Government. Moreover, the Student Survey noted that 26% of students were 

very satisfied with Asian course offerings at KPU and 30% were somewhat satisfied. These 

numbers have room for improvement, but have nonetheless improved considerably in 

reference to the table below.  

 

Selected Program Satisfaction Indicators 

 

Selected Program 

Satisfaction Indicators 

(sourceSource: Alumni 

Survey) 

Very satisfied (% of 

students) 

Somewhat satisfied (% of 

students) 

Development of 

intercultural competencies 

4231 42 

Program led to 

development of written 

skills 

56 36 

Program led to 

development of oral skills 

52 40 

Program led to 

development of critical 

thinking 

48 44 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  11 

 

Time invested in program 

was well spent 

44 40 

Developed knowledge of 

south eastsoutheast Asia 

and south Asia 

19 27 

Overall ranking of the 

political science program, 

42 38 

 

The Political Science Department is growing and gaining more awareness in the larger 

community. A goal of the Program Overview is to increase alumni presence in KPU events 

and course guest lectures. As noted, alumni are participating in the upcoming Climate Night 

in 2022. A former student and Green Party candidate was also a guest speaker in a POLI 

2100 Class. Other alumni have also agreed to visit and speak to KPU Political Science 

students. As student post graduate career planning is always a high priority, a goal is to have 

alumni who have successfully launched careers such as law, journalism and public service 

to come and speak to KPU Political Science students about specific and rewarding career 

pathways.  

  

Many alumni recommended an increase in hands-on learning. This view is shared by the 

Facultyfaculty and steps have been taken to increase hands-on learning with co-ops, 

volunteer postings and other related knowledge opportunities.  

 

The Political Science Department relies upon five strategies for effectively reaching external 

groups: 

1. An updated and articulate webpage featuring Coursescourses, Program Information, 

and Faculty Profiles.  

2. Active involvement in community events, conferences, and guest speaking roles. 

3. Active participation in all forms of media promotion such as participating in 

interviews. These were achieved between 2018-2021 with CBC, Vancouver Sun, 

CITY TV Vancouver, CKNW Simi Sara Radio Program and Red FM. In addition, 

Political Science Faculty are regular contributors and frequently featured in the 

popular and well-read KPU Runner Newspaper.  

4. The updating of information and events and collaboration with the KPU marketing 

team.  

5. Active promotion of the KPU Political Science Department’s considerable attributes 

to High School students, University students, the KPU TALK program, and the 

general public through Guest Speaking and participation at the annual KPU Open 

House.  

 

The KPU TALK Program is a popular venue for Faculty to present Seminarsseminars on a 

wide range of issues to audiences of mature learners who pay to attend the speaker series 

which generally consists of 25 various lectures over the year. The Seminarsseminars are 

hosted at the KPU Surrey and Richmond campuses.  

 

At the 2019 KPU Open House the Political Science Department Chair presented a 

Seminarseminar on Networking for Success and Political Science Careers that was attended 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  12 

 

by over 45 students and prospective students. This educational event was followed up with 

a second Presentationpresentation to a Groupgroup hosted by the Future Students Office at 

KPU.  

 

The Student Survey (Appendix A) highlighted important and fascinating points that will be 

pursued by the Political Science Department Faculty. First, 59% of students received 

information about the Political Science Program from the website thus emphasizing the 

tremendous value of the Political Science website. Second, 17% of students found that a visit 

to KPU was useful and demonstrates the power of first point of contact and creating a 

welcoming environment for prospective and new students. Third, 50% of students noted that 

a high school visit by a KPU Faculty or Staff member was influential. The KPU Student 

Climate Change Ambassador Program in December 2019 visited Princess Margaret 

Secondary School to give 3 Climate Change Talks with a collective audience of 100 High 

School students. Important contacts were also established with Teachers. This valuable 

Program and related initiatives will be expanded in from 2022 and onwards. Fourth, students 

noted that information from a High School counsellor was 100% essentialhelpful in their 

decision to attend KPU. Thus, the Political Science Department and Faculty will continue 

contacts with High School Teachers and Counsellors through events, emails, and guest 

speaking. As Political Science is relatively new in the High School curriculum, 2 KPU 

Political Science Faculty Members have agreed to launch a Guest Speaking Tour of Greater 

Vancouver High Schools starting in Surrey to promote KPU and the Political Science 

Program.   

 

In November 2019 the Political Science Department established the KPU Student Climate 

Change Ambassador Program. The SCCA program (SCCAP), with a goal is to give Climate 

Change Presentations at Universities, High Schools, Community Centers, Political Events 

and other Public forums to highlight important sustainability and human rights themethemes 

on climate change which is the most significant development issue in the 21st century. In 

November 2019, 25 students signed up to participate. The Student Climate Change 

Ambassadors, who are well versed in climate change issues, give PowerPoint talks along 

with Dr. Ross Michael Pink, Chair of the Political Science Department. The students also 

share climate change scenarios from countries where they were born or have lived. In 

December 2019, the students delivered three talks at Princess Margaret Secondary School in 

Surrey. A total of 100 high school students attended the SCCA Presentations. An article on 

these events was later published in the KPU Runner newspaper. The program was set to 

deliver a series of talks in 2020 and will be rescheduled when the current Covid-19 pandemic 

situation improves, and public meetings are safe to proceed.  

 

In March 2020 the Political Science Department scheduled a Climate Night at KPU Surrey 

with several prominent speakers arranged including two Federal MPs, The SCCA program 

speakers, NGO leaders and a large gathering of guests and students. Climate Night will be 

rescheduled in 2022.  

 

In October 2019, United Nations Independent Expert IK Ero, who protects and advocates 

worldwide for people with albinism, delivered a human rights talk at a KPU Political Science 

Classclass in Richmond at the invitation of Dr. Ross Michael Pink. Ms. Ero is scheduled to 

give another Human Rights Talk at the KPU Surrey campus in the Fall of 2021, or Spring 

2022 to a large gathering when the health climate improves, and public gatherings return.  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  13 

 

 

In 2019, Ms. Ero opened her Officeoffice to give two KPU students an extraordinary 

opportunity to serve as volunteer interns conducting research on important human rights 

issues related to her United Nations activity protecting persons with albinism. Each student 

who has career goals in International Law spent one semester conducting research with IK 

Ero. The students also received course credit by successfully completing a KPU Guided 

Study course. 

 

In 2019, the Political Science Department arranged with five area Members of Parliament to 

host KPU Political Science students for volunteer practicums for one semester. Given that 

80% of positions are never advertised and networking is vital for career opportunities and 

success, this option will tremendously benefit KPU students who are studying Political 

Science. This initiative will be activated when health conditions improve and expanded to 

include additional sector sponsors such as municipal governments, Businesses and NGOs.  

 

In 2019, the Political Science Department hosted a Federal Candidate Debate at the KPU 

Surrey Campus for candidates in the riding. In attendance were Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal, MP for 

Surrey Newton along with the Conservative and NDP Candidates for Office. The Political 

debate was a popular community event with an audience of 150 attending that included a 

lively audience-candidate question and answer session where meaningful ideas were 

exchanged. These events are important public formsforums for KPU students to see politics 

in action and to meet political influencers. The events also serve to highlight an important 

public education role for KPU in the community.   

 

In 2018-2019-2018 The the Political Science Department delivered two ‘success networking 

and career focus’ Presentations for  KPU students and Political Science students and students 

from other departments in collaboration with the Future Students Office, (FSO). The events 

were well attended by students and feedback was positive. Students, particularly in Political 

Science, are keen to learn about career opportunities in the areas in which they are majoring. 

Students in Political Science are learning about multiple and successful career paths that 

their studies can lead to. Within the Political Science Department, among Faculty, there is a 

growing awareness among Faculty of the need for sustained progress in three vital areas: 

1) the importance of creating student co-op, volunteer, and placement opportunities, 

2) increasing networking avenues, 

3) providing current and useful information to Political Science Majors on a range of 

successful career paths that are available with a Political Science degree.   

 

A sampling of these career opportunities with a degree in Political Science includes:  

1. Lawyer. Political Science is the most common undergraduate degree for Law School. 

Law provides a mix of important career opportunities in the legal profession, 

teaching, business, government and public service.  

2. Professors/ Teachers. Political Science leads to rewarding opportunities for teaching 

in Universities, Colleges, High Schools.  

3. Policy Analyst in a wide range of government, business, NGO, and IGO settings. 

The skills for effective policy analysis of complex and intersecting issues are well 

honed through numerous political science courses.   

4. Chief of Staff, Executive Assistant, Legislative Assistant   



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  14 

 

Elected Officials at all levels require capable staff versed in political science and related 

disciplines to manage the comprehensive duties associated with effectively running an 

Office and exercising accountability to the public.  

2.5.Business Managers. Business is a common area for Political Science graduates who 

have a wide variety of skills.  

3.6.Civil Servant Federal, Provincial, Municipal Government  
4.7.Journalists and Media Professionals  
5.8.NGO Directors and Managers  
6.9.Politicians. Political Science graduates may pursue public service and are often quite 

successful. 

7.10. Lobbyists, Advocates and Public Relations Professionals .  

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units 

The Political Science Department Faculty maintains a robust schedule of interaction with 

Department Colleagues, Faculty Colleagues from other Departments, Deans, Associate 

Deans, Administration and KPU Staff. The Political Science Department Chair attends 

monthly Chair Meetings, Bi-monthly meetings with the Associate Dean and additional 

meetings with Administration and Department colleagues on a wide range of issues. Faculty 

attend regular Department meetings. Faculty serve on a range of committees including 

Faculty Council, Research and Scholarship, Accreditation and Curriculum. 

 

The Faculty Survey (see Appendix C) also highlighted a commitment to increasing the 

content of Asian Politics and noted that the Facultyfaculty has a high level of collegiality.  

 

Program Connections 

 

Program Connections 

(Source: Faculty Survey) 

Very satisfied (% of 

Faculty) 

Somewhat satisfied (% of 

Faculty) 

Ability to present ideas/ 

research 

29 57 

Preparation of Students for 

a career 

33 33 

Preparation of Students for 

further education studies 

20 60 

Political Science Program: 

Overall Ranking 

17 67 

Experiential Learning for 

Students 

0 33 

 

The four 1100 courses offered by Political Science play a service role in constituting elective 

choices for a range of other areas of study both within and outside of the Faculty of Arts. 

Within Arts, these include Criminology, Philosophy, History – outside of Arts, these include 

Business, Economics and Agriculture. RoughlyData from Department and Institutional 
Analysis indicate that roughly, 75% of Students who take introductory level courses are not 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  15 

 

intended nor declared into Political Science – although there is some year over year 

variability here.  

 

Program Connections 

(source: Faculty Survey) 

Very satisfied (% of 

Faculty) 

Somewhat satisfied (% of 

Faculty) 

Ability to present ideas/ 

research 

29 57 

Preparation of Students for 

a career 

33 33 

Preparation of Students for 

further education studies 

20 60 

Political Science Program: 

Overall Ranking 

17 67 

Experiential Learning for 

Students 

--- 33 

 

Faculty participate in cross department events. For example, guest lectures have been given 

in the Geography department and cross-promotion and networking has been consistent with 

Policy Studies. In addition, the Department has given Student Success Networking Seminars 

with the FSO. Two Political Science Faculty members have taught in the successful and 

innovative ARTS 1100 Program and the Chair served on the hiring advisory committee for 

ARTS 1100. Faculty regularly participate in the ARTS Speaker Series and the popular KPU 

TALK Lecture Program.  

 

In sum, the KPU Political Science department is relatively small and new on the Greater 

Vancouver academic horizon, yet enrolment is increasing and connections within KPU and 

in the wider community are steadily expanding. The Political Science Faculty, as noted, 

actively pursues networking within the KPU community, academic departments, and 

maintains a robust record of media interviews, research, and publications.  

Program’s Articulation  

Articulation: Internal and External 

 

I. Relationships with Other Disciplines 

 
Transfer credit is assessed by the Deans Office and Political Science Chair. Determination 

is made to fit the transfer credit closely to existing Courses in the Program. Where transfer 

credit is warranted but a direct course is not found, then as  an unassigned Arts credit is 

granted.  

 

Connections to other Departments  

 

The Political Science Department at KPU has good academic and networking connections 

to the Policy Studies, Geography and Journalism Departments. A Political Science Faculty 

representative has volunteered on the Policy Studies steering committee for several years. 

Linkages are being developed with the History Department and Journalism Program. In 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  16 

 

fact, Political Science Faculty have granted several interviews to Journalism students 

pursuing news stories.  

 

Numerous Political Science courses are requirements or on the recommended elective list 

for the Policy Studies B.A. In addition, POLI courses are integral to Asian Studies and to 

the Philosophy, Politics, and Economics concentrations within the B.A. General Studies, as 

well as being electives for Journalism. There is a goal to increase synergy with Business 

Faculty, with particular emphasis on connections between Politics, Business and 

Environmental Policy.  

 

II. Relationships with Other Universities 

 

The KPU Political Science Department has good and active relations with other University 

Departments. The Department successfully hosted, with Dr. Millard and Dr. Pink serving 

as Co-Chairs, the BC Political Science Association annual conference in 2014 that was 

hosted at KPU Richmond. Delegates from North America and Europe attended.  

 

In addition, the Department attends the annual provincial Articulation meetings where 

matters of mutual academic interest are discussed., and courses are articulated. The 

Department also promotes and facilitates PLA Courses. In the last three years, KPU 

Faculty have delivered guest Lectures in Political Science classes at the UBC. and Simon 

Fraser University.   

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach 

The KPU Political Science Department Faculty has identified community awareness, 

stronger KPU promotion, increasing the number and scope of Political events and more 

robust networking as priorities. In 2020-2021, the Political Science Department updated and 

modernized its website. Moreover, the Department is now more visible on several media 

platforms (e.g.., Instagram) including those moreoften  frequented by students which is a 

key target audience. Progress on many community outreach and marketing fronts is ongoing. 

Moreover, the Alumni Survey (Appendix B) emphasized the need to promote more 

networking and also suggested a quarterly newsletter. A Political Science Newsletter is one 

of the recommendations highlighted in the Program Review 2021. TheAs noted earlier, the 

Political Science Department is increasingly active in the community through hosting events 

such as, the 2019 Federal Election Candidate Debate at KPU Surrey, and UN Independent 

Expert IK Ero in 2019; participating in media interviews on CBC 2019, CITY TV 2021; 

and, the publication of an article in the mainstream media on the topic ‘Climate Change is 

threatening Water Security’, Vancouver Sun, Saturday March 21, 2020. 

Student Demand for the Program 

Student enrolment in Political Science is steadily growing despite the challenges of the 

Covid-19 pandemic in 2020-21. In terms of demand, there has been a 54% increase in FTE 

headcount over a five-year interval (Appendix E). There has also been proportional growth 

in the number of sections offered by the department. It is notable that international students 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  17 

 

are increasingly drawn to political science courses, with a 15% jump over five years. In terms 

of gender, there has been a 13% growth in female students taking courses.  

 

It is important to emphasize that Political Science is the number onea leading undergraduate 

degree for law school students and represents a prominent course foundation for many 

Faculties such as Asian Studies, Business, History, Economics and Environmental Studies. 

Student Survey data revealed that 34% of students chose KPU Political Science Studies to 

advance post-graduate goals.   

“Approximately 81 percent of the 12,693 law school applicants who majored in political 

science were admitted. The average LSAT score for this major was 153.4. Political science 

is overwhelmingly the most popular major for pre-law students. In fact, 18 percent of law 

school applicants between 2016 and 2017 majored in this area of study.” 

( www. Collegeconsensus.com ) 

Summary and Recommendations 

Summary 

The Political Science Program is evolving and expanding each year. While Political Science 

addresses many vital areas of society, it is not often a first choice for Arts students. 

Moreover, one of the challenges for the Program is to educate students and prospective 

students about the multiple career paths that are enhanced through the study of Political 

Science. An on-going misconception is that people study political science primarily to seek 

political office. In fact, rewarding careers, as previously noted, in law, teaching, journalism, 

business, government and other paths are enhanced with a Political Science degree. The 

Program is also seeking to maintain current currency through courses that reflect realities of 

today, emerging trends and growing areas of public and academic interest such as water 

rights, sustainability and climate change. The proceeding recommendations reflect careful 

consideration by Program colleagues through wide ranging inter-department consultations 

and attention to program improvement needs.  

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  18 

 

Program Review 2021  

 

1) Increasing enrolment and expanding Political Science Department news and 

social media platforms for students and prospective students. In the Student 

Survey it was noted that 59% of students attained obtained their information about 

KPU and the Political Science Department through the Department website. In 

addition, 41% of student respondents found the Political Science website ‘very 

useful’ and 29% described it as ‘essential’. Rationale: Increasingly students and the 

public access social media for information and decision making. The Program must 

improve and stay current with respect to social media and is taking steps to achieve 

this goal. 

2) Initiate consultations with regard to: 1) an Honors program, or 2) a Post-

Baccalaureate Certificate in Sustainability and Climate Change. In regard 

toRegarding the Honors program, there is considerable student interest indicated in 

the survey results and we see the models that have been developed in Journalism and 

Philosophy as viable for the size of our departments. In regard toRegarding the 

interest and need for the post-bacbaccalaureate, according to the Environics Institute, 

63% of Canadians believe that climate change is anthropogenic meaning caused by 

human activity. A 2020 study by the Canadian Nuclear Association (CNA) and 

conducted by Abacus Data observed that 88% of Canadians reported being adversely 

impacted by climate change. The growth of environmental awareness particularly 

among young Canadians and students and the concomitant emergence of the Green 

Party as well as environmental law and policy in Canada augeraugur well for a 

program at KPU that maximizes learning and societal opportunities about Climate 

Change and the Environment. The Political Science Department offers POLI 2100 

an Environment and Politics Course which is consistently one of the best enrolled 

courses in the Department and draws upon a wide range of students from other 

Departments. The Political Science Department has a tremendous opportunity to 

develop a comparative advantage in Environmental and Climate Change education. 

Offering a Post Graduate Certificate in Sustainability and Climate Change will 

elevate this goal. advance this goal.  Rationale: Many programs have an honors 

program at KPU, and the Department’s view is that an honors program will enhance 

the program and perhaps increase the number of students that remain at KPU for 

3rd and 4th year instead of transferring to other institutions.  

3) Subsuming further academic content about Indigenous awareness and 

sustainability awareness into Political Science Courses as these twin goals have 

been highlighted in the KPU education goals and vision. Rationale: Simply stated, 

this goal has been prioritized in the KPU Strategic Vision announced in 2019.  

4) To pursue the stated goal in the 2011 Review of creating a Department Pod 

and co-sharing with another Department, such as History. This is a goal that 

enjoys wide support from Faculty, the Arts Dean and Associate Deans.faculty, the 

Arts Dean and Associate Deans. Rationale: Smaller departments can benefit from 

the synergy of cooperating and collaborating with other small departments. A 

department related to Political Science such as History, Criminology or Asian 

Studies is preferred. Many students from these three named departments take 

courses in the Political Science department so it is a natural step to increase 

engagement.   

5) Increase opportunities for KPU students to participate in experiential learning 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  19 

 

and co-op. It is understood that in the post 2020 era the general landscape for 

secure careers is more competitive. Although the KPU Student Survey reported that 

36% are ‘Very Satisfied’ with experiential learning opportunities this is an area that 

needs improvement. There is a strong correlation between mentorship, experiential 

learning, and career success. Thus, innovative initiatives will be launched, in 

cooperation with a host of KPU, Business, Government, NGO, IGO, and 

Community Partners to build upon these opportunities for the substantial benefit of 

KPU students. Formalizing and significantly expanding Political Science Co-Op 

and volunteer opportunities in the Community for Political Science students would 

continue to be explored. For example, in January 2020 five area MPs offered to 

host KPU Political Science students for Volunteer and Co-Op opportunities. KPU 

Political Science students may also pursue ARTS 4800 – the practicum course – for 

more hands-on, applied educational experiences. Rationale:  Mentoring and 

volunteer opportunities enhance career success and learning. 71% of Fortune 500 

companies have mentoring programs. (https://www.guider-ai.com/blog/mentoring-

statistics-the-research-you-need-to-know)  It is understood that in the post 2021 

era the general landscape for secure careers is more competitive. 

6) Establishing an Alumni Advisory Committee. Rationale:  This will increase 

networking opportunities and provide added advice and guidance. This goal will 

help the Faculty and Department to draw upon a wider circle of academics and 

stakeholders to guide the program and enhance community connections.   

7) Instituting a Political Science Department ‘Great Debates’ series at KPU that 

engages a wide variety of Guest Speakers at KPU and  is open to the Public 

and KPU Community.  

8)7) ExpandingRationale:  To increase community engagement and innovating 

learning opportunities for students and the public. The KPU Political Science 

Department’s presence on media platforms in Canada and Internationally. 

This includes a more robust presence on Twitter, Facebook, Linkedin,Program 

has hosted many lively and other social media outlets which Students have 

identified as leading sourceswell attended Political Debates with Party 

candidates. One event in 2015 attracted 150 students and members of information. 

In addition, Faculty is cultivating excellent media relationships with CBC, CITY 

TV Vancouver, RED FM, the CJOR Simi Sara Radio Show, The Diplomat 

Publications, and major newspapers. For example, inpublic at the March- May 

2021 period, the Chair of the Political Science Department twice appeared on CITY 

TV Vancouver to give interviews. Surrey campus.  

9)8) Expanding the successful KPU Student Climate Change Ambassador 

Program with additional University, High School and Community 

Presentations  

10)9) Establishing ana Program Advisory Committee for Social Science 

Departments at KPU that would include Political Science, History, 

Geography, Policy Studies, Asian Studies, Criminology, Indigenous 

Community Justice, Philosophy, Journalism, and additional departments. The 

goal of the Advisory Social Sciences Committee is to develop department synergy, 

dialogue, and resources for the benefit of Student/Faculty Learning and 

Networking. In the Arts Faculty, students often take a variety of courses across 

diverse disciplines. The Advisory Committee would help to foster synergy and 

cooperative learning opportunities and may lead to an increase in declared Minors 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  20 

 

as well as collegiality among instructors and expanded networking opportunities 

for Arts students.  

11)10) Commencement of a monthly Political Science On-line Newsletter to 

share with students, the KPU Community, Alumni, Employer Communities, 

and the General Public     

12)11) Launching High School Political Science Information Sessions in 

Greater Vancouver starting with Surrey High Schools. In the Student Survey, it 

was noted by respondents that a visit by a KPU Faculty/Staff had a 50% 

favorability rating and that information about KPU from a High School Counsellor 

had a 100% favorability rating.  

13)12) KPU Faculty to engage in research and scholarship that creates 

opportunities for students. Both KPU President Alan Davis and Deepak Gupta, 

A.V.P. ofthe Associate Vice President for Research, Innovation and Graduate 

Studies have emphasized this pedagogical benefit. KPU Political Science Faculty 

are actively engaged in a diverse range of important and groundbreaking research, 

often with international dimensions. Our faculty have been successful in securing a 

wide range of grants including: Katalyst, COVID funding, 0.6 funds,PD Funds and 

the Faculty of Arts Excellence and Advancement Fund ( FAEAF fund.). Monies for 

research have a direct impact on the quality of education experienced by our 

students in so far as they acquire much needed insight into the knowledge 

production and dissemination process. These innovative initiatives will continue in 

2022 and onwards thanks to strong research ethos in the Faculty of Arts and 

encouragement from the Associate Deans and the Dean of the Faculty of Arts.  

Rationale: The Faculty can learn and contribute to students, scholarship, the 

KPU community and partner opportunities through active involvement in the 

excellent research and scholarship opportunities available at KPU 

 

 

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  21 

 

 

 

 Quality of Curriculum Design 

Assessment of the Curriculum 

Overview of the Program 

The political science program aims at studying power in all its forms. Since power is in a 

sense everywhere – from the workplace to the family, from communications media to the 

classroom, and beyond – practically everything can be grist for political analysis. Most often, 

however, political scientists focus upon power as exercised by governments and states, and 

in the international arena, between governments and states - as well as non-governmental 

organizations, businesses, social movements, and armed groups - that seek to influence all 

of these. Thus, Political Science explores domestic and international influences that shape 

the lives of citizens through government, democracy, laws, public policy, media, 

bureaucracy, civil society and economics. 

 

As in the last self-study, the program still revolves around two main areas: Canadian politics 

and International politics. Although extra courses have been added in political theory (see 

2015 report), the program still only offers a certainlimited variety of courses. This is due to 

both limitedthe number of Faculty (5 regular or NR2) and availability of financial resources 

by the University to expand the program. 

Program Competencies 

The only program competencies , as they are found in the surveys,  are listed below. 

However, as the Department reflects on them and proceeds to a program revision, they these 

program competencies might nownot reflect the needs of the new BA framework and the 

needs of graduates as the world shifts and changes. As course outlines are updated and 

reviewed, a more fulsome process to revisit and revise these should be undertaken. Right 

now, it should be noted that the current program competencies have some gaps (in soft skills, 

such as communication for example) and will need to be revisited. For now, and as found in 

the surveys, the program competencies are the following: 

1. Clearly and accurately present ideas and research 

2. Knowledge of political systems across different cultures 

3. Intercultural competencies 

4. Applied political skills including on election campaigns, NGOs, IGOs, lobbying and 

survey analysis 

5. Knowledge of Southeast Asia and South Asia political issues 

6. Knowledge of the political influence of NGOs, governmental, and intergovernmental 

sectors 

7. Knowledge of key historical events in political activism globally 

8. Knowledge of opportunities for civic engagement 

 

The program is centered around courses ranging from 1000-level to 4000-level as listed 

below: 

POLI 1110 Ideology and Politics 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  22 

 

POLI 1120 Canadian Government and Politics 

POLI 1123 Politics in the City 

POLI 1125 Introduction to Political Science 
POLI 1145 Comparing Countries: Introduction to Comparative Politics   
POLI 1150 Introduction to International Relations 
POLI 2100 Sustainability and Government 
POLI 2121 Law and Politics: The Charter of Rights and Freedoms   
POLI 2122 Political Leadership: The Prime Ministers of Canada 
POLI 2131 Politics of the European Union 
POLI 2140 Comparative Politics of Asia 
POLI 2150 States, Markets, Globalization: International Political Economy 
POLI 2155 War, Crime, and Violence: Contemporary Political Conflict 
POLI 2200 Classic Thinkers: History of Political Thought 
POLI 2235 British Columbia Government and Politics 
POLI 3100 American Government and Politics 
POLI 3122 Canadian Foreign Policy 
POLI 3125 Visions of Nationhood: Canada, Quebec, and First Nations 
POLI 3131 The Politics of Continental Integration   
POLI 3146 Government and Politics of India 
POLI 3147 Foreign Policies of the Major Powers 
POLI 3150 American Foreign Policy 
POLI 3160 International Organizations 
POLI 3170 International Peacekeeping 
POLI 3500 Public Debates in Politics 
POLI 4110 Applied Policy Seminar II 
POLI 4120 Indigenous Peoples in Canada: Politics and Policy 
POLI 4125 The Politics of Multiculturalism in Canada 
POLI 4145 Cross-Border Politics 
POLI 4190 Selected Topics in Canadian Politics 
POLI 4191 Selected Topics in International Politics 
POLI 4210 Democracy: Classic and Contemporary Debates 
POLI 4330 International Human Rights 
POLI 4335 The Politics of Radical Islamism   
POLI 4340 Public International Law 
POLI 4420 Issues in Public Policy and Administration 
POLI 4500 Model United Nations 

 
Students have the opportunity to develop competency 1 in various courses of the program 

as, based on the course outlines, some form of written research paper in courses from 1000-

level to 4000-level are required. In POLI 1145 (Comparing countries), students have the 

chance to learn more about various political systems and different cultures. This is also true 

of a number of courses in the program (POLI 1110 – Ideology and Politics, POLI 1125 - 

Introduction to Political Science, POLI 1150 – Introduction to International Relations, POLI 

2150 – States, Markets and Globalization, POLI 3125 – Visions of nationhood). Similarly, 

competency 3 is met through those courses (and many others). Competency 4 can be 

developed by taking courses at the upper-level, such as POLI 4100 – Applied Policy 

Seminar. As for competency 5, the program has the following courses on Southeast and 

South Asia: POLI 2140 – Comparative Politics of Asia and POLI 3146 – Government and 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  23 

 

Politics of India. However, those courses are not offered regularly. For example, in the past 

5 years, POLI 2140 was offered in 2019 and 2021, but prior to 2019, the last offering dates 

back to 2013! POLI 3146 was offered in 2015, 2017, 2020 and 2021, a bit more regularly, 

but if a program competency is on South Asia and the course offerings is not offered at least 

onceone a year, this could mean students will not meet this competency at all if they could 

not have registered (or did not have the prerequisites) in a year. A gap of 2 years and more 

between course offerings is detrimental to both students and Faculty (who end up teaching 

the same courses and not the diverse courses the program has to offer). As such, revaluation 

of the course offerings and their frequency will be necessary for the Department to undertake 

in a program revision. Competency 6 is developed in the course POLI 2100 - Sustainability 

and Government and POLI 2150 – States, Market and Globalization. But the program does 

not have a specific course on NGOs per se, thus, it is part of the learning outcomes of the 

above-mentioned courses. Competency 7 is met in a number of courses in the program (POLI 

1100, POLI 1125, etc.). Finally, competency 8 is certainly the greatest weakness as the 

program needs to promote more generally the Arts practicum. 

 

As the surveys from both alumni and faculty demonstrate, there is a lot of room for 

improvement for competencies 5 and 8 to be fully met. Various solutions are mentioned 

throughout this report, such as hiring a faculty member who specializes in the area, 

increasing the offering of courses in SEon South-East Asia, and promoting more generally 

(or integrating) the NGO certificate.  

 

It is worth noting the strengths of the program in competencies 1 and 2 which have had great 

satisfaction across the surveys. 

Essential Skills 

As defined by the Ministry, the essential skills of all programs are the following.: 

1. Written communication  

2. Oral communication  

3. Group collaboration  

4. Critical analysis 

5. Problem resolution 

6. Learn on your own  

7. Reading and comprehension 

 

Those skills can be met throughout the program in various courses. For example, in POLI 

3500 Public Debates in Politics, students not only critically analyze great debates of past 

politicians and public speakers, but have to debate various current issues. Similarly, in POLI 

1110, students have to debate ethical issues in the context of political ideologies. In all of 

those courses, there is an important reading aspect (of books, or articles) and oral/written 

communication components. Not only must the debate be presented to the class, but also in 

a written form. Group collaboration is also omnipresent in most of the courses offered by 

the program. POLI 4500 – Model United Nations is the best example of how the entire class 

actually has to collaborate in a simulation of the United Nations. 

 

The Student Survey revealed that for all skills a very high percentage of students were either 

very or somewhat satisfied. The percentage range from 70% (problem resolution) to 88% 

(for written communication) shows that the Ministry’s skills guidelines are more than met. 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  24 

 

Similarly, Faculty surveys all score over 60% (somewhat and very satisfied) on all skills 

levels, with learn on your own attaining the lowest percentage score (67%). Alumni surveys 

also revealed a high percentage of satisfaction with scores ranging from 5868% (group 

collaboration) to 92% (written and oral communication). For the discipline sector, all the 

skills identified by the Ministry are either essential or very important, and such high scores 

of satisfaction scores demonstrate not only that the program meets the Ministry’s essential 

skills, but is also adapted for work after graduation. 

Learning Outcomes 

Most courses (approx. 75% of them) within the program are either overdue or up for their 5-

year review in 2021 (Note: the Department wanted to complete this self-study and theirthe 

program review process before changing and adapting its course outlines)and its outlines 

will need to meet the new BA framework learning outcomes which are: 

1. Critical Thinking: Critically analyze one’s own and others’ thinking, and develop logical 

arguments supported by credible evidence.  

2. Communication: Communicate clearly and concisely considering audience and purpose, 

and demonstrate the ability to effectively use different mediums, formats and styles.  

3. Problem-Solving & Innovation: Develop multiple approaches to identify and address 

problems, implement strategies for action, and evaluate outcomes.  

4. Social Justice: Examine the impact of historical and ongoing injustices on contemporary 

societies and cultures; identify and explore ways of addressing systemic barriers to 

equality and inclusiveness.  

5. Intercultural Awareness: Engage and interact with diverse cultural traditions, knowledge 

systems, and perspectives; explore seeing the world through someone else's eyes, and 

articulate diverse perspectives.  

6. Information & Research Literacy: Articulate and investigate research questions using 

diverse methods; and draw on primary and secondary resources to make original 

analyses and observations.  

7. Numerical Literacy: Identify and interpret patterns of data, consider specific numerical 

values and statistics in the context of larger data sets, and interpret graphical 

representations of numerical information.  

8. Professionalism, Teamwork & Accountability: Manage time effectively and demonstrate 

awareness of one's skills, habits and abilities; collaborate with others respectfully; be 

accountable for one's actions. 

 

As of right nowCurrently, the Department feels confident that we are meeting the following 

learning outcomes: 1, 2, 3, 6 and 8. There are opportunities for the other learning outcomes 

to be met and this would become clearer as a full program and curriculum revision is 

undertaken. The learning outcomes will have to be better articulated in order to fit in the 

general BA requirements. A comprehensive review in updating course outlines and program 

competencies needs to be undertaken following this program review. For example, the 

learning outcomes need to reflect more accurately the higher order skills students will 

develop. We will refine the language in order to meet best practices and learning objectives.  

Credential-Level Specifications 

  Currently, there is only very limited credential level specifications to take even upper-level 

courses. While this might seem like a good idea, this often leads to problems with students 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  25 

 

not mastering certain concepts or skills. For example, to take any 3000-level courses, one 

needs to have Any 18 credits of 1100-level or higher, including any 3 POLI credits. While 

thisWhile having only limited specifications might seem like a good idea, this often leads to 

problems with students not mastering certain concepts or skills. For example, to take any 

3000-level courses, one needs to have any 18 credits of 1100-level or higher, including any 

3 POLI credits. For example, a student who may have taken POLI 1120 – Canadian politics 

and government could take POLI 3147 - Foreign Policies of the Major Powers without the 

proper introductory courses of international relations. Similarly, a student who took POLI 

1110 – Ideology and Politics can also be in this course. Without a basic understanding of 

IRInternational Relations theories, and concepts, the gap in the pre-requisite background 

information and knowledge can be detrimental to both students and instructors. Again, this 

would be addressed during a program revision following this self-study. 

Admissions and Prerequisites 

We do not have a limited intake of students. The minimum requirements to be admitted to 

the University have to be satisfied. As per the credential-level specifications mentioned 

above, a better laddering of courses with specific courses needed to take upper-level courses 

might be necessary. However, as noted by student comments in the survey, course options 

and offerings must follow suit.  

 

Degree-Level Standards (if applicable) 

If the program offers degrees, assess how they meet each of the following Degree Quality 

Assessment Board degree-level standards:  

• Depth and breadth of knowledge: The Department offers courses in many different sub-

disciplines of Political Science, such as Canadian politics, International Relations, Political 

Theory and Comparative Politics. There are a great number of students from outside the 

program who take POLI 1110 for example as a general elective. Furthermore, a number of 

our courses (POLI 2150, POLI 1110 and others) are required for other programs (CRIM, 

NGO certificate for example). That being said, as the course offerings at the upper-level 

(especially 4000-level) show, there are limited options for students to specialize with only 

Special Topics courses, and other limited choices that are not offered frequently (a major 

critique from students’ surveys). 

• Knowledge of methodologies and research: All POLI courses have, as evaluation criteria, 

a written research paper or performing some form of research. However, POLI does not have 

its own Methods course, and students who want to major or minor in POLI must complete 

SOCI 2260. 

• Application of knowledge: POLI 4500 Model United Nations, offers students the 

opportunity to apply their knowledge through experiential learning.  

• Communication skills: Developing communication skills is crucial in any career in politics. 

As such, students in most of our courses, have to do oral presentations.  

• Awareness of limits of knowledge: The Department is well aware that it has much to do to 

Indigenize its curriculum. POLI has been very euro-centric, and although there are some 

courses on Asia, the limits of knowledge still persist. Initial steps have been to incorporate 

topics on colonial history and settler colonialism in POLI 1120 (Canadian politics and 

government) and the evolution of International Relations focusing on World Civilizations 

outside of developments in Europe in POLI 1150. The Department (through Valérie Vézina 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  26 

 

as editor) is currently creating an open textbook for POLI 1110 (Ideology and Politics) with 

a section on Indigenous worldviews.  

• Awareness of limits of knowledge: Students, in all courses, are exposed to various theories, 

writers, and perspectives so they can be aware of their limits of knowledge. Furthermore, 

they are confronted to their own political biases and limitations by working on debate papers, 

critical analysis for example. • Professional capacity/autonomy: Students, for example, can 

take a special topics course at the upper level in which they develop political campaign 

materials.  

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum 

Student Survey (Appendix A) reveals that most students (72%) were either somewhat 

satisfied or very satisfied with the curriculum offered by our program. However, it is 

disarming to see that 20% of them were somewhat dissatisfied or very dissatisfied. Among 

the strengths, students point to class sizes (an asset at KPU) and the relationships they could 

build with their instructors.  

Furthermore, the student survey reveals the following satisfactory levels with the program: 

 

Program outcomes Very satisfied (% of 

students) 

Somewhat satisfied 

(% of students) 

Clearly and accurately present ideas and 

research 

41 44 

Clearly and accurately present ideas and 

researchDevelop knowledge of political 

systems across different cultures 

41 48 

Develop intercultural competencies 30 41 

Develop applied political skills including 

on election campaigns, NGOs, lobbying 

and survey analysis 

30 33 

Develop knowledge of Southeast Asia and 

South Asia political issues 

26 30 

Develop knowledge of the political 

influence of NGOs and non-government 

sectors 

33 52 

Develop knowledge of key historical 

events in political activism globally 

41 41 

Develop knowledge of opportunities for 

civic engagement 

4130 41 

 

When it comes to essential skills, the survey results are as follow: 

Essential skills Very satisfied (% of 

students) 

Somewhat satisfied 

(% of students) 

Written communication 46 42 

Oral communication 54 27 

Group collaboration 46 42 

Critical analysis 31 54 

Problem resolution 35 35 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  27 

 

Learn on your own 46 35 

Reading and comprehension 38 50 

 

The high level of satisfaction for both the program competencies and essential skills do 

demonstrate that the program meets those objectives and is aligned with them. 

 

However, one recurring complaint was the course offeringsoffering. For students, there are 

not enough courses offered in Political Science every semester, the offerings are often 

concentrated in lower-level courses (which are open to all students) and, as such, even where 

students are interested in majoring in Political Science, they tend to switch their major or 

change programs as they cannot fulfill their upper-level requirements. Following a 

curriculum mapping and program revision might lead us to the conclusion that offering a 

wide diversity of courses at all levels every semester would ensure that we retain students 

and that there is an adequate preparation for the changing world and job market that our 

graduates will encounter. 

 

Students also point out that they would like to see concentrations or specializations to better 

target their major and also the development of an honours program. Also mentioned was the 

need to advertise more widely the NGO certificate and Policy Studies (minor or major). This 

is noted and is part of our recommendations and conclusions in this chapter. 

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum 

In the survey sent to faculty, it was highlighted that 67% of faculty were somewhat satisfied 

by the overall curriculum. Note here that POLI is a small program, and the survey was 

answered by 6-7 faculty, as such one person being dissatisfied with the program will have a 

huge impact on the percentage. 67% is not very high, but a fulsome program revision so that 

the program better reflects the competencies will certainly help to increase this number., and 

33% of the faculty were very satisfied with the curriculum. The strengths identified were the 

following: 

1. The program prepares students for careers in international organizations, governmental 

and non-governmental sectors. Additionally, it gives them a solid foundation to continue 

their studies at the graduate level and in law school. 

2. The program prepares students with knowledge of political systems, governance and 

ideologies, political participation, political socialization, globalization, multiculturalism, 

environmentalism and the role of first nationsIndigenous peoples in Canadian polity. It 

instills the virtues of citizenship or how a citizen is both a participant and a ruler in 

governance. It prepares students to understand the change, development and motion in 

political systems in Canada and the world. 

The faculty survey reveals the strengths and weaknesses of the program. When it comes to 

the program competencies, the following two results are worth discussing. Only 17% of 

Faculty are very satisfied with how the program prepares students to Developdevelop 

knowledge of Southeast Asia and South Asia political issues. Similarly, only 17% are 

somewhat satisfied with competency 7 (Develop knowledge of key historical events in 

political activism globally). As pointed out in their comments, faculty believe in the 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  28 

 

importance of strengthening the course offerings in Southeast and South Asia and 

developing more specializations within the program. 

 

It is worth noting that the level of satisfaction for the essential skills is quite high. For 

example, 83% of faculty are either somewhat or very satisfied when it comes to written 

communication, oral communication, group collaboration, critical analysis, and reading and 

comprehension. All faculty said that the program prepares students for problem resolution. 

Although not necessarily curriculum related, the diversity of faculty was noted as a strength. 

This is an important aspect to note as diverse faculty (ethnicity, gender, age, etc.) do bring 

diverse viewpoints which benefit our students. Therefore, the Department should keep in 

mind this diversity in hiring future faculty. 

Nevertheless, some weaknesses were also pointed out. It should be noted that only 50% were 

somewhat satisfied with the prerequisites. This is a major area of discontent and room for 

improvement. The need for more prerequisites might seem like a barrier to attracting 

students, but it has many benefits, such as ensuring that students, especially those who pursue 

a major in Political Science, would have acquired the major concepts and knowledge before 

pursuing upper-level courses. But prior to However, whether better scaffolding or adding 

prerequisites, we will need to undergo is the best option for the program, a full program 

revision to ensure better scaffolding in order to ensure student success. As such, when a 

program revision is undertaken, we will know if we need better scaffolding or add 

prerequisites.is necessary.  Right now, we can say that thesethe requirements to pursue 3000-

level courses are 18 credits at the 1000 level with only 3 credits in POLI (some courses point 

to specific courses in POLI but still only require 3 credits in POLI). The 4000-level courses 

have similar requirements. This is insufficient and we often end up with students in their 

second year doing upper-level courses who are often ill-prepared. Developing a road map 

and making more courses in POLI required to pursue those courses will be highly beneficial 

for both our students (who will be better prepared) and faculty. It is quite frequent to see 

such road maps at other institutions.  

It was also highlighted by faculty that we should develop and expand the domain of 

comparative politics in both developed and developing states and to offer more courses on 

some regional issues (such as South Asia and Southeast Asia where a lot of the student 

population comes from). 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  29 

 

Career/Further Education Preparedness  

Career Pathways 

For many students, their decision to attend KPU Political Science was based on career 

prospects and their ability to achieve their career goals. MostFrom alumni survey, it is noted 

that about a quarter of students end up working in government agencies, others work in law 

firms or private businesses (banks, consulting firms). Most alumni say that they are 

somewhat or very satisfied with how the program helped them achieve that. In fact, for the 

statement: “Relevance of program curriculum to my career goals”, 44% were somewhat 

satisfied and 37% very satisfied. And 63% were either somewhat satisfied or very satisfied 

ofwith the preparation they received to achieve the career they wanted. Some work in 

government agencies or other sectors. However, it is worth noting that very few were 

satisfied (only, 30% were either somewhat or very satisfied, but most importantly 30% were 

very dissatisfied) by the course offering), something that Faculty have also noted.. Alumni 

Preparedness for Work/Further Education.  

 

 

Alumni Preparedness for Work/Further Education  

 

Alumni surveys reveal that 80% of them were somewhat satisfied or very satisfied ofas to 

how the program helped them get ready for work or further education. They point out to 

someAmong the strengths such asthey identified, there are passionate instructors and close-

knit cohort/community. However, they do point out tomentioned major drawbacks and 

offeroffered solutions such as more hands-on learning. This could be achieved by making 

an internship requirement (or option) as part of the major for example. Others point outSome 

other suggestions include having evaluations that the evaluation should beare more related 

to the future workswork they might be doing (such as writing briefing notes, media analysis, 

etc.) Finally, the lack of indigenousIndigenous content and courses was pointed out. This is 

an important aspect and one that the department is taking very seriously.  
 
The Discipline/Sector Feedback shows that students who graduated from the political 

science program were either very prepared (67%) or extremely prepared (33%) to work for 

the organization they were hired in (see Appendix F). However, although those numbers are 

great, the very small number of respondents (3!) should also be noted. Better and more 

connected links with the “industry” will help the program to improve and gather more 

student feedback. 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes 

The Department is really small and does not have a curriculum committee. For a fulsome 

review process to happen, a team will need to be formed or a Facultyfaculty member be 

given time release to undertake the curriculum mapping or use accountable time and get 

back to the Department with the full picture. Based on the data collected in this program 

review, a thorough re-visit of the program outcomes, and curriculum alignment should be 

undertaken to meet the needs of this self-study and the new BA framework. The Department 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  30 

 

will need assistance from the TLCTeaching and Learning Commons to go through all the 

steps. The outcomes of such a revision may support the creation of new courses to increase 

offerings to students as well as capitalize on partnerships with other Faculties and programs. 

Since the courses are due for their 5-year review, this is an ideal time to complete this work.  

 

There needs to be a consideration of the prerequisite requirements for some 1000 and 2000 

level Political Science courses to encourage entry from other Faculties. As Political Science 

is a core area of studies for many Faculties and Departments such as Business, History, Asian 

Studies, Criminology and Philosophy, it is important to consider opportunities to embrace 

these students. For example, Political Science 2121 Law and Politics, is a foundation course 

about the Charter of Rights and Freedoms that imparts essential knowledge for many 

students in other areas. The prerequisite for this course could be adjusted.   

The Department is really small and does not have a curriculum committee. For a fulsome 

review process to happen, a team will need to be formed or a faculty member be given time 

release or accountable time to undertake the curriculum mapping and get back to the 

Department with the full picture. Based on the data collected in this program review, a 

thorough re-visit of the program outcomes, and curriculum alignment should be undertaken 

to meet the needs of this self-study and the new BA framework. The Department will need 

assistance from the Teaching and Learning Commons to go through all the steps. The 

outcomes of such a revision may support the creation of new courses to increase offerings 

to students as well as capitalize on partnerships with other Faculties and programs. Since the 

courses are due for their 5-year review, this is an ideal time to complete this work.  

 

There needs to be a consideration of the prerequisite requirements for some 1000 and 2000 

level Political Science courses to encourage enrolments by students from other Faculties. As 

Political Science is a core area of studies for many Faculties and Departments such as 

Business, History, Asian Studies, Criminology and Philosophy, it is important to consider 

opportunities to embrace these students. For example, Political Science 2121 Law and 

Politics, is a foundation course about the Charter of Rights and Freedoms that imparts 

essential knowledge for many students in other areas. The prerequisite for this course could 

be adjusted.   

Summary and Recommendations 

The program strengths are certainly the essential skills as surveys from students, faculty and 

alumni show a moderate level of satisfaction. The department also seems to prepare students 

for their future careers as the discipline/sector specific survey revealed.  

 

This self-study reflects the following opportunities for development to enhance the program: 

(1) To better prepare students for the diversity of careers a degree in political science can 

offer them, (2) To ensure that a diversity of views and courses are accessible to our students 

which would both meet our learning outcomes and the overall objective of the University to 

be more diverse and inclusive. 

 

To achieve these outcomes, the following steps are recommended: 

1) Program revision. 

2) Revisit program competencies and outcomes. 

3) Assess the need for improved scaffolding and/or pre-requisites. 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  31 

 

4) Consider new electives to better prepare students and offer a diversity of POLI courses. 

5) Develop the program into more specific areas of specialization such as: 

a) Canadian and local politics  

b) International/Global politics 

c) Political theory  

d) Comparative politics 

f)- Merge or be more proactive in teaming up with policy studies by 

collaborating more and expanding our offering in public policy and public 

administration. ,  
g)- International/Global politics, 
h)- Political theory,  
i)- Comparative politics. 

10)6) Merge or be more proactive in teaming up with policy studies by collaborating more 

and expanding our offering in public policy and public administration. It will also help 

the program improve the competencies related to NGOs and activism. Other programs 

at KPU (NGO certificate for example) could also be merged or fused here and benefit 

from a more flexible offering. The recommendations have noted a goal to consult more 

broadly with other KPU Departments and community organizations.  

 

The self-study also points out that a diversity of views and courses are important. As such, 

to ensure that a diversity of views and courses are accessible to our students which would 

both meet our learning outcomes and the overall objective of the University to be more 

diverse and inclusive, it is recommended to: 

- Expand the course offerings and develop more courses in Southeast and South Asia 

(Chinese politics for example) 

- Develop a course on gender in politics. Although not mentioned in the survey (not a 

question asked, hence no data on it), departments of political science across the Lower 

Mainland (and in Canada) in general have such a course (See: 

https://www.ufv.ca/calendar/current/CourseDescriptions/POSC.htm; 

http://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2021/summer/courses/pol/316.html; 

https://politics.ubc.ca/research/research-areas/gender-in-politics/ In order for the program to 

remain competitive (and frankly to be up to date), such a course is really needed.  

- Ensure indigenous components in targeted courses such as: POLI 1110 (Ideology and 

Politics), POLI 1120 (Canadian Government and Politics) (and others). Recommendations 

in the next 10-year phase are committed to expanding more inclusive and sensitive 

Indigenous content, First Nations Guest Speakers and Community networking that serve as 

bridges into First Nations Communities.   

- Develop an Honors program, in order to retain more students in the Major. This comment 

was made in both the student and faculty surveys respectively. 

- Ensure that diversity within the Faculty is maintained in hiring. Future hirings should be 

of women and/or BIPOC. There is currently a gender imbalance within the department 

(with only 1 faculty who identifies as a woman); there are countless studies demonstrating 

that the load of service performed by women is higher. It is needless to say that the only 

female faculty must feel a burden. Although the Political Science Department is rather 

small, there is a demonstration of diversity. This is an on-going and important goal that 

will be expanded.  

 

 

https://www.ufv.ca/calendar/current/CourseDescriptions/POSC.htm
http://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2021/summer/courses/pol/316.html
https://politics.ubc.ca/research/research-areas/gender-in-politics/


 

Political Science Self-Study Report  32 

 

 

 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  33 

 

The program strengths are certainly the essential skills as surveys from students, faculty and 

alumni show a moderate level of satisfaction. The department also seems to prepare students 

for their future careers as the discipline/sector specific survey revealed.  

 

This self-study reflects the following opportunities for development to enhance the program: 

(1) To better prepare students for the diversity of careers a degree in political science can 

offer them, (2) To ensure that a diversity of views and courses are accessible to our students 

which would both meet our learning outcomes and the overall objective of the University to 

be more diverse and inclusive. 

 

To achieve these outcomes, the following steps are recommended: 

1) Revisit program competencies and outcomes. 
2) Program revision.   
3) Assess the need for improved scaffolding and/or pre-requisites. 

4) Consider new electives to better prepare students and offer a diversity of POLI courses. 

5) Develop the program into more specific areas of specialization such as: 

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  34 

 

- Canadian and local politics,  
- International/Global politics, 
- Political theory,  
- Comparative politics. 

6) Merge or be more proactive in teaming up with policy studies by collaborating more 

and expanding our offering in public policy and public administration. Similarly, the 

same could be done with other programs such as the NGO certificate. The 

recommendations have noted a goal to consult more broadly with other KPU 

Departments and community organizations.  

 

The self-study also points out that a diversity of views and courses are important. As such, 

to ensure that a diversity of views and courses are accessible to our students which would 

both meet our learning outcomes and the overall objective of the University to be more 

diverse and inclusive, it is recommended to: 

70 7) Expand the course offerings and develop more courses on Southeast and South Asia 

(Chinese politics for example) 
 8) Develop a course on gender in politics. Although not mentioned in the survey (not a 

question asked, hence no data on it), departments of political science across the Lower 

Mainland (and in Canada) in general have such a course (See: 

https://www.ufv.ca/calendar/current/CourseDescriptions/POSC.htm; 

http://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2021/summer/courses/pol/316.html; 

https://politics.ubc.ca/research/research-areas/gender-in-politics/ In order for the program to 

remain competitive (and frankly to be up to date), such a course is really needed.  

15) Ensure indigenous components in targeted courses such as: POLI 1110 (Ideology and 

Politics), POLI 1120 (Canadian Government and Politics) (and others). Recommendations 

in the next 10-year phase are committed to expanding more inclusive and sensitive 

Indigenous content, Indigenous Guest Speakers and Community networking that serve as 

bridges into Indigenous Communities.   

 Quality of Instructional Design 

Delivery Modes 

Range of modes 

Until March of 2020, all POLI courses have been classroom-centered, with a maximum of 

35 students per class at the 1000- to 3000- level, and 25 in our 4000-level courses (all of 

which are considered ‘seminar’ courses). In this classroom environment, a variety of 

teaching formats are used, including lectures, seminar discussion, small group learning, 

debates, and in-class simulation exercises. Occasionally instruction moves outside the 

conventional classroom, to utilize computer labs, library labs, or for off-campus field trips. 

A survey of political science students suggests considerable support for this approach to 

program delivery, with 84% of respondents stating that they were somewhat or very satisfied 

with these modes of instruction (see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). A survey of 

faculty suggests the same: 84% of faculty are also somewhat/very satisfied with the range 

of instructional modes (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). 

 

A fully remote mode of teaching had not been offered in POLI courses until March of 2020, 

when all instructors were required to quickly pivot to online instruction. We remain in a fully 

https://www.ufv.ca/calendar/current/CourseDescriptions/POSC.htm
http://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2021/summer/courses/pol/316.html
https://politics.ubc.ca/research/research-areas/gender-in-politics/


 

Political Science Self-Study Report  35 

 

remote teaching mode until at least September 2021, and possibly longer. As such, beginning 

infrom the summer of 2020, all until the end of 2021, most POLI courses have been offered 

exclusively online, and many courses were also offered asynchronously. Anecdotal evidence 

suggests that political science students see the benefit of face-to-face interaction. Survey 

data (beyond political science) suggests that some students can also see benefits in remote 

delivery, such as lower levels of anxiety during class discussions, more time for study instead 

of commuting, and better accommodation for students with disabilities (see Appendix D, 

Remote Learning Survey Infographic). As such, there appears to be some appetite and 

opportunity to offer at least some instruction in an online (and possibly asynchronous) format 

on an ongoing basis. During program and course revisions, we will evaluate the best delivery 

mode for each course. For example, the department could develop hybrid courses, meaning 

that part of a POLI course would be offered synchronously in the classroom (or similar face-

to-face environment), and part of the course offered in a remote environment such as 

Moodle, either synchronously or asynchronously. Given some (albeit limited) positives 

associated with remote learning, as well as new risks and uncertainties faced by higher 

education in general, the POLI department will explore opportunities to develop hybrid 

courses which use a ‘blended’ format for instruction.   

 

Accommodating Diverse Learning Styles 

 

POLI instructors are committed tobelieve in accommodating the diverse learning styles of 

our students. The modes of instruction we employ can engage a variety of learning styles 

often within the same lesson. For example, a single lesson might engage assimilative 

learning via lecture, convergent learning via conceptual discussion, divergent learning via 

videos/readings of concrete political scenarios, and accommodative learning via group work 

or political simulations (Kolb, 1984). The movement between reflective observation and 

‘learning-by-doing’ is intrinsic to our modes of teaching, and is evident even within 

individual lessons. As such, 80% of political science students reported that they were 

somewhat or very satisfied with POLI instructors’ ability to accommodate diverse learning 

styles (see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). Faculty reported slightly lower levels of 

satisfaction, with 67% somewhat or very satisfied with the extent to which diverse learning 

styles are accommodated (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). 

 

Furthermore, POLI instructors accommodate requests made by accessibility services, 

regarding students who have special learning requirements. Looking ahead, there is an 

opportunity to extend accommodations in a way that might benefit under-reported need for 

accommodation. Moving to a blended mode of instruction would allow students to have 

asynchronous access to resources that they could then replay as needed (such as a 

PowerPoint with embedded audio files, or a videotaped lecture with closed captioning). 

These delivery modes would accommodate learners with special needs (such as visual or 

auditory impairments) as well as English as Second Language learners – who tend not to 

report need for learning accommodation. Moreover, hybrid modes can also be used to ‘flip 

the classroom’, so that students can digest the more reflective components of course content 

at their own pace (i.e., readings and lectures), thus allowing the instructor to use face-to-face 

interaction for more ‘learning-by-doing’ components, as well as more one-on-one or small 

group instruction. The POLI department will investigate opportunities to develop hybrid 

POLI courses.  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  36 

 

Ensuring emotional and physical safety.  

 

For political science, equity, diversity, and inclusion are not mere descriptors of appropriate 

educational practice, they are substantive elements of what we examine – namely, power. 

Therefore, creating and sustaining a supportive and collaborative learning environment is 

paramount for effective instruction of political science. POLI instructors do this in a number 

of ways, and typically early in each course. Some instructors discuss respect and integrity, 

the benefits of drawing from heterogeneous experiences or viewpoints, as well as the 

difference between safety and comfort. These class-wide conversations establish guidelines 

for a safe and respectful learning environment, which also allows us to turn conflicting 

opinions or discomfort into opportunities for growth and learning. Other instructors use 

activities which establish a social contract for the ‘citizens’ in a course, activities which 

entail input and buy-in from the students regarding the rules and guidelines for appropriate 

behaviourbehavior. Whatever the method utilized, POLI instructors are careful to establish 

and maintain safe and respectful learning environments, and spaces where equity, diversity 

and inclusion are possible. This has been noted by students and faculty. 76% of political 

science students reported that they were somewhat or very satisfied with POLI instructors’ 

processes for ensuring students’ emotional and physical safety in the learning environment 

, and further 16% were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied(see Appendix A, Student Survey 

Report). 67% of faculty reported that they were somewhat or very satisfied with processes 

for ensuring student safety (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). Finally, POLI 

instructors utilize the Early Alert System if individual students appear to be struggling, in 

order to get them the learning, emotional or physical supports they need for success.    

Range and Value of Experiential Learning Opportunities.  

 

Students retain about 10% of what they read and 20% of what they hear, but up to 90% of 

what they themselves do and say (Stice, 1987). Rather than transmitting knowledge to a 

passive audience, POLI instructors try to facilitate ‘learning-by-doing’, a learning paradigm 

where students are active in the discovery, processing and application of information. 80% 

of political science students reported that they were somewhat or very satisfied with 

opportunities for experiential learning (see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). However, 

just 33% of faculty are somewhat satisfied with opportunities for experiential learning (see 

Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). Examples of experiential learning and active learning 

techniques are provided below.  

 

POLI instructors frequently use active learning techniques in the classroom environment, 

such as problem- and team-based learning activities, total physical response exercises, and 

simulations of voting systems of Intergovernmental Organizations. Regarding the latter, 

POLI 4500: Model United Nations is a course devoted to simulation, and it develops 

students’ understanding of International Relations as well as cultivates interpersonal skills 

through experiential learning. One Model UN team emerged from this course to become 

award winners at MUN simulations in Vancouver, Portland, Melbourne, Brussels, and Seoul 

(KPU Newsroom, 2015). In another course, POLI 4190: Special Topics in Canadian 

Politics, students create their own political party as part of a sustained project over the 

duration of the semester. Finally, political science students have multiple opportunities to 

engage in applied research, either within specific lessons (as case studies which use real data 

from public indices), as directed studies (vis-à-vis ARTS 3991/3992/3993 courses involving 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  37 

 

research directed by POLI faculty), or as paid research assistants in projects conducted by 

POLI faculty. Students have numerous experiential learning opportunities, some as 

individual lessons within a course, others integral to an entire course or project.  

 

Experiential learning is also manifest outside the conventional classroom environment. 

POLI instructors have taken students for off-campus field trips to polling stations (during 

federal elections, as part of POLI 1120: Canadian Government and Politics), and even to 

the provincial legislative assembly in Victoria (as part of POLI 3500: Public Debate in 

Politics). One instructor initiated a ‘climate change student ambassador program’ which 

brings KPU students of politics to the broader community, to discuss and disseminate 

information on climate change policies and politics. Furthermore, political science students 

have an opportunity to experience a field school devoted to politics and policy. One POLI 

instructor is also director for the European Union Study Tour and Internship Program, a 

three-week study tour and optional two-month internship placement, which takes Canadian 

university students to Europe each May. This field school was cancelled in 2020 and 2021 

(due to the global pandemic), but when it resumes in 2022, KPU political science students 

will have the opportunity to participate in this immersive learning experience. The 

department aspires to offer more field school opportunities, internships, and co-op activities 

when it is again safe to resume these kinds of activities.   

  

Student satisfaction with program delivery 

 

Political science students have expressed reasonably high levels of satisfaction with the 

delivery of the political science program. According to the Student Satisfaction Survey, 74% 

of students were somewhat or very satisfied with their experience in KPU’s political science 

program (see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). A few general comments from surveyed 

students reflect the strength of program delivery: “I particularly like the small class sizes 

especially for classes that can carry debates and discussions”; “The instructors for this 

program excel in presenting relevant information and course material”; and “A strong mix 

of instructors whose specializations encompass a broad range of political science topics”. 

However, students have commented on areas for improvement in program delivery, with 

one comment suggesting that class times are too long: “It would be great if class would be 

[changed] from 3 hours to 1.5 hours twice a week, as lectures can tend to become tiresome”. 

There are ways that faculty can grapple with this, on a course-by-course or even lesson-by-

lesson basis, including greater implementation of project-based and inquiry-based learning. 

At the program level, the implementation of hybrid courses should facilitate greater 

opportunity to ‘flip the classroom’. This issue is revisited on the summary and 

recommendations section.  

  

Faculty satisfaction with program delivery 

 

Political science faculty have expressed high levels of satisfaction with the delivery of the 

political science program. According to the Faculty Satisfaction Survey, 84% of faculty are 

somewhat or very satisfied with their experiences in the political science program, and 17% 

are somewhat dissatisfied (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). Faculty perspectives 

on overall instructional design will be discussed in more detail in section four (‘Faculty 

Experience’), yet what follows is a brief comment on the comparatively low levels of faculty 

satisfaction regarding experiential learning. Despite the range and value of experiential 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  38 

 

learning opportunities discussed above, and the relatively high levels of satisfaction 

expressed by students, faculty believe they should be doing more. It would seem that faculty 

are well-engaged with experiential learning within the conventional classroom setting (using 

a wide variety of active learning techniques), yet we are not yet bringing experiential 

learning outside the classroom – into broader political communities, from local to global. 

The Summary and Recommendations section of this chapter will elaborate on ways we can 

ameliorate this.   How will you address this gap? 

Assessment Methods 

Types of assessment 

 

POLI instructors use a wide range of assessment techniques. Summative assessment 

methods include written exams, quizzes, research papers, argumentative papers, policy 

briefs, class participation, and reports. To evaluate cognitive and interpersonal skills, 

instructors also incorporate different types of summative assessment, such as oral 

presentations, video presentations, structured debates, and participation in simulations or 

team-based learning activities. More complex active learning techniques can also involve 

summative assessment of affective learning (i.e., students’ sense of growth, maturity, 

situational awareness, and so on). This form of student development is assessed vis-à-vis 

reflective journals, self-evaluation, and peer evaluation.   

 

Where possible, instructors also deploy formative assessment methods. Formative 

assessments might have a summative (grading) component, but the important feature is that 

they are iterative and allow students to build on instructor feedback and their own practice. 

Examples of formative assessments include weekly participation assignments, journaling, 

and scaffolded assignments (such as paper submissions preceded by an outline, draft, or 

annotated bibliography). As all assessments are intended to be broadly formative towards 

general course learning outcomes, POLI instructors avoid very high stakes summative 

assessments, and try to spread assessment out over the course, as well as provide at least one 

assessment early in a course. Instructors also provide much individualized qualitative 

feedback to students (in the form of specific commentary on assignments. 84% of students 

are somewhat or very satisfied with the feedback that POLI instructors provide (see 

Appendix A, Student Survey Report). 

  

Are assessments clear, accurate and transparent? Are standards consistent across 

program?  

 
Instructors use clear assessments which offer valid and reliable indicators of whether 

students have achieved the course learning outcomes. Evaluation schemaschemata are 

always provided to students from the first day of a course, and often specific instructions on 

assignments are provided as well. Some instructors have adopted the use of detailed grading 

rubrics, which make the grading process and expectations transparent to students. Political 

science students report that 88% are somewhat or very satisfied with the clarity of the 

information they receive on how they will be evaluated (see Appendix A, Student Survey 

Report). 100% of faculty are somewhat/very satisfied with the extent to which students are 

provided clear information on evaluation (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report).  

 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  39 

 

There appears to be broad consistency of assessment standards across the program. 

Instructors frequently discuss grading standards during department meetings, as well as 

current best practice in assessment. Moreover, instructors try to provide consistent 

approaches to ‘issues’ in assessment, such as plagiarism and other academic integrity 

violations. Students and faculty both report that 84% are somewhat or very satisfied with 

the consistency of assessment standards across the program (see Appendix A, Student 

Survey Report and Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report).  

Do assessments allow students to demonstrate attainment of competencies and learning 

outcomes? 

 
Students at all levels of the program are asked to thoughtfully engage in politics through 

assigned readings, writing assignments, as well as demonstrate critical thinking and basic 

research skills. Our 1000- and 2000-level courses put greater emphasis on assessing 

fundamental learning processes, with a focus on core concepts and the skills required for 

students to proceed with upper-level coursework. According to the revised Bloom’s 

taxonomy on learning (Anderson et al., 2001), this learning process begins with 

remembering, understanding, and applying knowledge. Knowledge in this context can refer 

to factual, conceptual, procedural and even metacognitive knowledge. Lower -level courses 

establish the basic parameters of the discipline, the fundamental issues and debates in 

political life; and how concepts and theory can be applied to specific problems. Yet students 

at the lower levels are also asked to begin developing the more advanced skills of analysis 

(making sense of relevant materials and constructing arguments about them), evaluation 

(checking and critiquing concepts and theories), and creation (bringing together materials 

into research assignments, argumentative essays, and so on). What changes as students move 

along is less the nature of what is taught than the complexity of the materials, as well as 

increasing expectations that basic knowledge and skills are now in place, such that 

refinement and increased sophistication isare achievable. In short, students in 3000- and 

4000- level courses are asked to tackle more challenging materials and problems. There is a 

much heavier emphasis upon primary scholarly texts (rather than textbooks) and on 

presentations and oral contributions. All 4000-level courses are officially designated 

‘seminar’ courses, such that students are expected to carry the discussion (under the aegis of 

the instructor), using advanced undergraduate materials and addressing more complex 

issues. Political science students report that 92% are somewhat or very satisfied with the 

range of assessments that let them demonstrate what they have learned (see Appendix A, 

Student Survey Report). Faculty report that 100% are somewhat or very satisfied with the 

extent to which assessment methods support – and allow students to demonstrate attainment 

of – program competencies and learning outcomes (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report).  

Student Experience 

Grade Distribution 

Longitudinally, the cumulative grade distributions for political science courses have been 

consistent over academic years 2015 to 2020. Compared (longitudinally) alongside the 

Faculty of Arts, political science courses have had slightly lower grade distributions (i.e., in 

relation to all other Arts courses over the same five-year period). This trend is neither 

anomalous nor alarming. For example, in academic year 2019/20, 80% of students in Arts 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  40 

 

courses received a grade of C or higher, whereas 75% of students in political science courses 

received a grade of C or higher. Grade distribution can also be measured longitudinally by 

examining the percentage of students who received a D- or F-grade or withdrew from a 

course (DFW rate), as well as the percentage of students who repeat a course (repeat rate), 

between 2015 to 2020. Consistent with mean grade distribution, political science courses 

had a higher DFW rate (ranging from 19% to 23% between 2015 and 2020) compared to the 

DFW rate for the Arts (ranging from 16% to 19% over the same period). The repeat rate is 

also lower for political science (3-5% of students repeat a course, depending on academic 

year) as compared to the Faculty of Arts (6-8% repeat a course) (see Appendix E, 

Administrative Data Report). These two metrics suggest that political science courses have 

a slightly higher rate of poor student performance, compared to the Arts in general, but not 

to the degree that it is an alarming issue. Overall, the difference between political science 

and the Arts in comparative grade distribution is marginal, and we cannot speculate here as 

to the causes.  

 

As might be expected from this, the mean grade point average (GPA) for political science 

students is also slightly below the overall distribution across the Arts. Longitudinally, 

political science students have been on average around 0.25 GPA lower than the mean GPA 

in the Arts, between 2015 and 2019. For example, in 2018/19, political science students had 

a cumulative GPA of 2.64 compared to 2.88 across the Arts. The academic year 2019/2020 

was somewhat anomalous across the entire Faculty of Arts, with a mean GPA of 3.02 (also 

with a greater standard deviation), with political science having a mean GPA of 2.72 (with 

a standard deviation consistent with previous academic years) (see Appendix E, 

Administrative Data Report). There appears to be a general trend of grade inflation across 

the Arts, with a sudden ‘spike’ evident in 2019/20. Is this ‘spike’ related to the quick pivot 

to remote learning as a result of the global pandemic? Will this trend continue? And what 

relationship is there between political science and other Arts programs when it comes to 

explaining this trend? These questions are difficult to answer at this time, yet will be subject 

to further investigation by the department. That said, when compared across all programs in 

the Arts, the cumulative grade distribution and mean GPA distributions for political science 

are marginally lower than the Arts, yet still appropriate.  

Retention and Graduation Rates 

Retention can be measured across a program, by the percentage of students who receive a 

D, F or W grade (DFW rate by year), and the percentage of students who repeat a course 

(repeat rate per year), by the number of students who move from one level of the program 

to the next (seat numbers), and by how student GPAs improve as they move from 1000- to 

4000- level courses (mean GPA by year). This data was measured using the academic year 

2019/2020, and then compared across the Faculty of Arts, to assess if program retention rates 

are appropriate. The DFW rate (by year) and repeat rates (by year) for political science 

conform to patterns established across the Arts, albeit slightly higher. For example, 22% 

ofthe DFW rate for first level-year political science students were DFWwas 22%, as 

compared to 18% offor first level-year Arts students, and 11% ofthe DFW rate for fourth -

year political science students were DFW aswas 11% compared to 7% offor Arts. Although 

possibly an outlier, 10% ofthe repeat rate for level four political science students repeated a 

coursewas 10% in 2019/20, as compared to only 4% across the Arts. Yet there were also 

lower repeat rates for 1000-level political science courses (4%) as compared to 1000-level 

Arts courses (9%). The mean grade distributions by level are similar, although political 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  41 

 

science students have lower GPAs on average (around 0.20 lower) when compared to the 

Arts as a whole. Whatever the cause for these slightly lower grades across political science 

courses, across levels, and across academic years, our mild concern is that this has some 

effect on student retention in the political science program. At least for 2019/20, seat 

numbers in political science do not conform to the patterns established by Arts programs, in 

general. One expects a large number of ‘level 1’ seats, a stark drop-off to ‘level 2’ seats (i.e., 

2000-level courses), a small decline from ‘level 2’ to ‘level 3’ seats, and then another drop-

off in seat numbers to ‘level 4’. The pattern established across the Arts is as follows: level 2 

seats are about 25% the number for level 1, level 3 seats are marginally fewer than level 2 

(only 459 fewer seats in total, a 7% difference), and level 4 seats are about a third of the 

number of seats in level 3 (2061 compared to 6421). We see some of this pattern in political 

science, but the drop off from level 1 to level 2 is much starker than the general Arts: level 

2 seats are only about 10% of level 1, and then level 3 seats actually increase from level 2 

(153 at level 3, versus only 93 at level 2), before the expected drop-off to 82 seats at level 4 

(see Appendix E, Administrative Data Report). It is difficult to ascertain the cause for this 

unusual pattern, but it is likely that political science’s ‘service’ to other (larger) programs is 

part of the explanation. Many students in other programs appear to take level 1 political 

science courses as electives, perhaps because they recognize the utility of understanding 

politics and policy for other areas of study. Another potential factor is that level 2 political 

science course offerings are insufficient in variety or number, so students are compelled to 

find electives elsewhere. Comments from political science students suggest that this could 

be a factor – although not necessarily the primary cause – for somewhat weak student 

retention in political science. One student commented, “offer more sections across the 

different campuses instead of shuttling everyone to the Surrey campus for most upper -level 

courses”, while another asked for “added courses in summer semester at the upper level” 

(see Appendix A, Student Survey Report). A final theory pertains to student decision making 

regarding credentials, which will be elaborated below in the discussion on graduation rates. 

However, we should also not assume that these potential causes for slightly weaker retention 

are mutually exclusive.    

 

Graduation rates provide information about median years to graduation, as well as graduate 

‘headcount’ (number of credentials awarded, by academic year). With no certificates or 

diplomas offered by political science, we only compare 2-year Associates of Arts (AA) 

degrees and 4-year Bachelor of Arts (BA) degrees. Furthermore, the year 2016/17 appears 

to be an outlier both for Arts and for political science, so we focus on other years when 

evaluating overall trends. The data on median years to graduation is inconclusive. Students 

in political science appear to take about the same amount of time to complete a degree as 

students across the Arts, although the sample sizes for political science credentials are too 

low to draw meaningful conclusions. The graduation headcounts in political science are 

stable and increasing, in a pattern that mirrors the Faculty of Arts in general. The AA in 

Political Science seems to be declining in popularity, with only one graduate in each of 2020 

and 2019, and zero in the previous two academic years. This was anticipated, because the 

BA in Political Science came online at KPU since the last program review. The number of 

BA Political Science graduates has increased each year since the 2015/2016 academic year 

(aside of the anomaly in 2016/2017), with our highest number of BAs awarded in 2020, at 

thirteen. This compares favourablyfavorably to Arts overall, which had decreasing numbers 

of AA degrees, and major fluctuations in number of BAs awarded (with numbers in 2020 

only just returning to numbers seen in 2015/16). The most remarkable change in graduation 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  42 

 

data has been in the number of diplomas awarded (which political science does not offer). 

Diplomas awarded have almost doubled between 2018 and 2019, and then doubled again 

between 2019 and 2020 (see Appendix E, Administrative Data Report). Based on 

preliminary findings from (yet unpublished) research by a member of the political science 

department, our sense is that diplomas are highly attractive to international students (who 

also increase in number every year). When considered alongside retention rates (see above), 

one might surmise that international students are sampling 1000-level political science 

courses, but then not continuing in political science because there is no diploma in political 

science, and/or because offerings of upper -level political science course are too few.  

 

Although more data would be helpful for drawing conclusions, there does appearappears to 

be slight barriers to retaining students in political science, and having them progress at a 

reasonable pace. Aligning to the theories presented above, barriers could be one or all of: 

political science courses have slightly lower grade distribution; international students avoid 

political science because it does not lead to a desirable credential; and/or there are not enough 

upper -level courses on offer. Further investigation is required, but we can draw some 

preliminary conclusions about how to improve retention. The political science program is 

unlikely to simply give higher grades. Moreover, political science students express high 

levels of satisfaction with assessment (see section on Assessment Methods), suggesting that 

assessment is fair, and that it is the material which is challenging. We cannot change the 

credentials on offer. Perhaps our only immediate recourse is to make our program more 

appealing (to domestic and international students) so that more students consider a credential 

or even just additional elective courses in political science. As a department, we could make 

our range of 2000-, 3000-, and 4000-level courses more diverse and appealing to students. 

More on this in the Summary and Recommendations section, at the end of this chapter.  

Student Outcomes 

The Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training sets program targets across a range 

of measures, manifest as percentages of student outcomes (reported by alumni). Fourteen 

program alumni from 2017 to 2019 responded to polling, and this provides us with data on 

student outcomes for the program. Alumni reported high levels of satisfaction (100%), a 

perception of high quality in the program (100%), and excellent skills development (96%) 

from their political science credentials and coursework. These metrics exceed Ministry 

targets. Amongst respondents, 79% indicated that they were currently employed, and 8.3% 

unemployed (the latter being just over the Ministry standard of 7.5%). Given how recently 

these students graduated, these employment numbers are satisfactory. What is less 

satisfactory is the usefulness of the credential and coursework to current employment. 55% 

reported that they had employment related to their studies (not in itself overly concerning – 

many credentials from the Arts lead to more tangential career trajectories). However, the 

only data point significantly below the Ministry standard is the reported ‘usefulness’ of the 

program for their employment outcome: at 73%, this is well below the 90% target set by the 

Ministry (see Appendix E, Administrative Data Report). It is difficult to know if this reported 

level of usefulness reflects shortcomings in the program. Certainly, students could be better 

informed about connections between what they learn in the program and what they will do 

for employment after completing their studies (likely more truetruer for skills development 

than for the substantive content of political science courses). However, political science is 

not a program that is strictly – or even primarily – vocational. Training our students to be 

‘labour-market ready’ is arguably secondary to cultivating good citizenship. Critical 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  43 

 

thinking, an understanding of politics, and an awareness of political efficacy are hardly ‘job-

specific skills’ in the conventional sense. These types of knowledge and skills likely make 

our students better at their post-graduate employment, yet our department is primarily 

motivated to help our students become better citizens (and arguably, more ethical human 

beings). Nonetheless, students could be better connected to potential post-graduation 

workplaces, to better understand how their political science knowledge and skills will be 

used in employment (see Summary and Recommendations section, at the end of this chapter). 

Student Satisfaction with Instruction 

Political science students report high levels of satisfaction with instruction in the program 

(see Appendix A, Student Survey Report for all data below). 74% of political science 

students are somewhat or very satisfied overall, with instruction in the program. Notably, 

another 22% were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied overall, leaving only 4% expressing some 

level of dissatisfaction with overall program instruction. Drilling down to specific elements 

of instruction, 84% of students are somewhat/very satisfied with instructors’ presentation of 

course material, and 80% are somewhat/very satisfied with instructors’ level of information 

about current developments in the discipline/sector. Student comments reflect this high level 

of satisfaction: “the professors of the political science department are highly organized, 

passionate and professional”; “the information learned from classes is very comprehensive”; 

and “KPU has some truly brilliant professors. I have had almost exclusively positive 

experiences with them”. Other comments reinforce these perceptions. Yet there are also 

comments that indicate areas for improvement. One comment pertains to use of technology: 

“…PowerPoints uploaded to Moodle could make classes more accessible for students who 

work a lot”. The development of online course content and even the development of hybrid 

courses could go some way to addressing this issue (see Summary and Recommendations 

section, at the end of this chapter). Another comment pertains to the topicality of course 

content: “There is not enough recent information shared. The news is shared, but nothing 

about stuff happening in the communities that we could be a part of.” This last comment 

suggests that our instruction design has currency, but sometimes lacks ‘locality’ (i.e., many 

current issues are discussed, yet perhaps not ones that feel immediate and local for some 

students). Since the degree of ‘locality’ depends on the specific course, the perception of 

students, and the perception (as well as academic freedom) of the instructor, it would be 

inappropriate to mandate that instruction become more ‘localized’. Moreover, this is largely 

an issue of curriculum design, not instructional design. Yet inasmuch as instruction design 

can be connected to locality, our department could seek opportunities for experiential 

learning opportunities in the local community. More on this in the Summary and 

Recommendations section, at the end of this chapter. 

Faculty Experience 

Expertise and Qualifications 

The faculty in the program cover the full range of sub-disciplines in political science: 

Canadian politics, comparative politics, International Relations, political theory, as well as 

public policy and public administration. This extensive coverage is useful for a small 

department. Yet there are also specific areas of expertise where the faculty provide intensive 

focus: Canadian multiculturalism and political culture; international human rights and 

humanitarian interventions; global environmental governance; the European Union; South 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  44 

 

Asian politics; the politics of islands; theories of statehood and democratization; and political 

ideologies.     

  

There are seven members of the Department of Political Science, two of which are part-time 

(sessional) instructors. Of the fiveFive full-time instructors, four are NR1 (all regularized) 

and one is NR2 (full time, not yet regularized).. All faculty, including the two sessional 

faculty, meet the preferred academic requirements (i.e., all have a PhD in political science 

or International Relations). All have also met the preferred teaching requirements (i.e., have 

a record of teaching excellence at the post-secondary level). For a number of instructors in 

the department, this record of teaching excellence is extensive. Although experience outside 

academia is not required for a faculty position with this program, some faculty have related 

professional experience in the worlds of government, policy, or advocacy. One instructor 

held an executive position or high-level consultancy position with a development bank, an 

HR firm, and with the UN Development Program. Another instructor was a Judge with the 

Court of Canadian Citizenship for the BC and Yukon region (see Appendix F (- Policy A13), 

Appendix G (Table of Minimum Qualifications) and Appendix H (CVs of Department 

Instructors)). All toldIn sum, the expertise and qualifications of faculty in thisthe department 

far exceed the minimum requirements, and indeed, instructors bring a diverse range of 

expertise and experience to the program. 

 

 

The KPU Political Science Department is distinguished for diversity, dedication and a 

breadth of knowledge that touches upon all themes in modern political science and theory. 

Moreover, based upon the Student Survey (Appendix A), there is a high degree of student 

recognition for the qualities and skills of the KPU Political Science faculty. The Student 

Survey reflect the following observations:  

 

 

 

 63% of students are very satisfied with instructors’ ability to present course material.  

 63% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ level of information and topic 

knowledge. 

 52% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ classroom teaching. 

 56% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ ability to accommodate 

diverse learning styles. 

 52% of students are very satisfied with instructors’ feedback to students. 

 63% of students are very satisfied with instructors’ ability to present course 

material 

 63% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ level of information and 

topic knowledge  

 52% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ classroom teaching    

 56% of students are very satisfied with the instructors’ ability to accommodate 

diverse learning styles  

 52% of students are very satisfied with instructors’ feedback to students  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  45 

 

  

Maintenance of expertise and currency in the discipline/sector 

 

In addition to their heavy teaching load, faculty members have chosen to be active in 

research, publishing, and community outreach. Ross Pink has published two books on 

environmental politics within the last five years, co-founded an educational NGO called 

Global Water Rights, and has been a frequent invited speaker on water rights. As a 

complement to her several academic publications on nationalism, Valérie Vézina published 

a book on island nationalism in 2018 which was a finalist for two Canadian political science 

awards. She has also made appearances on news media as a political analyst. Having already 

published extensively and an internationally recognized expert on humanitarian 

interventions, and peace operations, Francis Abiew is currently co-authoring a forthcoming 

book on the International Criminal Court in The Hague. Shinder Purewal has published 

several academic books and articles on the politics of India and the Indian diaspora, has 

appeared on news media as a political analyst, and recently ran for office in federal politics. 

Conrad King has recent publications on education politics in Canada and Europe, and he is 

also the Director for the European Union Study Tour and Internship Program. Serdar Kaya 

has published several articles on statehood and the integration of Islamic immigrants in 

western liberal democracies. Tyler Chamberlain has been active in presenting his research 

on Canadian politics and political theory, which led to a best paper award at a 2019 academic 

conference as well as a forthcoming publication in the Canadian Political Science Review 

(see Appendix H, CVs of Department Instructors). Although the primary commitment of our 

instructors remains undergraduate teaching, our faculty represents a good mix of scholarly 

research, networking and outreach, institutional service, and applied political activity. 

Faculty Satisfaction with Instruction 

Faculty satisfaction is determined through an anonymous survey of political science faculty, 

conducted by the Office for Planning and Accountability. Seven faculty responded to this 

survey (for all data below, see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). As previously stated, 

84% of faculty are somewhat or very satisfied with their experiences in the political science 

program, and 17% are somewhat dissatisfied. Regarding overall instructional design, 

however, only 50% of faculty are somewhat or very satisfied, with the other 50% being 

somewhat dissatisfied. This dissatisfaction seems to stem more from limitations in the modes 

of program delivery, rather than dissatisfaction with methods of instruction or assessment. 

Faculty comments reflected general satisfaction with many elements of instructional design, 

such as: “a growing and dynamic program with innovative ideas”; “good instructors…but 

needs to be a bit more diverse”; and “in comparative analysis, our department is doing as 

well, if not more, than other departments of political science with given resources”. Positive 

elements about instructional design included multiple comments regarding the benefits of 

small class sizes, the high levels of engagement from both students and instructors, and the 

diversity of instruction which can “allow students to develop critical thinking and problem-

solving skills”. Yet there are also comments on specific areas for improvement. Regarding 

assessment, there were faculty comments requesting “better grading criteria for written 

work” and the “[provision of] teaching and marking assistants”. The former can be addressed 

through departmental discussions (given suitable respect for academic freedom), while the 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  46 

 

latter is unlikely to occur given the current mandate of KPU as an institution. According to 

faculty, key areas for improving our instructional design include deepening the links to local 

community, especially if it could facilitate much needed experiential or even work placement 

opportunities. One faculty commented on the “growing links to the community” while 

another suggested that we still need “more community engagement”. There were multiple 

comments along the lines of the program needing “co-op and volunteer opportunities”, 

“more experiential learning would be of benefit”, and one instructor suggested “more guest 

speakers”. Clearly, there is a recognized need for the program to have a greater presence in 

the extra-university community, especially if this could facilitate networking, work-related 

experiences, or applied (experiential) learning for students. However, the local extra-

university community also imposes some geographical constraints, because, as one faculty 

commented: “the remote location of classes makes it difficult to get off campus to relevant 

sites for field trips”. Simply put, KPU campuses are not proximate to institutional ‘centers 

of power’ for even municipal politics, let alone provincial or federal politics. It will take 

some creative thinking to design program elements which involve experiential learning 

activities away from KPU campuses. 

Summary and Recommendations 

The political science program has high-quality instructional design, fulfilling KPU’s primary 

mandate as an undergraduate teaching institution. Indeed, given recent changes in credential 

offerings, the department perhaps exceeds expectations. The opportunity for KPU students 

to major in political science has only been a possibility since our last program review, and 

the number of BA Political Science graduates has increased each year. Indeed, when one 

considers the heavy teaching load, the small size of the department, credential changes, and 

the effects of the coronavirus pandemic, one could argue that our instructional design is 

outperforming political science departments at similar types of institutions.very strong. 

Areas of particular strength include the high level of student and faculty engagement, the 

high degree of student satisfaction, the diversity of instructional modes effective for small 

class sizes, and the consistency, clarity and effectiveness of assessment methods. When it 

comes to the fundamentals of undergraduate instruction in political science, the program is 

doing very well.  

 

The program faces a number of challenges. For one, there are mild-to-moderate barriers 

regarding student retention and progression. In part, this is likely due to ‘growing pains.’ 

The relative newness of KPU’s BA Political Science might be deterring some students – 

especially international students – from perceiving its vocational utility and real-world 

application. Progression might also be hindered by the slightly lower grades (on average) 

that students earn in political science courses. A second challenge has emerged because of 

the global pandemic. Political science typically engenders high levels of student 

engagement, and there is growing evidence that student engagement has decreased due to 

remote learning environments (King, forthcoming). Despite this, faculty have demonstrated 

considerable resourcefulness and adaptability with the sudden yet sustained pivot to remote 

teaching. It appears that faculty have been willing to learn new skills, techniques, and modes 

of instruction, which presents opportunities to improve instruction in areas beyond the 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  47 

 

conventional classroom. Eventually we will return to face-to-face instruction, but we should 

be learning now about which elements of instructional design should be retained from our 

remote teaching experiences. A third challenge is KPU’s lack of physical proximity to 

experiential learning opportunities specifically pertaining to politics and policy. Although 

geographical constraints can be overcome with creative instructional design, insufficient 

experiential learning outside the classroom has been further exacerbated by the coronavirus 

pandemic. Until the pandemic, there had been efforts to involve students in extra-university 

experiential learning (such as the Climate Change Ambassador program or the EU Study 

Tour). But efforts to bring KPU political science students out into wider political and policy 

communities had to be shelved until further notice. The challenge going forward is not just 

to rebuild these opportunities, but to also build new ones (with perhaps greater emphasis on 

local community and virtual spaces). Finally, KPU’s 2023 Academic Plan presents a kind of 

‘meta-challenge’, and not just to political science. The 2023 Academic Plan demands that 

all programs recognize KPU’s unique identity as a polytechnic university, such that we focus 

on: 

 

Diversity. In terms of instructional design, this refers to maintaining our diversity of 

instruction modes, assessment methods, and program delivery. 

 

Connection. If KPU is to be the university “where thought meets action”, then the political 

science department should see this as a challenge to build more and deeper connections 

outside the program, and thus somewhat redesign how the program is delivered.  

 

Quality. In terms of instructional design, our program has already achieved a high degree of 

teaching excellence, yet we should consider how quality within the program might better 

translate to quality beyond the program (i.e., how political science students can best be 

equipped to become change-makers in their communities).  

 

Distinctiveness. Small class sizes with highly engaged instructors are simply not enough to 

differentiate political science at KPU from similar institutions. If we are going to add value 

to our instructional design (and make it distinctive), then we will likely need to innovate the 

flexibility and applicability of our instruction design.   

 

As we move forward, we can build on our strengths yet innovate in ways that promote 

excellence in instructional design and improve students’ attainment of competencies and 

learning outcomes. In light of the challenges and mandates above, the department 

recommends the following courses of action.  

1. ‘Lock in’ our learning from remote teaching. All POLI faculty have learned to use 

Moodle more effectively, as well as Big Blue Button, MS Teams, Zoom, and other 

technologies. There are other useful tools that have emerged (such as: closed 

captioning of Kaltura videos, embedding audio files in PPT presentations, qualitative 

grading rubrics embedded in Moodle assignments, and so on). We recommend that 

an additional department meeting be scheduled in 2021, to be used as a workshop to 

share best practice in technology, assessment, and assessment standards.  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  48 

 

2. Hybrid courses. The POLI department will explore opportunities to redesign courses 

to meet the needs of all students (and thus minimize the need for accommodations). 

For example, we will develop hybrid courses which use a ‘blended’ format for 

instruction. As an example of a hybrid format, the weekly ‘contact hours’ could be 

divided into 1.5 hours of online instruction (synchronous or asynchronous) which 

focus on assimilative learning and reflective content, and 1.5 hours of face-to-face 

instruction which focus on convergent and accommodative ‘learning-by-doing’. 

Advantages of the hybrid format include better accommodation for diverse learning 

styles, special needs, and ESL students; ‘flipped’ classrooms that allow for more 

interpersonal experience; greater adaptability in the event of future disruptions like 

Covid-19; and greater flexibility for students with extensive commitments beyond 

their studies (i.e., employment, family commitments, etc.). Moreover, this could also 

speak to strategy 2.6 of KPU’s 2023 Academic Plan, which calls for faculty to 

“[p]ursue and develop a new approach to adult learning education recognizing the 

need for alternative delivery modes capable of addressing the challenges and 

obstacles for this learner group.”  

3. Consider changing contact hours (generally) from 3 consecutive hours per week, to 

two sessions of 1.5 hours.  

4. Cultivate and offer more upper-level courses. The substantive content of these 

courses is an issue for curriculum design, yet program delivery (and especially, 

retention and progression) could be enhanced by providing a broader array and more 

frequent course offerings above 1000-level. A broader array of 2000-, 3000-, and 

4000-level courses might draw reluctant students into the program, and have them 

consider a credential in political science. Moreover, if some 3000- and 4000-level 

courses could be accompanied by more job-related experiences and/or contribute to 

an Honours program in political science, then retention and graduation rates will 

likely improve over the medium term.         

5. Cultivate more experiential learning opportunities (especially outside the 

conventional classroom). Our department has been quite successful at developing 

experiential learning opportunities within the classroom, and this should continue, 

especially for 1000-level courses. For upper-level courses, we would like to cultivate 

experiential learning opportunities outside the classroom (such as field schools, co-

op placements, mini-internships, and so on). This speaks to strategy 2.7 of KPU’s 

2023 Academic Plan, which calls for us to “Actively establish community 

partnerships in relation to teaching and learning.” However, there are two caveats to 

this recommendation. First, these types of experiential opportunities are more 

suitable for mature students (i.e., in third- or fourth-year courses) because they have 

developed the requisite skills and knowledge to handle real-world complexity, and 

because our reputation (as an institution and program) within the extra-university 

community is at stake. Second, developing these kinds of opportunities is very 

resource- intensive. Even with support from administrative units at KPU (such as 

Co-op), POLI faculty will likely need twice as much time to prepare a course with a 

meaningful co-op component, compared to preparation of a conventional course 

based only in the classroom. If administration recognizes this additional 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  49 

 

commitment, then we could work out a way for faculty members to develop such 

courses.  

6. Further to the point above, we would like to create a new course: POLI 4122: 

Practicum in Political Science. This course is envisaged as a part-time, one-semester 

placement with a research institute, advocacy organization, member of parliament or 

legislative assembly, or with other politically- engaged organizations. (Note that we 

may be forced to abandon the ‘Practicum’ model in favour of a Co-op due to 

logistical factors; but we should certainly have at least one of these incorporated into 

our proposal, and perhaps both if this can be made to work). 

 Create an Honours program. In the words of one POLI faculty, we “need more 

prerequisites; [and] need to develop an honours program to retain more students.” 

An Honours program would develop the research, analysis, and writing skills of 

political science students.  

 

References 
Anderson, L. W., Krathwohl, D. R., Airasian, P. W., Cruikshank, K. A., Mayer, R. E., 

Pintrich, P. R., … Wittrock, M. C. (2001). A Taxonomy for Learning, Teaching, and 

Assessing: A Revision of Bloom’s Taxonomy of Educational Objectives. (L. W. 

Anderson & D. R. Krathwohl, Eds.). New York: Longman. 

Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning: Experiences as the source of learning and 

development. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall. 

KPU Newsroom. (2015). More awards for KPU’s Model UN team. Retrieved February 20, 

2021, from https://www.kpu.ca/news/2015/03/13/more-awards-kpus-model-un-team 

Stice, J. E. (1987). Using Kolb’s Learning Cycle to Improve Student Learning. Engineering 

Education, 77, 291–296. 

  

https://www.kpu.ca/news/2015/03/13/more-awards-kpus-model-un-team


 

Political Science Self-Study Report  50 

 

Chapter 5. Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

This category highlights some of the areas of Departmental concern. The program depends 

on several resources, services and facilities that contribute to competencies and learning 

outcomes. These include library materials both physical and electronic; the bookstore; 

physical space such as classrooms, lab/computer space, and Faculty offices; the learning 

center; administrative support; and academic advising, counselling, among others.  

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Overall, 52% of students surveyed were very satisfied, while 22% of respondents were 

somewhat satisfied. This suggests just about adequate provision of resources offered through 

the program. Some of the specific comments from respondents regarding library resources 

include: “there are great journals and books online to access”; “the online resources are 

incredible. The ability to do research on any given topic is greatly facilitated by the access 

we as Students have to online journals”. On the availability of audio-visual and computer 

equipment only 39% of students expressed they were very satisfied with the situation. A 

similar percentage (39%) expressed same regarding DVDs/streaming video on program-

related topics. This can be easily addressed as numerous program-related topics that used to 

be available on DVDs can easily be accessed on YouTube. 48% of respondents expressed 

they were very satisfied with the availability of Books. This figure increases to 52% 

regarding availability of eBooks. 

 

While library holdings in terms of volumes of hardcopy materials held at KPU are limited 

in comparison with other universities in the Lower Mainland such as UBC or SFU, there are 

a variety of online information and databases that students have access to, and librarian 

support for program-related research including the provision of Interinter-library loan 

services that students are sometimes unaware of (in this context, 57% of student respondents 

indicated they were very satisfied with this service; while 41% expressed same with Library 

orientation). Overall, students would benefit from a further collection of additional 

discipline-specific library resources (see Appendix A).  

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Given the resources available to the Department, the survey indicates, overall, 50% of 

faculty members are somewhat satisfied with the resources, services and facilities that are 

specific to the Political Science program. Highlighting the strengths of the program, some 

specific comments indicate “we have adequate resources and services for an undergraduate 

university”; and “good support”. In the context of highlighting the areas for improvement” 

specific comments in the survey indicate: “the collection of library resources could be 

improved”; “classrooms can be overcrowded”; “computers are sometimes slow” and, “[the] 

Department needs more administrative assistance (see Appendix C, Faculty Survey Report). 

Specifically, Faculty would like the establishment of budgetary and purchasing priorities 

directed at increasing the library holdings whether in physical or electronic form that will 

support specific areas of the discipline particularly as they relate to upper -level course 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  51 

 

offerings. This can be done in consultations with the librarian tasked with purchasing 

resources for Political Science. The problem of overcrowded classrooms, perhaps, can be 

met with an additional ‘dedicated’ classroom space (further addressed below). In sum, the 

comments suggest an ongoing need for areas of improvement, located in the overall context 

that 50% of Faculty are somewhat satisfied with the resources, services and facilities specific 

to the Political Science program. 

 

The problem of physical space has been one of ongoing serious concern for the Department. 

It has repeatedly over the years requested ‘dedicated’ classroom space for the program, 

particularly on the Surrey campus. Acknowledging institution-wide challenges with 

scheduling and allocating classroom space, the earlier faculty comment about overcrowded 

classrooms occuroccurs in situations where Political Science classes are sometimes moved 

to smaller classroom spaces that are problematic for pedagogical purposes. Another example 

of this problem occurs where lower-level classes with group discussion components or 

‘seminar’ classes are allocated in a theatre-style classroom where the seats are fixed and 

cannot be moved around. Presently, there is only one classroom that is used in the Fir 

building, and given these issues and the fact that political science classes are held in different 

buildings/classrooms across campus, an additional dedicated classroom space will, to an 

extent, address this need. Furthermore, this will enhance formal and informal venues where 

political science students can converge to engage in discussions and forge a political science 

student ‘identity’ that will draw other students to the program. 

 

Additionally, having a communal space or departmental ‘pod’ in the vicinity of the faculty 

offices has been one of high priority as noted elsewhere in this report. Political Science is 

one of the few programs in the Faculty of Arts that does not have its own departmental ‘pod’. 

Having such a ‘pod’ will greatly enhance informal learning and engagement not only among 

students, but also interactions between faculty and students in creating a flourishing 

departmental culture and a distinctive Political Science identity.  

 

Furthermore, the absence of private offices for faculty has long been of serious concern. 

The Department has been moved into different Faculty office spaces over two decades. The 

Department had requested for private offices during the numerous consultations for space 

allocations when the Fir Building expansion construction activities were taking place. Upon 

completion, the private offices space was allocated to the English Department with POLI 

being moved yet again within the Fir Building to make room for a Psychology lab. This has 

left the Department with only two shared offices with three desks and two computers per 

office. This office situation is far from ideal to say the least. As much as possible, and 

schedules permitting, there is only one Faculty member in an office at any particular time, 

however, that is not always the case, as there can be overlapping schedules and office hours 

where two or more Faculty members are in an office at the same time. In such situations, 

required privacy in meeting with students becomes problematic, not to mention the quiet 

time required in preparations to teach, grading, or conducting research. At a minimum, an 

extra office space will help alleviate this situation. 

 

The Department currently shares an Administrative Assistant with several other 

departments. As captured earlier in the specific comments by Faculty regarding areas for 

improvement, this is not optimal when quick responses to emails are needed, or a specific 

problem arises that requires immediate attention because the DA might be attending to other 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  52 

 

priority tasks from other departments. The DA is also not in the proximity of Faculty offices, 

and this can lead to frustration particularly in situations where urgent assistance is needed 

regarding an issue whether related to faculty or student. 

Summary and Recommendations 

The Political Science program is integral to the academic life and course offerings in the 

Faculty of Arts. As expressed in the survey, it is a small but growing, innovative and 

dynamic program. Student engagement is high and interaction with Faculty is generally 

very good. The strengths of the program lie in the various areas of expertise and 

engagement that Faculty bring to the Department in preparing students for graduation. In a 

comparative context, the Department is doing as well, if not more, than other departments 

of political science given the resources, services, and facilities at its disposal. In order to 

continually improve its mandate, the Department would like to suggest and seek the 

relevant external support towards the realization of:  

 

1) More dedicated classroom space for the Department, particularly on the Surrey 

campus. Although Classrooms are modern there have been limitations in availability. 

This issue will continue to be addressed with Facilities and the Deans Office. One 

option is to concentrate Political Science courses, for example at the Surrey campus, in 

the Fir Building.  

2) Additional library holdings on discipline-specific materials. The availability and 

expansion of reserve items at the KPU libraries is important. This reduces some of the 

costs associated with Text BooksTextbooks.  

3) Additional office space is needed for Faculty who are often compressed into small 

Office spaces. This is a matter of importance as Faculty often do not have the space 

and privacy to meet with students.  

4) Dedicated Departmental ‘pod’. This proposal has been years in the making although 

now is a prudent time to operationalize the sensible goal as Student enrolment and the 

Department are growing.  

5) A departmental assistant in the vicinity of the Department.  

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  53 

 

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

Summary of Conclusions 

The KPU Political Science Department and faculty along with the Dean, Associate Deans, 

Administration and Staff are dedicated to expanding the program and providing quality 

and successful learning outcomes for students. KPU and the Political Science Department 

have many comparative advantages, such as smaller class sizes, more student engagement, 

an innovative culture and teaching emphasis which can be harnessed to uplift the student 

experience in the Political Science Department. The following recommendations have been 

carefully developed to achieve this important goal.  These are organized into short-, 

medium- and long-term provisions. 

Short to Medium Term Goals 

Program development  

1)1.Develop the program into specific areas of specialization, such as: Canadian/local 

politics; international/global politics; political theory; and comparative politics. 

2)1.Create an Honours program. A move towards applied and experiential curriculum 

and instruction is important for producing more ‘employment-ready’ POLI graduates 

(see below). This can be complemented by an Honours program that can also produce 

more ‘research-ready’ POLI graduates. In the words of one POLI Faculty, we “need 

more prerequisites; [and] to develop an Honours program to retain more students.” 

An Honours program would thus develop the research, analytical, and writing skills 

of political science students. Moreover, it would retain students in the POLI major 

rather than seeing them leave for other institutions. This could be done utilizing 

conventional instructional design (egs.: 3000-level methodologies courses, ARTS 

course as directed studies, writing-intensive upper level POLI courses, and the 

production of an Honours thesis). Also, this could also be combined with experiential 

instructional design (egs. 4000-level field work courses, placement-intensive upper 

level POLI courses, and perhaps a substantial work placement and e-portfolio as an 

alternative ‘capstone’ project).  

3)1. Commence consultations to establish a Political Science Graduate 

Certificate in Sustainability and Climate Change. According to the Environics 

Institute, 63% of Canadians believe that climate change is anthropogenic meaning 

caused by human activity. A 2020 study by the Canadian Nuclear Association (CNA) 

and conducted by Abacus Data observed that 88% of Canadians reported being 

adversely impacted by climate change. The growth of environmental awareness 

particularly among young Canadians and students and the concomitant emergence 

of the Green Party as well as environmental law and policy in Canada auger well for 

a program at KPU that maximizes learning and societal opportunities about Climate 

Change and the Environment.  

4)2. Institute a Political Science Department ‘Great Debates’ series that 

engages a wide variety of guest speakers at KPU, open to the public and the KPU 

community.  

5)3. Expand the successful KPU Student Climate Change Ambassador 

Program with additional University, high school and community presentations.  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  54 

 

6)4. Promote research by POLI faculty, supported by research opportunities for 

undergraduate POLI students. In 2021, KPU President Alan Davis and the V.P. of 

Research noted that it is important for KPU Faculty to promote and engage in 

research opportunities. One prime opportunity is through the PD Grants. The KPU 

Political Science faculty are actively engaged in a diverse range of important and 

ground-breaking research, often with an international dimension. These innovative 

initiatives will continue in 2022 and onwards, thanks to strong encouragement from 

President Davis, the Office of Research and Scholarship, the Associate Deans, and 

the Dean of the Faculty of Arts.  

7)5. Ensure diversity in Faculty hiring. Future recruitment should focus on 

opportunities for women, people of colour, and Indigenous peoples.  

 

Curriculum design 

 

8)1.Cultivate and offer more upper-level courses. The substantive content of these 

courses is an issue for curriculum design, and program delivery (and especially, 

retention and progression) could be enhanced by providing a broader array and more 

frequent course offerings above 1000-level. A broader array of 2000-, 3000-, and 

4000-level courses might draw reluctant students into the program, and have them 

consider a credential in political science. Moreover, if some 3000- and 4000-level 

courses could be accompanied by more job-related experiences and/or contribute to 

an Honours program in political science, then retention and graduation rates will 

likely improve over the medium term.       

9)6. Indigenize the curriculum. This has been highlighted in KPU’s 2023 

strategic plan, and POLI curriculum is an appropriate forum for this. Two 

introductory courses (POLI 1110: Political Ideologies and POLI 1120: Canadian 

politics) should be significant platforms for curricular indigenization.  

10)7. Develop awareness of environmental sustainability across the curriculum. 

This has also been highlighted in KPU’s 2023 strategic academic plan, and POLI 

curriculum is an appropriate forum for this.  

11)8. Develop a course on women and gender in politics.  

12. Develop a module on digital literacy and citizenship which can be used in 1000-

level introductory courses. 

13)9. Consult and collaborate with colleagues in the Policy Studies program in 

order to expand our course offerings in public policy and public administration. 

Graduate certificates might also be a vehicle for inter-departmental collaboration.  

 

Instructional Design 

 

14)10. ‘Lock in’ our learning from remote teaching. All POLI Faculty have 

learned to use Moodle more effectively, as well as Big Blue Button, MS Teams, 

Zoom, and other technologies. There are other useful tools that have emerged (such 

as: closed captioning of Kaltura videos, embedding audio files in PPT presentations, 

qualitative grading rubrics embedded in Moodle assignments, and so on). We 

recommend that an additional Department meeting be scheduled in 2021 as a 

workshop to share best practice in technology, assessment, and assessment standards.  

15)11. Develop hybrid courses. The POLI department will explore opportunities to 

redesign courses to meet the needs of all students (and thus minimize the need for 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  55 

 

accommodations). For example, we will explore opportunities to develop hybrid 

courses which use a ‘blended’ format for instruction. As an example of a hybrid 

format, the weekly ‘contact hours’ could be divided into 1.5 hours of online 

instruction (synchronous or asynchronous) which focus on assimilative learning and 

reflective content, and 1.5 hours of face-to-face instruction which focus on 

convergent and accommodative ‘learning-by-doing’. Advantages of the hybrid 

format include better accommodation for diverse learning styles, special needs, and 

ESL students; ‘flipped’ classrooms that allow for more interpersonal experience; 

greater adaptability in the event of future disruptions like Covid-19; and greater 

flexibility for students with extensive commitments beyond their studies (i.e., 

employment, family commitments, etc.). Moreover, this could also speak to strategy 

2.6 of KPU’s 2023 Academic Plan, which calls for faculty to “[p]ursue and develop 

a new approach to adult learning education recognizing the need for alternative 

delivery modes capable of addressing the challenges and obstacles for this learner 

group.”  

16. Consider changing contact hours (generally) from 3 consecutive hours per week, 

to two sessions of 1.5 hours.  

17)12. Cultivate more experiential learning opportunities (especially outside the 

conventional classroom).  It is understood that in the post 2020 era the general 

landscape for secure careers is more competitive. Although the KPU Student Survey 

reported that 36% are ‘Very Satisfied’ with experiential learning opportunities this 

is an area that needs improvement. There is a strong correlation between mentorship, 

experiential learning and career success. Our Department has been quite successful 

at developing experiential learning opportunities within the classroom, and this 

should continue, especially for 1000-level courses. For upper-level courses, we 

would like to cultivate experiential learning opportunities outside the classroom 

(such as field schools, co-op placements, mini-internships, and so on). For example, 

in January 2020 five area MPS offered to host KPU Political Science students for 

Volunteer and Co-Op opportunities. Moreover, this speaks to strategy 2.7 of KPU’s 

2023 Academic Plan, which calls for us to “[a]ctively establish community 

partnerships in relation to teaching and learning.” However, there are two caveats to 

this recommendation. First, these types of experiential opportunities are more 

suitable for mature students (i.e., in third- or fourth-year courses) because they have 

developed the requisite skills and knowledge to handle real-world complexity, and 

because our reputation (as an institution and program) within the extra-university 

community is at stake. Second, developing these kinds of opportunities is resource 

intensive. Even with support from administrative units at KPU (such as Co-op), POLI 

Faculty will likely need twice as much time to prepare a course with a meaningful 

co-op component, compared to preparation of a conventional course based only in 

the classroom. If administration recognizes this additional commitment, then we 

could work out a way for Faculty members to develop such courses.  

18)13. Create a new course called POLI 4122: Practicum in Political Science. 

This course is envisaged as a part-time, one-semester placement with a research 

institute, advocacy organization, member of parliament or legislative assembly, or 

with other politically- engaged organizations. Innovative initiatives can be launched, 

in cooperation with a host of KPU, business, government, NGO and community 

partners to build upon these opportunities for the substantial benefit of KPU students. 

(Note that we may be forced to abandon the ‘Practicum’ model in favour of a Co-op 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  56 

 

due to logistical factors; but we should certainly have at least one of these 

incorporated into our proposal, and perhaps both if this can be made to work). 

 

Governance, infrastructure, and outreach.  

 

19)14. Formulate an Advisory Committee for Social Science Departments at 

KPU that would include Political Science, History, Geography, Policy Studies, 

Asian Studies, Criminology, Indigenous Community Justice, Philosophy, Journalism 

and additional departments. The goal of the Advisory Social Sciences Committee is 

to develop department synergy, dialogue and resources for the benefit of 

student/faculty learning and networking 

20)15. Form an Alumni Advisory Committee.  

21)1.Create a ‘Department Pod’ and share this with another Department, such as 

History. This was a stated goal in the 2011 Program Review that never materialized. 

This would address a persistent problem of office space for faculty (going back to 

before the 2011 review. Furthermore, a Pod could allow for more dedicated 

classroom space for the department, particularly on the Surrey campus. 

22)16. Request additional library holdings on discipline-specific materials. 

17. Expand and innovate presence of the Department on media platforms in 

Canada and Internationally. One element of this could be the commencement of a 

monthly on-line newsletter to share with students, the KPU community, alumni, 

employer communities and the general public.  

 

Medium to Long Term 

 

18. Develop the program into specific areas of specialization, such as: Canadian/local 

politics; international/global politics; political theory; and comparative politics. 

19. Create an Honours program. A move towards applied and experiential curriculum 

and instruction is important for producing more ‘employment-ready’ POLI graduates 

(see below). This can be complemented by an Honours program that can also produce 

more ‘research-ready’ POLI graduates. In the words of one POLI Faculty, we “need 

more pre-requisites; [and] to develop an Honours program to retain more students.” 

An Honours program would thus develop the research, analytical, and writing skills 

of political science students. Moreover, it would retain students in the POLI major 

rather than seeing them leave for other institutions. This could be done utilizing 

conventional instructional design (egs.: 3000-level methodologies courses, ARTS 

course as directed studies, writing-intensive upper level POLI courses, and the 

production of an Honours thesis). Also, this could also be combined with experiential 

instructional design (egs. 4000-level field work courses, placement-intensive upper 

level POLI courses, and perhaps a substantial work placement and e-portfolio as an 

alternative ‘capstone’ project).  

23)    

24)20. Expand Departmental presence on internet and social media platforms 

for students and prospective students. In the Student Survey it was noted that 59% 

of students attainedobtained their information about KPU and the Political Science 

Department through the Department website. In addition, 41% of student 

respondents found the Political Science website ‘very useful’ and 29% described it 

as ‘essential’.  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  57 

 

25)21. Launch Political Science Information Sessions at Greater Vancouver 

secondary schools, starting with Surrey. In the Student Survey, it was noted by 

respondents that a visit by a KPU Faculty Member ofor Staff Member had a 50% 

favourability rating and that information about KPU from a high school counsellor 

had a 100% favourability rating.  

22. Consider changing contact hours (generally) from 3 consecutive hours per week, 

to two sessions of 1.5 hours. 

23. Create a ‘Department Pod’ and share this with another Department, such as 

History. This was a stated goal in the 2011 Program Review that never materialized. 

This would address a persistent problem of office space for faculty (going back to 

before the 2011 review. Furthermore, a Pod could allow for more dedicated 

classroom space for the department, particularly on the Surrey campus. 

24.  Develop a module on digital literacy and citizenship which can be used in 1000-

level introductory courses. 

25. Cultivate and offer more upper-level courses. The substantive content of these 

courses is an issue for curriculum design, and program delivery (and especially, 

retention and progression) could be enhanced by providing a broader array and more 

frequent course offerings above 1000-level. A broader array of 2000-, 3000-, and 

4000-level courses might draw reluctant students into the program and have them 

consider a credential in political science. Moreover, if some 3000- and 4000-level 

courses could be accompanied by more job-related experiences and/or contribute to 

an Honours program in political science, then retention and graduation rates will 

likely improve over the medium term.       

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  58 

 

Chapter 7. Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean 

Program Overview 

What do you see as the program’s greatest accomplishments over the last 5 years?  

Several accomplishments are salient. First, faculty in the department have worked together 

to enhance the overall relevance and quality of their educational programing through a series 

of sustained community engagement initiatives. Two exemplars are noteworthy: The 

Climate Change Ambassadors program and the student placement program they have piloted 

with the UN. Second, the department has also grown its research capacity, both through 

prioritized hiring and by fostering a culture of mentorship and support. This had an 

observable impact on the quality of educational offerings and the reputation of the 

department: faculty are not only excellent educators but recognized in their subfields for 

their research and scholarship. The department has a solid record of book and article 

publications.  

 

Does the program adequately fulfill the purpose for which it was intended? If not, how can 

it be improved? 

The program is vibrant and dynamic. The courses of study it provides promote an 

understanding of the role that politics play in everyday life and a broader understanding of 

the ways that power and influence shape historical trajectories. Like many of our smaller 

programs Political Science is somewhat challenged to find students to commit to the program 

through a Major or a Minor degree. Certainly, more could be done to boost the profile of 

Political Science as a Major or Minor option for students and the Deans Office will be 

working with the department to heighten its profile within the University community and to 

support the outreach the department has been engaged in with local high schools and other 

community stakeholders. 

 

How does the program’s curriculum support the following:? 

 graduates’ pursuit of meaningful employment and further education 

 the viability and continued development of the program 

To more effectively market Political Science as a major it is helpful to highlight the skills 

and abilities it allows students to cultivate and the potential employment opportunities for 

graduates. The department has built up a rich and diverse roster of the career pathways and 

occupational opportunities students with a Political Science degree can pursue after 

graduation. However, we need to do more to get this message to students. We are pleased to 

see that the department is keen to refresh its curriculum to make it more appealing to students 

and that provisions are being made for a Program Advisory Committee which could provide 

input and assistance. For some courses, this could be a simple name change, while for others 

it would mean the inclusion of more experiential education and indigenous perspectives. We 

also support the department in creating new courses, such as Political Science and Film, to 

align with the film and screen studies credential that ARTS is in the initial stages of 

developing, and the proposed practicum course which provide students with workplace-

based practica. We also encourage the department to audit all of their courses and remove 

those that have not been offered for quite some time, and likely would not be offered in the 

future. 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  59 

 

 

What challenges and opportunities for growth should the program consider based on the 

following? 

 student demand (past, present and future) 

 comparable programs at competing institutions 

 trends and changing contexts in the discipline/sector 

Student demand for the courses is strong, but less so for the degrees. It is a fairly traditional 

program, with a focus on International Relations. What sets the program apart is its 

community connections and experiential opportunities such as the Model UN. The 

department would benefit from venturing more directly into social and political issues 

associated with race and gender. There are pressing social and political struggles around 

BIPOC issues and students are very interested in and involved with many of these.  

What plans (departmental, faculty and institutional) are in place for program growth and 

development? 

The Deans office fully supports the department’s desire for a shared office space and a pod 

with another department(s). However, due to the premium put on space we have been unable 

to realize this goal. In the post-pandemic new KPU context we plan to revisit matters 

associated with the allocation of space across all Arts programs and it is possible that POLI 

could emerge with a better spatial footprint, one that allows for cross fertilization with other 

departments and the development of a more student-focused community space. 

 

What resources, institutional support, and/or external support would help address the 

program’s plans for growth and development? 

We have tentatively put aside 4 permanent sections to add to the department’s base for 2022. 

This will help them diversify their courses as well as their faculty roster. We will ask them 

to pay attention to EDI perspectives when hiring. There are also some opportunities to 

consider around indigenization and decolonization within the curriculum. Hiring 

opportunities should also be considered in regard to these initiatives. 

 

Collectively, what qualifications and other human resources are required so the program 

will be able to make the changes required to improve and remain current? 

We will support the faculty to make the changes they desire. And certainly, hiring a new 

faculty member, even at 50%, could help them expand into new areas such as Indigenous 

politics, women and gender, etc. We will also aid the department as they construct their 

Program Advisory Committee. 

 

What areas should the program focus on for the short range (< 6 months), mid-range (6 mo. 

– 2 years), and long range (>2 years) program directions and improvement? 

In the short term the priority should be on creating a PAC and on developing its offering of 

blended courses. Midterm priorities would be on the creation of the practicum and course 

development initiatives (new courses and indigenizing the curriculum). At the long range 

level, we believe it would be beneficial to develop graduate programming and cultivate an 

Honours degree. 

 



 

Political Science Self-Study Report  60 

 

Appendices for Self-Study Report 

Provided in separate document. 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

1 
 

 

REPORT: Political Science Self-Study Report Version 2 

 
OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: I have enjoyed learning about the political science department and their program. It seems that, 
in addition to providing excellent teaching, the faculty are also doing a lot of important scholarly and 
community work. The department is clearly a great asset to KPU, its students, and our community.  
However, I think a significant amount of improvement is required before this Self-Study Report can be 
approved by SSCPR. Many of my comments below refer to the guidance contained in the Program Review Self 
Study Guide, which I encourage the authors to make more use of as they revise the document -- it will help 
them ensure that their report meets the requirements of the committee. 
 
Reviewer #2: Despite extensive feedback from the assigned reviewers of this self-study, it continues to need 
further revisions. In some cases, these revisions are to address feedback already provided. It is frustrating to 
invest such time and energy when the department appears to not be taking this feedback. Throughout this 
report there are issues with capitalization, grammar and flow that should be addressed. The inconsistencies 
between chapter on some points and the placement of items in the chapters make it obvious that this was 
written by multiple authors, additional collaboration to resolve this would be useful. I would also recommend 
that clearly and concisely answering the question in the header and eliminating random additional 
information would also be of benefit.  I encourage the POLI department to look at this piece of work as a 
representation of their program overall and its reputation. 
 
Reviewer #3: The report would benefit from thorough copy editing throughout for continuity and clarity. 
Some chapters are very good and thorough and carefully comply with the SSR guidelines (Ch 4); some need 
further revision as detailed below. 
 

The Report:  

☐         Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 

☒         Reviewer #1, #2 & #3: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending further action (see below) 

☐         Recommend return to the Program for major revision 

☐         Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

2 
 

 

Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard. 

CHAPTER 1: Program Overview 
 
Criterion: This chapter provides a description of the program, its history, and the scope of the review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its history and curriculum, and the scope of the current 
review. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☐     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  

 
Reviewer #1:  
More details about the program are needed in this chapter. It could be take the form of a “Program 
Description” section, which the Self Study guide calls for.  (See the Program Review Self Study Guide for 
suggestions on what to include in the program description). 

 
Brief History Section: 

 You mention that “numerous studies” have shown the benefit of small class sizes – at least one of 
those studies should be cited.  

 The discussion of class size seems out of place in the history section. I suggest including it in the 
“Program Description” section that should be added to this chapter. 

 Would be good to provide references for the research on working students mentioned in the last 
sentence of the Brief History section. 

 
Reviewer #2:  
Overall this chapter is hard to read, it is not cohesive.  
1.Under scope of review the consultations and engagement with this review are not addressed 
2. The priorities identified related to this review seem to be pre-determined priorities as opposed to 
priorities that are an outcome of the review itself. 
 
Reviewer #3:  

 Under “Scope of Review” there is the statement that a department goal is to develop a Master’s 
Degree in Political Science within the next 10 years. Is there some evidence to support the need 
for this goal? What is the driver of this suggestion? 

 Please provide references for reports and data cited in the brief history; also, it is unclear why 
the history of KPU is included in this section, since the focus should be on the political science 
program. 

 Discussion on KPU’s comparative advantages might be better placed in the competitive context 
section 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

3 
 

CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections 

 

Criterion: This chapter assesses program demand and its current relevance to the discipline/sector. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☐     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #1:  
Competitive Context: 

 Can you provide references for the statistics that are mentioned at the end of the first paragraph? 
 
Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector:  

 For clarity, I suggest using subheadings to clearly distinguish parts related to the survey results from 
parts related to marketing, outreach and community involvement. In fact, I think much of this 
section (for example outreach to high school students) would be more appropriately placed in the 
public info and outreach section. 

 Although many examples of connection and engagement are provided, a more critical analysis could 
be performed. For example, the self-study guide suggests that the authors “Determine if 
connections to the discipline/sector and alumni are appropriate or if changes are required.” Even if 
the assessment is that the connections are appropriate and do not need changes, I think that should 
be explicitly stated. 

 The paragraph about POLI 2140 (starting at the bottom of page 7) seems out of place as it does not 
describe a finding from the alumni survey. (Previous sentence is “Major findings from the Alumni 
Survey include…”) Also, it is not clear how this paragraph is relevant to the “program’s connections 
to the discipline/sector”. 

 At the end of this section, there are two lists of career opportunities for political science graduates. 
Perhaps they would be better placed in the career section of chapter 3? Also, it’s not clear why 
there are two lists – can they be merged? 

 
Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units: 
It is not clear how the table of faculty survey results is relevant to the “program’s connections to other 
academic units”. Perhaps you could state how these survey results are relevant to the topic of this 
section. 
 
Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes: 
The purpose of this section may have been misunderstood. See the Self Study Guide or info on what 
should be included in this section.  

 
Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach: 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

4 
 

As mentioned above, some of the content of the “Connections to Discipline/Sector” section would be 
better placed in this section. 
 
Student Demand for the Program: 

 As per the Self Study Guide, a comparison of enrolment trends at KPU with those at other 
institutions should be included in this section. 

Summary and Recommendations: 

 Summary is missing. As stated in Self Study Guide, “the program review team must summarize 
relevant program strengths” in this section. 

 Recommendation 1: Perhaps separate the goal (increasing enrolment) from the strategy (news and 
social media) for achieving that goal. 

 Recommendation 4: I don’t think the pod was mentioned earlier in this chapter. Perhaps clarify how 
this recommendation is related to this chapter. 

 #1 and #8 both mention social media. Should they be combined? 
 
Reviewer #2:  
This chapter is difficult to read, it has lots of possibly useful content but needs reorganizing to make it 
meaningful. I reiterate the comments of the other reviewers.  
1. It is unclear what the programs competitive context is 
2. Perhaps reorder the connections to the discipline and sector so the actual answer is clear at the 

beginning 
3. The recommendation should be as a result of the data collected in this review. I also recommend 

saving all the action plan pieces for that part of the process and just state here what the review 
found as issues to be addressed.  

4. Student data in this section seems somewhat out of place as it relates to chapter 3 and 4 
 

Reviewer #3:  
At the bottom of p. 7, the sentence “Major findings from the Alumni Survey (Appendix B) include:” 

appears but no discussion of alumni data follows. Instead there is a discussion of a curricular nature 
that seems more appropriate to Chapter 3. 

The same information on Student Climate Change Ambassadors is presented in two consecutive 
paragraphs on pp. 9 and 10. Could this be condensed? 

An explanation of how the table on p. 12 contributes to the discussion on program connections would 
be helpful. 

The recommendations at the end of this chapter do not clearly relate to the content of the chapter. 
Information that the SSR guide asks for, specifically demographic analysis of students, comparative 

enrolment data (with other institutions), etc. is not presented; the recommendations in this chapter 
seem more broad – perhaps they would be better placed at the end of the report? 

 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

5 
 

CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design 

 

Criterion: This chapter examines the quality of the program’s curriculum. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  

Reviewer #2:  
The revisions in this chapter are evident and I recognize the effort of its writer in reaching out for 
guidance and then addressing that in this version. A few more improvements could be made,  
1. The program competencies section – it is unclear if the program has competencies that they actually 

use. It is ok to say that none were present from prior reviews and that these need to be developed 
and should address criteria such as the BA framework, 21st century competencies, etc. 

2. Faculty satisfaction with the program seems to be lower than ideal, what are the plans to address 
this? 

3. There seems to be a fair bit of reference into developing new electives, honors, masters and yet the 
core elements of this program seem to need some improvement first. I encourage stabilizing the 
foundation before building the second level.  

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #1:  
It would be useful to have a clear description/overview of the program’s curriculum (e.g. it could be a 
table of courses offered from 1000 to 4000 level), either in this chapter or in the appendices. 
 
Assessment of the Curriculum: 
Degree-Level Standards: I believe that “awareness of limits of knowledge” is intended to be about the 
importance for students and graduates to be aware of the limits of their own knowledge and how that 
impacts their work and decisions, rather than about faculty’s awareness of the limits of the program’s 
curriculum. 

 
Career/Further Education Preparedness: 
It would be useful to include more info here on the specific career pathways and types of further 
education that alumni pursue (e.g. info from the alumni survey and/or a Career Pathways Map). The 
career lists from chapter 2 could also be included or referred to here.  

 
Summary and Recommendations: 

 Does #1 (program revision) refer to something specific? It seems like #2 to #6 would all fit under the 
heading of “program revision”. 

 Perhaps combine the diversity-related recommendations with the others so there is just one list? Or 
use a consistent format for the two lists? 

 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

6 
 

CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design 

 

Criterion: This chapter examines the quality of the program’s instructional design. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1:  
This chapter is excellent. Just a couple of comments/questions: 
 
In “Range of modes” you write “We remain in a fully remote teaching mode until at least September 
2021, and possibly longer.” Does that sentence need to be updated? 

 
In the Summary and Recommendations, you write: “one could argue that our instructional design is 
outperforming political science departments at similar types of institutions”. Can you support that 
statement with evidence/examples of what is happening at other institutions? 

 
Reviewer #2:  
1. Related to the pandemic remote delivery- I am not sure it is relevant to the entirety of the programs 
delivery model unless it provides context to say what you might plan to do in the future. And what 
would be needed for that to be successful. 
2. Re diverse learning styles, was assessment done re accessibility, UDL etc it seems insufficient to just 
say you are committed to diverse learning styles of students.  
3. The text in the assessment section does not address the assessments, what types and variety of 
assessments are used? 

 
Reviewer #3: The report notes that communication skills are part of the BA framework requirements 
and the Degree Quality Assessment Board degree-level standards; is there any direct instruction in oral 
communication skills (since presentations are required?) 

 

  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

  

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

7 
 

CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

 

Criterion: This chapter assesses program resources, equipment, software, and facilities from both the student 
and instructor perspective.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 
Reviewer #1:  
In general, for recommendations that are outside the direct control of the department (which I think 
includes most or all of this chapter’s recommendations), you should state that you will seek the relevant 
external support. 

 

  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  

  

 

CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

Criterion: This chapter summarizes the conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the program review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations. 

 
THE CHAPTER:  

  ☒     Meets the Standard 
Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #1:  

 As per the Self Study Guide, the recommendations should be categorized as short-term, 
medium-term, and long-term. 

 One of the major concerns raised earlier in the report (chapter 3) was the need to bolster 
prerequisites for upper-level courses. It is mentioned briefly in recommendation 2 on the 
development of an honours program. But perhaps it should have its own recommendation since 
it is an issue of concern regardless of whether or not an honours program is developed? 

 
Reviewer #2: See prior comments and those of the other reviewers. Conclusions should be drawn from 
the data presented and the recommendations should form the basis for the next steps and the QAP. 
Ensuring consistency here to changes made in previous chapters and removing items that do not have 
data to support them.  

  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

8 
 

MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

References to hybrid learning should be renamed “blended learning” as KPU’s official term for alignment and 
clarity 

Avoid assigning course numbers for course yet to be developed use 3XXX or 4XXX instead or just the title 

Page 1: replace “2 distinct” with “two distinct” 

Page 4: DQAB needs to be spelled out (should define all initials/acronyms at first use).  

p. 6 “meet successful learning outcomes for students” – should perhaps read something like “increase 
student success in meeting learning outcomes”? 

Page 6: the latter part of priority #4 (beginning “In the 2015…”) is about the pod – is it meant to be part of 
priority #3? 

Page 7: Formatting: move start of #3 to a new line. 

Page 8: “postgraduate” instead of “post graduate”. 

Page 9: “17% of students” instead of “17% students”. 

Pages 8/9: Some repetition. The three talks in December 2019 are mentioned on both pages. 

Page 10: First line: Should “theme” be “themes”? 

Page 10, five lines from bottom: I believe “forms” should be “forums”. 

Page 10: Perhaps write “2018-2019” instead of “2019-2018”. 

Page 11: Perhaps too much capitalization in second last paragraph (e.g “colleagues” instead of “Colleagues” 
etc.). Some unnecessary capitalization in other places too. 

Page 15: Perhaps write “0.6% PD funds” instead of “0.6 funds”. 

Page 15: Define what FAEAF stands for. 

Page 17: replace “offerings is” with “offering is” or “offerings are”.  

Page 19, near top: “Any” should be “any”. 

Page 22: Third line: “develop” instead of “Develop”. 

p. 23 The paragraph on alumni preparedness has syntax problems and would benefit from close editing. 

Page 29: Is the sentence “How will you address this gap?” supposed to be there? 

Page 35: You write “…four are NR1 (regularized)…”. I think NR1 means non-regular type 1, so not regularized. 
Perhaps replace with “four are regularized”. 

For other suggested edits, see the track changes copy of the SSR that was returned to OPA. 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Item: 6.1 

Meeting Date: January 19, 2022 
Presenter(s): Dr. David Burns 

 1 / 2 

 
Agenda Item AC9 Essential Skills Policy (Consultation Phase 1) 
  

Action 
Requested 

Discussion 
 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

N/A 

  

Committee 
Report 

For Secretariat Use Only   

  

Context & 
Background 

In our revision process Elder Lekeyten asks us to hold in our minds the goal of 
bringing out what is already inside our students. 
 
The Office of the Provost is embarking on a broad revitalization of the academic 
policy review and revision process in Academic Year 2021-2022. To that end, a 
number of policies have been identified and prioritized as requiring immediate 
review and revision, including AC9 Essential Skills. 
 
Prior to the revision and drafting beginning in February 2022, the policy working 
group would like to hear from the University community and solicit ideas, 
feedback and suggestions to help guide the overarching direction, identify major 
goals, existing barriers, and opportunities for improvement. 

  

Key Messages 

1. A communication has been sent out to the university community via @Today, 
as well as to Faculty Councils. Faculty Councils are welcomed to invite the 
policy working group to their upcoming December 2021 or January 2022 
meeting to discuss their ideas.  

2. Ideas, suggestions and feedback are welcomed on the Policy Consultation 
Engine before February 1, 2022. Relevant Senate Standing Committees will 
also be solicited for input between December 2021 and January 2022. 

3. The University community is invited to attend the following drop-in policy 
consultation sessions hosted by the policy working group in December 2021 
and January 2022: 

https://wordpress.kpu.ca/policyconsult/
https://wordpress.kpu.ca/policyconsult/


 

2 / 2 

Policy Session 1 
(December 
2021) 

MS Teams 
Link 

Session 2  
(January 
2022) 

MS Teams 
Link 

AC9 Essential Skills Tues, Dec 7, 
2021 
 
3:00pm – 
3:30pm 

Click here 
to join 
the 
meeting  

Mon, Jan 
10, 2022 
 
10:30am – 
11:00am 

Click here 
to join the 
meeting  

 

  

Resource 
Requirements 

N/A 

  

Implications/Ris
ks 

N/A 

  

Consultations 
 Senate Standing Committee on Teaching and Learning (Dec 2, 2021) 

 Senate Standing Committee on Curriculum (Jan 12, 2022)  

  

Attachments Policy AC9 Essential Skills 

  

Submitted by 
Dr. David Burns 

Associate Vice President Academic Pro Tem 

Date submitted December 17, 2021 

 

https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/files/Policies/AC9%20Essential%20Skills%20Policy.pdf
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MTlhYjI3N2YtNWFmMy00YzQxLWIwMGUtODNjMmQ2NDU3ZDQx%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2266b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22ba1dc038-3afc-4446-be89-46124ed08060%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MTlhYjI3N2YtNWFmMy00YzQxLWIwMGUtODNjMmQ2NDU3ZDQx%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2266b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22ba1dc038-3afc-4446-be89-46124ed08060%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MTlhYjI3N2YtNWFmMy00YzQxLWIwMGUtODNjMmQ2NDU3ZDQx%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2266b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22ba1dc038-3afc-4446-be89-46124ed08060%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MTlhYjI3N2YtNWFmMy00YzQxLWIwMGUtODNjMmQ2NDU3ZDQx%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2266b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22ba1dc038-3afc-4446-be89-46124ed08060%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_Mzc4NDYxZWItZTNjYy00ZmRlLWE5YjAtMDE2ZTY0NDM3YWE5%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2266b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22ba1dc038-3afc-4446-be89-46124ed08060%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_Mzc4NDYxZWItZTNjYy00ZmRlLWE5YjAtMDE2ZTY0NDM3YWE5%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2266b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22ba1dc038-3afc-4446-be89-46124ed08060%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_Mzc4NDYxZWItZTNjYy00ZmRlLWE5YjAtMDE2ZTY0NDM3YWE5%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2266b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22ba1dc038-3afc-4446-be89-46124ed08060%22%7d
https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/files/Policies/AC9%20Essential%20Skills%20Policy.pdf


SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Item:  

Meeting Date: January 19, 2022 
Presenter(s): Amy Jeon 

 1 / 1 

 
Agenda Item Senate Committee Mandate and Membership Review 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review recommend 
that the Senate Governance and Nominating Committee recommend that 
Senate approve the Mandate and Membership as attached. 

  

Context & 
Background 

The Senate Governance and Nominating Committee is mandated to 
review the Mandate and Membership of Senate Standing Committees. 
The Vice-Chair of Senate consulted various individuals to produce a 
preliminary set of recommendations. Senate Standing Committees will 
review their Mandate and Membership and will forward 
recommendations to the Senate Governance and Nominating Committee.   

  

Key Messages 

1. The Senate Governance and Nominating Committee will review the 
Mandate and Membership of Senate Standing Committees. 

2. The Vice-Chair of Senate has completed the initial consultations and 
provided preliminary recommendations.  

3. Standing Committees will review the recommendations and forward 
revisions to Senate Governance and Nominating Committee for 
recommendation to Senate for approval. 

  

Consultations 

 Diane Purvey, Provost  

 Rajiv Jhangiani, AVP, Teaching and Learning 

 Deepak Gupta, AVP, Research 

 Steve Cardwell, VP, Students 

 Zena Mitchell, University Registrar 

 Keri van Gerven, University Secretary 

 Sharmen Lee, Senate Governance and Nominating Committee Chair  

  

Attachments Mandate and Membership template with recommendations 

  

Submitted by Amy Jeon, Vice-Chair of Senate 

Date submitted December 1, 2021 

 



Senate Standing Committee on Program Review (SSCPR) 
 

Original Recommendation 

MANDATE  
 
Kwantlen Polytechnic University performs regular and consistent 
reviews of educational programs and units of study that are under 
the jurisdiction of Senate. The Senate Standing Committee on 
Program Review (SSCPR) oversees this process.  

 

Specifically, the mandate of the SSCPR is to:  

1. Make recommendations to Senate on proposed revisions to 
the Program Review Policy  

2. Develop procedures and standards to ensure program reviews 
are conducted in accordance with the principles of the 
Program Review Policy  

3. Review Self-Study Reports, External Review Reports and 
Quality Assurance Plans, and determine whether or not these 
meet KPU's program review standards  

4. Approve Quality Assurance Plan Annual Follow-up reports  

5. Provide regular reports to Senate on the progress of program 
reviews, and other items of note arising out of the committee’s 
work  

6. Report to Senate annually with a schedule for program 
Reviews planned for the coming year  

 

 

MEMBERSHIP COMPOSITION  
 
Voting Members  

 Chancellor  
 President  
 Student Senator  
 Two faculty Senators or representatives*  
 Faculty Ssenator or representative from each Faculty  

 



 Associate Vice-President, Academic or designate  
 Two Deans or Associate Deans  
 Representative, Office of Planning and Accountability  
 Representative, Office of Teaching and Learning  
 Representative, Student Services**  

*These two faculty Senators are additional to the faculty Senators 
from each Faculty.  
**The Representative, Student Services must not be from the 
Office of the Registrar.  
 
Non-voting Members  

 Vice-Chair of Senate  
 University Registrar or designate  
 Provost and Vice-President, Academic or designate  
 Vice-President, Students  
 Manager, Quality Assurance  

 
NOTE:  

 VP, Student recommendation: Change ‘VP, Students’ to ‘VP, Students or designate’ 
 

 Discussion request: roles and responsibilities between voting vs. non-voting member 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 7.1 

Meeting Date: January 19, 2022 
Presenter: Melike Kinik-Dicleli 

 1 / 1 

Agenda Item Manager’s Report on Status of Program Reviews 

  

Action Requested Information 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

N/A 

  

Senate Standing 
Committee Report 

For Senate Office Use Only   

  

Context & 
Background 

Support is currently being provided to 32 programs (or cluster of related programs) 
that are at various stages in the program review process.  

 

As of December 22, 2021 Number of Programs 

Phase 1: Self-Study  7 

Phase 2: External Review 5 

Phase 3: Quality Assurance Plan 4 

Phase 4: Annual Follow-Up 16 

Total 32 
 

Key Messages N/A 

  

Consultations N/A 

  

Attachments 
Manager’s Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for Jan 2022 SSCPR 
Meeting 

  

Submitted by 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & 
Accountability 

Date submitted December 22, 2021 

 



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of 
Site Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Due

QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

ACP English Upgrading Dec-18
re-start: Sep-

21

Admin Data: Feb-19 Aug-22 Oct-22 Mar-23 Mar-24

Arts Anthropology Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

Sep-20 Apr-21 Nov-20 Oct 
18/19

Nov-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 External Review Report is in. 

Arts Criminology Jan-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Rev. Admin Data: Feb-20

Survey Data: May-20

Dec-20 Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 Self-study report was due in December 2020. It is 
expected in January 2022. 

Arts Creative Writing May-21 Admin Data: Nov-21
Survey Reports: Nov-21

May-22 Jul-22 Oct-22 Nov-23 Self-study report is due by June 1, 2022. 

Arts Education Assistant Sep-19 Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: June-20

Feb-21 May-21 Mar-21 Nov 
25/26

Sep-22 Sep-22 External review report is due on January 4, 2022. 

Arts Minor in Counselling Feb-18 Admin Data: April-18
Survey Data: April-18

x Apr-19 x Oct-19 Jan-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Sep-21 Oct-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
a second time in October 2022. 

Arts English May-20 Admin Data: Jan-21
Survey Data: April-21

Sep-21 Nov-21 Nov-21 Apr-22 Apr-23 External review site will take place on February 
10 & 11, 2022. 

Arts History Dec-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: March-20

Aug-20 Feb-21 Oct-20 June 
17/18

Jul-21 May-21 May-22 QA Plan is in. 

Arts Philosophy Sep-17 Admin Data: Sep-18
Survey Data: Dec-17 (Discipline 

Survey: Mar-18)

x Apr-19 x Jul-19 Jul-19 Jan-20 Apr-21 Jan-21 First Annual follow-up is due in April 2022.

Arts Political Science Dec-19 Admin Data: Dec-19
Survey Data: June-20

Jan-21 Mar-21 Sep-21 Sep-22

Arts Psychology Dec-16 Admin Data: Oct-17
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-17

x Apr-18 x Jun-18 Jul-18 x May-20 May-21 May-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in May 2022. 

Arts Sociology Sep-15 Admin Data: Nov-17
Survey Data: May-16

x Dec-17 x Apr-18 May-18 x Oct-18 Oct-19 Apr-20 May-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
a third time in May 2022. 

Business Accounting Nov-17 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Jan-18

x Sep-18 x Jan-19 Feb-19 x Feb-20 Feb-21 Feb-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in February 2022. 

Business Computer Science and 
Information Technology

Apr-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Jan-20

Aug-20 Nov-20 Nov-20 Mar 1/2-
21

Mar-21 Aug-21 Oct-21 Aug-22 First Annual Follow-Up is due in October 2022. 

Business Business Management Sep-15 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Mar-18

x Jun-18 x Jul-18 Jul-18 x Mar-20 Mar-21 Oct-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
a second time in October 2022. 

Business Human Resource 
Management 

May-14 Admin Data: Sept-16
Survey Data: Mar-17

x Jun-17 x Nov-18 Dec-18 x Sep-19 Sep-20 Oct-20 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
a third time in November 2022. 

Design Fashion Design & 
Technology

Sep-20 Admin Data: Feb-21
Survey Data: Mar-21

Jun-21 Oct-21 Sep 28 & 
29

Oct-21 Jun-22 Jun-23 QA Plan is on the agenda for the May 2022 
meeting. 

Design Foundation in Design 
Certificate

Oct-17
re-start: Oct-

19

Admin Data: Aug-17
Survey Data: Nov-17 (Student 

Data: Feb-18)
Revised Admin Data: Oct-19

Survey Data: Aug-20

Sep-20 Apr-21 Oct-20 June 
29/30

Jul-21 May-21 May-22 QA Plan is in. 

Design Interior Design Sep-18 Admin Data: Nov-18
Admin Data: Sep-19
Survey Data: Nov-18

x Jan-20 Jan-20 Jun-20 Aug-20 Jun-20 Feb-21 Jun-21 First annual follow-up is due in February 2022. 

Design Product Design Feb-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Oct-19

Feb-20 Jun-20 Apr-20 Feb 
24/25-21

Apr-21 Oct-20 Nov-21 Oct-21 First annual follow-up is due in November 2022. 

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 12/23/2021 Page 1 of 2



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of 
Site Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Due

QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Design Technical Apparel Design Jun-18 Admin Data: Dec-18
Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: Dec-18

x Jan-20 Sep-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Jun-21 Jan-21 Jun-22 First annual follow-up is due in January 2022.

Health Bachelor of Psychiatric 
Nursing

Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

x Oct-20 x Feb-20 Mar-20 Aug-20 Nov-20 Aug-21 Annual follow-up is in. 

Health BSN -New
BSN - Revised

Sep-16 Admin Data: Jan-18
Survey Data:

Faculty: Jan-17
Discipline: Feb-17

Student + Alumni: Sep-17

x
Feb-18

x
Mar-18 May-18

x Feb-20
Dec-18

Feb-21
Dec-19

Feb 21
Feb 20

SSCPR asked New BSN program to report on their 
progress one more time in February 2022. Note 
that the Revised BSN review has been completed. 

Health Health Care Assistant 
Certificate

May-19 Admin Data: Jun-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

x Jan-20 Sep-20 Dec 9/10-
20

Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 First annual follow-up report is due in June 2022. 

Health Health Unit Coordinator 
Certificate

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data:

Discipline + Alumni: Mar-18
Student + Faculty: Aug-18

x Dec-18 x Jun-19 Jul-19 x x All intakes are suspended. The review is on hold 
until the future of  the program is determined.

Science Biology Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19 Oct-21 Oct-21 Jan-22 Feb 
24/25-22

Sep-22 Sep-23 External review site visit will take place on 
Februrary 24 & 25, 2022.

Science Brewing and Brewery 
Operations

Nov-21 Program received the new guides and curriculum 
mapping template  in November 2022.

Science Health Science Sep-18 Admin Data: Nov-18
Survey Data: Nov-18

x Mar-19 x May-19 Jul-19 x Jan-20 Jan-21 Jan-21 Annual follow-up is in. 

Science Bachelor of Horticulture 
Science 

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-18 

x Mar-19 x Apr-19 May-19 Aug-19 Apr-21 Aug-20 Annual follow-up is due in April 2022.

Science Horticulture Technology 
Diploma

Nov-21 Program received the new guides and the 
curriculum mapping template in November 2022.

Science Mathematics May-19 Admin Data: Jul-19
Survey Data: 

Faculty: Jul-19 
Alumni: Sep-19 

Discipline/Sector: Sep-19

Sep-19 Oct-20 Nov-19 Mar 
10/11-21

Apr-21 May-20 May-21 QA Plan was due in October 2021. The program is 
given until January 26, 2022 to submit their QA 
plan. 

Science Physics for Modern 
Technology

May-21 Jan-22 Mar-22 Sep-22 Oct-23 Surveys are being drafted. 

Science Sustainable Agriculture Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19
Revised Admin Data: Feb-21

Survey Data: 
Student: Aug-20

Faculty & Alumni: Jan-21
Discipline/sector: Feb-21

Aug-20 Sep-21 Oct-20 or 
Nov-20

May-21 May-22 External review planning is delayed (waiting for 
nominations from the program).

Science Turf Management Diploma May-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

Oct-19 Jan-20 Sep-20 Sep-21 Turf Management will be reviewed as part of 
Horticulture Technology program review. 

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 12/23/2021 Page 2 of 2


	2 Agenda January 19 2022
	AGENDA

	3 2021 11 24 SSCPR Minutes - Draft Reviewed
	5.1.0 SSCPR Cover Anthropology External Review Report
	5.1.1 Anthropology External Review Report.docx
	5.1.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_Anthropology External Review Report
	5.2.0 SSCPR Cover History Quality Assurance Plan
	5.2.1 History Quality Assurance Plan
	5.2.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_History Quality Assurance Plan
	5.2.3 History Quality Assurance Plan_Revised
	5.2.4 History Quality Assurance Plan Presentation
	Quality Assurance Plan (QAP)
	Slide Number 2
	Our Contributions:
	Our Department
	SWOT*
	Build upon the work done to reorient our program to more transnational and thematic approaches by developing new courses, new pedagogy, and by embedding new methods and digital technologies into our existing curriculum.
	QAP Goal #1 - Rationale
	Expand and further integrate decolonization and Indigenization into the History Program, its core competencies, and all of its course and program outcomes.
	QAP Goal #2 - Rationale
	Create an External Advisory Committee (EAC)/Program Advisory Committee (PAC) for the program.
	QAP Goal #3 - Rationale
	Update and align course outcomes, expectations, and program requirements to ensure successful student progression through the degree.
	QAP Goal #4 - Rationale
	More effectively promote the History program within KPU and across the communities that we serve in order to grow our enrollments and provide meaningful service to our local communities.
	QAP Goal #5 - Rationale
	Five-Year Action Plan
	Strategy #1: Create a Program EAC/PAC (Goals 3 & 5)
	Strategy #2: Indigenization & Decolonization (Goals 1, 2, 4, & 5)
	Strategy #2: Indigenization & Decolonization (Cont’d)
	Strategy #3: Promotion & Synergies (Goals 1,2, 3, & 5)
	Strategy #3: Promotion & Synergies (Cont’d)
	Strategy #4: Curricular Revisions & Updates (Goals 1,2 & 4)
	Strategy #4: Curricular Revisions & Updates (Cont’d)
	Strategy #5: After Key Consultations Pursue a Shared Hire with INDG (Goals 
	Budgetary Implications of 5-Year Plan
	Slide Number 26

	5.3.0 SSCPR Cover Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan
	5.3.1 Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan
	5.3.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan
	5.3.3 Foundations on Design Comments on Feedback
	5.3.4 Foundations in Design Quality Assurance Plan-Revised
	5.4.0 SSCPR Cover Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.4.1 Health Science Second Follow Up Report
	5.4.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_Health Science Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.4.3 Health Science Second Follow Up Report_Revised
	Second Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: September 2019

	Completed and on-going. Experiential components are in place for several upper level HSCI courses. For instance, students in HSCI 3110 allows students to observe health professionals and situations in the workplace and take part in appropriate hands-on tasks (e.g., modify educational materials, research best practices, develop presentations, etc.) before reflecting on their learning; students in HSCI 3225 conduct a personal health assessment (e.g., nutrient analysis); students in HSCI 4110 interview a program planner about a specific health program, critically assess the interviewees approach, and reflect on their learnings; and students in HSCI 4245 attend a public event related to health policy and reflect on their participation experience. Other experiential opportunities will be incorporated as appropriate in future. 
	Completed and on-going. There are 6 HSCI students working on research projects, all of whom are in the Honours degree program (an increase from four students last year). Available projects will change depending on research funding, faculty time, and student interest. There are no current plans for additional programming but this will be revisited as the program grows.
	Completed and on-going. Program chair worked with the FSH Communications Event Specialist, Deans Office, and Marketing to make changes to the HSCI website. Health Science has a dedicated website that highlights key program-related information that will be updated on an on-going basis.
	On-going. An HSCI Minor framework was developed in Fall 2021 and approved at the January 2021 Biology faculty meeting. The framework will now move through the remaining committees, FSH Curriculum, FSH Faculty Council, FSH APP, SSCC, and Senate, in Spring 2022 with an implementation goal of Fall 2022. 

	5.5.0 SSCPR Cover BPN First Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.5.1 BPN First Annual Follow-Up Report
	First Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: September 2020


	5.5.2 BPN First Annual Follow-Up Report Appendices
	5.5.3 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_BPN First Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.5.4 BPN First Annual Follow-UP report_Revised
	5.5.5 BPN First Annual Follow-Up Report Appendices_Revised
	5.6.0 SSCPR Cover Political Science Self-Study Report
	5.6.1 Political Science Self-Study Report_v3
	5.6.2 Political Science Self-Study Report Appendices
	Cover page
	Appendix A.  Political Science Student Survey Report 2020  Final Copy
	Appendix B  Political Science Alumni Report
	Appendix C.  Political Science Faculty survey Report  2020  Final Copy
	Appendix E.  Administrative Data Report_Political Science Program Review.  Oct 2020
	INTRODUCTION
	DATA FOR CHAPTER 2 OF THE SELF STUDY: PROGRAM CURRENCY AND CONNECTIONS
	STUDENT DEMAND FOR THE PROGRAM
	ENROLMENT TRENDS0F
	Exhibit 1: FTE Headcount1F  by Academic Year: Political Science and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses
	Exhibit 2: FTE Headcount by Academic Year: Political Science3F
	Exhibit 3: FTE Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts Programs

	POLITICAL SCIENCE ENROLMENT IN B.C. 7F
	Exhibit 4: Number of Students Enrolled in Bachelor/Associate of Political Science Programs at B.C. Public Post-Secondary Institutions

	DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF KPU STUDENTS8F
	Exhibit 5: Profile of Political Science Students by Academic Year
	Exhibit 6: Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year

	SEAT TRENDS9F
	Exhibit 7: Average Seats per Class from 2016/17 to 2019/20:
	Exhibit 8: Fill Rate from 2016/17 to 2019/20:



	DATA FOR CHAPTER 4 OF THE SELF-STUDY: QUALITY OF INSTRUCTIONAL DESIGN
	STUDENT EXPERIENCE
	GRADE DISTRIBUTIONS11F
	Exhibit 9: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Political Science Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 10: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 11: Grade Data for Political Science and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Level Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 12: Grade Data for Political Science and Faculty of Arts Courses for 2019/20 across Undergraduate Levels

	GRADUATION COUNTS13F
	Exhibit 13: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Political Science
	Exhibit 14: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts
	Exhibit 15: Median Years to Graduate:15F  Political Science
	Exhibit 16: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Arts

	STUDENT OUTCOMES16F
	Exhibit 17: Student Outcomes Measures - KPU Political Science Average Scores Compared with Ministry Targets




	Appendix F.  AC13 Qualifications for Faculty Members Policy
	Appendix G.  Table - Minimum Qualifications - Faculty Positions
	Appendix H.   CVs of Faculty.doc
	CURRICULUM VITAE FRANCIS KOFI ABIEW
	EMPLOYMENT HISTORY
	ACADEMIC HONOURS

	PUBLICATIONS
	CONFERENCE PAPERS AND PARTICIPATION
	WORK IN PROGRESS
	OTHER PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES
	CURRICULUM VITAE
	EDUCATION
	ACADEMIC EMPLOYMENT
	Douglas College
	University of the Fraser Valley
	Kwantlen Polytechnic University
	Trinity Western University
	Carleton University
	ACADEMIC AWARDS AND HONOURS
	PUBLICATIONS AND OTHER SCHOLARLY OUTPUT
	Book Reviews
	Papers in Progress
	Conference Presentations


	SERDAR KAYA
	Teaching Fields
	Research Interests
	Education_
	Awards, Fellowships, Research Grants
	Publications (Refereed)
	Publications (Non-Refereed)
	Conferences (Selected)_
	Service and Community Involvement
	Other
	Dr. Ross Michael Pink
	Achievements
	Professional Experience
	EDUCATION
	Memberships
	Selected Publications
	Selected List of Courses Taught
	Curriculum Vitae
	Education:
	Career History:
	Publications:
	Journals/Conference Proceedings:
	Conferences and Seminars:
	Unpublished Works:
	References:
	-----

	Personal Information
	Studies
	September2008-December2015:
	September2005 - October 2006:
	September 2001 - June 2005:

	Scholarships
	Academic Positions
	September 2018-present
	January 2020- present
	September  2018-present
	January 2016-April 2018:
	November 2013 - December 2015:
	September 2014 - May 2015:
	January 2014 - April 2014:
	September2013 - December2013:

	Publications
	Conference Presentations
	Radio/Television Interventions
	Professional Associations
	References
	Academic Referees
	Teaching Referees


	Blank Page

	5.6.3 Political Science Self-Study Report v3_Tracked changes
	5.6.4 Political Science Self-Study Report_SSCPR Reviewers' Comments-v2
	6.1 AC9 SSCPR Cover Memo Jan 19 2022
	6.2.0 Cover - Mandate and Membership review
	6.2.1 SSCPR Mandate and Membership Template with Recommendations
	7.1.0  SSCPR Cover - Manager's Report on Status of Program Reviews
	7.1.1 Manager's Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for Jan 2022 SSCPR Meeting
	Status




